

24 Proven One-Hour Lessons

Sams Teach Yourself Microsoft* Dynamics CRM 2011



www.allitebooks.com

Anne Stanton

Sams Teach Yourself Microsoft® Dynamics CRM 2011 24



800 East 96th Street, Indianapolis, Indiana, 46240 USA

www.allitebooks.com

Sams Teach Yourself Microsoft[•] Dynamics CRM 2011 in 24 Hours

Copyright © 2012 by Pearson Education, Inc.

All rights reserved. No part of this book shall be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without written permission from the publisher. No patent liability is assumed with respect to the use of the information contained herein. Although every precaution has been taken in the preparation of this book, the publisher and author assume no responsibility for errors or omissions. Nor is any liability assumed for damages resulting from the use of the information contained herein.

ISBN-13: 978-0-672-33537-2 ISBN-10: 0-672-33537-9

The Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication data is on file. Printed in the United States of America First Printing January 2012

Trademarks

All terms mentioned in this book that are known to be trademarks or service marks have been appropriately capitalized. Sams Publishing cannot attest to the accuracy of this information. Use of a term in this book should not be regarded as affecting the validity of any trademark or service mark.

Warning and Disclaimer

Every effort has been made to make this book as complete and as accurate as possible, but no warranty or fitness is implied. The information provided is on an "as is" basis. The author and the publisher shall have neither liability nor responsibility to any person or entity with respect to any loss or damages arising from the information contained in this book.

Bulk Sales

Sams Publishing offers excellent discounts on this book when ordered in quantity for bulk purchases or special sales. For more information, please contact

U.S. Corporate and Government Sales 1-800-382-3419 corpsales@pearsontechgroup.com

For sales outside of the U.S., please contact

International Sales international@pearson.com

Editor-in-Chief

Greg Wiegand

Executive Editor Loretta Yates

Development Editor Sharon Fields

Managing Editor Kristy Hart

Project Editor Betsy Harris

Copy Editor Kitty Wilson

Indexer Erika Millen

Proofreader Kathy Ruiz

Technical Editor John O'Donnell

Publishing Coordinator Cindy Teeters

Book Designer Gary Adair

Senior Compositor Gloria Schurick

Contents at a Glance

	Introduction	1
Part I: Intr	oduction to the Business Use of Microsoft Dynamics CF	M
HOUR 1	What Is Microsoft Dynamics CRM?	
2	The Basic Vocabulary of CRM Functionality	
3	Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011: What's New	
4	Infrastructure Choices	61
Part II: The	e Structure of Microsoft Dynamics CRM	
HOUR 5	Security	
6	Managing Leads	
7	The Account Entity in More Detail	
8	The Sales Funnel	
9	Marketing Campaigns	
Part III: Ge	etting Started Using the Software	
HOUR 10	Entering Data as a Salesperson	
11	Configuring Your Interaction with Microsoft Dynamics CRM	
12	Contacts and Activity Capture	
13	Sending E-mail from Microsoft Dynamics CRM	
14	Microsoft Word Mail Merge	
15	Outlook Integration	
16	Workflows: Creating Simple Workflows	

Part IV: The Support Department

HOUR 17	Support Management	341
18	Contracts, Cases, and Capturing Time	355
19	Scheduling	377

www.allitebooks.com

Sams Teach Yourself Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 in 24 Hours

Part V: Reporting

HOUR 20	Utilizing the Power of Microsoft Excel with CRM Data	. 395
21	Reporting and Query Basics	. 415

Part VI: Extending the Application

HOUR 22	Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 into	
	Other Applications	437
23	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Tools and Utilities	449
24	Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a Development Framework	465
	Index	485

iv

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Part I: Introduction to the Business Use of Microsoft Dynamics CR	M
HOUR 1: What Is Microsoft Dynamics CRM?	3
Overview of CRM and the CRM Industry	3
Department Roles: Different Perspectives	
Business Applications, Functions, and Fundamentals	
A Closer Look at Business Processes	
Capturing Processes	
Summary: Key Points to Remember	
HOUR 2: The Basic Vocabulary of CRM Functionality	29
Key Building Blocks	
Core Entities	
Other Selected Entities	
Other Important Components	
Other Components	
HOUR 3: Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011: What's New	43
The New User Interface, Dashboards, and Charts	
Entity Architecture Areas of Change	
Small yet Important Enhancements to Dynamics CRM 2011	
Processes: Workflow and Dialogs	
Special New Features for the Microsoft CRM Developer	
HOUR 4: Infrastructure Choices	61
Application Placement: Choices and Implications	61
Tenant Architecture and Its Implications, Including Multitenant Optio	ns64

www.allitebooks.com

Sams Teach Yourself Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 in 24 Hours

Asynchronous Services and Microsoft Workflow Foundation	. 70
Diving into Development	. 71
Integration Options	. 72
Big Business Versus Small Business	. 72

Part II: The Structure of Microsoft Dynamics CRM

HOUR 5: Security	77
How It All Comes Together	
Business Units	
Users.	
Security Roles	
Maintaining Security Roles	
Sharing Records	
Teams	
Field Security	
HOUR 6: Managing Leads	121
A Little History	
What Data to Capture and the Import Process	
Distributing Leads	
A Deeper Look at Leads	
From Lead to Account: Conversion	
HOUR 7: The Account Entity in More Detail	143
Entering Data: The Account Form	
Account Data	
How the Account Entity Relates to a Few Other Entities	
What the Account Entity Can Impact	
How the Account Entity Can Be Redefined	
HOUR 8: The Sales Funnel	161
Sales Styles and Choices	
Automating the Sales Process with Workflow	
Editing an Existing Workflow	

www.allitebooks.com

vi

Contents

HOUR 9: Marketing Campaigns	179
The Marketing Campaign	
Creating and Tracking a Marketing Budget	
Capturing the Results	
Tracking the Steps, Activities, and Tasks	

Part III: Getting Started Using the Software

HOUR 10: Entering Data as a Salesperson	205
A Month in the Life of a Salesperson	
Capturing a Lead and Entering a Lead	
Converting a Lead to an Account and Contact	
Final Planning	
HOUR 11: Configuring Your Interaction with Microsoft Dynamics CRM	223
Basic Configurations	
Web Resources	
Default Fields	
HOUR 12: Contacts and Activity Capture	249
Capturing Contact Information	
Related Contacts	
Leveraging and Using Activities	
HOUR 13: Sending E-mail from Microsoft Dynamics CRM	271
Capturing E-mail	
Sending One Quick Message	
Sending Multiple E-mail Messages	
CAN-SPAM Act Compliance	
The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook Address Book	
Configuring E-mail Based on Your Preferences	
HOUR 14: Microsoft Word Mail Merge	285
Mail Merge Templates	
Creating a Template Using an Existing Word Template	

www.allitebooks.com

Sams Teach Yourself Microsoft Dynamics CRM in 24 Hours

Managing Templates	
Managing Data Fields	
Enabling Macros in Microsoft Word 2010 or 2007	
HOUR 15: Outlook Integration	309
Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook Options	
The Synchronizing Architecture	
Synchronizing Data	
Mobility	
What to Watch Out For: Troubleshooting Microsoft Outlook	
HOUR 16: Workflows: Creating Simple Workflows	323
What Is a Workflow?	
Internal Alerts Based on Specific Criteria	
Using a Workflow to Automate a Process	

Part IV: The Support Department

HOUR 17: Support Management	341
Creating and Using Contracts	
Maximizing Support Profitability and Effectiveness	
Leveraging the Subject Line in a Case	
Utilizing the Knowledge Base	
HOUR 18: Contracts, Cases, and Capturing Time	355
Why Use Cases; What's in It for Me?	
The Hierarchy of Contracts, Cases, and Time	
Working with Cases and Activities	
Proactive Versus Reactive Capturing of Time	
Distributing Work: Users, Teams, and Queues	
Adding a Workflow to Close a Case	
HOUR 19: Scheduling	377
Scheduling in General	
Getting Started with Scheduling	

www.allitebooks.com

viii

ix

Viewing and Managing Scheduling Conflicts	382
Setting Up Scheduling	. 382

Part V: Reporting

HOUR 20: Utilizing the Power of Microsoft Excel with CRM Data	395
Key Concepts and Caveats	
Exporting the Right Data: Using Advanced Find	
Exporting a Static Worksheet	
Exporting a Dynamic Worksheet	
Exporting Data for PivotTable Analysis	
Adding Outside Data	
Reusing and Sharing Your Spreadsheets	
Using a Dashboard	
Using Excel to Edit and Clean Up Records	
HOUR 21: Reporting and Query Basics	415
Getting Started with Reports	
Using Reports	
Creating Your Own Reports with the Report Wizard	
Sharing a Report with Other Users	
Adding a File or Web Page as a Report	
Creating Report Snapshots (On-Premises Only)	
Tips for Keeping Reports Organized	

Part VI: Extending the Application

HOUR 22: Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 into	
Other Applications	437
Bridge Software	
Points of Connect	
Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM with External Web Sources	
Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM into Accounting Applications	

www.allitebooks.com

Sams Teach Yourself Microsoft Dynamics CRM in 24 Hours

Integration-Independent Software Vendors	
Integration Risks	
Data Migration	
HOUR 23: Microsoft Dynamics CRM Tools and Utilities	449
Enhancing Contact Information	
Business Intelligence in Microsoft Dynamics CRM	
Enabling Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Mobile Devices	
Database Tools and Utilities	
Compliance and Auditing Tools	
HOUR 24: Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a Development Framework	465
Options: What Can Be Changed?	
When Microsoft Dynamics CRM Is a Good Fit	
When the Core of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Might Need Addition	nal
Architecture and Design	
Skills Required: Who Can Make the Changes	
Index	

х

About the Author

Anne Stanton started her career in the 1980s, as a programmer working with ancient languages such as Fortran 77, Basic, Turbo Pascal, and Cobol. She then built out her expertise as a master of software applications, consulting, marketing, sales, social media, and grassroots marketing and customer relations. Anne has spent 27 years working with technology and is still passionate about all that it can do to help businesses achieve efficiency and growth. Her most recent focus has been working with the Microsoft Dynamics xRM platform and Microsoft Dynamics CRM software. She was awarded the seventh Microsoft MVP for CRM and has a long-running blog (www.crmlady.com) and Twitter feed (crmlady) on the subject. She has worked with Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a customer, partner practice leader, consultant, and enterprise user since version 1.2, released in 2004.

Dedication

This book is dedicated to the people who love and have loved me and to the children I was lucky enough to raise into adults, of whom I could not be more proud.

It is also dedicated to the community of passionate people who, for no other reason than to help, continue to participate in the online forums, post incredibly helpful knowledge on various blogs, keep Twitter updated in real time, and share their personal lives on Facebook and other social media platforms. This includes peers, friends, and family members who have been there in one form or another through some crazy times.

Acknowledgments

My deepest thanks to the following contributing writers, who, through their writing and dedication, have helped me to finalize and release this book despite a number of personal delays and distractions over the past year: Robert Peledie (Hours 6 and 19), Scott Colson (Hour 18), Guy Riddle (Hour 5), Steve Noe (Hours 7 and 14), Glenn Sharp (Hour 10), Kyle O'Connor (Hours 23 and 24), John Gravely (Hour 9), and Pierre Hulsebus (Hours 20, 21, and 22).

And an extra thank you to the team of people at Pearson Education and the editors who told me like it was, helped bring the content to the next level, and were a great team to work with. They were extremely valuable to this book and to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM community as a whole.

We Want to Hear from You!

As the reader of this book, *you* are our most important critic and commentator. We value your opinion and want to know what we're doing right, what we could do better, what areas you'd like to see us publish in, and any other words of wisdom you're willing to pass our way.

You can e-mail or write me directly to let me know what you did or didn't like about this book—as well as what we can do to make our books stronger.

Please note that I cannot help you with technical problems related to the topic of this book, and that due to the high volume of mail I receive, I might not be able to reply to every message.

When you write, please be sure to include this book's title and author as well as your name and phone number or e-mail address. I will carefully review your comments and share them with the author and editors who worked on the book.

E-mail: consumer@samspublishing.com

Mail: Greg Wiegand Editor-in-Chief Sams Publishing 800 East 96th Street Indianapolis, IN 46240 USA

Reader Services

Visit our website and register this book at informit.com/register for convenient access to any updates, downloads, and errata that might be available for this book.

This page intentionally left blank

Introduction

Microsoft Dynamics CRM is a customer relationship management application, a sales force automation application, a customer service application, a marketing tool, a platform and framework for software development, and an application that can be configured to meet a variety of relationship management needs. You might have seen the term *xRM* within the Microsoft Dynamics CRM world; this term represents all that is mentioned above that is not necessarily considered CRM. Needless to say, Microsoft Dynamics CRM is a product that has great depth and great versatility.

If you have picked up this book, you most likely have been thinking about learning more about Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Who Should Read This Book

This book is aimed at users of Microsoft Dynamics CRM and Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, Microsoft partners expanding into the Dynamics CRM space, and software developers and others interested in learning more about the product. This book gets you started, but it could not possibly describe everything you'll ever need to know about Microsoft Dynamics CRM!

If you are already working with Microsoft Dynamics CRM, this book can help expand your depth of understanding about the product and organize your experiences with the product. If you have never worked with Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you can look to this book as a solid base that gets you started and helps you grow, learn, and expand in the right directions as you learn more about the software and its many areas of potential.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM has changed dramatically since its first release in the early 2000s, and many of these changes have come about through Microsoft incorporating suggestions and ideas from a variety of sources.

Now that Microsoft Dynamics CRM has matured to version 2011 R5, the product is rich with functionality, backed by a powerful community, and built for an almost-unlimited list of business needs.

Teach Yourself Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 in 24 Hours

How This Book Is Organized

This book is divided into six parts that will get you up to speed quickly with Microsoft Dynamics CRM:

- ▶ Part I, "Introduction to the Business Use of Microsoft Dynamics CRM"
- ▶ Part II, "The Structure of Microsoft Dynamics CRM"
- Part III, "Getting Started Using the Software"
- ▶ Part IV, "The Support Department"
- Part V, "Reporting"
- ▶ Part VI, "Extending the Application"

Special Features

This book includes the following special features:

- Lesson roadmaps—At the beginning of each lesson, you will find a list of what you will learn in that hour. This list enables you to quickly see the type of information the lesson contains.
- By the Way—Throughout the book, you will see extra information presented in these sidebars.
- Did You Know?—Throughout the book, you'll see tips and insight on items of related interest that you might want to know about.
- Watch Out!—Throughout the book, where topics warrant warnings, you'll see sidebars titled "Watch Out!"
- Tasks—Numbered lists of steps to complete tasks help to organize the material.
- Workshop—In this section, you will find an example of CRM in use and a case study of a company that is using Microsoft Dynamics CRM to solve business needs related to the topic of the lesson.
- Q&A—At the end of each chapter is a Q&A section that explores some questions likely to be asked by users who are using the features and functions addressed during the lesson.
- Quiz—At the end of each chapter is a quiz (and answers) to help you evaluate what you have learned during the hour.
- Exercises—At the end of each lesson is a set of recommended exercises to help reinforce what you learned in the lesson.

HOUR 1

What Is Microsoft Dynamics CRM?

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Overview of CRM and the CRM industry
- Department roles: different perspectives
- Business applications, functions, and fundamentals
- A closer look at business processes
- Capturing processes

This hour focuses on opening the mind to a potential new world: the world of customer relationship management (CRM). This world did not start with the invention of technology, nor does it end with a specific application. This world has long been researched, studied, documented, debated, and discussed. As you consider this world of CRM realize that the success of a specific CRM initiative or the failure of the same initiative often does not have much to do with the software or technology that you use. A successful CRM project also demands understanding of process, the potential for technology and a team of people. The goal of this hour is to build a foundation of understanding that will leave a few doors open as you get started on the road toward mastery of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 and potentially many successful projects.

Overview of CRM and the CRM Industry

What does CRM really stand for? As an acronym, it expands to customer relationship management. As an industry concept, it is the ability for a company to capture key details about its customers and future customers as they relate to a need, desire, and set of preferences. The CRM philosophy is all about encouraging and supporting a business strategy that leverages this key information to support better communication and a more accurate offering to the right audience at the right time. CRM as a way of thinking has been around since the first business opened, long before technological innovations of the 1980s allowed this business approach to become an industry. CRM also enters almost everyone's personal life. Take for instance the mail that you receive. Have you received a catalog or promotional mailing lately? Tracking you as a potential customer involves CRM. Let's take a look at a little bit of CRM history.

In the beginning, the idea of automating marketing arose. The idea of segmenting customers and prospects into groups that could be electronically approached took hold, offering grand promises of revolutionary changes in business process. Those promises and hopes were quickly balanced with reality. Too much data without properly configured tools to sort, filter, and use that data wasted large amounts of time and money.

Now, more than 20 years after the term *CRM* was first used, it is a still-maturing industry, and the debates and growth predictions within the CRM industry continue.

A simple online search for "CRM" will open some doors. You can find industry-specific magazines, generic and product-specific white papers, articles, books, debates, blogs and wikis, and a long list of successes and failures defining the best approaches and the best tools at all company levels. In this hour, we peek into this broad world.

CRM Software Packages

Common CRM marketing messages include faster access to information and more personal efficiency, but this is often not enough. Technology continues to break down barriers and offer more. It can increase success and support efforts to maintain success in an increasingly fast-paced world. Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers key features such as integration to mapping data with an easily reachable map to the contact's office or capturing instant customer-specific information from the Internet and feeding it up in the customer summary. It can summarize social buzz and organize instant posts and complaints in real time. It can also manage the data needed to offer support or returns as well as the complex needs of marketing and senior management.

CRM today is increasingly adding to the functionality of already much-loved and well-used tools through enhancement and integration with other applications. Bringing existing habits and tools to the next level can speed and increase adoption while also creating loyal users. This is one reason why Microsoft Dynamics CRM functions through the e-mail client Microsoft Outlook and works closely with other Microsoft applications, such as Microsoft Word, Microsoft Excel, and Microsoft Office SharePoint Service.

According to Gartner, Inc., the CRM market will enter a three-year shake-up starting in 2011, as a number of key trends continue to take hold. These include growth in sales techniques, changes in marketing automation, and expansion of options in customer service technologies, projects, and implementations. Given that technology continues to evolve, the choices within the world of CRM continue to expand. Consider social media, mobile access, and access to data from devices such as your sunglasses or watch. The next three years will continue the pattern of rapid growth of options to automate process and considerations for process refinement.

CRM Application Technology

The list of CRM line-of-business applications was extensive prior to Microsoft Dynamics CRM coming to market. Companies such as PeopleSoft, Siebel, SAP, and Oracle have products within this niche. In fact, CRM software is one of the oldest applications available and has been released in numerous flavors by many vendors over the years. When solving the CRM business need with CRM application technology, we are talking about a well-researched subject. When it comes to technology, CRM software sits next to e-mail as the heart and soul of many companies. It also crosses all departments, offices, and niches within a company, and it is both a corporate and a personally needed toolset. The product supports an individual in his efforts to organize his day and to-do list, and it aggregates data from many individuals for corporate analysis and decision making. It automates a process to enhance and support corporate standards, it promotes and supports team work, and it automates processes to support an individual's interest in efficiency. CRM software not only has to be successful for the corporation, it must also empower the individual and the team. Ultimately, CRM software, when implemented correctly, can actually change the business direction of a company.

CRM and the Individual

We each have our own style for getting things done and reminding ourselves of what we have to do. When we apply these unique styles to a work environment, where common technology must support all, the application used must be flexible enough for different styles and easy enough to modify and master that it meets many different needs. The technology must also offer commonality and promote, or even enforce, corporate standards. E-mail software is a classic example of an application that is both corporate and standardized and yet flexible and individually empowering. CRM software is very similar to e-mail software, and yet it has to support many more needs than an e-mail application. CRM software must keep track

www.allitebooks.com

of not only who you talk to, but who they talk to. It must also keep track of when you last talked to them and what was said. Think about it.

If we consider applying this technology to an audience of salespeople, we also have unique audience-specific considerations. Many times, salespeople have become successful because of their own talent, habits, style, and connections. These factors are often unique and come from a salesperson's experiences, trainings, and focus. When rolling out CRM software, changes are inevitable, but asking any salesperson to change a successful style is often an uphill battle. Unlike other audiences, an additional element to the salesperson audience is that a salesperson's success usually contributes and pays a part of his salary. To get a high level of adoption in this market, the CRM application must offer something to salespeople that they want and something that meets a need that can not be met without the tool.

Common CRM marketing touts include faster access to information and more personal efficiency, but this is often not enough when talking to an established and successful salesperson. However, technology continues to break down barriers and offer more. It can increase success and support efforts to maintain success in an increasingly fast-paced world. Offering key features, such as integration to mapping data (GeoData) with an easily reachable map to the contact's office or capturing instant customer-specific information from the Internet and feeding it up in the customer summary, can be very powerful.

Another powerful option is increasing the functionality of already much loved and well-used tools through enhancement and integration with other applications. Taking existing habits and tools and bringing them to the next level can speed and increase adoption while also creating loyal users. This is one reason why Microsoft Dynamics CRM functions through the email client, Microsoft Outlook, and it works closely with other Microsoft applications, such as Microsoft Word, Microsoft Excel, and Microsoft Office SharePoint Service.

We have talked about the mindset of a successful salesperson, but what about a salesperson who is not doing so well? We can attribute this to any number of variables, but how would an offer of or improvement to CRM software be considered in this situation? When the pressure is on from management and the "rope is short," having powerful tools to get the job done quickly, smoothly, and efficiently can help. These tools, if already existing prior to a failure, can also be blamed for an individual's lack of success. As the heart and soul of a firm and of individual productivity, CRM software sits in a very volatile space.

How many people can you keep track of without using technology or a piece of paper? Perhaps you have a special gift and can keep track of hundreds of people.

But what about all the specific details? We all have our methods, which might include a small black book, a manila file on each client, or technology (such as a laptop or a mobile device), but the small details are often captured in more places than just memory. CRM software enables us to capture, organize, and store more information, and it makes it easier to retrieve and analyze that information.

CRM also helps automate processes, and when it comes to individuals' habits and tasks, automation can reduce redundancy. If someone is spending time doing the same tasks over and over again for different clients, CRM software can automate this mundane process and free her up to do more advanced and unique tasks, tasks that require more intelligence or careful thinking or the unique skills of a human. Consider the rather repetitive process of sending out a follow-up packet when a new prospect inquires about a company. Instead of the salesperson redoing the entire process over again, he can customize the letter to a specific inquirer and let the system automatically compile standard electronic material to include for new prospects. CRM software can also customize the material for this specific prospect based on other criteria, such as industry, location, interest, or any set of the a variety of variables.

CRM Software Collects Firm-Wide Data

In this information age, one of the biggest assets for a company is the data captured and retained and the intellectual capital that this represents. The idea of captured information when it comes to relationships is a controversial one, and yet much of a corporation's success in marketing and customer service is based on knowledge about the customer and the relationship the corporation has with the customer, as well as knowledge about the other relationships a customer has.

Twenty years ago, employer/employee loyalty was pervasive, but that has changed. What happens when someone leaves your firm? How does this relate to the use of a CRM application? Every person who works in a company retains a certain amount of knowledge about the firm, his or her specific job, and the people he or she works with (internal staff and customer contacts). This knowledge is often overlooked but sometimes critical to the success of a business. The combined knowledge of all staff is also the single most unique difference between two companies offering the same product or service; it is a real competitive differentiator. A CRM application can help to capture some of this knowledge. It also supports company efforts to standardize, document, and automate company-specific processes. After these processes have been captured, they are not forgotten when key staff leave. As staff turnover becomes more common, the retention of this critical data becomes even more difficult. Customer information needs to be captured. The size, location, industry, products purchased, purchasing habits, and preferred service variables are all data oriented, but what about the relationship? A relationship is often between two people or a small group of people and another group of people. A customer has a point person who regularly calls and places orders. The person taking the order might be the same person, the same one or two people, or always someone new. In the first scenario, a relationship exists between the point person at the customer site and the point person taking the orders. After an order is placed, these two people might share more information (a laugh, a question about the weather on the other side of the country, or more personal information). If either one of these people leaves, the customer still gets service, but the service level changes. In the second scenario, we have one specific point person, but when he calls to place an order, he talks to two or three different people. In this scenario, the risk of reducing the connection to the customer is slightly lower.

Increasingly, companies are trying to reduce the risk of compromising customer service when key staff people leave or when contacts within the customer company change positions. CRM software can capture some of the details needed to reduce this risk. A customer service point person who adds a note indicating that her customer always calls on a Friday morning and that recently her daughter was married, helps the next customer service person to offer much more personal service.

The Business Advantage of CRM

Let's now consider a corporation's return on investment (ROI) from the adoption of a CRM solution. The primary ROI is enhanced customer service or a shorter sales cycle based on already captured knowledge. However, the adoption of CRM software creates multiple ROIs, depending on which audience is accessing or working with the product. The board of directors of a corporation might be interested in the financial returns or the long-term predictive analysis of the data captured within the core lineof-business CRM application. A manager might have a totally different need. A manager might, for example, use CRM software as a coaching tool, standardizing his much-loved and much-tested best practices into an automated toolset used by his direct reports. A manager might also use CRM software for compliance and for managing the human resources he or she is responsible for. The ROI for a manager does not necessarily have to be the same ROI as that of a chief financial officer or a customer support representative. In addition, the success or failure of a CRM application can be contradictive. One department may experience great success, while another experiences frustration and limitations and time-consuming extra data entry. No other application crosses so many different audiences in so many different ways. And no other application brings with it such great risk from failed adoption and such great benefits from true corporate understanding and mastery.

In Figure 1.1 we show how multidimensional the world of CRM can be and how many different areas of impact this section of software can apply to.





Successful CRM Projects

It is easy to focus only on purchasing a software package and the actual installation. However, a company needs to consider a whole project, including the level of involvement of people, the design of process, and the actual technology footprint to support the new solution. One of the key goals of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is to be a product that is extremely flexible and that can be reconfigured or changed as a company environment changes. These changes can include the people using the software, technology revolutions as the world of technology matures, and processes that a company either changes or refines. CRM is not just an application or a technology; it is a methodology, a culture, and a philosophy, and because of this wide-reaching paradigm, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 requires executive decisions about configuration and use. In addition, management must understand what its options are when it comes to many of these decisions, so in addition to management decisions, a company also needs executive commitment to learn something new and to open their minds to additional options.

As earlier mentioned, there are a number of different considerations in each successful CRM projects. Let's take a look at each of these as diagrammed in Figure 1.2.



People

Every human is unique. Some have great skills dealing with people including social skills, management skills, and communication skills; some are passionate about software; others are incredible writers or excel at sports. Some are masters of any combination of skills. Human style and talent can impact the success of a project or application.

A core team may be critical to efficient adoption and change management; however, each person who will eventually be a user of the system is unique, and core teams rarely represent 100% of all unique user needs. When considering applying technology to the CRM space, consider the various levels of people who could be involved. There will be a variety of different individuals, and each individual has his or her own specific habits and technology in use.

There are a variety of different departments, and each department has different people and different needs and focuses, and there are a variety of different personalities. Some will make excellent champions, whereas others will be incredible users. You might find that the administrator role is best accomplished by a person who is a master of software, has a depth of understanding about the business, and is passionate about learning. The user champion might not need these skills. A user champion may need to have an outgoing personality, a likable demeanor, and an ability to put people at ease. This person would also need understanding and skill in the CRM

successful

software, as well as an understanding about how the new software impacts his or her world.

Management buy-in and involvement is the biggest single factor in the success of a CRM software implementation. Additionally the roles and responsibilities of each team member as they apply to a specific CRM project or as they apply to the long-term use of the CRM solution are also important. When considering roles think about information services, partners, and business users, and within each of these groups the roles of managing, developing, defining, and confirming that all is as expected as the project moves forward. We can't emphasize enough the need for communication and flexibility—communication so that all are on the same page and flexibility because technology growth and options never stop, and in many projects the business process is also a moving target.

Processes

If you are diving into the new world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, a helpful exercise is to document existing processes. These processes can be extremely small, or they can be large and complex. Process documentation can start at a very high level and then have supporting documents at a more detailed level, or it can be at a very detailed level from the start. Changing processes is not required for the successful adoption of this software, but at a minimum existing processes should be reviewed as part of a deployment of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. In later sections we dive into explaining process diagramming in more depth, but let's take a quick look at an example.

When considering processes associated with specific tools, such as a CRM application, you can be sure that certain functions and features available can improve or change your process.

If your primary mode of transportation is a horse and buggy, for example, your process will have to include the care and feeding of the horse and the total number of hours a day that the horse could be used. You must also consider the conditioning of the leather components and the impact of weather on these components and the wear and tear of daily use. When you replace that horse and buggy with a car, the variables change so significantly that your processes change. You no longer have to consider the number of hours that you have available in any given day for transportation; after all, a car does not care whether it is used for 24 hours or for 1. However, you must continue to care about the wear and tear of daily use. Some processes do not change, but others do.

Another example is the introduction of the ATM. In prior days we used checks and a check register to withdraw cash. We often had an up-to-date running register of the

money in our checking accounts. In today's world of the ATM we take out cash but do not necessarily write this withdrawal into a check register. We still need an accurate statement, but we might depend on the bank's electronic statement for this information.

When considering change in an existing firm, a person first outlines and documents existing processes and then chooses areas of inefficiency or poor workflow to improve and correct. Process modification generally requires change; change requires a broad spectrum of initiative.

Before we consider making changes before rolling out Dynamics CRM, we must also consider that within three to six months of Microsoft Dynamics CRM adoption, there will be options for additional change or process modification as the technology opens new doors.

Making initial decisions about process when first installing Dynamics CRM is important, but considering change after use is just as critical. Features don't change, but user knowledge and mastery of these features does. This knowledge motivates adoption of more functionality.

The key with process in the CRM space is continual learning by the teams involved and the leveraging of Microsoft Dynamics CRM's powerful flexibility when it comes to change and design.

As a last note on processes, always consider this: If your processes do not work, what happens when automation speeds up those processes?

Technology

Technology includes well-tested CRM software applications, the changes these applications will mean for your company, and the environment in which the new software will operate. New technology always involves new choices, which may push people into uncomfortable decision-making positions but may also present wonderful new opportunities.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is both a foundation for development (often referred to as xRM, for *extended relationship management*) and a powerful line-of-business application focused on CRM features and functionality. The product is built on a solid foundation of proven and mature Microsoft technology and can be easily extended, configured, and modified into a unique fit for each business where it is deployed. The product is flexible, but it also comes with a number of standard features and functionalities that can be used without extra effort. Think of the product as having standard features, requested by almost all clients, and you can add unique features and functionalities specific for your company or project. Finally, never underestimate the requirement to learn the new technology well before implementing because by understanding what is available to you, you are given the chance to change your decisions and design. If you do not have this knowledge, then your decisions cannot be based on the power available within the system.

Department Roles: Different Perspectives

Depending on your responsibilities and focus, a CRM deployment can offer different benefits and challenges. Let's look at a few roles—not necessarily all roles within any given company.

Boards of Directors

If a board of directors (BOD) could choose one word when thinking of the company it oversees, that word might be *transparency*. Members of a BOD do not want surprises from either the press or from the chief officers on the management team. Hopefully the financials of a company are transparent. The G/L is available to the BOD, the financial statements are available to the BOD, but what is often missing is insight and perspective as to corporate culture and application of such to relationships with customers. In addition, board members often lack insight into the sales funnel, which offers a wide range of support from the extensive experience often found within a BOD. Board members have industry expertise and knowledge, but without something to compare this to from the company they oversee, their ability and contribution may be limited. Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers some of this insight from two perspectives. First, it is extremely good at capturing more data. Second, it is extremely good at offering this data in a user-friendly manner to people who do not necessarily use the application every day. Graphical reporting and dashboard analysis with a common Microsoft Office interface eliminates a number of barriers present in other vendor offerings.

Chief Executive Officers

Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers the chief executive officer (CEO) insight into the company and management variables via access to management teams, departmental decisions, and other "pure" data. It also provides analysis and integration points to other core applications running within a firm. A CEO who appropriately leverages CRM technology can more easily implement her vision with Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Microsoft Dynamics CRM software can help cutting-edge CEOs refine, change, and position a company and the processes within that company. CRM represents a pool of wisdom for the CEO.

Chief Financial Officers

Chief financial officers (CFOs) are tasked with reducing risk, lowering costs, and managing company financial investments. They also organize and classify corporate assets and work with managers to ensure efficiency. A CFO significantly benefits from the adoption of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. CFOs benefit from the additional available data, from the increased standardization of processes (which thus reduces risk and lowers costs), and from the analysis and predictive potential of this tool that captures the corporate asset known as data. They also benefit from the improvements and efficiencies in marketing that drive down the bottom line costs on sales.

Chief Information Officers and Chief Technology Officers

Microsoft Dynamics CRM results in key benefits for the chief information officer (CIO) and chief technology officer (CTO) because of the product's flexibility. The product's available framework and core building blocks are standard Microsoft tools. With these tools, technical staff can leverage the power of the platform without extensive extra training, and long-term support is available from multiple resources. Microsoft Dynamics CRM actually becomes a bridge between technology departments and the business. The software is a tool that technology departments can use to meet their own internal business needs (customer service or knowledge-base management, for instance), and it is a tool that can help meet corporate goals, such as automation of the sales process and prospect management.

Sales Managers

In meeting numbers, setting expectations, and reporting realistic goals to management and the BOD, the sales manager is well served with a tool that can capture his preferred and defined processes and the results and then communicate them to his superiors. If a sales manager has defined, refined, and implemented best-practice sales processes, these processes are defined, available, and transparent within the world of Dynamics CRM to the rest of the management team.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM can also help a sales manager to coach, mentor, and encourage team members to perform at a higher level through applicable experience applied to areas that Microsoft Dynamics CRM indicates need fine-tuning. Just as football coaches classify their players and then review their skills so that the appropriate weight training, running drills, and practices can be designed, so must a sales manager gain insight into who needs training, mentoring, and support. With the right configuration Microsoft Dynamics CRM can capture skill sets, and it can also offer transparency into prospect interaction and completion of processes. Instead of a sales manager having to pull teeth to get numbers for analysis and management reporting, daily capturing of activities and status changes via Microsoft Dynamics CRM can show what is going on. This shift moves from a monthly reactive reporting model to an anytime proactive management paradigm.

Salespersons or Sales Executives

If we consider applying CRM technology to an audience of salespeople, we also have unique audience-specific considerations. In addition to having personal styles for task management and daily efficiencies, salespeople also have unique sales styles. In fact, extremely successful salespeople have often become successful because of their own talent, habits, experiences, training, and connections.

When rolling out CRM software, changes are inevitable, but asking any salesperson to change a successful style may be an uphill battle. Unlike other audiences, with the salesperson audience, an additional element is that a salesperson's success usually contributes and pays a part of his salary. To get a high level of adoption in this market, the CRM application must offer something to salespeople that they want and something that meets a need that cannot be met without the tool. Additionally sales management and executive management buy-in can make a critical difference.

A sales executive's resistance to sharing data is well founded. Sales executives either have a well-practiced and much-coveted technique that they do not want to share with their peers, or they are vulnerable to judgment and correction. Even in a teamoriented culture, style is individual, and success is important.

In addition, the features and functions available to a salesperson can be significant. The key is to give the salesperson a system with the features and functions and clean simplicity needed for the salesperson to do the job as he or she sees fit.

Customer Service Managers

A customer service manager strives to help her team meet a certain level of measurable statistics: total number of completed calls, number of cases successfully closed, customer success stories, and more. In addition, a customer service manager must quickly respond to any cases that escalate from any level within the team. The manager must receive alerts so that she can quickly resolve problems and have visibility into the tone and traffic coming across the wires. A customer service manager can use Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 to generate these much-loved statistics. Integration of Microsoft Dynamics CRM into social media applications, such as

www.allitebooks.com

Twitter, enables management to measure and track unregistered complaints and the organization of all activities associated with a tracked case.

Customer Service Representatives

Customer service representatives are often on the phone all day. They need to quickly capture the notes from a call, often while they are talking, so that they can transition to the next call. Customer service representatives often make promises during these calls, and they must follow up and remember these promises. Microsoft Dynamics CRM can easily remember promises and individual or team obligations. It can also automatically meet promises by having a workflow that kicks off on the closing of a case or an activity.

Marketing Managers

Marketing managers often have a specific budget or a set number of marketing dollars. They are also often focused on the ROI associated with the use of these marketing dollars. They do not have many tools available to them that can capture this black-and-white data in a world of a lot of gray, but Microsoft Dynamics CRM's marketing campaign feature not only captures ROI, it also helps organize all the planning tasks and campaign activities associated with the use of that investment. Marketing managers can also expand their use of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 by working with one of the many independent software vendors that offer advanced marketing software for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

Marketing Professionals

Marketing professionals are often interested in slicing and dicing a wide variety of information. They need a tool that can encourage company staff members to collect as much data as possible on prospects, contacts, clients, opportunities, and campaigns as they happen. The marketing professional is interested in mailing to subsets of prospects and needs to have the details to create marketing lists of these subsets. Microsoft Dynamics CRM supports an almost unlimited number of details and the creation of marketing lists. A marketing professional might want to send out a mailing to all clients who have purchased a certain product in the past year or might want to set up a telemarketing campaign for all prospects with a certain Standard Industry Code (SIC).

As you work through the next 23 hours, keep in mind that the needs of marketing can be considered a whole new world of technology that complements the needs of sales professionals.

Business Applications, Functions, and Fundamentals

Fundamental changes need to take place in a company for CRM to be successful, and some companies have an advantage. They have made many of these changes. They have management that understands how technology and process impact each other, and they have synergy between business and technology expertise. They also have people who balance out the total formula. Most likely, they also have had at least one failed CRM attempt and are perhaps looking for more success, or maybe they are pushing the innovation envelope and understand some of the new paradigm shifts in communication. The companies without such advantages can also find success.

The world of CRM taps into the world of data flow within a company. A call comes in, and then what happens? A problem occurs. How does the company respond? What roles are affected? Who is responsible? What is happening with a prospect? What about a client? Who understands what is happening? Is this information stored so that others can have insight into the situation if that person is not available? What about the data on the available skills and knowledge that can be used to solve a problem or meet a request or accomplish a goal? Now think about contacts. How is a contact related to a specific company? How is that same contact related to other people? Does that contact have other relationships that would be beneficial to know about? What about a building? How is a building related to another building? Or how is a building related to a management company?

When we consider process as it relates to Microsoft Dynamics CRM, we are looking at the processes surrounding the flow of data within a company, the handling of that data, and the desired results of handling the data effectively to produce a desired end result.

A Closer Look at Business Processes

A business process is a series of activities or tasks that lead to a specific completed service or defined product. These activities can also be bundled into a specific step within the process, with the process being made up of a series of steps or stages.

A business process can be thought of as something that serves a particular goal for a particular prospect, customer, or customers. The automation of processes keeps promises and tasks from falling between the cracks and helps to organize and systemize particular business best practices. The automation of processes also supports the effort of a corporation to standardize processes within certain groups of users. One of the first excitements when initially purchasing Microsoft Dynamics CRM is the power of using the software to automate processes. The risk with this approach is that, if there is no understanding of items that are automatically created, then the world gets very noisy. E-mails get automatically created, and activities get automatically generated, and a to-do list gets overwhelmed or an inbox gets full without comprehension of where these items are coming from. Ultimately, the goal is to make any given process more efficient and less complex. Automating can create more complexity, more noise, and more data in more places. When you automate based on a practiced and well-loved process, you gain more success. Needless to say, manually mastering a process at a variety of levels before automating is recommended.

When it comes to the concept of learning more about business process, there are many resources available. You can find books, articles, and magazines on business process by industry, by type of work, and by role (such as management processes, operational processes, and supporting processes). You can even find some good fiction, such as the 1948 book *Cheaper by the Dozen* by Frank Gilbreth, Jr., and Ernestine Gilbreth Carey.



Process Reminder

One thing to keep in mind is that, if you can capture the processes that are in practice today, you can complement them, replace them, and fine-tune them as you roll out Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

One of the first tasks to do when learning to master Microsoft Dynamics CRM is to understand and learn your own processes and how these processes can either fit or change within your company as you adopt or increase your usage of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. It is extremely difficult to use a software package that supports a process without clarity and understanding of the process to begin with.

Capturing a process does not have to be difficult. In fact, it can be quite fun. Grab a white board or notepad and a set of appropriate markers. For those technically inclined (yes, you, Mr. Developer and Mrs. Infrastructure Specialist), open Microsoft Visio. You need to diagram both the high-level process and the lower-level details. You can even go so far as to think of some of the lower-level details as related subprocesses.

Now, you should put on the hat of a particular role—such as salesperson, administrator, financial officer, marketing expert, business engineer, software developer, or network administrator—and start drawing. Feel free to whip up a set of paper hats and make this a fun team exercise. If you are struggling with picking a role or thinking of all the roles that might be considered, check out this great Microsoft web page: www.microsoft.com/en-us/dynamics/about.aspx. With a specific role hat on, what do you do in a given week? What about on a given day? What systems do you currently use? What decisions do you have to make? I know you know the details, but write them down and capture each decision and every step, using pictures. Pictures communicate a thousand words, so you might as well make it easy on yourself.

Remember that paper you had to write in seventh grade? The one where the teacher told you to document how you do something and then made someone else do it by only using the instructions on the paper? It was difficult to explain how to drink a glass of water, particularly when you forgot to include how to turn on the faucet, or perhaps you chose how to open your desk and forgot to include that the person had to first walk over to the desk to reach it. Documenting processes at work are not necessarily this difficult, but doing this exercise can be just as eye opening.

Pretend you are talking to someone who is going to fill in for you, or even to your 12-year-old son or perhaps your 20-year-old daughter who is considering careers. You can even think about telling your spouse, your mother, or a patient sibling. The concept is to really document the big picture and the specific details within that big picture.

Figures 1.3 and 1.4 show a few sample business processes diagrammed using different formats. Figure 1.3 uses flowchart boxes and outlines the handling of a list of leads received from a trade show.

Figure 1.4 uses a different format and shows a general process of a vendor bill arriving through the mail and being received by the receptionist at a specific company.

Figure 1.5 is more of a general, big-picture diagram of a process that shows a marketing department starting a process that flows through sales to order to delivery. It includes a small process surrounding manufacturing feeding inventory.

Another way to capture a process is by using a swim lane document. A *swim lane* is a horizontal or vertical format of a process flow diagram that offers a way of showing what or who is associated with a particular subprocess. Swim lane diagrams allow you to capture the big picture, and they also offer a smooth transition to capturing the related subprocesses.

As much as capturing processed is critical, it is also critical to realize that in office environments, processes changes. In today's world, many processes are continually being tweaked. Unlike in manufacturing, where certain items are built and the steps to build them rarely change, in the world of data, adaptability and riding the waves of change are keys to success.



One of the benefits of Microsoft Dynamics CRM is that adding automated processes does not require a programmer or advanced programming skills. The ability to automate processes is achieved with the workflow functionality, which is part of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM application. Mastering the workflow feature allows a company to continually automate and change processes built into the technology as its world changes.

FIGURE 1.3 Handling the

leads process.



21
Capturing Processes

Microsoft Dynamics CRM helps automate processes in a few different ways. The first is that Microsoft Dynamics CRM captures, stores, and organizes data. The second is that, through the use of automation of workflow, Microsoft Dynamics CRM automates processes that would otherwise be done manually. In fact, beginners to workflow automation can take something as simple as a small business rule and apply it to something that happens in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM can generate an e-mail message when a new opportunity is closed with a status of win. This e-mail can also include a link that enables the sales manager to quickly click and see all the details of this win, or the e-mail can be set up to include the details of interest. The power of Microsoft Windows Workflow Foundation is part of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Workflow can be scary and complicated—people even have advanced degrees in the concept—or it can be extremely simple. I encourage you to set up a few simple workflows as you are learning about them in Hour 16, "Workflows: Creating Simple Workflows," and then use them for a week or so to get familiar with how your processes and your entire team's processes are impacted.

Other examples of automating processes based on data entered into the system could include the following:

- **1.** When a new opportunity is created, automatically generate all the activities associated with the first step of the sales process (if the first step is defined as a set of activities that need to be completed).
- 2. Further extend this to include the second, third, fourth, and final steps so when all the activities associated with the first step in the sales process are completed, Microsoft Dynamics CRM automatically updates the probability percentage of close on the opportunity and creates the second set of activities that need to be completed. This can continue until you close the deal.

You can also apply automation to services:

- **1.** When a user creates a new service case in the system and that service case is of type "Fix Broken X," automatically create a set of activities that result in fixing the broken X and close the case.
- 2. When a user creates a new service case, automatically send an e-mail message to the client, indicating that a service technician is working on the case. For example, a common manual process, the assignment of leads, can be automated.

3. When a new lead is entered in the system, check the zip code, associate the territory, and assign the lead to the sales manager for that territory.

We know that workflow can take business rules and apply or automate processes based on those rules, but what about other process impacts from a CRM system? Let's look at some practical considerations.

Practical Considerations

Given that Microsoft Dynamics CRM captures, organizes, and manages data, a key consideration is to configure Microsoft Dynamics CRM so that it makes it extremely easy for users to enter data. You have the power to add new fields to Microsoft Dynamics CRM. You also have the power to remove data fields from the forms in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. And you have the power to organize how data fields are displayed within a structured offering in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Much can be learned from a popular search engine in use today. It offers you one box for data entry. The screen is not cluttered with distracting information that is perhaps not of interest. In addition, no training is needed to use this search engine, until you get into more advanced concepts. This key concept is of particular importance when people are starting to use Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The "keep it simple" concept is well married to mastery, usability, and adoptability.

Remember that Microsoft Dynamics CRM is a robust system but even in the first few hours of using it, much can make sense. Start slow, dive into a subset of your business processes, apply these to Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and then grow with the software or let the software grow on you. Your understanding of Microsoft Dynamics CRM will continue to increase, and this understanding will open doors for you. You might find that a process you captured and defined in the early weeks of use does not even apply anymore because of how you use Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Another helpful habit is to visit the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Resource Center (http://rc.crm.dynamics.com/rc/regcont/en_us/onlinedefault.aspx) and read how others use the system or peek into a few of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM blogs or podcasts. You might find a helpful tip, a snippet of code, or a learning technique. Listed on my blog, The CRM Lady (www.crmlady.com), is a link list of many other Microsoft Dynamics CRM blogs that you might find interesting. (If you find a blog that is not listed, let me know.) Here are a few links that might be of interest:

- ► The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Team Blog: http://blogs.msdn.com/crm/
- ▶ The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Video Gallery: www.democrmonline.com
- The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Developer Center: http://msdn.microsoft. com/en-us/dynamics/crm/bb501031.aspx

Summary: Key Points to Remember

- The need for good CRM is not new, and CRM software is not a new technology.
- Microsoft Dynamics CRM is the heart and soul of many companies, and it is impacted by design decisions, business process decisions, country philosophy, corporate culture, style, and individual impact and adoption.
- Microsoft Dynamics CRM is extremely flexible and requires management decisions about configuration and use. Flexibility offers choice, and choice can increase complexity.
- There is a CRM industry packed with a wealth of magazines, white papers, and CRM successes above and beyond a specific CRM technology.
- If automation speeds up processes, what happens when the processes are incorrect? When thinking about CRM technology, remember to think about processes, even if changing processes is not required.
- Microsoft Dynamics CRM is built using standard Microsoft technologies, such as the Microsoft .NET Framework, Windows Workflow Foundation, and Microsoft SQL Server.
- The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Software Development Kit Software Developer Kit (SDK) is available for download and is regularly updated. You can find the SDK here: http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/ bb928212.aspx.
- The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Help files are regularly updated and are available for download and customization.

Workshop

Q&A

- Q. How can I increase internal acceptance of our new Microsoft Dynamics CRM project?
- **A.** Management involvement and oversight is an important factor for company adoption of any CRM initiative.
- **Q.** What do you mean when you indicate that Microsoft Dynamics CRM can capture corporate assets?
- **A.** In today's information age, details on client and prospect interactions can be a valuable corporate asset, particularly when staff turnover is an issue and data is held within the head of a salesperson as opposed to a corporate system.
- **Q.** What benefit is there in reading some of the CRM industry magazines? I have my solution. What more do I need to know?
- **A.** CRM industry magazines have some great articles on topics such as getting management buy-in, improving business process with the help of technology, and listing ways to improve efficiency. These subjects are not technology specific, but they can be huge differentiators.

Q. Our process is constantly changing. How can Microsoft Dynamics CRM keep up with all these changes?

A. Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers users the power of workflow, which is a feature that CRM administrators can use to define, modify, and automate their own processes. A system administrator can also add or modify attributes/fields associated with specific entities, and a CRM architect can make changes to fine-tune the system as a company uses it. Additionally Microsoft frequently releases upgrades and regular maintenance updates.

Q. What are some other places to find information on Microsoft Dynamics CRM?

A. The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Team has a great blog at http://blogs.msdn.com/ crm/, which includes links to many other resources.

www.allitebooks.com

Q. We are putting together a team to document some of our company processes. Who would be the best members to include on the team?

- **A.** Good members for the team include management and staff members who have a long historical perspective of the existing business processes as well as someone who has fresh eyes and is learning about the business processes from a brand-new perspective. You might also want to include a mix of information technology, finance, management, and staff representatives.
- Q. What is an example of a process that may be good to automate?
- **A.** You might want to automate an alert when an opportunity is created that is outside the bounds of normal for the company or a reminder to follow up when a case is closed on an A-level client or a set of tasks that are created in association with completing a part of a sales process.

Quiz

- **1.** What are two benefits to an individual staff member if a company rolls out Microsoft Dynamics CRM successfully?
- 2. What are the three components of a successful CRM project?
- **3.** Why might a CxO (CEO, CFO, CIO, and so on) be interested in Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- 4. Why is documenting processes so important to CRM adoption?
- 5. Why might salespeople be resistant to CRM software?
- **6.** What process change occurs when Microsoft Dynamics CRM is installed and adopted?
- 7. What is an example of a process that can be automated?
- Name four different roles, such as a salesperson, that could be users of Microsoft Dynamics CRM.
- **9.** What is Microsoft Dynamics capable of doing when a piece of data is saved in the system?

Answers

- **1.** Everything that is done today in Microsoft Outlook can be communicated to without having to retype anything into Excel, Word, or a summary e-mail.
- **2.** The three components of a successful CRM project include people, processes, and technology.
- **3.** A CxO interested in CRM is interested in the organization of data, efficiency, and a common environment that the entire organization is working within.
- **4.** Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers so much choice that it is important to understand the processes you want to support with the Microsoft Dynamics CRM toolset.
- 5. Salespeople are often on the move, and capturing information within a technical tool does not lend itself to face-to-face conversations and travel time. Dynamics CRM overcomes some of this by being available in multiple formats including mobile and offline when Internet access is not available.
- **6.** Many process changes can occur, but it is up to a Microsoft Dynamics CRM customer to decide what he or she wants to change through automation.
- **7.** A process that can be automated is a sales process or the process of fixing a broken product.
- **8.** A set of roles of users within the world of a CRM solution include a salesperson, administrator, financial officer, marketing expert, business engineer, software developer, or network administrator.
- **9.** Microsoft Dynamics CRM's workflow functionality can automatically create an e-mail message or activity when a piece of data is saved.

Exercise

Using a flowchart or diagrams, document one of the business processes that is part of your working world. You can do this using Microsoft Office Visio, or you can leverage the power of paper and pen. If you have not done flowchart diagramming before, approach this exercise from the concept of pictures. Figures 1.6 and 1.7 provide examples.



28

HOUR 2

The Basic Vocabulary of CRM Functionality

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Key building blocks
- ► Core entities
- Other selected entities
- Other important components
- Other components

In this hour, we explore the building blocks of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The core entities, or building blocks, make up the Microsoft Dynamics CRM system. The building blocks include items such as an Account, Contact, Connections, and Opportunity entities. In addition, some building blocks—such as Case, Contract, Order, and Invoice entitites—might not be used by every company. This lesson provides insights into each of the building blocks.

Architectural Note

Be very careful not to design your system before you understand what has been built and what features are designed into the existing architecture. As extendable as Dynamics CRM is, it also comes with a ton of power already existing. Maximizing this power as opposed to fighting against it is highly recommended.

Key Building Blocks

If we compare Microsoft Dynamics CRM to a brick house, the entities within Microsoft Dynamics CRM are the bricks, or building blocks. Each block can stand on its own and represents a specific thing (in this example, a brick). When put together, these bricks enable us to create a completely different structure—a tree, a house, tower,



fireplace, or school. Microsoft Dynamics CRM is also built of "bricks," or "building blocks," and you can use a variety of these different blocks to create different structures. Microsoft Dynamics CRM is both a prebuilt and designed customer relationship management (CRM) application and an extendable xRM platform that can be designed and shaped into different applications. Let's look at a number of these specific building blocks, as outlined in Figure 2.1, starting with the Account entity.



Core Entities

Core entities include all the tables within the Microsoft Dynamics CRM system that is shipped. These include items such as Account, Contact, and Connections. Each is discussed in the following sections.

The Account Entity

At first glance, an Account entity is a company or organization, but the automatic assumptions about an Account entity are not always correct. So, we will specifically look at the use of Account within the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. A first assumption is that an Account entity is an organization, a corporation, or a client. Although this may be correct, an Account entity is also much more. For instance, an Account entity can represent a vendor, a prospect, a contracting company, a location, a division headquarters, a legal firm that represents a client, a shared bank,

one of the various locations of the bank, and more. In the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, Account is a key building block that has relationships to other core entities throughout the system, such as Contact, Case, and Opportunity.

The Account entity can also be defined to mean something unique for your business niche. Take, for instance, a company that manages the assets for one specific company. It does not need to track its only client, but it does need to track all the company's assets and the relationships of these assets to other assets. This company might decide to make the Account entity represent an asset. The company can easily change the name Account to Asset and configure the workflow and associated entities to match this unique business need. This change does not require the expensive skills of a programmer as you might want to assume. It is a configuration feature.

Your company might want to rename the Account entity to Corporation or Client. However, if you do this, you create a conflict with a need to have Account entity types such as Prospect, Vendor, or Supplier. You might also want to track a client's bank or the common accounting firms (Firm). Account is a wonderfully generic term that covers a variety of Account entities.

The Contact Entity

A Contact entity is slightly easier to explain than an Account entity. In most examples, a Contact entity represents a specific person and all the associated information that relates to that specific person. (Using the previous example, the Contact entity might be a specific person who is related to or manages an asset.) A Contact entity may also be represented as a specific individual thing (for instance, a specific plant that relates to a specific account location or family of plants).

Although Microsoft Dynamics CRM is a powerful CRM system, it is also a system that you can configure to track any kind of relationship. The Contact entities have a relationship to the Account entities out of the box and throughout the system. You can have an unlimited number of contacts associated with a given account, and for each Contact entity you can track a number of details. In most cases, you will see that contacts can be any number of different employees in a specific company. Later in this book, we examine what makes up a contact.

Connections

A Connection entity represents the connection between two other entities. Take for instance the connection between two different accounts, a customer and its supplier. Each of these are Account entities, but they have many fields that relate to their connection that can be tracked. For instance, the role one account plays (supplier) to the other (customer).

The Lead Entity

In the world of sales, a lead is an unqualified prospect who has the potential, with some qualification effort, to become a new client. The lead entity is flatter than an account with many contacts. A lead generally represents one contact that in the future might be expanded into a hierarchical tree of account, connections, and contacts. With Microsoft Dynamics CRM, a Lead entity can be a number of different things. If your company purchases a list of names of individuals that might be interested in your products, those names are considered unqualified contacts or leads in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Once a lead is qualified by a salesperson screening them through a series of questions to determine interest, it can be converted to the hierarchical structure of account, contact, and/or opportunity, offering the ability to add more contacts and related building blocks (such as contract, quote, order, and case). In addition, all the history that has been done to qualify the lead is stored with the lead and related to the new account, contact, and/or opportunity.

Suppose you attend a trade show and obtain a list of all the attendees and you want to follow up with the attendees to see whether any might make future clients. In this case, a lead is a person you might (or might not) have met at the show. A lead is unqualified with regard to whether he or she truly is a potential new client for your company, but is categorized separately from existing clients. One of the most common misconceptions (and therefore frustrations) that can occur is when a company uses a lead as a qualified prospect.

The company may enter large amounts of data, notes, and activities about its leads, but when a lead is ready to have an associated opportunity, or more contacts, the system is not ready to serve that up until the lead is converted. You convert the lead, but all the captured history and activities do not get copied to the Account and Contact entity records. For instance, how would the system copy activities? Would they be copied to the account or the contact or both? If they were copied to both, wouldn't the redundancy be just as confusing? Microsoft Dynamics CRM retains the relationship between a lead and a new contact, but it only moves a certain amount of information to the new qualified account and contact. Once the lead is qualified, you can still access the original Lead record.

Again, a Lead entity is designed to capture a large list of unqualified Contact entities, and the brief history associated with the qualification process is filed with the Lead entity when it is converted and associated to its new Account, Contact, and Opportunity entities.

The Opportunity Entity

An Opportunity entity is sometimes a new concept for people learning about Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The first thing to remember is that an Opportunity entity is not a person or a company. An Opportunity entity is a potential sale and the process related to that sale; it relates to an Account entity, and it often contains the estimated dollar value, the estimated close date, the sales stage, and the probability percentage of closing. An Opportunity entity is used for forecasting and sales funnel analysis. Yes, an Opportunity entity is associated with an Account entity, but it is not defined as an account. For some companies, this works extremely well because they have many opportunities for any given account. For others, however, the concept is a bit more difficult because they only ever focus on one sale per account. Consider this: If you make a sale to a prospective account and that prospective account then becomes a client, you potentially have a new opportunity to resell, upsell, or even renew that relationship through a new opportunity.

Other Selected Entities

In addition to core entities there are other related entities which are further discussed in the sections below. These other entities are just as important, but are not necessarily considered part of the foundation of the system. Lastly there are smaller supporting entities that are not discussed in this chapter.

One Core Thought When Mastering the Ability to Think "Dynamics CRM" Everything is an entity. Did you Know?

The Activity Entity

An Activity entity is something that you are most likely familiar with. Although each Activity entity is really a set of different types of entities in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, including e-mail, fax, task, phone call, letter, and appointment, each type has unique qualities and can stand on its own. An Activity entity has eight different predefined types in Microsoft Dynamics CRM: phone call, task, e-mail, letter, service activity, appointment, reoccurring appointment, campaign activity, and campaign response. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you can also add other Activity types to the core list just outlined.

We will discuss activities as single entities as they work and act like one entity within the system, and from a usage perspective they are generally considered an "activity." For those more technically oriented, each activity type is actually its own entity, and the Activity entity is an activity pointer.

One of the key functionalities of an Activity entity is that it can be scheduled and pending; another way to think about an Activity entity is that it can be completed. Activities also have a special relationship to Microsoft Outlook, the e-mail application included within the Microsoft Office suite. For instance, a Microsoft Dynamics CRM Activity entity with an activity type of task can optionally (based on user configuration) synchronize in real time with a Microsoft Outlook task. If you complete, check off, or close a task in Outlook, this task will also be shown as a completed Activity entity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. If you take it one thought further, imagine someone who completes a task on his mobile device, which then flows through Microsoft Outlook, which synchronizes with the corporate Microsoft Dynamics CRM databases. This behind-the-scenes technique eliminates the need for anyone to send e-mail, asking whether a certain task has been completed.

The Case Entity

A Case entity is also referred to as a service ticket in some businesses, and when using Microsoft Dynamics CRM, it can be renamed. In most examples, a Case entity is affiliated with a customer service department that has incoming reported issues that need tracking, activities, notes, and resolutions. A Case entity can have an unlimited number of associated activities and can be related to a specific Account or Contact entity and an annual or monthly service contract. A Case entity can also accumulate a total number of hours or minutes invested in working the case, and this accumulation can offset a standard number of purchased hours defined in a service contract. A Case entity also has a Case Resolution entity associated with it when the case is closed through the Dynamics CRM Close Case function.

The Contract Entity

The Contract entity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM can be configured to track many different details. A Contract entity is associated with an Account entity and is an optional feature. The Contract entity functionality was designed in association with a Case entity. The concept is that an account might have purchased a certain number of service hours or service tickets, and the Contract entity captures the details of this agreement. The Contract entity also has an ongoing relationship with the total number of cases used or hours of service provided. A Contract entity not only captures the specific details of a contract but also the relationship of that contract to the services provided and tracked.

The Service Schedule Entity

Microsoft Dynamics CRM is not just about sales; it is also about serving existing clients. The software provides the ability to manage a complex service department, which includes functionality to support service scheduling. A service schedule specifically tracks who, what, when, and where a service will occur, with additional functionality related to managing service conflicts. This is different from a standard

appointment activity, which is used for simple scheduling and therefore doesn't include tracking available sites and service personnel.

The Queue Entity

A queue is a data structure that organizes specific data in a "waiting to be processed" method. A queue does not contain its own building blocks; it contains other Dynamics CRM building blocks, such as cases or activities. Examples of a queue in Dynamics CRM include a configured queue to capture service cases and a queue to manage incoming activity requests that need to be processed by a specific department. Microsoft Dynamics CRM enables users to create different queues with associated tasks or business process. A queue is similar to a line of people waiting to be serviced, but the line is made up of something other than people (see Figure 2.2). A queue can also be managed by selecting items from the middle of the line so the older first in, first out methodology no longer applies.



FIGURE 2.2 A queue.

The Campaign Entity

A Campaign entity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM is a marketing feature that has many parts and comes in two versions. The first version, called a *quick campaign*, is designed for use by a salesperson. A quick campaign has an associated marketing list or subset of specific contacts. It is also usually used once to announce a monthend special or to send out one quick e-mail blast of information. A full campaign, the second version of a campaign, is more detailed, and it includes the ability to budget for a specific event, to compose or plan a long list of activities associated with a marketing event, and to capture results and costs when the marketing event is completed. Many CRM systems do not have campaign tracking and, therefore, you will find that the concept of tracking all the details of a campaign is new to most users. The full campaign is designed to be used by the marketing department as a tool to empower the department to organize and track the efforts surrounding a specific marketing event. A full Campaign entity includes campaign activities and campaign results as associated items.

www.allitebooks.com

The User Entity

A user is a staff person for a Microsoft Dynamics CRM organization who is assigned a CRM license and who is using Microsoft Dynamics CRM to capture specific information. A user has relationships to the Account entity (for example, she can be the owner of the account) and to specific activities and service-scheduling items. Microsoft Dynamics CRM leverages the user in much of its automatic system functionality. It is also assigned a Microsoft Dynamics CRM security role for other CRM functionality-specific security. For instance, a user may be assigned to the salesperson role, and the salesperson role may be limited to sales functionality only, preventing the user from creating service tickets or marketing campaigns.

Other Important Components

There are other critical components in Dynamics CRM. These include types of data such as an account that is marked as a prospect versus an account that is marked as a client.

What Is a Prospect?

A prospect is a potential client or customer who has usually been qualified through at least one conversation or a salesperson's researched effort. A Prospect entity is a type of Account entity and is generally created when a lead has been converted to an Account entity, a Contact entity, or optionally an Opportunity entity. One of the key concepts to grasp is that a Lead entity and a Prospect entity are different in terms of how the system thinks about them. They both represent a company and, most likely, a primary contact, but a Lead entity is often a name that might or might not be real, and a Prospect entity is a name with an associated company, a salesperson's understanding, other key data, and even an expressed specific interest in the salesperson's products or services behind it. In linear terms, you start with a Lead entity, you qualify the Lead, and then once qualified you convert and create a Prospect entity, and you sell the Prospect entity product or services (and thus creating a Customer entity).

The goal of every salesperson is to close deals by first qualifying leads to the point that they become a sales prospect. Of the numerous configurations of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that are deployed, you will find that not every sales process uses the concepts of Lead entities and Prospect entities in this manner; however, it helps to understand the concepts behind the design of the system. It has been noted that, at any given company, you might not want to have all your Lead entities configured as robust Prospect entities in the system. The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Lead and Prospect entities allows for a pool of many leads that does not interfere with or muddy the waters for the core data in the system. This gives a company elbow room for importing large lists of Lead entities without showing numerous unqualified leads on sales funnel and prospect reports. Figure 2.3 shows how a lead might flow from Lead entity to Prospect entity to Customer entity.



Adding Addresses

The Account entity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM has two addresses directly associated with it. However, Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers you the option of adding even more addresses. If you have ever ordered something online, you understand why customers might want an unlimited number of addresses that they can provide and associate with any given Account entity. For instance, you might want to have more than one shipping address, or you might find that a specific contact resides in two locations. Each Account entity within a system and each Contact in the system can have an unlimited number of associated addresses. Each has a primary address, but they each can also have more addresses.

What Are Connections and Relationships?

Relationships exist in many forms within Microsoft Dynamics CRM. One of them is the Relationship entity, which includes associated relationship roles. Relationship roles can be defined by the user through system configuration and might consist of items such as association member and association, banker and customer, or other relationships that differ from how a standard Contact entity as it relates to an account that contact might work for. Relationships can be tracked between two contacts in several ways: between Contact and Contact, between Account and Contact, or between Contact and Account. In addition, relationships can be represented between an Opportunity entity and a Contact entity and between an Opportunity entity and an Account entity. Figure 2.4 shows a list of relationships. When you set up a relationship, you choose the Account, Contact, or Opportunity entity and its role as it relates to a different Account, Contact, or Opportunity entity.



Other Components

Most of the items that we have just reviewed are classified as entities within the world of Dynamics CRM. Entities are the building blocks of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and, from a structural design perspective, an entity is a set of Microsoft SQL database tables. Each entity has forms, views, charts, field, messages, and relationships. For instance, entities can have relationships to other entities from many different perspectives. An entity can have a parental relationship with another where there is a key connection between the two entities. Or entities can have other types of relationships, such as referential (they refer to each other). Or for any given entity, there may be many other related entities, such as the relationship between Account and Contact entities. For any given Account entity, you can have many Contact entities. The relationship can also go the other way. For instance, for any given Opportunity entity, you can only have one Account entity, but your choice of which Account entity is unlimited. If you consider all the different ways that entities can relate to other entities, you start to see the full picture of Microsoft Dynamics CRM being a foundation of any relationship management need. In this way, Microsoft Dynamics CRM is not only a CRM software application and a sales force automation application, it is also an "any relationship" (xRM) development platform, which is a term you will see and hear much more as you delve deeper into Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Some of the other components in the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM include Option Set, Client Extension, Web Resource, Process, Plugin Assembly, SDK Message Processing, Service Endpoint, Dashboard, Report, Connection Role, Article Template, Contract Template, E-mail Template, Mail Merge Template, Security Role, and Field Security Profile.

FIGURE 2.4 Relationships.

Summary

We explored the building blocks of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, but this is only the tip of the iceberg when it comes to understanding the complete set of building blocks available to you. Dive deep into getting your mind around a building block having key features and functionalities and each building block having a set of relationships to other entities within the Microsoft Dynamics CRM platform.

Workshop

A small alternative medicine clinic is using Microsoft Dynamics CRM to organize and run its practice. The clinic uses the CRM scheduling features to keep track of its patient appointments. Each staff member is set up as a CRM user, and each one can access Microsoft Dynamics CRM from his or her main office machine or from any other available machine in the clinic upon individual login. The clinic also schedules appointment follow-up telephone calls, and it leverages the mailing features of Dynamics CRM to send out regular appointment postcard reminders.

The clinic also uses a sophisticated medical billing line-of-business application. This application handles the insurance company management and billing compliance. The clinic has integrated Microsoft Dynamics CRM with its medical insurance billing software so that data can be shared.

During the winter, the clinic gets a high number of incoming telephone calls that require a return call from a doctor or specialist. One feature important to the clinic was the ability to manage the priority of the necessary follow-up calls using queues. The clinic uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM to schedule appointments, send out mailings, track the contact details of their patients, and manage the many relationships that it has with the pharmaceutical representatives.

Q&A

- **Q.** What if I do not want to use one of the entities described here? Can I ignore it in Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- **A.** You can ignore an entity and not use it. You can also delete an entity, although that is not recommended because you might want to use it later.
- **Q.** I rely on the Tasks feature in Microsoft Outlook. How do these tasks associate with activities in Microsoft Dynamics CRM?

- **A.** An Outlook task synchronizes to a Microsoft Dynamics CRM activity of type Task. You can manage your activities/tasks from either Outlook tasks or Microsoft Dynamics CRM activities.
- Q. What are the disadvantages of renaming Account to Customer and using leads for all prospects?
- **A.** Although the system supports your ability to do this, you will significantly limit your ability to associate other powerful built-in functions to your Prospect entities, including Opportunity, Quote, Order, Invoice, Relationship, and other entities. In addition, you might want to use Account to track vendors, suppliers, and other companies.

Quiz

- **1.** The building blocks of Microsoft Dynamics CRM are referred to as **entities**. Name some of these entities.
- **2.** What is the Opportunity entity?
- 3. Do entities have relationships? If so, what are some of these relationships?
- **4.** How does the term **entity** relate to the Microsoft SQL Server database foundation on which Microsoft Dynamics CRM is built?

Answers

- **1.** The building blocks of Microsoft Dynamics CRM include Account, Contact, Activity, Opportunity.
- **2.** The Opportunity entity is an entity that tracks the details of a potential sale, including estimated premium, estimated close date, and probability of closing.
- **3.** Yes, entities have relationships. The relationship between Account and Contact is a good example.
- **4.** An entity represents a Microsoft SQL Server table.

Exercise

Using paper or Microsoft Word, create a list of the entities that you consider to be the core building blocks for your firm. For this exercise, do not worry about the Microsoft Dynamic CRM names of the entities. Instead, focus on the specific entities as you define them. How do these entities map to the entities listed in this lesson? How would you define the Account entity? What are the advantages and disadvantages of this design? Will this design cause issues for your firm in two or three years? What would be some of those issues?

Using paper or Microsoft Visio or any of the family tree applications, create an example of how you would organize some of the entities within your firm and how they relate to other entities. Figure 2.5 shows an example of how to do this.





This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 3

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011: What's New

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- > The new user interface, dashboards, and charts
- Entity architecture areas of change
- Small yet important enhancements to Dynamics CRM 2011
- Processes: workflow and dialogs
- ▶ Special new features for the Microsoft CRM developer

In this hour, we will explore some of what is new in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, including the changes to support business process and the capturing and matching of business processes to the technology application. Understanding which features were released with which upgrade and what is new in Dynamics CRM 2011 vs. Dynamics CRM v4 allows a CRM administrator and partners to better determine which features they want to push to their maximum potential and which features might need a bit more watching and maturing. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 has more than 500 new features, and we cover as many of them as possible throughout this book.

The New User Interface, Dashboards, and Charts

If you are familiar with Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0, the first thing you will notice when you access Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 is that the user interface (UI) has changed. The grumblings from the field about tabs and too many clicks created change from the extremely responsive development team. The appearance of the UI has flattened. In addition, user-definable charts and dashboards have been added. Now although it has been flattened and looks a bit different, the concept of sections within a form still applies. It is not that different from the old version, just different enough to streamline data entry.

Now to get started we are going to look at the new Get Started pane that has been added to every display. This pane is optional but by default is turned on. Take a look at Figure 3.1.



Entity Views, Forms, and Displays

The new look and feel of the Account entity gives you a good idea of how things have changed for all entities in Dynamics CRM 2011. The top of the Accounts screen now has the Get Started pane, which we discussed previously and which is populated with user resources such as quick tips on how to import, use, modify, and manage your account information.

Another new visual enhancement is the consistent use of the Microsoft Office ribbon. You might love the ribbon or hate it, but it is the Microsoft Office standard, and Microsoft Dynamics CRM embraces it fully in the 2011 release. Figure 3.2 shows the Office ribbon as it appears with Dynamics CRM Workplace, Accounts selected.



The Ribbon

The Ribbon can be configured and customized by someone who is familiar with Microsoft Office. If you don't like it, ask your partner or CRM administrator for help in configuring it to fit your needs. You will save some bellyaching.

FIGURE 3.1

The Get

		At Microsoft Dynamics CRM
File Accounts View Image: Accounts Image: Accounts Image: Accounts New Edit Image: Accounts New Edit X Delete Records	Chartis Add Customize	Share Copy a Link . E-mail a Link . Perform Dialog Parts Perform Dialog Parts Perform Dialog Parts Perform Dialog Parts
Workplace		v
	Accounts: My Active Accounts -	
Dashboards	Account Name A	Main Phone Address 1: City Primary Contact E-mail (Primar
Activities	B ABC Company	
Calendar	Creenfield Vending	Harry Greenfield
Imports		
Duplicate Detection		
Queues		
Articles		
Heports		
Announcements		
- Customers		
Accounts		
🕜 Workplace		
🌵 Sales		
S Marketing		
dl contra		
Service		
s Settings	1 - 2 of 2 (D selected)	
Resource Center		F G H I I K I M N O P

FIGURE 3.2 The Office ribbon.

Dashboards

Dashboards allow you to construct multiple sets of charts and grids that make the most sense for your business or for your individual requirements at work. Several dashboards are shipped out of the box, but the ability to pick and choose different charts to put into your dashboard is limited only by your imagination.

Charts

Charts now apply to every entity. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0 has views associated with every entity, and a similar architecture has been applied to charts in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. For each entity, you can establish a set of charts. Charts and views go hand in hand; you can take a view of data and show it graphically using a chart. Figure 3.3 shows the chart on the Activity entity called Activities by Type.

www.allitebooks.com



Department- or Group-Specific Forms

When getting started with Dynamics CRM, you might want to continue to stick with one form for each entity. However, you now have the option to configure your data entry forms based on different user security roles. This significantly reduces the amount of scripting used to hide fields that might exist in your Dynamics CRM 4.0 system. Figure 3.4 shows the forms that come with the product: main and mobile. You can add more forms if you like and then apply forms to different groups of users.



FIGURE 3.3

FIGURE 3.4

entity.

An Activities by Type chart.

Entity Architecture Areas of Change

The architecture within Microsoft Dynamics CRM has a familiar quality and also significant changes. There are some specific new entities and entity sets that we talk about in the following text, and there is a significant shift in the developer's approach. This shift better aligns with how senior developers who are not working with Dynamics CRM write code.

Connections

The new Connections entity enables a user to track complex relationships between any two entities. It is a new feature that is designed to replace the relationships feature in Dynamics CRM v4 and is designed to add more depth and functionality. This functionality includes the relationships between contacts and companies as well as the relationship between other entities that might have overlapping properties. Connections are different than the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0 relationship feature (which still exists for backward compatibility). The key difference between relationships and connections is that the connection functionality offers detailed tracking information on the actual relationship and it is considered more robust and flexible. Figure 3.5 shows the connections configuration.





Goals and Goal Management

Goals and goal management are new features in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 that support the user's ability to enter goals that can then be compared to a number of different entities. This comparison model can also change as business needs change without reprogramming or redesign. You can use goals for the more traditional sales goals, but they are also designed for goals that are not sales oriented. For instance you might have a service level agreement goal or a time management goal. Figure 3.6 offers a brief glimpse at goals.

- New			Goals	* 1
• General				
Name *	2011 Goal			
Parent Goal		Goal Metric*	Hevenue	Q
Goal Owner*	S Anne Stanton	Manager *	S Anne Stanton	_
• Time Period Goal Period Type	C Custom Period 💿 Fiscal Period			
Fiscal Period *	Quarter 3	✓ Fiscal Year *	FY2011	
From	7/1/2011	⊡ ✓ To	9/30/2011	
 Targets Target (Money) 	\$100,000.00			
Child Goals				
* Actuals		Percentage Achieved		
Actual (Manaul		rencentage Achieveu		
Actual (Money)	2 c			
Actual (Money) In-progress (Money) Last Rolled Up Date				
Actual (Money) In-progress (Money) Last Rolled Up Date Goal Criteria	5 5 (EBM)			
Actual (Money) In-progress (Money) Last Rolled Up Date Goal Criteria Define criteria fo	r this goal. The criteria will be used fo	r rolling up the Actuals c	lata against the goal.	
Actual (Money) In-progress (Money) Last Rolled Up Date Goal Criteria Define criteria fo Roll Up Only from Child Goals	r this goal. The criteria will be used fo	r rolling up the Actuals o	lata against the goal.	
Actual (Money) In-progress (Money) Last Rolled Up Date Goal Criteria Define criteria fo Roll Up Only from Child Goals Record Set for Rollup	r this goal. The criteria will be used fo r No C Yes C Owned by goal owner C All	r rolling up the Actuals o	lata against the goal.	

Changes within the Software Development Process and the SDK

The changes within Dynamics CRM v2011 are significant, so if you have been developing on the Microsoft Dynamics CRM v4 platform, it is critical that you take a long look at what is new. The new features include a new programming model using Windows Communication Foundation (WCF), extended use of Windows Workflow Foundation 4.0, and support for .NET Language-Integrated Query (LINQ).

I strongly recommend that you tap into some of the great free videos and webinars on the xRMVirtual User group found at www.xrmvirtual.com and some of the many



developer-focused books on Dynamics CRM. The software development methodologies within Dynamics CRM v2011 are new, improved, more automated, and just plain cool. Additionally more technologies come into play such as Silverlight and SharePoint. A small list of these changes include better handling of transactions for rollbacks, changed support around child plugins, a need to master the ribbon editor, and new sitemap controls, and this is just the tip of the iceberg. Any senior developer reading this can now be very excited about the possibilities that they can accomplish with this platform and can just plain ignore any grumblings about CRM v4 as a potentially immature xRM platform.

Small yet Important Enhancements to Dynamics CRM 2011

If you're unaware of some of the small changes to Dynamics CRM 2011, they can be much wanted and yet missed, and so l highlight them as follows.

Bulk E-mail Messages and Attachments

In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, it's now possible to include attachments when sending bulk e-mail messages. The system stores only one version of the attachment even when you send out many different e-mails with the same attachment to many different people. So the attachment design does not overwhelm your CRM database with multiple copies of the same material. Originally there was a core concept that firms should not blast out attachments as it is just not great e-mail best practices, but now the team allows the user to do this if they want to.

Negative Pricing

The negative pricing feature now allows for negative quantities, amounts, and negative prices. Negative pricing was not supported in earlier versions and as such integration to powerful ERP systems with unique accounting needs became more problematic. This issue has now been eliminated.

Enhanced Decimal Precision

Depending on the company, decimal precision needs can be very from one extreme to the next and can be very different. System Settings now supports setting decimal precision based on a variety of high level category choices, including Pricing Decimal Precision, Currency Precision, and Field Precision and then some low level fine tuning. The feature is a hour of training all on its own.

Opportunity Enhancements

The opportunity feature now supports the ability to create a quote, an order, or an invoice directly from the opportunity. You can also add write-in products to an opportunity. Figure 3.7 shows access to quotes, orders, and invoices from the Opportunities form. Now when you are working on an opportunity you can look at all the details, move the sales process forward, connect with your prompts via a sales dialog, and continue right through creating and printing the quote. You can also manage the quote if changes need to be made during the negotiation process.



View Filters

The advanced find feature is handy and extremely powerful but can be a bit intimidating for some users. All that power when all you want to do is filter a view is unnecessary, so to help with this, CRM 2011 offers filters in the views. You can now create a personal or shared view (that is similar to advanced find) directly out of a filtered view. Now this concept can seem a bit ho-hum, but consider this: Dynamics CRM is built on top of a complex SQL Server database. Microsoft Dynamics CRM is designed with secure and controlled access to the underlying SQL Server database. The team provides an API layer, security services (permissions, roles, and so on), and some business logic. Needless to say, hacking at the CRM databases with a SQL

form.

Server query is not supported nor does it always return the results expected. Dynamics CRM v2011 now has access to filtered views right from the user interface. A nice wow when you really think about it from a technical perspective.

Recurring Appointments

Recurring appointments are a special type of activity, and in Dynamics CRM v4 they were not supported nor available; luckily the recurring appointment activity type is now available as a new entity completely designed to support all those extra requirements such as the different types of reoccurrence. You can use this type of activity to track recurring appointments from Outlook in CRM and from CRM back to Outlook. Figure 3.8 shows the details on the new recurring appointment activity type.

			🏄 Microsoft Dyn	amics CRM					Anne	Stanton	0	
File Recurring Appointment	Customize	Customize										
Save & New Save & Close	Attach Add File Note	Recurrence	To Opportunity	Connect	Add to Queue	Queue Item Details	Assign	Sharing - Copy a Link	Process	Run Report	*	
Save	Include	Scheduling	Current Acting			conduor	are			Dutu	_	
Information	Recurr	ing Appoint	ment					Recurring	g Appoin.		4	
- Appointment	New											
- Notes - Details	* Appointm	ient									-	
Related	Subject *	Tes	t Reoccuring Appoi	ntment								
▲ Common	Required	8	Anne Stanton									
Sonnections	Optional											
🛃 Audit History	Location	We	st Lebanon, NH									
Processes Workflows	Show Time A	s Bu	sy		Pr	iority		Normal		•		
Dialog Sessions	Test											

FIGURE 3.8 Recurring appointments.

Dynamic Marketing Lists

Marketing lists once configured in the Dynamics cRM v4 days were static until a user made changes. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, you can create a dynamic marketing list in which you define or specify a query. So, instead of requiring you to manually update an existing marketing list, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 runs the query and updates it for you on the fly. Depending on the list type, the leads, accounts, or contacts that fulfill the query, criteria are automatically added as the members of the list whenever the list is used. Figure 3.9 shows this new setting.



Queue Enhancements

Queues have been significantly enhanced in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, as has the service module. The queues have moved from a set of simple first in, first out offerings to a feature-packed suite of numerous different choices as seen here. The service module has matured into a "follow the sun" model. If you have a 24x7 multiple team member support team, you can now easily hand cases between members in any 24 hour period of time.

The following are some of the enhancements to queues:

- ▶ You can secure queues through role privileges.
- ▶ You can add a default queue to users and teams.
- You can enable all entity types for queues.
- You can customize the Queue entity.
- Process workflows support queues and queue items.
- ▶ You can separate a queue item's working on assignment and record ownership.

Queues are discussed in more detail in Hour 18, "Contracts, Cases, and Capturing Time."

The following are some of the enhancements to the service module:

▶ You can check out a case as a "working on" team member.

FIGURE 3.9

setting.

The Dynamic

Marketing List

- Queue integration to case management has a number of new features, as listed previously.
- You can now define a service process similarly to a sales process that is stepped and either manual or automated.

Processes: Workflow and Dialogs

Workflows continue to be a powerful feature in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, and now they are supported by a complementary automation of process called dialogs. To understand dialogs, think about a call center and the scripts it might use when making calls. Such a script can be configured and automated in Dynamics CRM as a dialog. Administrators and users now have the ability to create workflows or dialogs to support the automation or documentation of the business processes used. Figures 3.10 and 3.11 show dialog setup and process access.

Specify the properties for	ne variables in the dialog.	
Name *		
Data Type	Single Line of	Text 🔹
», *		
Default value		
Help	ок	Cancel
Feeds Charles Proces	es: My Processes -	
im Mail 🔀 New	🎯 🗷 🔒 🗙 🔘 Activate 🔘	Deactivate More Actions -
Igested Contacts	icess Name 🔶	Category
□ 2 /	pointment Alert Workflow	Workflow
rketing	ling Dialog	Diatog
ource Center	MLady Sales Process	Workflow
в <mark>Г.Б.</mark> Т	tWorkflow	Workflow
ampetitions volvaluts ales Literature Volket Volket Liukk Campaigns Gold Martics Gold Martics Gold Martics Gold Martics Gold Martis Gold M		
rnices oals oals Metrics oliup Queries liung, usiness ystem usiness ystem usiness Processes		



FIGURE 3.11 Access to defining a process.

Security: Team and Field

Team Ownership of Entities

In previous versions of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, each entity record is either owned by the organization or owned by a specific user. This ownership then supports one dimension of the security roles. For instance you can set read, write, and update capabilities to owner access only. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, the system now also supports team ownership. This feature is useful when you have a number of people working on a specific account as a team or on a specific project. Instead of worrying about who should own the records and then sharing those one at a time, you can create a team for the project or account and set the entity to have a team ownership module. Records are then owned by a specific team of people. This ensures that everyone who needs access is a member of that team and that each individual team member can see all the accounts or projects that they need to see.

Field-Level Security

Prior version of Microsoft Dynamics CRM offered functional security and form based security, but when it came to a specific field CRM administrators and partners had to tap into extending. This is no longer the case as Microsoft Dynamics cRM v2011 introduces level one of Field-level security. It has just enough power to solve some immediate needs and is maturing at an incredibly fast rate. Figure 3.12 shows the first step in utilizing team security.



Security Decisions

Security decisions about how you set up your Microsoft Dynamics CRM system should be done as part of your roll-out project architecture. Many different areas need to work together.





Special New Features for the Microsoft CRM Developer

When diving into a quick hour training on various areas of Microsoft Dynamics CRM as an application it is sometimes easy to forget that almost every Dynamics CRM rollout is configured to fit a specific business. This configuration can also lead to some intense extensions. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, Microsoft has embraced this xRM Platform concept and is adding more features and functionalities to support the senior software engineers and developers.

Solution Management

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 has a new concept called solution management. Solution management enables you to bundle all your solution customizations into one managed or unmanaged package. You can also pick and choose what goes into a solution. For example, if you want to share customizations from one organization with another, you can do so via solutions. Solutions support the xRM process and are similar to software company release bundles. Solution management is ideal for companies and partners who want to produce solutions and sell them or reuse them as packaged solutions for other projects, or for partners who want to sell their solutions on the new Microsoft Dynamics CRM marketplace, and so on. There are two types of solutions: managed and unmanaged. A managed solution can be edited only by specific users, and if it is exported and imported at another organization, users of the other organization will not be able to edit or modify the solution. Managed solutions are fully secured and cannot be edited.



A Tip on Managed Solutions

There are strengths and weaknesses in the managed solution offering. Make sure you understand both before you attempt to use them.

An unmanaged solution can be edited by any user who has an appropriate user role. Unmanaged solutions are usually fairly dynamic from a usage perspective and are a great feature for the multi-developer teams. Unmanaged solutions should be the developers default until mastery of both managed and unmanaged solutions is achieved.

Import and Export Data

The import and export of data from Microsoft Dynamics CRM has been expanded to significantly enhance what an end user or CRM administrator can do when it comes to getting data into the system or getting data out of the system in a variety of formats.

The first milestone for importing is that you can import from an XML format, which means you have much more flexibility for data migration. The .csv offering in previous versions still exists but has always been more limiting. In addition, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 now offers you the option of exporting an Excel spreadsheet template with all your data fields in the order you want, which can then be populated and reimported. This helps standardize the data import process when you're collecting data from multiple sources and is a big win for users doing data organization and data cleansing. Yet, there is still more in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011: You can create new entities while importing. This saves a number of steps during the build process and offers even more power once the system is running. In addition to the whole entity you can dynamically create fields to map against source fields in source data files, such as Excel spreadsheets. Data import has taken many of the formerly preparation steps and moves them to real time interaction with the importing tools (see Figure 3.13).

Workplace 🕼 👷 -	Imports	MyIn	ports	•										Search	h for reco
My Work	[] bro	port Name				Status Reason	Successe	s Pi	artial Failures	Errors		Total Proc.	Created On -	Create	d By
Activities	- cor	ntacts1.xm	1(2)			Completed		77		0	0	77	7/21/2011 11:29	Annes	stanton
Calendar	mail con	ntacts1.xm	1			Completed		39		0	38	77	7/21/2011 11:29	Annes	stanton
a Imports	- cor	ntacts1.xm	d l			Failed		0		0	0	77	7/21/2011 11:05-	Annes	Stanton
Duplicate Detection Duplicate Detection Queues Articles Reports Announcements															
Customers															
Contacts															
1 Workshare															
10 000															
y sales															
Marketing															
1 contra															
Service															
Settings	1.1 of 1	D selecte	1												
Settings	1 - 3 of 3	() selecte	1		0							N 0			

FIGURE 3.13 Imported data files.

SharePoint Integration

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 now integrates with SharePoint out of the box, with no development or custom code needed. Ben Hosk shares his enthusiasm for the available information on the feature and some of the configuration. You can read Ben's post here: http://crmbusiness.wordpress.com/2011/03/07/crm-2011-how-tosetup-sharepoint-integration. Integration addresses a couple of key areas. The first is the management of all that unstructured data that comes with business process: managing and editing documents, sharing documents, and doing key word searches against blobs of text. Additionally you get the ability to show CRM structured data in SharePoint web pages or to take some of those great graphs and share them via web parts. This marriage between SharePoint and Dynamics CRM existed as part of the back channel culture in the Dynamics CRM v4 days, but now it is fully embraced by Microsoft. The bridge between these two product groups is extremely exciting, particularly when you start thinking about automating business processes. See Figure 3.14 for a snapshot.


Workshop

Q&A

- **Q.** Why has Microsoft created the solutions feature in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011?
- **A.** Solutions make it easy for users to share with other users or between different projects.
- Q. Was integration with SharePoint an option in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0?
- **A.** Yes, but only with custom development.
- Q. Why does Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 have both workflows and dialogs?
- **A.** Dialogs are used to automate the more traditional scripts, such as what you might find in a call center. They prompt or remind the user about what to do next. Workflows are used to automate a process such as a sales process and more traditionally create pending activities that need to get done when other activities are completed.

Quiz

- How many new features were introduced in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011?
- 2. What are two of the biggest changes in Dynamics CRM 2011?
- 3. Who can own records in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011?
- 4. Does field-level security exist in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011?
- **5.** What new format is available for importing data in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011?

Answers

- 1. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 has more than 500 new features.
- 2. Dialogs and solutions are two of the biggest changes in Dynamics CRM 2011.
- 3. Users and teams can own records in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.
- 4. Yes, field-level security exists in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.
- **5.** XML and Excel Exported Templates are new formats available for importing data in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

Exercise

Each entity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 starts with a Getting Started pane. Open Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 and choose Explore and then choose About This Getting Started Pane. Read the information provided on why the Getting Started pane was created and click the purple Learn More button to confirm that you can access the additional information available from Microsoft. This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 4

Infrastructure Choices

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Application placement: choices and implications
- > Tenant architecture and its implications, including multitenant options
- Microsoft Dynamics CRM infrastructure components
- ► Asynchronous services and Microsoft Workflow Foundation
- Diving into development
- Integration options
- Big business versus small business

In this hour, we dive into the various options that surround the installation and implementation of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM software. There are many choices within the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and consideration and careful thought about these choices can make a big difference in the success and adoption of this powerful application for companies. This hour also offers insight into where someone might want to focus more training and which roles within a company might be best suited to mastery of which pieces of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM environment.

Application Placement: Choices and Implications

Microsoft Dynamics CRM is all about choice, and choice offers more opportunity for learning. When it comes to where Microsoft Dynamics CRM is installed, it is important to understand what your options are and why.

On-Premises Microsoft Dynamics CRM

Companies have the choice to purchase the Microsoft Dynamics CRM software in an on-premises model. On-Premises Microsoft Dynamics CRM is installed locally in a company's server environment, and it allows for full internal control of all application files and associated data. The actual program files, the database where all the data is stored, the connection to the company's Microsoft Exchange e-mail environment, the web interface, and web page hosting, plug-ins, and any customizations are all stored, managed, and installed locally.

With an on-premises installation, it is highly recommended that an experienced (and ideally, a Microsoft Dynamics CRM infrastructure certified) team be available for the initial installation and ongoing responsibility for the maintenance of the infrastructure environment. Mastery of the infrastructure of Microsoft Dynamics CRM requires a unique set of skills, and this mastery is required for long-term error-free success. The necessary skills are best mastered by someone who has a background as a network architect, network engineer, or network administration. Experience in the following areas is also extremely helpful:

- Hosting web environments and mastery of Internet Information Services (IIS)
- Managing the sharing and integration of data between different applications and systems
- Analyzing and interpreting system logs and error messages
- Microsoft Server 2005 and 2008 and 2008 R2
- Performance tuning and management of Microsoft SQL Server databases

On-Premises Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers a business total control over the entire environment. Data is under the protection of the company; the software is under the internal change management and upgrade processes; and the ability to change, customize, and expand is not affected by external partner companies.



Dynamics CRM Architecture

For a diagram of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM architecture, see the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Developer Center, at http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bb928229.aspx.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online

Unlike On-Premises Microsoft Dynamics CRM, Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online is hosted by Microsoft Corporation. Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online also offers a few additional add-in components, such as those for Internet lead capture and marketing campaign optimization. It also has a few limitations, such as the inability to upload custom Microsoft SQL Server Reporting Service reports and a set prebuilt report set.

Mastery of the infrastructure, having the right hardware, investing in Microsoft Dynamics CRM infrastructure specialists, and other infrastructure specifics are not required with Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online. You also have access to a much larger environment, with powerful hardware that can offer more scalability to small and midsize businesses.

In addition, with Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, Microsoft takes on the responsibility of offering you long-term maintenance on the software and a level of uptime of 99.99%, with financial backing. The long-term responsibility includes items such as installing maintenance updates to keep your company current with the development cycles and team and offering upgrades full of new features on a yearly basis. This can be a significant time saver for many companies. For an article on the announced service-level agreements for Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, see http://crm.dynamics.com/deployment/ondemand.aspx.

You might also have concerns about not having access to your data if it is all hosted, but Microsoft has also mastered that by offering their integration to Microsoft Office Outlook.

You can choose to install local software with Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online: the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook Client. Yes, even with Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, you can have integration with your local version of Microsoft Outlook email. This is a no-cost option and not only offers you the ability to run Dynamics CRM from Outlook, but also gives you the power to go offline! You don't need to have access to the Internet to get access to your data.

What you can't have in the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online are hosted custom code sets and extensions that need to be installed on the same server as the Microsoft Dynamics CRM software and custom Microsoft SQL Server Report service reports, which need to be installed on the Microsoft hosted SQL Server. This server environment is owned, managed, and operated under the Microsoft umbrella, and, therefore, it has to be standardized for many different company databases, which are referred to as "tenants" of Microsoft Dynamics CRM.



What Is a Tenant?

A *tenant* is generally related to one specific company's Microsoft Dynamics CRM data footprint. However, in large enterprise clients, you might find different independent projects and non-CRM projects using their own sets of databases (that is, their own CRM tenants).

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Partner Hosted

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Partner Hosted is similar to Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, but it is hosted by an independent vendor. This external vendor can be a Microsoft Partner or one of the many hosting companies offering Microsoft Dynamics CRM. One of the benefits of working with a Microsoft Dynamics CRM Hosted partner is that you might have access to more third-party add-in products that are also hosted, such as integrated phone system software, the BlackBerry server with Microsoft Dynamics CRM BlackBerry mobile support, and much, much more. In addition, some third-party hosting partners have an offering for customers who want to host their own integrated custom code.

The Cloud and Microsoft Windows Azure

Many developers who are working with the xRM platform and extending Dynamics CRM are excited about a new combination of hosted and on premise in the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM v2011. Microsoft Dynamics CRM supports integration with the "AppFabric Service Bus" feature of the Windows Azure platform. What this means is that by integrating with the AppFabric Service Bus, developers can register plug-ins with Microsoft Dynamics CRM that can pass run-time message data to one or more Windows Azure solutions in the cloud. For more information on the advanced development concept of integration with Azure, you can read the section in the SDK called Azure Extensions for Microsoft Dynamics CRM located at http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/gg309276.aspx.

Tenant Architecture and Its Implications, Including Multitenant Options

There are so many pieces and options to Microsoft Dynamics CRM. How do we put them all together? You can have a hosting company offering Dynamics CRM to many different companies, which lends itself to a multitenanted architecture, and you can have a medium-sized company with all the software and data locally installed. The relationship between the Microsoft Dynamics CRM infrastructure and the existing infrastructure and the almost unlimited choices of add-in options is extensive. Microsoft Dynamics CRM is a web application and so has hosted web access and it is a database application using the power of Microsoft SQL Server. In addition, how you host Microsoft Dynamics CRM changes what some of your options are, and this can be an eye-opener. For instance, the details that a hosting provider needs to know (or even a large enterprise that might host many xRM projects) differ significantly from the details that a small On-Premise network administrator needs to master.

Still, some items are core design, no matter where Microsoft Dynamics CRM lives. We will look at some of the pieces that make up the Microsoft Dynamics CRM infrastructure in the next sections.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Infrastructure Components

When it comes to mastering the infrastructure components in an On-Premises environment, one of the best pieces of documentation is the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Implementation Guide. In this busy world it is easy to skip much of the documentation that comes with applications, but this guide is worth its weight in gold and is worth reading a few times!

If you choose to ignore the Microsoft Dynamics CRM implementation documentation, you do so at high risk and are pretty much guaranteed future headaches and heartaches.

The implementation guide is available online in both download (www.microsoft.com/downloads/en/details.aspx?FamilyID=9886ab96-3571-420f-83ad-246899482fb4) and instant-read format (http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/qg269274.aspx).

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Application Software

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM program files are generally installed to a designated CRM server. The installation design and the architecture of the application take into consideration that independent software vendors (ISVs), Microsoft Dynamics partners, and Microsoft Dynamics CRM customers will extend, modify, customize, and configure the core application.

Watch Out! In addition, the architecture of the software platform takes into consideration that long-term ongoing updates and upgrades will be part of the solution and will be released from the Microsoft Dynamics CRM development team on a regular basis. Further considerations in design provide for the need of the hosting providers and the Microsoft CRM Online team, which have one set of shared CRM application software and yet many different instances of Microsoft Dynamics CRM databases (that is, many tenants).

Microsoft Dynamics CRM SQL Server Databases

Microsoft Dynamics CRM stores all its data in a Microsoft SQL Server database environment. You can find out more about Microsoft Dynamics SQL Server 2008 and earlier versions at www.microsoft.com/sqlserver/en/us/default.aspx.



A Caution for Those Familiar with Microsoft SQL Server

For those familiar with Microsoft SQL Server, there is one key fact to keep in mind when working with Microsoft Dynamics CRM and Microsoft SQL Server: Data within the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM is designed to be secure. It has specific rules related to it that are driven by the security rules defined in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and the user authentication set up through Windows Server. Given all these variables, it is a bad idea and highly unsupported to directly add data to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM SQL Server databases or change any of the data within the databases through any method other than using the Microsoft Dynamics CRM software and software extensions designed with knowledge of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Making such changes is unsupported and can cause significant data corruption and application issues.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM uses a concept called *filtered views*. Data is served up by a filtered view to honor security roles. These filtered views can be used to display data in a number of different formats.

In terms of database versions, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 supports the use of either Microsoft SQL Server 2005 or Microsoft SQL Server 2008 or above. Microsoft SQL Server 2008's upgrade path focused on business intelligence, graphical displays of data, and analysis; so, if these items are important to you, consider upgrading the core database engine.

Multitenant Support

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 provides support for multiple tenants. Multitenant support allows hosting companies to efficiently offer Microsoft Dynamics CRM within the world of the large, shared, and secured data center. In addition, large companies that want to offer multiple instances of CRM can do so by using the multitenant feature. When using a tenant of a multitenant environment, there are a few considerations, particularly if you are adding your own custom additions:

- A few of the pieces of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 continue to be shared and have not yet been upgraded to multitenant. For example, the core Microsoft Dynamics CRM Help files reside with the Microsoft Dynamics CRM application directory. You can customize Help, but the customizations will be seen by all users of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM software. Help is configured to allow you to add documentation to specific new custom entities, but on a wide search others might see this new documentation.
- Any changes to the core application files will impact everyone sharing these files. This is one reason you are not allowed to upload your own custom software to extend the application if you are a Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online customer.
- Allowing outside code on internal servers is risky at best.

Microsoft SQL Reporting Services

When you access the standard reports in Microsoft Dynamics CRM (from the Reports menu), you are accessing reports that were created in CRM using Microsoft SQL Reporting Services (SRS). Figure 4.1 shows a list of some standard Microsoft SRS reports.

Other reporting choices include the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Ad Hoc Report Wizard that is built into the software, fetch-based custom reports, report authoring extension for BIDS, and integration to Microsoft Office, including Excel, through security-enabled dynamic Excel spreadsheets and Word. For more on reporting, see Hour 20, "Utilizing the Power of Microsoft Excel with CRM Data," and Hour 21, "Reporting and Query Basics."





Microsoft Windows Server and Microsoft Dynamics CRM

On-Premises Microsoft Dynamics CRM requires Microsoft Windows Server and other components that have been mentioned in this hour.

If you are a CRM On-Premises customer, when you open Microsoft Dynamics CRM, the system does not ask you for a username and password. Why not? Microsoft Dynamics CRM already knows who you are, based on the fact that you were already authenticated to your company's environment via Active Directory when you logged in to your computer.

The CRM security model uses Windows-based authentication (Kerberos/NTLM) and internally driven authorization. It also offers further role-based layers of enhanced security, based on additional configuration options. In Hour 5, "Security," you dive into the details of the application security.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM E-mail Router Software

Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers an independent and yet integrated solution to sharing e-mail with Microsoft Exchange; this option is available for both On-Premises and Online environments. The Microsoft Dynamics CRM e-mail router can live independently and yet definitely has an interest in all the mail coming into Microsoft Exchange. You also have the option of not using the Microsoft Dynamics CRM e-mail router, choosing instead to configure Outlook to communicate directly. If you configure Outlook, you must configure each and every user and his or her instance of Outlook to track e-mail. Using the Microsoft Dynamics CRM e-mail router is more efficient. For a conceptual peek, look at Figure 4.2.





Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook Clients

There are two Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook clients. The first is the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client, which supports the ability to go offline and is designed for a laptop environment. This piece of software has continual drip synchronization between the Microsoft Dynamics CRM database and the local laptop Microsoft SQL database. This design allows a user to undock a laptop without specifically choosing Go Offline. This creates more overhead, so you do not want to install the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client for the laptop where it is not needed (such as on a desktop machine).

The second version of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client is designed for a desktop machine or a Citrix or terminal server environment. This version of the software allows multiple users using the same machine to work with the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client, and it has less overhead because it does not need to communicate with a local copy of a Microsoft SQL database.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Mobile Express

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM mobile client, called Mobile Express for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, is included with all version of the software. If the Microsoftreleased mobile client doesn't meet your needs, you can find powerful and extremely well-proven solutions from third-party vendors, such as Ten Digits (www.tendigits. com), CWR Mobility (www.cwrmobility.com), and Resco (www.resco.net).

Asynchronous Services and Microsoft Workflow Foundation

One of the key powers of Microsoft Dynamics CRM is the workflow engine based on Microsoft Windows Workflow Foundation (WWF). WWF allows for a number of different functionalities, from the automation of simple and complex business rules to the more advanced programming logic required for parallel processing.



Microsoft .NET 4.0

A major goal of the latest release of Microsoft .NET 4.0 is to make WWF a standard part of the programming toolkit for all .NET developers, from small businesses to enterprises. You can read more about this at http://msdn.microsoft. com/en-us/library/dd851337.aspx and at http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ magazine/ff714593.aspx.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM takes WWF one step beyond just being a tool for programmers. Microsoft Dynamics CRM makes WWF a user-enabled built-in function, empowering users who are not necessarily programmers to automate and organize. Microsoft Dynamics CRM also takes the power of WWF and automates more and more processes, using a concept called *dialogs*.

When it comes to the infrastructure and the moving parts of Microsoft WWF, one of the key building blocks of Microsoft Dynamics CRM is the asynchronous services. The asynchronous services execute long-running operations independent of the main Microsoft Dynamics CRM system process. They are often associated with Microsoft WWF and a component of things such as queue processing. They can also be hosted on a different server, thus taking the load off the main CRM server in enterprise architecture. The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Software Development Kit (SDK) is a great place to learn more about the asynchronous services used by Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The SDK is available for download, or you can access the asynchronous services section directly from http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/ gg309408.aspx.

Diving into Development

We can't leave this hour without commenting on the potential for experienced developers to become masters of Microsoft Dynamics xRM development.

xRM

xRM stands for *relationship management software*, where the *x* might mean something other than a customer (as in CRM). Microsoft Dynamics CRM is an xRM development platform.

An example of an xRM solution includes configuring Microsoft Dynamics CRM to manage staffing and human resources or building an xRM solution to manage buildings, rental agreements, leases, and tenants.

Developers diving into the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM have a number of areas of expertise to master, and here are just a few of them:

- ► Extending the core Microsoft Dynamics CRM code
- ► Using Microsoft WWF
- ▶ Using form- and field-based scripting and scripts
- ▶ Integrating with Silverlight
- Using Microsoft SharePoint also known as Windows SharePoint Server and Microsoft Office SharePoint Server (WSS/MOSS) for complementary unstructured data support
- Integrating with the world of finance and enterprise resource planning (ERP), using products such as Dynamics AX, Dynamics GP, Dynamics NAV, and Dynamics SL
- Charting, using dashboards, and using business intelligence tools and techniques
- Taking advantage of mobility, such as creating Windows Phone 7 or Windows Slate integrations
- ▶ Making changes to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client

71

Integration Options

What about connecting with all the other applications we use? Microsoft Dynamics CRM is built for and often expects long-term integration. Just as salt goes with pepper, Microsoft Dynamics CRM goes with many other complementary applications, from other Microsoft departments, outside vendors, or Microsoft partners. Hour 22, "Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 into Other Applications," Hour 23, "Microsoft Dynamics CRM Tools and Utilities," and Hour 24, "Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a Development Framework," take an in-depth look at the world of integration.

Big Business Versus Small Business

When it comes to managing the hardware and infrastructure installation of Microsoft Dynamics CRM in small business, the balance is delicate. Microsoft Dynamics CRM integrates with many other applications, the operating system, and core functionality. If you layer this on top of a single server, the hardware needs to be beefy enough to handle the extra layer. There is good reason to outsource the hosting of Microsoft Dynamics CRM in the world of small business—not only because of hardware but because of the labor required to maintain this new layer of integration. Just as many small businesses do not host their own websites, hosting a webbased application for just a tiny little business might not be worth the investment.

In the world of big business, there may be many people and departments to juggle, and the interconnection between who is doing what and when is a key factor for getting things done. The functions of Microsoft Dynamics CRM within big business might be divided among different roles and departments, such as the marketing department using the marketing functions and features, the service department focused on service scheduling and cases, and the sales department using the sales features. This division of labor doesn't always mean the division of information. In big business, security layers become even more important, as does the security offering. Needs for role-based, feature, and function and division security are not uncommon.

Now that you have a better understanding of many of the choices surrounding Microsoft Dynamics CRM installation and use, let's dive into a workshop including a few questions for review.

Workshop

Chase Boats is a company that manages the funding and sponsorship of crews and tall ships entered into various worldwide races. Given that races are held all over the world, Chase Boats needed a CRM software package that could handle multiple currencies, localized dates and time, and the organization and management of potential sponsorship income. Chase Boats already had a good accounting system managed by its accounting firm, but it wanted a CRM product that could empower each staff member to be more organized, more collaborative, and more responsive to the sponsors and crews that they work with. Charlie Chase is the CEO of Chase Boats. He accesses his Microsoft Dynamics CRM software from all over the world; his company uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online. In addition, because Charlie might spend a month or two in different countries, he sets Microsoft Dynamics CRM to the country he is in and immediately gets localized settings.

Chase Boats also has employees who reside in different locations. When a big race is happening, Charlie works closely with the employees in numerous locations to coordinate logistics. Microsoft Dynamics CRM e-mail and activity tracking allow Charlie to quickly see all the conversations from around the world that are happening with any given sponsor or crew member.

Q&A

- **Q.** Our Microsoft Dynamics CRM software is having difficulties. It seems like we keep having issues. What might be the problem?
- **A.** Microsoft Dynamics CRM needs to be installed correctly by an experienced Microsoft Dynamics CRM administrator and managed by an experienced network administrator.
- Q. We are waffling between Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online and Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises. Are there any other resources to help us decide?
- A. Talk with one or two Microsoft Dynamics CRM partners and the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online Team. This choice can be determined based on key factors, such as whether you need to create complex extensions to the software or the resources that are available for you to manage the infrastructure. You might also consider talking with one of the many Microsoft Dynamics CRM users. Microsoft gives you the ability to move your data between systems in case you at some point decide to switch.

- Q. What are some of the best resources for our people to get more training?
- A. Some of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM boot camps are excellent. You can also build your own library of reading materials from a set of available books on Microsoft Dynamics CRM and from the material available on the Microsoft websites and at the bookstores.

Quiz

- **1.** What is one reason a large corporation might want to use Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online rather than Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises?
- **2.** What is one benefit that Charlie Chase gets out of using Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- **3.** Name three other applications that Microsoft Dynamics CRM might work well with.
- 4. What can't you do in the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online?
- 5. What does multitenant mean?
- **6.** What are two areas that a developer new to Microsoft Dynamics CRM can choose to master?

Answers

- **1.** Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online offers the application without requiring a skilled infrastructure specialists and hardware requirements needed for a robust On-Premises application.
- Charlie Chase depends on the localization of dates and time, as well as the management and handling of multiple currencies associated with his products and services.
- **3.** Microsoft Excel, Microsoft Office SharePoint Services, and Microsoft Word are three other applications that Microsoft Dynamics CRM works well with.
- **4.** In the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, you can't import custom Microsoft SQL Server Reporting Service reports.
- **5.** *Multitenant* means that you have the ability to have many different instances of Microsoft Dynamics CRM databases sharing the same set of core application program files.

6. Two of the areas that a developer new to Microsoft Dynamics CRM can master are the core Microsoft Dynamics CRM .NET code, Silverlight, and form- and field-based scripts.

Exercise

Download the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Implementation Guide and the Microsoft Dynamics CRM SDK. Spend some time familiarizing yourself with key areas of these two documents. You might not be a software developer or the person or team responsible for installing the software, but these two documents offer real insight in a number of areas. This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 5

Security

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- ► How it all comes together
- Business units
- Users
- Security roles
- Maintaining security roles
- Sharing records
- Teams
- ► Field security

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM security model is extremely comprehensive and has been designed to protect data integrity, provide an efficient mechanism for accessing data, and facilitate easy collaboration.

Microsoft's goals for the security model include the following:

- Provide users with access only to the information required to perform their job functions
- Categorize types of users to define roles and restrict access based on those roles
- Support data sharing for collaboration so that users can be explicitly granted access to data they do not own

Successfully implementing security in Microsoft Dynamics CRM requires an understanding of the four core elements that make up the security model:

- Business units
- Users
- Security roles
- ► Teams

Figure 5.1 shows where these four elements are located on the Administration interface, which is accessible from the Settings menu.



All people (users) who access your Microsoft Dynamics CRM system must be uniquely identified. The system must know where they sit in the organization structure (business unit) and what they are allowed to do (security role) once logged in.



Can't Log In Without This

All three pieces of information must be defined for a person to log in to the system. If a user is unable to log in, check that he or she is enabled, has been assigned to a business unit, and has a security role.

Both users and security roles are stored in a business unit. Therefore, when you add a user to the system, you must define the business unit that user belongs to and the user's security role within that designated business unit. It is possible to have different/unique security roles within each business unit, but it is not a recommended practice. (We discuss this in more detail in the "Security Roles" section.)

Business units form the basis of your organization structure, and it is helpful to work from an organizational chart when setting these up. However, it is important to remember that a key reason you are building this hierarchical structure is to govern access to data. The structure you build in Microsoft Dynamics CRM might not directly match your physical organizational structure. You want to ensure that your users have access to all the information they require to perform their job function, but you also want to be able to limit access to any sensitive data.

Teams provide a mechanism to establish collective groups in CRM. Teams may also own records. (We discuss this in more detail in the "Teams" section.) Before we delve into the security model itself, it's important that you understand how data is referenced in Microsoft Dynamics CRM so that you can better understand how and where you might need to control access to it. There are two kinds of data records in Microsoft Dynamics CRM:

- User/team owned—User/team-owned records are typically records that relate to a customer (for example, a lead, an account, a contact, an opportunity, an order, an invoice, a case, a contract, activities). Typically, these types of records are managed by or actioned by users.
- Organization owned—Organization-owned records are typically records that are used for reference data and are associated with a business unit (for example, a product, services, queues, teams, resources). In other words, they are not directly related to or associated with any user.

Exception to the Rule

Three special items in CRM can be created:

- Reports
- Mail merge templates
- E-mail templates

By default they are individually owned, but they may be promoted to the organization.

Individual security privileges govern whether users can create these items. A separate privilege also exists to determine whether a user can promote individual security privileges to the organization.



Every record in Microsoft Dynamics CRM is automatically marked with its respective "owner." When you access Microsoft Dynamics CRM and select any of the key customer-related record types (lead, account, contact, opportunity, and so on), by default you are provided with a list of "your" records. This is because the default view (My Active Contacts) filters and selects records owned only by you to help you focus on those you manage.

Figure 5.2 highlights how, by default, Microsoft Dynamics CRM filters records wherever possible to simplify finding and accessing the records that relate to a particular user.

1. Import			2. Use		3. Modify & Manag	je
> Import fro	m Files		About Quick Campaigns		+ Create Custom V	iews
Balance Brand Brand	orting		Detect Duplicates		+ Set Up Duplicate	Detection
Overview Video			🗗 About Sharing & Assigni	ng	Customize Accou	ints
			*			
Accounts: My Active Accounts -				5	earch for records	
Account Name A	Main Phone	Address 1: City	Primary Contact	E-mail (Primary Contact)	Owner	1
A Store (sample)	555-0136	Renton	Adrian Dumitrascu (sample)	someone_a@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
Advanced Components (sample)	555-0135	Dallas	Brain LaMee (sample)	someone_b@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
Affordable Equipment (sample)	555-0162	Santa Cruz	Cat Francis (sample)	someone_c@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
Basic Company (sample)	555-0174	Lynnwood	Cathan Cook (sample)	someone_d@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
🗏 📴 Best o' Things (sample)	555-0145	Los Angeles	Darren Parker (sample)	someone_e@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
Blue Company (sample)	555-0131	Redmond	Forrest Chand (sample)	someone_g@example.com	CRM Administrato	,
🗏 📴 Designer Goods (sample)	555-0197	Redmond	Eva Corets (sample)	someone_f@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
Elemental Goods (sample)	555-0127	Missoula	Gabriele Cannata (sample)	someone_h@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
🗆 😂 Grand Store (sample)	555-0135	Redmond	George Sullivan (sample)	someone_i@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
🗌 🔛 Litware Inc. (sample)	555-0116	Phoenix	Marco Tanara (sample)	someone_j@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
Be Magnificent Store (sample)	555-0135	Daly City	Patrick Steiner (sample)	someone_k@example.com	CRM Administrato	,
Recreation Supplies (sample)	555-0171	Newport Beach	Susan Burk (sample)	someone_l@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
🗆 🔛 Unusual Store (sample)	555-0178	Lebanon	Thomas Axen (sample)	someone_m@example.com	CRM Administrato	r
🛛 🔛 Variety Store (sample)	555-0135	Port Orchard	Yvonne McKay (sample)	someone n@example.com	CRM Administrato	r

The owner of a record is displayed on the Administration tab of the record itself; although it is possible to change the owner of a record, the ability to do this is governed by a *security privilege* within the security role, which allows control over who can perform this kind of function.

Figure 5.3 shows where the owner identification is located for each record.

The concept of security privileges is key to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM security model.

Primary Contac	t umitrascu (sample)	Preferred Metho Any	d of Contact	Owner Scrim Administrator	
Credit Limit		Annual Revenue			
General					
Account Name *	A Store (sample)		Main Phone	555-0136	
Primary Contact	Adrian Dumitrascu (s	ample)	Other Phone		
Account Number	ABSS4G45		Fax		
Parent Account			Web Site		
E-mail	someone1@example.com				
Address					
Address Type		•	City	Renton	
ddress Name			State/Province	ТХ	
itreet 1	5009 Orange Street		ZIP/Postal Code	20175	
Street 2			Country/Region	U.S.	
Street 3			Phone		
hipping Method		•	Freight Terms		•
Description					

FIGURE 5.3 A record owner displayed in the Administration section.

A privilege is an inherent component of the security role itself, which is made up of hundreds of these privileges, each one governing every action that can be performed within the system.

How It All Comes Together

When we bring together the three core elements of business unit, user, and security role, you can see how the security model works.

You might have one or many business units, and within these you add users. This gives you your organizational structure. At this point, however, you have not declared what users are permitted to do or what they can access because that information comes from the security role. Remember that security is primarily determined by the security role, not by which business unit a user is assigned to.

A security role is three dimensional, but we will first look at it in a two-dimensional way and build on what we learn.

Table 5.1 illustrates how a two-dimensional security role, as a matrix of actions against specific record types (entities), might look.

	Create	Read	Write	Delete	Etc.
Account	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	
Contact	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	
Opportunity	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	
Case	No	Yes	No	No	
Activity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Etc.					

 TABLE 5.1
 If Security Roles Were Two Dimensional

If the security role were just two dimensional, you would not be able to define which set of records a user may perform this action (because there is no qualification). In Table 5.1, the action for Write Opportunity is Yes, which would give the ability to update any opportunity in the system. However, in reality, it is more likely that *only* the salesperson who is managing that opportunity would be allowed to update it. So you might want to restrict the Write privilege to only those records that the user owns. This is where the third dimension, or "qualifier," comes into play and completes the picture of the security role. The qualifier allows you to grant privileges to specific sets of records (for example, opportunities that the user owns).

Table 5.2 shows how the two-dimensional Yes/No actions have been replaced with qualifiers to give the three-dimensional aspect, exactly as they appear in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

	Create	Read	Write	Delete	Etc.
Account				0	
Contact				0	
Opportunity			\bigcirc	0	
Case	0		0	0	
Activity			\bigcirc		
Etc.					
Key: Organization User (own da None—(<mark>O</mark>)	(systemwide) ta only)—(ⓒ)	—(

TABLE 5.2 Sample Microsoft Dynamics CRM Security Role Structure

Table 5.2 explicitly declares the appropriate action on a particular set of data records. For example, users can do the following:

 Read any account, contact, opportunity, case, or activity in the entire Microsoft Dynamics CRM system

Terminology

The action Write refers to the ability to update (change) a record.

► Update any account or contact in the entire Microsoft Dynamics CRM, but not a case, and only update opportunities and activities they own

Table 5.2 is for example purposes only and does not cover all the possible privileges. We cover the full extent of the security role later. However, these principles form the basis of the security role concepts.

Tailoring Security Roles to Match Job Roles

It is important to understand that certain actions can apply to some users who perform a specific job function but not to others within your organization. This is why Microsoft Dynamics CRM provides the capability to define many security roles so that you can tailor each role to apply to a particular job function/role within your organization.

Business Units

The top-level business unit is automatically created when your Microsoft Dynamics CRM system is provisioned and has the name of your organization. (This is the only one that does not have a parent.)

A business unit can be defined as a subsidiary, a division, an operating unit, a branch office, and so forth, depending on how your specific organization is structured.

There is nothing wrong with having a single business unit (the default) and every user in your organization sitting in that one business unit. Although not a rule, it is often the case that, for smaller organizations, it makes sense to have everyone in the same business unit because the lines of demarcation between job roles and responsibilities are often blurred and overlap (because people tend to wear many hats in smaller companies). In such a situation, you need to make sure that people have



By the

access to all the information they need to fulfill the roles they perform. If you initially place every user in the same business unit, you can at any time in the future add business units and move users as required.

Creating a business unit is a straightforward process. In Figure 5.4, you can see a list of existing business units, and from here, you can click the New button in the ribbon to create a new business unit (see Figure 5.5).



FIGURE 5.5 Creating a new business unit.



Reorganizing Your Business Unit Hierarchy

It is possible to reorganize your business unit hierarchy. (Any business unit, except the top-level parent, can be repointed to a different parent business unit.) There are two methods for doing this:

- From the list of all business units, highlight the one that needs to change. Click the More Actions button in the ribbon, select Change Parent Business, and select the new parent from the dialog box.
- From the list of all business units, double-click the required business unit to open the record. Click the Actions button in the ribbon, select Change Parent Business, and select the new parent from the dialog box.

Business Unit Naming and Renaming Cautions

Remember: If you want to delete a business unit, you *must* disable it first.

Users

Users represent each and every person who will access a Microsoft Dynamics CRM system. For an On-Premises deployment, each user is uniquely identified by a network logon identifier and, in the case of Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, by their Windows Live ID.

For Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, there is only one license. For Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises installations, there are both client and server licenses. For client licenses, there are three different scenarios for a user license, and this information is stored in the user record itself. The type of client access license (CAL) determines what users can do with Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Organizations usually have a limited number of each type of CAL. A CAL is licensable, and it is the responsibility of each organization to ensure that it has licensed sufficient numbers of CALs for its users. A CAL is required for each user, except those with only administrative access. When a user is created in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you need to specific which type of CAL that user will be assigned:

- Full—The user will have full access to any part of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she has the security roles and privileges to access.
- Administrative—The user will have read-only access to the Sales, Marketing, and Service areas and full access to the Settings area. This type does not consume a CAL.

By the

Read-only—The user will have read-only access to the Sales, Marketing, and Service areas that he or she has the security roles and privileges to access.

There is also an employee self-service CAL, which grants limited API access, designed for employee self-service in managing leads, cases, and so on via an internal portal application.

Every organization is different, and therefore it is strongly recommended that each organization consult with its licensing provider to determine the exact needs and requirements for Microsoft Dynamics CRM licensing for its situation.

By the

CALs Can Either Be Assigned to Users or Devices

For On-Premises deployments, Microsoft allows a CAL to be assigned to a device rather than to a named user. This is useful for organizations that have a lot of part-time workers or shift workers (for example, call centers).

Depending on whether you are using Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises or Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, there are two slightly different procedures for creating users. In both cases, you need some minimum pieces of information before you can create the users:

- Network login and e-mail address (for CRM On-Premises) or Windows Live ID (for CRM Online)
- First and last name of user
- Business unit

Each user must be assigned to a business unit (which defaults to the top-level unit), and this is automatically set for CRM Online users. This can be changed at a later date, if required (as discussed later in this hour).

Creating CRM On-Premises Users

You can access users from the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Administration page. Figure 5.6 shows a list of existing users.

When you click the New button in the ribbon to create a new user, you are presented with two options (see Figure 5.7): You can either add a single user or multiple users.

			🚧 Micr	osoft Dynamics
File Users View Ch Users View Ch	Ants Customize	Manage Roles Change Business Unit Change Manager Actions	Send Direct Connect E-mail	😭 Copy a Lin 🔓 E-mail a Lir rate
Settings 🔰 🚮 📴 -	Licoret Search Perul	h		
Business Management Templates Product Catalog	Full Name Guy Riddle		Main Phone	Busines: Prototyp
Imports Duplicate Detection System Jobs Document Managem Customization Sustomization Sustomizations Sustomizations Sustomizations Sustomizations Sustomizations Sustamizations Sustami				oft Dynamics CRN
le Users View Char	ts Customize		MICOS	or Dynamics CRW
iew New Multiple Edit	Enable Disable Approve E-mail	Manage Roles Change Business Unit Change Manager	Send Direct Connect	Copy a Link 🚽
Records		Actions	Collaborat	e
ettings 🛛 🟠 🙀 -	Users: Enabled Users	•		
Jusiness	Full Name 🔺		Site	BL



FIGURE 5.7 Options presented for creating users.

Option 1: Adding a Single User

You can click User to add a single user to the system. When you do, you are presented with the user interface shown in Figure 5.8.

8 User			[Users	* 🗄 🤴	ŀ
New						
The information pr	ovided in this form is viewable by the entire organi	zation.				
General						-
Account Informat	ion					
User Name *	domain\user					
User Information						
First Name *	First	Main Phone				
Last Name *	Last	Other Phone				
Title		Home Phone				
Primary E-mail	[Mobile Phone				
E-mail 2		Preferred Phone	Main Phone		•	
Mobile Alert E-mail		Pager				
Fax						
Organization Info	rmation					
Manager	Q	Business Unit *	Prototype		Q	
Territory	Q	Site			4	
E-mail Access Cor	nfiguration					
E-mail access type -	Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook				-	
tus	Enabled					



Using this method, you must select the correct business unit; it will default to the toplevel business unit in your hierarchy.

You must also append to the user a security role after the user has been created; otherwise, the user will not be able to access the system. To add a security role to the user, click the Roles button in the side navigation pane. The User's Roles interface will appear, as shown in Figure 5.9.



To add a security role, click Manage Roles in the toolbar. A dialog appears, in which you can select an appropriate security role for the user from the list of security roles available within the business unit to which the user has been assigned (see Figure 5.10).

After a security role has been assigned to a user, the user can log in to the system.

Role Name	Business Unit	1
CEO-Business Manager	GuyTest	-
CSR Manager	GuyTest	
Customer Service Representative	GuyTest	
Delegate	GuyTest	
Marketing Manager	GuyTest	
Marketing Professional	GuyTest	
Sales Manager	GuyTest	
Salesperson	GuyTest	
Schedule Manager	GuyTest	
Scheduler	GuyTest	
Senicorn Advanced Pibbon Featurer	Gun/Test	-



A user's

Option 2: Adding Multiple Users

You can click Multiple Users to create one or several users at one time. Note that when you choose this option to create new users, they will all be created with same values for business unit, security roles, and license type.

If you choose this method, you are taken through a wizard to define the new users, as shown in Figures 5.11 through 5.15.

elect Business Uni		@ Helj
elect the business unit	to which the new user or users belong.	
usiness Unit: *	New Business Unit	
		Back Next Cancel

FIGURE 5.11 Wizard step 1: Choosing a business unit.

Select Security Roles	() Help
Security roles determine how a user may access Microsoft Dynamics CRM featu user record is created.	CEO-Business Manager A user who manages the organization at the corporate business level.
Marketing Manager Marketing Professional Sales Manager Salesperson Scheduler System Administrator System Customizer Vice President of Marketing Vice President of Sales	
	Back Next Cancel

FIGURE 5.12 Wizard step 2: Choosing security roles. FIGURE 5.13 Wizard step 3: Selecting the license type.

The type of client access license (CAL) determines what users can do with Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Organizations usually have a limited number of each type of CAL. Each user needs a CAL, except those with administrative access. Access Type Specify the appropriate access type for this set of users. Read User will have read-only access to any part of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she needs to use to perform administrative tacks. This type does not consume a CAL. Read User will have read-only access to any part of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she has the security roles and privileges to access. Read User will have read-only access to any part of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she has the tree read-only access to any part of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she has the security roles and privileges to access. Read User will have read-only access to any part of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she has the security roles and privileges to access. License Type For licensing tracking purposes, specify the license type for this set of users. Full E-mail access Configuration Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook Full E-mail access type - Outgoing Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook Full	0	ccess and License Type	@ <u>H</u> elp
Access Type Specify the appropriate access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for type for this set of users. Image: Provide access type for type for type for this	termines what users can do with Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Organizations usually have a limited number of , except those with administrative access.	f client access license (CAL) d of CAL. Each user needs a CA	imited number of
Construction C	his set of users.	pe e appropriate access type for	
Administrative User will have access only to areas of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she needs to use to perform administrative tasks. This type does not consume a CAL. Read User will have read-only access to any part of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she has the security roles and privileges to access. License Type For licensing tracking purposes, specify the license type for this set of users. Full E-mail access Configuration Specify how this set of users will access e-mail. E-mail access type - Incoming Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook	t of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she has the ss.	will have full access to any p rity roles and privileges to ac	
Read User vill have read-only access to any part of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she has the security roles and privileges to access. License Type For licensing tracking purposes, specify the license type for this set of users. Full T E-mail Access Configuration Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook E-mail access type - Incoming Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook E-mail access type - Outgoing Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook	of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she needs to use s type does not consume a CAL.	inistrative will have access only to area rform administrative tasks. T	
License Type For licensing tracking purposes, specify the license type for this set of users. Full E-mail Access Configuration Specify how this set of users will access e-mail. E-mail access type - Incoming E-mail access type - Outgoing Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook	my part of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that he or she has access.	will have read-only access to ecurity roles and privileges to	
Full E-mail Access Configuration Specify how this set of users will access e-mail. E-mail access type - Incoming E-mail access type - Outgoing Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook 	the license type for this set of users.	pe ng tracking purposes, specif	
E-mail Access Configuration Specify how this set of users will access e-mail. E-mail access type - Incoming Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook E-mail access type - Outgoing Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook	•		
E-mail access type - Incoming Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook E-mail access type - Outgoing Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook	e-mail.	ess Configuration w this set of users will acces	
E-mail access type - Outgoing Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook 💌	Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook	l access type - Incoming	
	Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook	il access type - Outgoing	
Back Next Capes	Back Next Cance		Cancel

FIGURE 5.14

Wizard step 4: Selecting users from domains or groups.

Selec	ct Domain or Group	🕜 <u>H</u> elp
The to users	ree displays the trusted domains and groups in Active Directory. Expand and select the domain or group node from which you want to se .	lect
(Select users from all trusted domains and groups	
С	Select users from the following domain or group:	
	Back Next Ca	Incel



After all your users have been selected from your domains/groups, you can click the Create New Users button to have them all created as Microsoft Dynamics CRM users.

Creating Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online Users

You can access users from the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Administration page. Figure 5.16 shows a list of existing users.

Settings 🛛 🚮 📴 -	Busine	ess Un	its										
Business Business Management Templates Product Catalog System	Mew	🎒 Name 🔺	× :	×§	Add	Connec	tion (🐝 Rur	Work	flow Main F	Sta	rt Dialo	g 1
System System Administration Data Management System 1 Obts Document Management Auditing Customization Customization Solutions Dynamics Marketplace Process Center Reviews		Name ▲	d2011							Main F	hone		
Workplace	_												
 Sales Marketing Service 													
Settings	1 - 1 of	1 (0 sele	ected)										~
S Resource Center	All	#	A	В	C	U	E	۴	G	н	1	1	K



When you click the New button in the ribbon to create a new user, you are taken through a wizard to define the new users, as shown in Figures 5.17 through 5.19.

Security roles determine how a user may access Microsoft	Dynamics CRM features. You can add or remove roles for users in the Settings area aft
user record is created.	
Important: To access Microsoft Dynamics CRM, a use	r must have at least one security role.
Security roles: +	
CEO-Business Manager	
CSR Manager	CEO-Business Manager
Customer Service Representative	A user who manages the organization at the corporate busines
Delegate	ICVCI.
Marketing Manager	
Marketing Professional	
Sales Manager	
Salesperson	
Schedule Manager	
☐ Scheduler	
System Administrator	
System Customizer	
Vice President of Marketing	
Vice President of Sales	

FIGURE 5.18

Wizard step 2: Adding users.

		Herr doeld
auy	Add >>	John Smith (John@smith.com)
ast name: *		
Riddle	<< Edit	
-mail address: *	Remove	
guy2010@live.com.au		

FIGURE 5.17 Wizard step 1: Choosing security roles.

Send E-mail Invitations			
Send E-mail Invitations E-mail invitations instruct new users how to access Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online. Invitations i Set when to send invitations: Add new users and send invitations now Add new users and do not send invitations You will be able to send invitations later.	can be sent autor	natically after new users	(₩ <u>H</u> elp : are created.
]	Back	Create New Users	<u>C</u> ancel

On the wizard page, you can enter the details of one or many users you want to add to the system. At the bottom of the screen, you will see the available number of licenses decrease as you add more users.

You can choose not to send invitations, but it is recommended that you do so in order that the user receives an e-mail with the correct URL to access your Microsoft Dynamics CRM system. If you choose not to send invitations now, you can send them later. This is done from the users list view (refer to Figure 5.16). You just select the users you want to send the invitation to, click the More Actions button in the ribbon, and then choose the Send Invitation option.

After you decide on your preferred option for sending e-mail invitations, you click the Create New Users button to have them all created as Microsoft Dynamics CRM users.

Unit of a User	
uble-click the required user to open the record.	
and Unit button in the ribbon and then calent the	

From the list of all users, you double-click the required

How to Change the Business

Then you click the Change Business Unit button in the ribbon and then select the new parent from the dialog box.

Note that the same procedure applies if you have assigned the user a manager and want to change this assignment later.



FIGURE 5.19 Wizard step 3: Sending e-mail invitations.
User Administration

When users leave your organization, you should carry out a few housekeeping functions:

- Reassign their records to another user.
- Disable their Microsoft Dynamics CRM user records. Doing so automatically frees up their CRM licenses so that these licenses can be assigned to other users.

In the navigation pane, click Settings. In the Settings area, click Business Unit Settings and then click Users.

To reassign all of a user's records to someone else, follow these steps:

- **1.** On the ribbon, click Reassign Records and then click Assign to Another User or Team.
- 2. From the lookup dialog select User or Team from the drop-down list.
- **3.** Click the Lookup icon, type a part of the other user's name, and click Find.
- 4. In the results list, double-click the user's name and then click OK.

To deactivate a record, follow these steps:

- **1.** Find and open the user record for the departing person.
- On the ribbon, click Disable and then click OK. The system allows you to disable a user who owns records. The user stays in the system but is deactivated.



You Can Change the Information You Capture About Your Users

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM record type User is customizable. You can therefore extend the information that is captured about a user by using standard Microsoft Dynamics CRM customization techniques.

However, remember that any user record is visible to all users in the system.

Security Roles

Security roles govern what a user can do after he or she is granted access to the system. Microsoft Dynamics CRM ships with 14 predefined security roles, together comprising more than 350 individual security privileges:

- ► Shipped Security Role
- CEO-Business Manager
- ► CSR Manager
- ► Customer Service Representative
- ► Delegate
- Marketing Manager
- Marketing Professional
- Sales Manager
- ► Salesperson
- ► Schedule Manager
- Scheduler
- System Administrator
- System Customizer
- Vice President of Marketing
- Vice President of Sales

Generally, the components of a security role fall into two categories:

- Entity—Relates to a record type of data/information captured and entered into the system (for example, account, contact, product, quote, case, activity) and typically maintained by our users
- System features—Specific functions that you can perform within the system (print, export to Excel, import data, mail merge, override quote pricing, and so on)

When it comes to understanding the security role, you have to understand how the privileges for them are defined. System features are simple: You can or you can't perform the privilege. On the other hand, with entity privileges, you have to qualify where the privilege may be performed. An entity privilege has three elements: entity (record type), action, and access level (qualifier).

Actions

You can perform eight actions on any given entity (record type). The security role must know all of these for every entity. Table 5.3 shows the actions that a user may perform against any given entity.

Action	Description
Create	Creates a new record.
Read	Views or open an existing record.
Write	Saves changes to an existing record.
Delete	Deletes an existing record.
Append	Appends (attaches) this record to another record.
Append To	Appends (attaches) other records to this record. The Append and Append To privileges typically work in conjunction with each other. For example, if you want to add a note to an account, you must have the Append privilege on the note and the Attend To privilege on the account.
Assign	Assigns this record to another user.
Share	Shares this record with another user (or team).

TABLE 5.3 List of Actions

Access Levels

Five access levels (qualifiers) define the set of records on which a user can perform the respective action. Table 5.4 shows the list of access levels to determine where a user could perform an action against any given entity.

Access Level	Symbol	Description
Organization		Can perform this privilege on any record in the system
Parent/child	Q	Can perform this privilege on any records in the same business unit as the user and any records in any child business units sitting under the user's business unit
Business unit	•	Can perform this privilege on any records in the same business unit as the user
User	\bigcirc	Can only perform this privilege on records owned by the user
None	0	No access to perform this privilege at all

 TABLE 5.4
 List of Access Levels

Table 5.5 shows a list of sample privileges to highlight how the three elements come together to define a privilege.

Entity	Action	Access Level	Result
Account	Write	Organization	Can update any account record in the entire system
Contact	Write	User	Can only update con- tacts that are owned by the user
Opportunity	Read	Business unit	Can only read oppor- tunities that are owned by the user and any that are in the same business unit
Activity	Delete	User	Can delete any activi- ties that are owned by the user

TABLE 5.5Privileges

Entity	Action	Access Level	Result
Contract	Read	None	Has no access to view any contracts at all (and therefore this option will disap- pear from any screen where it would nor- mally appear for that user)*

 TABLE 5.5
 Privileges

*As a user navigates through Microsoft Dynamics CRM, each user interface is dynamically rendered, based on the security privileges within their security role. This means that if a user does not have the privilege to perform a system function or access certain types of data records, those corresponding buttons on the user interfaces will disappear.

In the case of system features, privileges are based on the ability to perform the function; in the case of entities, it is based on the Read privilege. For example, if you set the Export to Excel privilege to None, the button will disappear from every user interface to which in normally applies. If you set the invoice entity Read privilege to None, the user will not see the Invoice button on any user interface in the system.

Changing the security for users is the process that is recommended for removing unwanted items from the user interface for each of your users and their security roles as required.



Users Can Have More Than One Security Role

It is permissible for a user to be granted more than one security role. In this case, you might find that a conflict arises. If this happens, Microsoft Dynamics CRM always applies the least restrictive principle. For example, if you give a user Role A that denies a specific permission, but you also give him a second Role B that grants the permission, using the least restrictive principle, he will be granted permission.

Maintaining Security Roles

Although Microsoft Dynamics CRM provides 14 "out of the box" security roles, you do not have to use them. In fact, you can define your own security roles from scratch, or you can modify any of the shipped roles. Both of these capabilities are possible, but it is highly recommended that you at least start with a default role,

clone it, and then modify that role. This is a much more reliable and recommended practice. Preserving the original roles (even if you don't use them) allows you to go back and reference them if ever you need to in the future. The best practice is to copy an existing role and then modify it to meet your exact requirements. That way you only have to make changes by exception.

Reviewing the Shipped Security Roles Before You Use Them

By default, every shipped security role (except System Customizer) permits the user to do the following

- Read almost every record in the entire system
- Delete any record that the users owns

Therefore, you should review all the security roles to ensure that they meet your requirements before using them.

You can edit any of the default security roles except the System Administrator role.

You can access security roles from the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Administration page. Figure 5.20 shows a list of existing security roles.

Settings 🔰 🚮 🙀 -	Security Roles	
Business Business Management Templates	😵 New 🛛 🍕 🕱 🗙 More Actions -	
Product Catalog	Name 🔺	Business Unit
4 System	EEO-Business Manager	AUTechEd2011
Administration	🗐 🎯 CSR Manager	AUTechEd2011
Tota Management	🗐 🎯 Customer Service Representative	AUTechEd2011
Document Management	🗐 🎯 Delegate	AUTechEd2011
Auditing	🗐 🎯 Marketing Manager	AUTechEd2011
4 Customization	🔲 🧕 Marketing Professional	AUTechEd2011
Customizations	🗐 🎯 Sales Manager	AUTechEd2011
🜮 Solutions	🗐 🎯 Salesperson	AUTechEd2011
🖄 Dynamics Marketplace	🔄 🎯 Schedule Manager	AUTechEd2011
Process Center	🗐 🍪 Scheduler	AUTechEd2011
🚼 Processes	🗐 🍪 System Administrator	AUTechEd2011
	🔲 🎯 System Customizer	AUTechEd2011
	🔲 🎯 Vice President of Marketing	AUTechEd2011
	Vice President of Sales	AUTechEd2011

From the list of existing security roles, you can highlight which role you want to copy, click More Actions in the toolbar, and select the Copy Role option.



By the Wav You can also provide a name for the new security role you are creating (see Figure 5.21).



100

G nups//autecheuz	orrichtholdynamics.com/_gnd/chtds/dig_ch	sheroleasparroleau ////bor//bbsc
Use this security role	e to create a new security role.	
Role to Copy:	Salesperson	
New Role Name:	My Company Salesperson Role	

If you leave the Open the New Security Role When Copying Is Complete check box selected, the new role will automatically open for you after it is created (see Figure 5.22).



Because more than 350 privileges make up a security role, there are too many to display on one screen. Therefore, the privileges have been grouped logically onto individual tabs. Figures 5.23 through 5.30 show the privileges for the default Salesperson security role.

	Se	ervice Manag	gement	Customization	Custom Enti	ties	
te		Write	Delet	e Append	Append To	Assign	Shar
		•	Q	•	•	•	•
		-	9	-	-	•	•
		0	0		0		
		0	0				
		•	•	•	•	•	•
		0	0	0	0		
		•	9	•	•	•	•
		0	0	0	0	0	0
		•	•	<u>_</u>	•	•	•
		-	-	-	-		
		•	0	•	•	•	
		0	0	0	0	0	0
		•	•	-	0	-	6
		•	9	9	Q	•	
			•	•	•	•	
		•	9	Q	Q	•	
		•	•	-	-	•	
		•		•	•	•	
		0	0	0	0	0	0
		0	0	0	Q	0	0
		0	0	0	0		
		•	0	9	6	•	
		•	•			•	6
		0	0	0	•	•	
		0	0	0	•		
		•				•	6
		•				•	G
		•				•	6
		•				Q	G
		0	0				
		0	0				
		0	0				
		0	0				



FIGURE 5.24

The Marketing tab for the Salesperson role.

Entity Campaign Marketing List Miscellaneous Privileges Configure Internet Marketing module Use Internet marketing module	Create	Read •	Write 으 ම	Delete G	Append 	Append To	Assign	Sh
Campaign Marketing List Miscellaneous Privileges Configure Internet Marketing module Use internet marketing module	•	:	•	•	•	•	0	
Marketing List Miscellancous Privileges Configure Internet Marketing module Use internet marketing module	•	•	Ŭ	G	•	•		
Miscellaneous Privileges Configure Internet Marketing module Use internet marketing module	•							
Configure Internet Marketing module Use internet marketing module	•							
Use internet marketing module	•		Create	Quick Campa	sign			

Details Core Records Marketing	bales Service	Business Mana	gement S	ervice Manager	nent Cust	omization	Custom Entitie	\$	
Entity		Create	Read	Write	Delete	Append	Append To	Assign	Shi
Competitor		0	•	0	0	0	•		
Invoice		•	•	-	•	-	-	•	
Order		•	•	-	•	•	-	•	
Product		0	•	0	0	•	•		
Quote		•	•	-	•	-	-	 Q 	
Sales Literature		0	•	0	0	•	•		
Territory		0	•	0	0	0	0		
Miscellaneous Privileges									
Override Invoice Pricing		0		Overri	de Opportun	ity Pricing			0
Override Order Pricing		0		Overri	de Quote Or	der Invoice D	elete		0

FIGURE 5.25

The Sales tab for the Salesperson role.

Details Core Records Marketing Sales Service	Business Manag	gement Service Mar	agement Cu	tomization	Custom Entiti	es	
Entity	Create	Read Write	Delete	Append	Append To	Assign	Share
Article	0	• •	0	•	0		
Article Template	0	• 0	0		•		
Tase	0	• 0	0	-	-	0	•
Contract	<u></u>	• •	0	-	-	•	٠
Contract Template	0	• 0	0		•		
Miscellaneous Privileges							
Publish Articles	0						

FIGURE 5.26

The Service tab for the Salesperson role.

	Acres	Barriel	100.00	Datata	Annual	1	Andres	*****
nuty Indiana theit	Create	Kead	write	Delete	Append	Append to	Assign	Share
	ě		0	ő				
Jurrency Data Casualty Deptile	š		ě	Ň				
Teld Security Profile	ŏ	ő	ő	ő	ő	ő		
ield sharing	ő	6	0	ő	õ	õ	0	0
Soal Metric	ŏ		ő	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	· ·	0
Joan metric Disponsition	U U		õ	U U	<u> </u>	ŏ		
Allun Quan	0	o l	õ	0	0	õ	0	0
ieruite Pole	ő		ő	ő	Ő	õ	õ	0
eam	ő		ő	ő	ŏ	ő		
lser	ŏ		õ		ŏ	ě		
Jser Settings	i i		ä	•				
fiscellaneous Privileges								
ict on Behalf of Another User	0		Appre	ove E-mail Add	dresses for Us	ers or Queues		0
ssign manager for a user	0		Assig	n Territory to	User			0
lulk Edit	•		CRM	Address Book				•
nable or Disable Business Unit	0		Enabl	e or Disable L	Jser			0
xport to Excel	•		Go M	obile				•
io Offline	•		Lange	age Settings				0
Mail Merge	•		Merg	e				•
Override Created on or Created by for Records during Data mport	0		Perfo	rm in sync roll	ups on goals			0
Print	•		Read	License info				•
Reparent Business unit	0		Repai	rent team				0
Reparent user	0		Send	E-mail as Ano	ther User			0
end Invitation	0		Sync	to Outlook				•
Jpdate Business Closures	0		Web	Mail Merge				•

FIGURE 5.27

The Business Management tab for the Salesperson role.

FIGURE 5.28

The Service Management tab for the Salesperson role.

Details Core Records	Marketing	Sales	Service	Busine	ss Manag	ement	Service I	danageme	ent Cust	tomization	Custom Entitie	5	
Entity				(reate	Read	W	rite	Delete	Append	Append To	Assign	Sha
Calendar					0	0		0	0	•	•		
Facility/Equipment					0	٠		0	0	0	•		
Service					0	•		0	0	•	•		
Site					0	•		0	0		•		
Miscellaneous Privileges													
Browse Availability				0				Create o	wn calend	ar			٠
Delete own calendar				•				Read ov	vn calenda				
Search Availability				•				Maite or	un calanda				
								white of	wit calcinga	•			

FIGURE 5.29

The Customization tab for the Salesperson role.

	Create	Read	Write	Delete	Annend	Annend To	Accion	Chare
Mithute Man	0	-	0	0	O		Pathyn	anare
Customizations	õ		õ	õ	-			
Dialog Session	ä		ä	ä	0	0	G	G
ntity	0		0	0				
ntity Map	õ		0	o		0		
ield	Ó		0	0				
nport Job		0	0	0				
ption Set	0	•	0	0				
lug-in Assembly	0		0	0				
lug-in Type	0	•	0	0				
rocess	9	•	•	•	•	•	0	•
ublisher	0	0	0	0	0	0		
elationship	0		0	0				
dk Message	0	•	0	0				
dk Message Processing Step	0	•	0	0				
dk Message Processing Step Image	0	•	0	0				
dk Message Processing Step Secure Configuration	0	0	0	0				
ervice Endpoint	0	0	0	0				
olution	0	0	0	0	0	0		
ystem Chart	0	•	0	0				
ystem Form	0	•	0	0				
ystem Job	0	•	•	0	0	•	•	0
lew	0	•	0	0				
Veb Resource	0	•	0	0				
liscellaneous Privileges								
xecute Workflow Job	•		Expor	t Customizati	ons			0
mport Customizations	0		ISV B	tensions				0
			Public	h Customizat	ions			0



FIGURE 5.30 The Custom Entities tab for the Salesperson role.

Don't Forget Permissions for New Entities

If you add a custom entity to Microsoft Dynamics CRM, it will automatically be enrolled into every security role, and there will be a set of security privileges related to it. However, by default, every privilege will be set to None (no access). The exception is with the System Administrator role, which has the Organization privilege for every action. This allows you to explicitly define what privileges you require for each of your security roles.

Sharing Records

You have learned that by using security roles, you can restrict user access to specific data records. However, sometimes a user might need access to a data record that isn't included (access-wise) in his or her security roles. To accommodate this need, you can collaborate through a Microsoft Dynamics CRM concept called *sharing*. Typically, any record in CRM that can be associated with a customer (lead, account, contact, opportunity, case, quote, and so on) can be shared.

By the Way



Security Roles Cascade Down the Hierarchy

Security roles are created and associated with business units.

Each time you create a new business unit within your hierarchy, it inherits all the security roles associated with the parent business units.

Because in Microsoft Dynamics CRM children business units inherit security roles, you cannot vary the privileges of a security role to be different for each child business unit. Alternatively, you can create additional security roles for each business unit as required.

Security roles govern what you can do in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and because sharing is an action, there is also a privilege associated with it. Therefore, to share a record with another user, you must have the ability to share that record type. This is so that you can control who can share records (and which types) in the system.

You might not need to be concerned about sharing in your organization. Because, by default, every shipped security role permits every user to "read" every record, you might find that the need for sharing (and explaining this feature to your users) is not necessary.

Sharing is an explicit process, initiated by users. You can share a record in Microsoft Dynamics CRM in two different ways. In both instances, a Sharing User interface will display. In it, the user must define who the record is to be shared with and what privileges are assigned to the user.

At first glance, it might appear that when you share a record with another user, you can grant security privileges that change the user's security role. This is not actually the case. The user's underlying security privileges will prevail. You are granting privileges to that specific record itself, but only if the user already has the privilege to perform the similar action to his or her own records.

For example, if you share a Contact record with another user and grant her the Delete privilege, that user will not be able to delete the record if her base security role has the Delete Contact privilege set to None.

Removing the share of a parent record removes the sharing properties of the records that it inherited from the parent. Therefore, all users who could previously read this record will no longer be able to read the child records either. It is possible that some child records might still be shared to a user if they were shared individually.

After a sharing request is initiated, a user interface opens (see Figure 5.31). Through this interface, a user can nominate whether to share records with a single user, several users, or a team.

ommon Tasks		Name	Read	Write	Delete	Append	Assign	Share
Add User/Team	□ 🔱	George Doubinski	2					
Remove Selected Items Toggle All Permissions of the Selected Items Reset	8	Guy Riddle		V		V	V	<u><</u>

FIGURE 5.31 Setting the

sharing options.

Either single or multiple records can be shared at a time.

As shown in Figure 5.32, with an individual record open, the user can click Share in the ribbon and then choose the Sharing options.

			🚧 Microsoft Dynamics CRM		
File Account Add Cu	ustomize				
Save & New Save & Save & New Save & Deactivate Save & X Delete Save	Add to Marketing Conne	ect Assign	Sharing - Start Share Start Share Secured Fields w Dialog	Run Report - Data	
Information General Contacts Notes & Activities Preferences	Account A Store (s. Primary Contact M Adrian Du Credit Limit	ample) mitrascu (Share Share these Accounts with selected people or teams, but continue to own the records. Sample) Any Annual Revenue	f Contact	Owner
Related A Common More Addresses A chivities Conced Activities Sub Accounts Contacts Contacts Contacts Contacts Contacts Contactions Cont	General Account Name* Primary Contact Account Number Parent Account E-mail Address	A Store (s A Store (s ABSS4G45 someone)	ample) n Dumitrascu (sample) G S L@example.com	Main Phone Other Phone Fax Web Site	555-0136
Adduct instance Adduct instance Copportunities Quotes Quotes Trivoices Aservice Content	Address Type Address Name Street 1 Street 2 Street 3	5009 Oran	▼	City State/Province ZIP/Postal Code Country/Region Phone	Renton TX 20175 U.S.
Cases Contracts Marketing Campaigns Marketing Lists Processes Control Vorthows Dialog Sessions	Shipping Method Description		•	Freight Terms	



Figure 5.33 shows that with a list view open, the user can select several records in the list, click Share in the ribbon, and choose the Sharing options.



<u>By the</u> Way

A Hidden Option

Share reassigned records with original user?

A system setting determines whether records are shared back to the original owner when they are reassigned. What this means is that you give the record to another user but retain full rights to make changes to that record, *or* on reassign you give up all rights.

If your CRM environment is locked down so that users can see only their own records, this might be a useful feature; otherwise, the user who created the record (or previously owned it) might lose access to it.



Owner Sees Everything

The "owner" of a parent record will always see every child-related record.

If your security model is set up such that salespeople cannot see the opportunities of others, you need to be mindful of sharing. For example, say that John is the owner of an account, and he shares the account with Mary. Usually, if Mary adds an opportunity, John would not see it. However, if she adds the opportunity to the account that John owns, John will see that opportunity.

FIGURE 5.33

ple records.

Sharing multi-

Teams

A team is a group of users (for example, National Accounts Team, Customer Service Team, Southern Branch). A team can be designated as the owner of a record and therefore may have a security role assigned to it. (If you do not assign a security role to a team, records will not be able to be assigned to that team for ownership.) By giving a team a security role, you can establish rules about what record types a team can own.

Teams can also facilitate sharing. When a user shares a record, it is an explicit action associated with a specified user. (For example, a user shares a record with a named coworker.) In some situations, users might have to share a record with several users, and this can be laborious for the users. A feature of sharing is that instead of sharing a record with a named user, you can elect to share the record with a team.

The key benefit of this approach is that if a new employee joins the organization, as soon as you add the new employee to the team, he or she is automatically shared with all the records that the team has been granted access to or owns. Similarly, if a user is taken out of a team, that user's right to access those shared records is removed.

A user can be a member of several teams.

CRM will automatically create a team for each business unit created. When new users are created, they are automatically enrolled as members of the team associated with the business unit to which they belong. For organizations that prefer records to be owned by elements of the business (for example, branch, office, division, subsidiary) rather than being owned by individuals, the core record structures are already in place to facilitate that through the business unit/team/user relationships.

Defining and maintaining teams is a straightforward process. Team definitions are accessed via the Administration interface from the Settings menu.

Figure 5.34 shows a list of existing teams. On this screen, you can click the New button in the ribbon to create a new team (see Figure 5.35).



A list of existing teams.





File Team Customize	<u>///</u> 1	Microsoft Dynamics CRM		CRM Administrator 🥹 AUTechEd2011 🔗
Save & New Save & Save & New Save & Close Save	Reassign Manage Change Business Actions	Connect - Collaborate	Run Workflow Dialog Process Data	-
Information	Seam New			Teams 💌 🚖 🕸
Related	• General Team Name * Administrator * Description	Sales Team	Business Unit * Default Queue	

You can manage team members from the team record. You can add and remove users (see Figure 5.36).



FIGURE 5.36 Managing team members.

Field Security

Through security roles, you can effectively control access to records. Sometimes this is not enough; some organizations also require the capability to lock, or protect, certain fields in a record. This can be implemented via field security.

Whenever a new field is created in CRM, you have the option to mark it as a field that requires additional security. When implemented, the field is displayed on a form with a key symbol next to it, to provide visual recognition that field security is applied to it and that some users may not be able to see the contents of the field. Where a field with security is designated and the user does not have access to the contents, CRM will automatically replace the real characters with black dots (see Figure 5.37).

At present, shipped fields in CRM cannot be marked with field security. So if you need a shipped field to have field security associated with it, you should elect not to use the Shipped field, remove it from the form, and add your own custom field in its place. FIGURE 5.37 A field with a security designation where the user cannot see the contents of the field.

Lemin Preference Method of Context Someone a@example.com someone_a@example.com Any Image: CRM Administrator sinceral Business Phone S55.0156 sinceral Home Phone Image: Creative State St	Email		Preferred Methor	t of Contact	Owper	
ieneral Jutation I Jutatio I Juta	someone_a@	≱example.com	Any	of Contact	S CRM Administrator	
alutation I Business Phone 555-0156 rst Name * Adrian Home Phone Iiddle Name Mobile Phone Iiddle Name Mobile Phone Iiddle Name Mobile Phone Iiddle Name Email somrone a@example.com arent Customer Astore (sample) I Secure Field Example Iddress Iddress Type C City Redmond Iddress State/Province WA Ireet 1 249 Alexander PI, ZIP/Postal Code 86372 reet 2 Country/Region U.S. reet 3 Phone Iiddle IIdd IIddo	General					
rst Name * Adrian Home Phone Mobile Phone Mobile Phone Mobile Phone Mobile Phone Fax Secure Field Example Comment a Sexample.com Secure Field Example Secure Field Example City Redmond State/Province WA Secure Field Example State/Province WA Secure Field Example City Redmond State/Province Secure Field Example State/Province WA Secure Field Example Secure Secur	Salutation	[Business Phone	555-0156	
iiddle Name Mobile Phone Aprice State (sample) Fax	First Name +	Adrian		Home Phone		
st Name * Dumitroscu (sample) Fax bb Title Purchasing Assistant E-mail someone a@example.com seent Customer Address ddress Type City Redmond ddress Name State/Province WA reet 1 249 Alexander PI. ZIP/Postal Code 86372 reet 2 Country/Region U.S. reet 3 Phone eight Terms Shipping Method escription	Middle Name			Mobile Phone		
bb Title Purchasing Assistant E-mail someone a@example.com arent Customer	Last Name *	Dumitrascu (sample)		Fax		_
arent Customer Adress ddress ddress Type ddress Type City Redmond State/Province WA ddress Name State/Province State/Province State/Province State/Province WA B6372 country/Region U.S., reet 3 Phone escription Shipping Method State/Province Shipping Method State/Province Shipping Method Shipping Meth	Job Title	Purchasing Assistant		E-mail	someone a@example.com	
Adress Secure Field Example ddress Type City Redmond ddress Name State/Province WA mail of the secure field Example mail of the secure field Exam	Parent Customer	A Store (sample)		Secure Field Example		
ddress Type City Redmond ddress Name State/Province WA sreet 1 249 Alexander PI. ZIP/Postal Code 86372 sreet 2 Country/Region U.S. reet 3 Phone	Address			¥	Secure Field Example	
ddress Name State/Province WA sreet 1 249 Alexander PI. ZIP/Postal Code 86372 sreet 2 Country/Region U.S. reet 3 Phone sight Terms Shipping Method secription	Address Type		•	City	Redmond	
reet 1 249 Alexander PI. ZIP/Postal Code 86372 reet 2 Country/Region U.S. reet 3 Phone elght Terms Shipping Method escription	Address Name			State/Province	WA	_
rret 2 Country/Region U.S. rret 3 Phone escription escription	Street 1	249 Alexander Pl.		ZIP/Postal Code	86372	
reet 3 Phone elight Terms Shipping Method escription	Street 2			Country/Region	U.S.	
elght Terms Shipping Method escription	Street 3			Phone		
escription	Freight Terms		•	Shipping Method		,
	Description					
	Description					

To control who has access to fields with security, you have to create one or more field security profile(s). Within a profile you can include one or more individual fields that have security applied to them. For each field, you include in the profile what a user with that profile can do with that field. For example, if the field is empty, can users create? If it contains data, can they edit? Can they only read? This approach provides flexibility in management of the secure fields so that you can easily grant users the ability to do all, some, or none of these actions, as required.

From the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Administration page, you can access Field Security Profiles. Figure 5.38 shows a list of existing profiles.

From the list view you can click the New button in the ribbon to create a new field security profile (see Figure 5.39).

ed			
Field Security Profiles			
💫 New 🛛 🎒 🕱 🗙 More	Actions -		
Name A	Modified On 21,07/2011 10:57 PM	Description System Administrator	
	New 3 K X More	Field Security Profiles New Image: Security Profiles Name ← Modified On Name ← Modified On System Administrator 21/07/2011 10:57 PM	Field Security Profiles New



Tile and and and			• B-4
Field Security Profile	e: New Field Security Pr	ofile	Working on solution: Default Solution
nformation	- General		
Veneral	Name *	New Field Security Profile	
Related	Description		
Members: Steams Users			
Common E Field Permissions ≩ Audit History			
tabur Felating			



After you have created the profile, select Field Permissions in the left navigation pane. By default, every field marked with Field Security will appear in the list (as shown in Figure 5.40), with the Read, Update, and Create permissions for each set to No. 114



You can select each required field from the list of fields, and you can click the Edit button on the toolbar to change the permissions (see Figure 5.41).

FIGURE 5.41 Modifying field	Edit Field Security Webpage Dialog Https://auteched2011.crm5.dynamics.com/_g	rid/cmds/dlg_editfieldpermissi
permissions.	Edit Field Security Change permission for the selected fields	
	Allow Read Users can view this field	No
	Allow Update Users can change the information in this field	No 👻
	Allow Create Users can add information to this field when the record is created	No 🔻
	Help https://a 🔮 Internet Protected Mode: On	OK Cancel

Once the profile has been created and all required field permissions set, the field security profile can be assigned to users individually and/or teams—whichever is more practical from an administrative perspective. Each of the options to assign the field security profile is available in the left navigation pane of the profile itself.

Workshop

Q&A

- Q. Why can't I assign a record to a team?
- A. Before a team can be assigned a record, it *must* have a Security role.
- **Q.** One of my users has been promoted, and I now need give him more access through his security role. What do I need to do?
- **A.** Open the user's record, and in the left navigation pane, click Roles. In the toolbar, click Manage Roles and choose the appropriate security role for the user. Remember that a user might have more than one security role.
- **Q.** I moved a user to a different business unit, and now she can't log in to the system. What did I do wrong?
- **A.** When a user changes from one business unit to another, his or her security roles are automatically removed. This happens so you can explicitly select the appropriate role to fit her responsibility into the new business unit. To log in to the system, a user must have a security role. Ensure that the new business unit's security role is properly established.

Q. One of my users left the organization, and I want to transfer all his records to the new person taking over his role. Can I do this in one procedure, or do I have to manually reassign each record?

A. Records can be "assigned" individually or in bulk. On individual records, you can simply use the Assign option or just change the Owner attribute on the record itself. You can change bulk records by selecting multiple records in a list and choosing the Assign option in the ribbon. Transferring every record of one user to another is an option taken from the Actions menu when you have opened the user's record; you just have to enter the new user to whom all the records will be reassigned.

Q. I need to add a new user, but I have run out of Microsoft Dynamics CRM licenses. I have a user in the system who recently left. How can I reuse her license?

A. Navigate the list of users in the Administration section from the Settings menu. Select the users who have left the organization and, from the ribbon, choose

Disable. Doing so disables the users so that they will no longer be permitted to access the system, and it also frees up their licenses for reuse.

- Q. We have a new employee, and she is going to be doing both sales and marketing. Which security role do I give her: Salesperson or Marketing Professional?
- **A.** You can give her both roles. A user can be assigned multiple security roles where it makes sense to do so. If there are conflicts in security privileges between the assigned roles, a "least restrictive" rule applies. For example, if one role stipulates that a user cannot do something, and the other says he can, he will be permitted to perform the action.
- **Q.** I sometimes use temporary staff to do telesales. I have given them the Salesperson security role so that they can access the sales-related information. Because they are temporary staff, however, I don't want them to be able to export to Excel. Is there a way to achieve this?
- **A.** This is a great example of where a new security role could be created to achieve this business requirement. Navigate to the list of security roles from the Administration section from the Settings menu. Highlight the Salesperson security role, click the More Actions button in the toolbar, and select Copy Role. Enter the desired name for the new role (perhaps Telesales Temp Staff). When the new role opens, click the Business Management tab. Locate the Export to Excel privilege on the right side of the lower half of the screen; click the green dot, and it will change to a red circle (signifying None). Save and close the new security role. Any users who now have this security role assigned to them will not see the Excel button on any screen.

Q. I have created a "personal view" of all the opportunities in my pipeline, and now a colleague also wants to use it. Can this be done automatically, or does my colleague have to set it up himself?

A. From the Advanced Find screen (where personal views are created), click the Saved Views button in the ribbon and then select the Share button. The view can now be shared with other users or teams.

Quiz

- **1.** Which of the shipped security roles permit users to see almost every record in the system and delete any records for which they are marked as the owner?
- **2.** How do you regain the license from a user who leaves your organization to make it available for another to use?
- **3.** How do you display a list of which users have been assigned which security roles?

Answers

- 1. Only the System Customizer has reduced access to core customer related records. While seeing everything in the system is not a big issue, it is worth-while reviewing what you will allow users to delete. Consider the scenario in which a disgruntled employee decides to leave your organization; you probably don't want that person going through the system, deleting all their records. It is a better practice to get users to use the native feature of deactivating a record if it is no longer current/active rather than deleting records.
- **2.** So that any history is maintained for your business, a user cannot be deleted from the system. However, you can disable a user via the Actions menu on the user record. When you disable a user, his or her license is released back into the available pool of licenses.
- **3.** Unfortunately, no predefined feature provides this information. However, by using the Report Wizard, you can build the report easily. When you run the Report Wizard, make sure you select Roles as the primary record type and Users as the related record type.

Exercise

Let's look at a scenario of how you might need to control access to data and how you could implement that through the Microsoft Dynamics CRM security model.

Scenario

NYZ Company, a company based in San Francisco with sales offices in Seattle, New York, and Atlanta, has an Eastern sales manager based in New York and a Western sales manager based in San Francisco. Both can see all the opportunities of their respective regions but not nationally. They also have a marketing manager who is based in Atlanta and needs access to everything. The sales teams in each office is permitted to see the sales opportunities within their own office (so that the teams are not stepping on each other's toes), but a team is not allowed to see the sales opportunities in the other offices.

Possible Solution

To segregate the data between what the sales managers can see and what each salesperson can see, we need to establish a business unit hierarchy. Therefore, we have opted to create four additional business units under the default one, as shown in Figure 5.42. Hierarchically, we have also placed Seattle and Atlanta under San Francisco and New York, respectively; this is because we need the sales managers to be able to cascade down their respective branches of the hierarchy.

FIGURE 5.42 Possible solution for business unit hierarchy.



In this model, the sales staff will be assigned to each business unit related to where they work. Each will be given an appropriate security role; in particular, their roles must stipulate that they have Business Unit privilege for opportunities (so that they can only see any opportunities in their own business units).

The Eastern and Western sales managers will be assigned to the New York and San Francisco business units, respectively. They will also be assigned appropriate security roles; but in their cases, we must make sure that they have Parent Child Business Unit privilege for opportunities (to ensure that they can see all the opportunities in the business unit to which they belong as well as the opportunities in the business units below them). The marketing manager could be placed in the Atlanta business unit (where he physically resides), or he could be placed in the top-level business unit (perhaps representing his position within the organization). The key here is that we must give him the appropriate privilege, depending on where we place him. If he is placed in the Atlanta business unit, he must have Organization privilege for opportunities, which allows global access to all opportunities in the system (because he will need to look up the organizational hierarchy as well as across it). If he is placed in the top-level business unit, he could be assigned the Organization or Parent Child Business Unit privilege for opportunities (because here, he really only needs to look down the hierarchy).

This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 6

Managing Leads

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- ► A little history
- What data to capture and the import process
- Distributing leads
- A deeper look at leads
- ▶ From lead to account: conversion

Managing sales leads is the beginning of a sales process and one core reason for using a CRM application. In this hour, we dive into the world of leads and the meaning of leads in the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Be patient for the first part of this hour is going to look at taking an outside list of leads (such as a list you might get from a trade show) and pulling this list of leads into Dynamics CRM. In general a lead is a person who is considered to be an unqualified prospect—as in sales has not talked to this person or they have had just a brief conversation. A lead has the potential to become a new customer, but this potential has not been qualified.

A Little History

As mentioned, a lead is an unqualified contact or person who is usually associated with a company. This unqualified contact can come from a number of places, including a business card, a purchased list, a referral, a trade show, a seminar, or a random phone call. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM, there is a special place in the system for these unqualified contacts (leads). There are two core reasons for the separation between qualified and unqualified contacts. The first is that many companies purchase large lists of contacts, and it is generally good practice not to put a huge list of unqualified contacts in with your nice clean qualified data. There is definitely something to be said for not having to sort through 50,000 extra Lead entity records when trying to run a sales funnel report.

The second reason is that Microsoft Dynamics CRM takes a multilayered approach to the tracking of everything that happens around relationships, and yet when data is collected from many other places and systems, it tends to be rather flat (or *normalized*, for you database gurus). Flat relates to a very small set of data that can all be captured in a small set of fields. This differs from a more hierarchical approach. The Leads entity of Microsoft Dynamics CRM allows for a flat company contact record to be converted to a more robust structure, including Account, Contact, and Opportunity entities, and all the associated activities, history, connections (a.k.a. roles and relationships), and notes.

One common way to create Lead entities is to import them from a purchased or an acquired list. If you are using Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, you can also tap into the offered third-party Internet lead capture functionality, or perhaps when you rolled out Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises or Online you added one of the advanced marketing options. The functionality to import leads into Microsoft Dynamics CRM is robust and an area of potential confusion, and yet given how often it is used, we take a good piece of this lesson to talk about importing new data into the Leads area of Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Importing New Leads

The Import from Microsoft feature includes the ability to import from an XML-formatted spreadsheet (*.xml), a text file (.txt), a common separated text file (*.csv), and a compressed version of any of these (*.zip), but the easiest and most accurate way to work with import is to start by populating a template for data import. To do this, you select Templates for Data Import from the CRM Settings menu, under Data Management.

The template can be used to enter and upload bulk data for a particular entity via an XMLSS format. In addition to creating blank templates, you can bulk export the existing data for an entity into the XLMSS format from the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Database. Once you export the data, you can make changes and updates to the existing records or add additional records to the file and then import it back into Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

There is a template available for almost all entities within Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, as shown in Figure 6.1.

One example of a template for import is an Excel spreadsheet that has predefined columns for name, address, and telephone. Users who use this template then simply add their data to the Excel spreadsheet in the order in which Dynamics CRM expects it and then use this template to pull data into the Leads entity.

A Constant Store and Store and Store and	untran Imain a	44	×
Favorites 😪 🚹 Suggested Site	s • 🐮 Web	Sice Galery •	
Data Management - Microsoft Dynam	ICS ORM		😭 • 🔯 - 🖃 🖮 • Page • Safety • Tools • 🎲 •
File Home		Aid Microsoft Dynamics CRM	First name Last name 😨 Contoso 🔺
🔰 🛅 📝 🙈			
New New Import Advanced tivity - Record - Data Find	1	C Templates for Data Import - Windows Internet Explorer	
iettings 🔯 🙀 🛛	ata Man	Templates for Data Import	
Business bus	What work	Select the record type for which templete is needed: Account Docume Location Document Location Tarathy Topument Tarathy Tarathy Topument Tarathy Topument Tarathy Tarat	ction Rules publish duplicate detection nules. Jetion Satettion jobs. with estatus of imports in progress. 200% 300% Satettion jobs.



FIGURE 6.2 Lead template for data import.

An imported XML-formatted spreadsheet can	be used as a basis	for importing leads,
as shown in Figure 6.2.		

Home Insert Page Layout Formulas Data Review View Add-ins Team Calibri 10 A a a a a a a a a a a a a b c D c a a b c b a a b c b a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a <	x
Calibri + 10 A A B C F Galdational formation - 10 F Calibri - 10 F F Calibri - 10 <t< th=""><th>a 8</th></t<>	a 8
C2 C F G H I A B C D E F G H I I Topic Salutation First Name Last Name Job Title Company Name Web Site E-mail Business Phone H 3 Image: Salutation Image: Salut	¢,
A B C D E F G H I 1 Topic Salutation First Name Lob Title Company Name Web Site E-mail Business Phone H 3 Image: Company Name Web Site E-mail Business Phone H 3 Image: Company Name Web Site E-mail Business Phone H 4 Image: Company Name Web Site E-mail Business Phone H 5 Image: Company Name Web Site E-mail Business Phone H 6 Image: Company Name Web Site E-mail Business Phone H 6 Image: Company Name Web Site E-mail Business Phone H 6 Image: Company Name Image: Company Name Web Site Image: Company Name Image: Company Name 7 Image: Company Name Image: Company Name<	*
Image: Data Type: Text. Data Type: Text. Maximum Length: S0 Maxi	1 *
3 Data Type: Text. Maximum Length: 50 5 characters. 6	me P
Data Type: Text. 5 Characters. 6	
S characters. 6	
6	
7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19	
8 9 9 9 10 9 11 9 12 9 13 9 14 9 15 9 16 9 17 18 19 9	
9	
10 10 12 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19	
11 11 12 13 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14	
12 13 13 14 15 15 16 17 17 18 16 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 18 17 17 17 18 17 17 17 18 17 17 17 18 17 17 17 18 17 17 17 17 17 18 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17	-
13 14 15 15 16 17 18 19	
14 15 16 17 18 19	
16 17 18 19	
17 18 19	-
18	
19	
20	
21	
27	
	- (F

If you have recently purchased a list of leads from an external source, you can take advantage of a Microsoft Dynamics CRM tool that imports data from any file that is formatted as a comma-separated-value file. You will see people refer to this type of file as a "CSV" file, but the general gist is that all values in the file are separated by commas, and the set of data ends with a carriage return. The system and wizards can therefore understand where one piece of data ends and the next begins, as well as when one record of information ends and another begins. This file is also an industry standard, so if you purchase data from another company or if you get a list of leads from a trade show, you will most likely be getting that list in either Microsoft Excel or CSV file format. In addition, you can save any Excel file as a CSV file. If you use a field separator in your data, such as the comma in "Smith, Smith and Jones LLP," you must also enclose the field in a data delimiter, such as double quotes. The following example shows what a few lines of a CSV file might look like:

Name, Topic, Phone Number

John Doe, Interested in large purchase, 425-111-1111 "Smith, Smith and Jones LLP", Dropped by booth, 425-333-2222

Figure 6.3 shows that the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Data Import Wizard lets you choose what separators are used in your CSV file.

Bardam File United	C		a	Halo
Review File Opload	Summary		e	Teib
The following data will b	oe imported into Microsoft Dynamics	CRM.		
i file uploaded.				
File Name	Size			
Leads.csv	1 KB			
Delimiter Setting	5			
Select the field and data will be applied to all file	delimiters. If there is more than one s that you want to import.	file, these delimiter	rs	
Field delimiter:	Comma (,)			
Data delimiter:	Quotation mark (~)		•	
First row contains o	olumn beadings			
The first four contains c	oldini neddings			
	[Back	Next Canc	el

FIGURE 6.3 Choosing data separators. The other key item that you want to be careful of when preparing or reviewing your data for import is that the system cannot always digest special characters. For instance, @, #, &, and * often have other meanings to computer software, and if they are embedded in your data, they can cause the system to choke. International characters can have the same effect. Microsoft Dynamics CRM will check for characters that are not agreeable and will not upload data that does not fit.

What Data to Capture and the Import Process

There are a number of different drivers for putting data into Microsoft Dynamics CRM. These may range from entering basic contact information to logging specific areas of interest or market sector information. Among the benefits of importing data (either individual contacts or businesses) into the Lead entity is the ability to easily qualify and convert a Lead entity to a Contact entity or Account entity, with all the associated relationship information. Entering this information manually as Contact entities and Lead entities entails creating individual records for both and associating them as primary contact and parent account. We will cover this qualification and conversion process later in this hour.

As an example of when to import leads into the Microsoft Dynamics CRM system, imagine the need to import data after a trade show or when a list of potential leads has been purchased and the interest list can go on. There is often a need to import data when a new staff person is hired or when a merger or an acquisition occurs. With each need and interest, it is important to consider which tool to use to import data because each tool offers different advantages.

The Data Import Wizard: Data Mapping

The Data Import Wizard enables end users to map Microsoft Dynamics CRM data fields to fields represented in the import file. For instance, if you know that the first field in your import file is Company Name (because the first column in your Excel spreadsheet is Company Name), your map would associate the first field in the import file to the company name in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Figure 6.4 illustrates this.

Another consideration is where in Microsoft Dynamics CRM do you want to import this data? There are numerous choices, but for this discussion, you are importing this data into Lead entities. You are actually mapping Company Name in your import file to Company Name in the Leads entity, as you saw previously.



Let's look at a data mapping from the Data Import Wizard by following a process of importing a CSV file that contains two leads into the Leads entity in Microsoft **Dynamics CRM:**

- **1.** From the Leads Records entity, select the Import Data drop-down.
- 2. Choose Import Data. You now see the import screen shown in Figure 6.5.

Import Data Wizard Webpage Dialog	2
Jpload Data File	
Select a data file to import into Microsoft Dynamics CRM.	
Data filo anmo	1
Browse	
Supported file types: XML Spreadsheet 2003 (.xml), .csv, .txt, and .zip	
	Next Cancel
://cmvm:5555/Contoso/WebWizard/Wiza	



Starting a data import.

FIGURE 6.4

- **3.** Tell the system the name of your import file and where it is located. The next screen confirms the file chosen and allows you to set how the data is delimited. Is the data separated by only commas or by commas and quotes? Are the quotes single quotes or double quotes? This screen also allows you to define the first row in your CSV file as the column headings row—and this is vital for the next stage of mapping.
- **4.** You then proceed to the next screen (see Figure 6.6). This screen allows you to choose predefined mapping for import or automatic. In this case, choose Default (Automatic Mapping) and click Next.

Import Data wizard webpage Dialog	
elect Data Map	🙆 Hel
iefore you data can be imported, it must be mapped to the data in Microso ystem map your data automatically, or you can select a data map to specify	oft Dynamics CRM. You can let the y how your data will be imported.
System Data Maps	
For Generic Contact and Account Data	
Data Maps for Salesforce.com	
For Contact and Account Report Export	
For Report Export	
Data Maps for Microsoft Outlook Business Contact Manager	
For BCM 2010	
Back	Next Cancel

FIGURE 6.6 Selecting a data map.

- **5.** Choose Leads for the record type to import to (see Figure 6.7).
- **6.** Map the fields as shown in Figure 6.8. Essentially, this stage involves bringing together the two parts of the import—the CSV file and the Lead Entity record in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Figure 6.8 shows the source columns from the CSV file and the CRM fields, some of which are already mapped! If the Source Data columns are identical to CRM fields, the import process automatically maps them.

Full Name

Notice that Full Name has been ignored. The source CSV file had a column containing the full name of the lead, along with columns for first name and last name. The lead record in Microsoft Dynamics CRM only contains these options, so you can safely ignore this column. FIGURE 6.7 Selecting a map record type.

ыh	Record Types	@ E
/ap	the source data files to the target I	Microsoft Dynamics CRM record types. If a source file cannot be mapp
o ar	n existing record type, you can creat	te a new record type or choose to skip importing the data.
Ine data tiles have been successfully mapped to the target Microsoft Dynamics CRM record types.		
	Source Data Files	Microsoft Dynamics CRM Record Types
1	Leads	Lead 🗾

FIGURE 6.8 Mapping fields.

🖞 Map the unmapped f	ields, and then continue.			
M Record Types	Source Fields	CRM Fields	Show All	
Lead	Required Fields			
	Company Name	Company Name		
	Last Name 💌	Last Name		
	Topic	Topic		
	Optional Fields			
	First Name	First Na	ame	
	Full Name	👃 🛛 Not Ma	pped	
	Phone Number	👃 🛛 Not Ma	pped	
	Source	🚹 Not Ma	pped	

7. In Figure 6.9, map a piece of data called source in the data file to the Lead attribute (field) source, via a drop-down list. If the data does not exactly match items in the list, you must tell the system how the data in the source field maps to items in the source drop-down list attribute in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

🏦 Map the unmapped fi	ields, and then continue.				
RM Record Types	Source Fields	CRM Fields	Show All		
1 Lead	Required Fields				
	Company Name	Compan	y Name		
	Last Name 👻	Last Name			
	Topic	Topic			
	Optional Fields				
	First Name	First Na	me		
	Full Name	Ignore			
	Phone Number	Business Phone	is Phone		
	Source	🔥 Lead Sc	urce (Option Set)		
	Option Set mapping for field Sou	JICE COM Online	Mahuan		
	Trade Show	Trade Show			
		ОК	Cancel		



- 8. Review the mapping and edit the mappings as needed.
- 9. Tell the system who will be assigned as the owner of the lead after data is imported and whether duplicate records should be included (see Figure 6.10). Note that almost every core record within Microsoft Dynamics CRM has an owner. This owner could possibly be a specific user or the system, depending on the type of entity. With regard to leads, the owner is a specific Microsoft Dynamics CRM user.
- **10.** Save this map for future use. Call this map Trade Show Map because this might be the sort of data you import on a regular basis after trade shows.

You can view the import process results by navigating to Imports (see Figure 6.11). Figure 6.12 and Figure 6.13 show how the import process appears when completed.
FIGURE 6.10 Assign leads and check for duplicates.

Review Settings and Import Data		@ H
Review the default settings, make the neo	essary changes and submit the data for import.	
Allow Duplicates		
@ No		
C Yes		
Duplicate records will be determined bas in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.	ed on the duplicate detection settings	
Select Owner for Imported Records		
S First name Last name		
This user will own the imported records in information or if the records cannot be a	f the records do not contain owner ssigned to the specified owners.	
Data Map Name (optional)		
Trade Show Map		
Save this data map for future imports.		

Hicrosoft Dynamics CRM - W	indows Internet Explorer					10
🕒 🕤 💌 🚧 http://armvm:55	55/Contoso/main.aspx#		👻 🕂 🗶 💽	Bing		P
🍃 Favorites 🛛 🚔 🌄 Suggester	d Sites 🔹 🙋 Web Sice Gallery 🔹					
Microsoft Dynamics CRM			👌 • 🖸	- 🖂 👘 + P	age • Safety •	Tools • 🔞 •
File Home		All Microsoft Dynamics CRM			First na	ne Last name Contoso
New New Tools	Anced					
workplace	Imports: My Imports -			1		
My Work	Import Name	Status Reason	Successes Partial Failure	s Errors	Total Proc	Created On -
Dashboards	E ads.csv	Completed	2	0 0	0 2	7/3/2011 9:32
Calendar	Sample Data Campaign	Completed	8	0 0	0 8	4/5/2011 3:45
imports	Sample Data Case	Completed	28	0 0	0 28	4/5/2011 3:45
Duplicate Detection	Sample Data Contact	Completed	14	0 0	0 14	4/5/2011 3:45
dueues	Sample Data Lead	Completed	10	0 0	0 10	4/5/2011 3:45
Articles	Sample Data Opportunity	Completed	15	0 0	0 15	4/5/2011 3:45
Reports	Sample Data Phone Call	Completed	10	0 0	0 10	4/5/2011 3:4
Announcements	Sample Data Subject	Completed	2	0 0	0 2	4/5/2011 3:45
- Customers	Sample Data Task	Completed	14	0 0	0 14	4/5/2011 3:45
S Contacts	Sample Data Goal	Completed	4	0 0	0 4	4/5/2011 3:45
	Sample Data Article	Completed	4	0 0	0 4	4/5/2011 3:45
Workplace	Sample Data Account	Completed	14	0 0	0 14	4/5/2011 3:45
1 Sales						
Marketing						
Service	171					
Settings	1 12 412 0 414 0					M. A. Physics 1
	T = TS OR TS IN REJECTED					re e rage1

You can also display the new records as a list of new leads, as shown in Figure 6.12. Figure 6.13 shows the data that was entered into Microsoft Excel and how it looks in the Leads view.

FIGURE 6.11 System messages: Import.



FIGURE 6.12 Leads: Import completed.

You can also select a specific lead and drill down into the details, change the details, or add to the details that were uploaded. After leads are imported, the sales process usually goes through a qualification process. After a lead is qualified, the Lead entity is converted to an Account entity.

FIGURE 6.13 Original data in Excel 2007: Leads to import.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM can also automate the process described here, using the features and functionality of the Microsoft Windows Workflow Foundation (WWF). Hour 16, "Workflows: Creating Simple Workflows," focuses on creating simple workflows, but it is worth mentioning here that the system can be designed to automatically kick off an automated sales process when a Lead entity is converted or when an Opportunity entity is created.

Distributing Leads

When a lead is entered into the system, core information can be used to distribute this lead to the appropriate salesperson. Microsoft Dynamics CRM can be configured with business rules using workflow functionality that kicks in when a lead is created. For instance, if a lead has a zip code that begins with a specific set of numbers, a workflow rule can automatically change the sales territory or owner of that new Lead entity to the appropriate sales territory or salesperson. Another example might be if a lead also includes the industry the lead is part of. In this case, you might have salespeople focused on managing leads for each industry.

Figure 6.14 shows an example of a simple workflow set up to associate all leads with a zip code starting with 05 to a specific salesperson.

When you get to Hour 16, remember this example. The concept of changing the owner and sales territory of Lead entities when they are created is a great workflow to start practicing with.

Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Constant Const	General Administration Notes T Hide Process Properties	Working on solution: Default Sol
	Process Name * Assign Lead Activate As Process x Available to Bun I A can on-demand process I As a child process	Entity Let d Category Woundfour Options for Automatic Processes Scope User Start where: P Record is craited Record status changes Record is a saigned Record is a saigned Record is deleted
	Type a step description here.	
	F (ced.2PPbuild Code brown with DS), then: © Type a step decorption here. Assign: [cead] to § Enting	ane Laito 🖓 🗔 Set Properties



A Deeper Look at Leads

After a lead is imported, the details can be fine-tuned and changed. Figure 6.15 shows the General section of a Lead entity. Before any configuration, the Lead form is made up of four sections: General, Detail, Notes & Activities, and Preferences. You can also add more sections, remove sections, or add more data fields to existing or new sections. There is also a section at the top of the form called the header that can contain a summary of information from other areas of the Lead entity for quick reference.

Lead: David Smith - Hicrosof	t Dynamics CRM - Wind	ows Internet Explore								_5
			Microsoft Dyna	mics CRM				First nam	e Last n	sme 🧐
File Lead Add Cust	omize								Cont	050 A
Save & Save & New X Delete	Qualify Add to Mark	eting Connect Assign	Sharing +	Run Workflow	Start Dialog	Run Report -				
Save	Actions	Collaborate		Proce	155	Data				
Information	David S	mith						Leads	•	\$ \$
Details Notes & Activities Preferences	Lead Source Trade Shov	v	Rati Wa	ng rm			Owner	ame Last name		
Related	* General									^
Common Activities Connections Connections Connections Augit History Marketing Marketing Lists Compagins Processes Connections Marketing Dialog Sessions	Topic * Salutation First Name * Last Name * Job Title Company Name * Web Site E-mail Address	Need for Service of David Smith Smith and Jones I	LP		Busin Hom Mobi Fax Othe Page	ness Phone e Phone lie Phone r Phone r	425-333-2222			
	Street 1 Street 2 Street 3 City Status	0pen			State ZIP/P Cour	/Province lostal Code http:/Region				

FIGURE 6.15 The General section of a Lead entity.

Let's discuss four fields on the Lead entity: Topic, Currency, Rating, and Details.

If you are looking at a long list of many leads, the Topic field helps distinguish two leads with exactly the same information. For instance, you might have two leads with different contacts, but perhaps they work in the same company. The Topic field can be renamed through system customization; however, it cannot be removed. Given that the Topic field is a required system field, some consideration is needed to decide how your company wants to use Topic. Some examples for Topic include where the lead came from, how the lead is categorized, and to what division the lead is assigned.

The next field worthy of discussion is the Currency field. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you can assign different currency to different Leads. This enables a global corporation to track local leads in the currency of the country where the lead is being worked. Currency also impacts other entities in the system that are associated with money, such as Opportunity, Quotes, Orders, and Invoices. When setting up system

configuration within Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you can enter a currency-conversion rate table. The currency-conversion rate table does not automatically update, but it can be manually changed as needed.

The Rating field on the Lead entity has a drop-down that contains the options Hot, Warm, and Cold. The value on this field maps to the Opportunity entity during the conversion process. This rating helps a salesperson prioritize leads when making decisions regarding which lead to call first to qualify and flows through as an indicator on the Opportunity entity to offset the core sales funnel analysis fields, such as estimated close date, sales stage, and percent probability. If a lead or an opportunity is cold and the estimated close date is within a couple weeks or days, the sales manager might want to have an offline discussion with the salesperson.

Finally, there's the Details field. It is tempting to use the Details field for notes; however, the field is limited in size. The best use of the Details field is for a brief profile of the company with which the lead is associated. This profile might be a cut and paste from the company's website, or it might just be local knowledge. Figure 6.16 offers an example of the Details section of a Lead entity.



Notice that, in the Details section, the last field displayed is the Source field. This field is very important if you want to analyze where your leads came from. We recommend you move this field to the General tab and set it as required.

The next section we are going to look at is the Preferences section, shown in Figure 6.17.



								-
File Lead Add Cust	omize	-	Microsoft Dynamics CRM			First name	Contoso	0
Save & New X Delete	Qualify Add to Marke	ting Connect Assign	Sharing - Copy a Link E-mail a Link Workflow	Start Report.				
29/6	Actions	Collaborate	PTOCE	ss Data				_
Information General	David Sn	nith				Leads	• 2	•
- Details - Notes & Activities - Preferences	Lead Source Trade Show		Rating Warm		Ow S	ner First name Last name		
Related	• Preferences							-
Common	Owner*	E First name Last na	ne 🖂	Status Reason	New		•	
Closed Activities	Preferred	Any						
Documents Audit History	E-mail	C Allow C Do Not	Allow	Bulk E-mail	@ Allow	C Do Not Allow		
Marketing	Phone	@ Allow C Do Not	Allow	Fax	Allow	C Do Not Allow		
Campaigns	Mail	@ Allow C Do Not	Allow					
Processes	Marketing Infor	mation						
G Workflows	Source Campaign			Last Date Included in Campaign			175 V	
	Materials	≪ send C Do Not	send					
	Change -							

FIGURE 6.17

The Preferences section of a Lead entity.

The fields in the Preferences section document business process compliance when in the qualifying stage—items such as whether the lead has requested that you do not call them but you are allowed to send them information via e-mail. This field can also document whether the lead should be flagged for a certain marketing campaign to heat them up a bit, or perhaps marketing materials have been sent to them and you want to flag and show the last campaign this lead was included in. In addition, if this lead was acquired through a new marketing campaign, the Preferences section displays what source campaign generated the lead.

Mapped Data

Activities and details on a Lead entity do not necessarily get copied to the Account or Opportunity entity during conversion. If you are going to be working on a Lead entity past the qualification phase, you should convert it so that your detailed activities, notes, and work are organized around the Account or Opportunity entity.

From Lead to Account: Conversion

Figure 6.18 shows the change from Lead entity to the more complex Account entity and related entities.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM has a conversion process that takes a flat Lead entity and expands it to the dimensions needed to track a complex company and sales process. A Lead entity can be converted into an Account entity, a Contact entity, or an Opportunity entity. You have the choice of converting a Lead entity to all three or



any combination of the three. Depending on the company, you might find that all three entities are used or that only one is used. Even within the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Community Discussion Forums, you will see many different debates on this subject.





Once a Lead entity is converted, a sales process can kick off, a salesperson can add more contacts, and any other numerous activities can be associated. With regard to the Opportunity entity, you are kicking off an Opportunity entity that tracks the dollar value of the potential sale and other key sales information; this entity lives in the sales funnel until it is closed and relegated to history as won or lost.

Figure 6.19 shows the choices you have when converting a Lead entity.

In Figures 6.20, 6.21, and 6.22, you can see the Account, Contact, and Opportunity records that created from the conversion process of the Lead entity in Figures 6.18 and 6.19.

Although Microsoft Dynamics CRM enables users to import leads and then convert Lead entities to Account, Contact, and Opportunity entities, the feature does not have to be used as part of your sales process. You can enter an Account entity, select Contact from the left navigation pane, and enter the Contact (which can autopopulate with Account entity details). Later, when you are ready, you can create an Opportunity entity to track the promised deal.

5	Qualify an	nd convert into the	following records	
	Status	Qualified		•
	- Acco	ount		
	Con	itact		
	C Opp	portunity		
	Pot	ential Customer		Q
	Cur	rrency	🥰 UK Pound Sterling	٩
	C Ope	en newly created red	cords	
	Disqualify	,		
	Status	Lost		*



Smith and Jones LLP - Microsoft Dynamics CRH - W _ # X soft Dv mics CRM First name Last name File Account Add Customize 0 Save & Detection & Save Collaborate Process Data Account Smith and Jones LLP Info ation General Primary Contact red Method of Contact Owner S First name Last name - Contact Any - Notes & Act Preferences Credit Limit Annual Revenue Related • Common
 More Addresses
 Achvites
 Cosed Achvites
 Sub Accounts
 Contacts
 Relationships
 Contacts
 Decuments
 Audit History * General Account Name* Smith and Jones LLP Main Phone 425-333-2222 Primary Contact B David Smith Other Phone Account Number Fax Parent Account Web Site No. of Employees E-mail ▲ Sales ② Opportunities ③ Quotes ③ Orders ③ Invoices No. of Employees Address Address Type . City ſ Address Name _ State/Prov Service
 Gases
 Contracts Street 1 ZIP/Postal Code Street 2 Country/Region ſ Ŧ Г Terre Status Active 4 Marketing Done 🔍 Local Intranet | Protected Mode: Off





The created contact. Notice that the Topic field and the Description field in the Opportunity entity are populated with data from the Lead entity.

FIGURE 6.22 The created Opportunity

entity.

First name Last name Add Cu Save & New Sharing -38 Ì 2 2 Copy a Link onnect Assign Save & Delete to Ma Run Start Run forkflow Dialog Report E-mail a Link Data -David Smith E-mail d Method of Contact Any & First name Last name General Salutation 425.333.2223 **Business** Pho 4 Com More Addresses First Name Da Activities Middle Name Mobile Phon Closed Activitie Sub-Contact Relationship Connections Last Name East Job Title E-mail Documents Audit Histor Smith Parent Cust **Primary Contac** Drop Dow . Sales Opp Address Quotes Orders . Address Type City Address N State/P Street 1 ZIP/Postal Code Cases Street 2 Country Re-T A Marketing List Local intranet | Protected Mode: Off · · · · 100% _ 7 X Microsoft Dynamics CRM First name Last name Contoso FILE Opportunity Add Customiz X Delete Sharing -20 20 5 3 Ì 8 2 Copy a Link Save & Close as Close as Recalculate Co Won Lost Opportunity Assign Run Start Run Workflow Dialog Report -E-mail a Link Opportunities 💌 🕸 🏺 Need for Service contract - General Line Ite Est. Reve Est. Close Date Notes & A Smith and Jones LLP Ouotes · General Need for Service of Smith and Jones LUF Potential Cus Activities
Closed Activitie
Relationships Description Connection Documents Sales Orders Forecast Int Revenue G System Calculated C User Provided Est. Revenue Probability 66 G Workflows

- 8 X

.

Ŧ

The Lead entity feature offers a few key benefits. The first is the ability to keep the long, long list of unqualified leads separate from your shorter list of qualified accounts of type Prospect. The second is that it offers some efficiency around creating new Account, Contact, and Opportunity entities. It also offers a flat normalized table for data import that is similar to a user's experience with Excel and allows for field matching with a commonsense approach. The third reason is that this qualification and conversion process yields vital information with regard to your business

Local Intranet | Protected Mode: Off

Est. Close D

Currency*

* Line Item:

Status

UK Pound Sterling

Open

process. It enables you to report on how many Lead entities were created and then qualified to Opportunity, Account, and Contact entities; what you find might, for example, indicate the benefit of a campaign.

Like many other Microsoft products, Microsoft Dynamics CRM gives you many choices when it comes to the business processes you decide to use.

It is important to note that while Lead entities can be seen as a temporary area to store potential sales, they should be treated with the same care as the more valuable Opportunity entities. For a sales manager, it is important that every lead coming into the company be processed and either qualified or disqualified. If a lead is disqualified, that the company should track the reason why it was disqualified so the next time a lead like this comes in, the sales team might be able to transform it into a win.

Workshop

Smith Incorporated is a company that sells manufacturing products to auto body shops around the world. On a regular basis, the marketing department at Smith Incorporated purchases lists of leads that include all the new auto body shops in the United States. The lists that it purchases are downloaded and are in text file format. The marketing department takes the list, opens it in Microsoft Excel, and adds a column labeled Source. It populates the Source column with the name of the list it purchased. The department also deletes one or two columns of the spreadsheet that contain data that it can immediately see is not of interest. When it finishes the review, the department saves the file as a CSV file and imports it into the Leads entity of Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

After the leads are imported, they are assigned to specific salespeople within Smith Incorporated, based on zip code. The salespeople schedule activities and start making their calls, or the built-in workflow system automatically creates a set of activities, prioritizing the calls based on the rate associated with each lead. When a salesperson completes a call, he or she completes the Phone Call activity and either schedules another call or converts the lead based on the conversation. When a lead is qualified through a phone call and a positive conversation with a contact, the Lead entity is converted to an Account, Contact, or Opportunity entity. If the Lead entity is disqualified through a conversation, the Lead entity is run through the conversion function, and it is closed as disqualified; the reason for disqualification is entered into the Lead entity.

New opportunities that are created kick off an automatic sales process, starting at the first sales stage, which has four associated activities: update estimated close date, probability percentage and rating, follow up with prospect by sending requested initial sales material, and confirm that the Lead received and reviewed the information

and is ready for an appointment. The goal of the first sales stage is to start the sales process and further qualify the lead. The second sales stage includes activities associated with meeting the prospect face to face.

Q&A

- Q. Is it necessary to use Lead entities? Or can we bypass that feature?
- **A.** You can bypass Lead entities, but you might want to add a Source field to either the account or contact to capture where your new accounts or contacts came from. Traditionally, Source is part of the Lead entity.
- Q. I uploaded a spreadsheet into a Leads entity incorrectly, and I now want to delete everything I uploaded. Is there an easy way to do this?
- **A.** Yes. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM, if you have the right security you can select the first lead and the last lead you want to delete and then click the black X.

Q. I did a data import, but all the data in my Excel spreadsheet is not in the Leads entity. What happened?

A. Microsoft Dynamics CRM keeps track of which leads were uploaded and which were failures. Under Imports in the left navigation pane, you can change your view to Completed Imports. Then you can double-click an import to choose it and show more details, including documented failures.

Q. We want our leads to be associated to a specific salesperson, depending on the state. Is this supported?

A. Yes. Microsoft Dynamics CRM supports this scenario by offering users the option to define workflow rules that can be applied after an import is completed.

Quiz

- **1.** What are the four fields on the General tab of a lead that are worth more consideration?
- 2. How do you use the Lead Topic field? What are some examples?
- 3. How does Lead rating relate to Opportunity rating?
- 4. Can data be imported into other record types?

- **5.** Why does the system support a lead and a prospect, and why are they different?
- 6. What are possible data separators?

Answers

- **1.** Topic, Currency, Rating, and Details are the four fields.
- **2.** The Lead Topic field is used to help classify different leads (for example, two leads from different contacts at the same company).
- **3.** The lead rating can map to the opportunity rating and can indicate how active, hot, or cold the lead is.
- **4.** Yes, data can be imported into a variety of record types, including Account, Contact, and Lead entities.
- **5.** A lead is an unqualified prospect. A prospect is a classification of a type of account and associated contacts. A lead is an entity.
- 6. Possible data separators are a comma or a comma and quotation marks.

Exercise

Create a data file using Microsoft Excel. Include the company name, contact name, contact address, telephone number, e-mail address, web page, and source. Save this file as a CSV file and import it into Microsoft Dynamics CRM. During the import, map each of your fields from your Excel file to fields within the Lead entity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Notice that you have to upload a sample data file and, if you have not added a header row to your Excel spreadsheet, the sample data file might be a bit tougher to map to the Lead entity. You might also notice that it is beneficial to have a first name column and a last name column in your data file because the Lead entity has the name split into three fields. For the Topic field, map the company name and the source. Notice that you can map two fields to create a merge effect.

After the leads are imported, check the system messages. Did all the leads get imported, or were there errors?

Now, open one of your new leads and populate a few more fields. Now try converting it to an Account entity, a Contact entity, and an Opportunity entity. What data gets moved during the conversion?

This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 7

The Account Entity in More Detail

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Entering data: the Account form
- Account data
- ▶ How the Account entity relates to a few other entities
- What the Account entity can impact
- How the Account entity can be redefined

In this hour, you will master the framework and architecture used throughout the application for data capture through the use of a data entry form. In addition, you will learn what pieces of the form offer options for more usability and what areas connect to related data.

Entering Data: The Account Form

Figure 7.1 shows the initial Account form. This is what you will see when you create a new Account.

The details on an Account form include common information, such as address and telephone numbers, and also some very specific industry or audience niche information. Figure 7.1 shows an example, but let's dive into more detail.

The Account form is built with a number of different building blocks, all of which offer different options. Forms such as the Account form appear in their own window, and you can open many forms at once. This ability to open many forms at once is a difference between Microsoft Dynamics CRM and other CRM systems. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you can be working on many of the same entities or a combination

of entities at the same time. If you want to enter three new Account entities, for instance, you can have three Account forms open. Microsoft Dynamics CRM gives you the option of the multiple-window experience when working with forms. You will grow to love this if you are a multitasker or if you leverage the power of instant messaging and carry on two, three, or four conversations at once. In addition, taking advantage of newer hardware technologies, such as using multiple monitors or using a new much larger monitors, really emphasizes the power of this feature.



The ability to open many forms at once could confuse and frustrate you if you are not a multitasker and if you are only comfortable with having one window open at a time. You can avoid this confusion by understanding this feature and choosing to use it or to not use it.

The Left Navigation Pane

The first building block of a form is the leftmost menu, which is called the *left navigation pane* (see Figure 7.2).

FIGURE 7.1

form.

The Account

		At Mice	soft Dynamics CRM				
File Account Add Cu	istomize					SalesDemo	a
Save & New Save & Deactivate Save & X Delete Save	Add to Marketing Conn	Assign E-mail a Link	Run Workflow Dialog Process	Run Report - Data			
formation	Account				Arraunte		
General	Blue Com	pany (sample)					Ť
Details - Contacts Notes & Activities - Preferences	Primary Contac Jui Forrest C Credit Limit	t hand (sample)	Preferred Metho Any Annual Revenue	d of Contact	Owner		
elated	* General						P
Image: Second	Account Name* Primary Contact Account Number Parent Account	Elitic Gemenant Chandisample	a	Main Phone Other Phone Fax Web Site	555-0131		
Documents	Address	someone/ gesample.com					
Audit History	Address Type		•	City	Redmond		
2 Opportunities	Address Name			State/Province	WA		
Quotes Orders	Street 1	9906 Oak Grove Road		ZIP/Postal Code	80803		
Invoices	Street 2			Country/Region	U.S.		
ervice Cases	Street 3			Phone			
Contracts	Shipping Method		•	Freight Terms		•	
Marketing Campaigns	Description						ŀ
(P) Mashatian Lists	Status	Active					



The left navigation pane contains a list of all the related entities. (Remember that we discussed those entities [record types] in Hour 1, "What Is Microsoft Dynamics CRM?") These listed entities have a close and direct relationship to the displayed entity (Account), and these related entities are served up with a filter. When one of the left navigation pane entities is selected, the information that is available is specifically for the displayed Account entity. If you select Contact, the contacts displayed will be only those contacts associated with that account. In addition, if you select one of these entities and create a new entity, such as a new contact, all information from the selected account is available to the system, and the system prepopulates the related fields in the new entity. For instance, if you open an account and then select Contact, New, you will see that the contact's address is prepopulated with the account name. This saves on data entry effort. An example of other related entities to the Account entity are Activity, Contact, Opportunity, Subaccount, More Addresses, and Case. Figure 7.3 shows the main entry form for the Account entity.



The Main Entry Screen

The second building block of a form is the main entry screen. This is your work area, where you enter data. The main entry screen displays a list of different fields for data entry. These fields are specific to the Account entity and include default fields that come with the system—such as Name, Address, Phone Number, and Parent Account—but can also include fields that were defined during the setup and configuration of your Microsoft Dynamics CRM system. Most default system fields can be turned off, and some default systems fields are available, but are not often used, and as such Microsoft ships them as not displayed. You can choose to display them when you configure the system. Figure 7.4 shows the Account form; notice the sections in blue in the top-left corner of the form, under the word "Information."

The main entry screen is a long, scrollable form that is also organized by sections, and each section can have different data fields on it. When the system administrator configures Microsoft Dynamics CRM, he or she can eliminate or add sections to each form. Each section within a form contains other sections of related data fields and can be configured to be open or closed when the main form is displayed.





Account Data

Account data is divided up into a number of different sections. Let's take a look at each of them.

The General Section

The General section of the Account form is shown in Figure 7.5. This section contains specific fields that are worth a closer look. These include Parent Account, Primary Contact, Relationship, and Address Phone Number.

When it comes to data fields on the Account form, including the General section, a few require a good explanation. The first field in the General section that needs explanation is Primary Contact. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you can have an unlimited number of contacts associated with an account; however, for each account, you have the option of selecting only one primary contact. This primary contact displays on account-specific views and in other locations such as an account-centric report. The Primary Contact field can mean different things to different companies and can even be renamed. An alternative name might be Key Decision Maker, Primary Buyer, or Company Champion. The primary contact could be any number of different people, such as the main decision maker, the chief financial officer, or the key target. The decision about who to associate with the Primary Contact field in smaller clients is usually relatively simple; however, in larger prospects or clients, choosing just one primary contact for an account can be

much more difficult. Not to worry: Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers a huge variety of options when it comes to configuring, customizing, and capturing and creating associations and relationships.



The next field that is worthy of mention and discussion in the General section is Parent Account. For any given account, there can be an assigned parent account. The Parent Account field is not required, but if entered, it offers a tree of related connections. Parent accounts are no different from accounts, so a listed parent account can also have a parent of its own. In this way, you can capture a hierarchy within a corporation or other hierarchies, depending on the situation. A parent account could be corporate headquarters, and the account could be a division office. A local store could have a parent account of regional headquarters, and a regional headquarters account could have a parent account of U.S. operations. The list is almost endless. As a paradigm shift, if you were capturing car dealerships and Car Manufacturing plants within the system, the parent account could be the Manufacturing Plant where the car dealership purchases the cars, and the current account could be the car dealership where a specific car is residing.

There is a Phone field listed under Address. This is the address phone number and is placed and captured here as references to the phone number a company, such as FedEx or UPS, would use when trying to deliver a package. The delivery fields in the General section can be turned off and are often not needed (depending on the model of the business using Microsoft Dynamics CRM).



tion data fields of particular interest. Finally, the Description field is a little deceiving because it is a text field, but it is limited in size. If you were thinking of using the Description field on an ongoing basis to add notes, for instance, be aware that you will run out of space. The Description field is much more appropriate as a corporate profile or a place to put a brief summary of the account. Notes, on the other hand, are unlimited. We talk more about notes in a bit.

The Details Section

Figure 7.6 shows the Details section of the Account form. Within this section are some key fields worth further discussion, including Industry, Territory, Relationship Type, and Price List.

File Account Add	Customize	All Microsol	t Dynamics CRM			Stephen Noe SalesDemo
ttach Add Task E-mi	Appoin	Recurring Appointment	Mail Campaign Merge Response	Relationship		
Include	Activity		Marketing	Create Relationship		
formation	Account				Accounts	
General	Blue Con	npany (sample)				
Details Contacts Notes & Activities Preferences	Primary Conta Bell Forrest. Credit Limit	ct Chand (sample)	Preferred Method (Any Annual Revenue	of Contact	Owner	
ielated						
Common	Details					
More Addresses	Professional Inf	ormation				
Activities	Industry					
Closed Activities	Annual Revenue	\$		Ownership		
S Contacts	No. of Employees	-		Ticker Symbol		
Relationships				nace spears		
Connections	SIC Code					
Audit History	Territory	Kast		Category		
ales	Relationship Type	1977 A. S. M.	-			
Opportunities	Billing Informat	lon				
Quotes		OR US BARA		Research Towns		
A Invoices	Currency	-6 02 00 00	118	Payment terms		-
anira	Credit Limit	s		Price List		_
Cases	Credit Hold	C Yes @ No				
Contracts						
Aarketing	 Contacts 					
Campaigns	-	A				
Aarketing Lists	- Status	Acuve				

FIGURE 7.6 Details section data fields of particular interest.

The Details section also has a number of fields that are worth detailed discussion. Microsoft Dynamics CRM comes with a long list of industries for the drop-down list associated with the Industry field. Some examples include Eating and Drinking Places, Public Relations, Durable Manufacturing, Financial, Wholesale, and Social Services. The Industry field is similar to Standard Industry Codes (SIC) or North American Industry Classification System (NAICS), but it is more focused on the description you might use for the account as opposed to a recognized standard. SIC is also a default and available data field associated with the account. If Industry is important to your classification and firm, one option is to set up the industry dropdown list to correspond with the descriptions associated with the SIC code. Another option is to let Industry indicate how your sales team would classify the Account and then complement this with a SIC or NAICS classification. Industry, SIC, NAICS, and other similar fields tend to be used or not used depending on the company using Microsoft Dynamics CRM. When setting up Microsoft Dynamics CRM, it is important to ask the right questions to get input on this specific area.

Territories in Microsoft Dynamics CRM are defined by the company using Microsoft Dynamics CRM and are set up by selecting Settings, Business Management and then Sales Territories. Territories can be adjusted, added to, and changed. Territories are not just a defined acronym and association; each also has functionality and association to other information in the system.

More Details on Territories

Figure 7.7 offers a look at how territories are set up in the system.



Territories

I want to take a slight detour and give you just a little more insight into territories. If you look at Figure 7.7, you will see that a territory has associated with it a territory manager and an association to an unlimited number of members. Members are users in the Microsoft Dynamics CRM system, such as salespeople who are associated to a specific territory. So, a territory could be associated with a specific account and a specific set of members (or salespeople). This association greatly expands what you can do with reporting or views, which we discuss in later lessons. You can also define specific processes and associate them with specific changes to territories. You can see the word *Workflows* in the left navigation pane in Figure 7.7. Workflow is the automation of a business process, and many companies have territory-specific workflow processes.

The Relationship Type field is a customizable drop-down list of options. From a preconfiguration standpoint, it contains the following default items: Competitor, Consultant, Customer Investor, Partner, Influencer, Press, Prospect, Reseller, Supplier, Vendor, and Other. The Relationship Type field allows you to describe what this account is with regard to how it relates to your company. The most common relationship types are Prospect and Customer.

Territory Customize	💭 Sharing 🗸 🔊 🕅			Sa	lesDemo 🗠
Save & New	🗊 Sharing - 🧖 🕞				
ave Save & Close	Copy a Link E-mail a Link Collaborate	art Run Report - Data			
formation General	Territory East			Territories	* 1 7
icommon S Members Medit History Processes Workflows Dialog Sessions	General Territory Name E353 Description Northeastern, eastern centra	l, and southeastern sta	Manager tes in USA.	Stephen Noe	



The Contacts Section

Figure 7.8 shows the Contacts section of the Account form. This section of the form assists user productivity by showing only the contacts within the specific account that are owned by the user viewing the form. You can also change the view selected in the grid by clicking the drop-down list to the right of the contact's icon at the top of the grid.

Account: Blue Company (samp	le) - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer		
File Arrount Add Our	A Microsoft	Dynamics CRM	Stephen Noe SalesDemo @
Attach Add File Note Include	Phone Call Construction Con	Mail Campaign Meil Campaign Marketing Marketing Create Relationship	
nformation - General	Account Blue Company (sample)		Accounts • 9 •
Details Contacts Notes & Activities Preferences	Primary Contact Beil Forrest Chand (sample) Credit Limit	Preferred Method of Contact O Any § Annual Revenue	wner <u>CRM Admin</u>
Common	Contacts Contacts Contacts		
Sub-Accounts Sub-Accounts Contacts Relationships Connections Documents Audit History	Full Name A	E-mail Parent Cust someone,g@example.com Blue Compa	omer Eusiness Phone S iny (sample) 555-0198
Opportunities Quotes Orders Invoices	4 1 - 1 of 1 (0 selected)		H d Pagel b
Service Gases Contracts Marketing	 Notes & Activities Preferences 		-
Campaigns	Status Active		
			€ 100% ·



The Notes & Activities Section

The Notes & Activities section is definitely worth talking about. Microsoft has added an Activities list that displays the open activities for the account and related contacts. This list summarizes all the activities open for any contact in the account. Next, a scrolling panel of notes appears under the activities.

If you don't like the notes all the way over in this fourth section, or if would like the notes window to be a little larger, you can adjust it. Users who are accustomed to a flatter CRM system seem to prefer to have notes on the first section. The placement of notes within a form is not specific to an individual so consensus among the team using the form is required.

In true Microsoft fashion, Microsoft Dynamics CRM is packed with choice. This can make the system more complex but also more flexible. When it comes to choice in notes, you need to decide what your business process will be with regard to where notes will be captured. Do you want to capture notes on the Account entity, the Contact entity, the Opportunity entity, the Activity, or all of the above? Perhaps you want to only add profile type notes to the Account entity and you want to add very specific detailed notes to each Contact entity it relates to. You also have to decide between what goes into Description (or if Description is even turned on) and Notes. At the Account level, Description is a great place to put the account profile (often from the account's website), for instance, but at the Contact and Activity levels, it gets a bit more difficult.

Figure 7.9 shows an example of the Notes tab with two different notes entered.



FIGURE 7.9

Notes and

activities.

Can I Get an Executive Summary?

I can hear your question now: Is there an executive summary on the account that pulls all the associated notes from associated contacts, activities, opportunities, and more onto one display? The answer is yes and no. Microsoft Dynamics CRM does not currently come with an executive summary of all notes for a particular account; however, numerous third-party solutions offer this, and it is something that can be built with development resources if you want to build it yourself. In addition, with the right business process, it does not become an obvious need.

The Preferences Section

Figure 7.10 shows the Preferences section of the Account form. Fields worthy of further discussion in this section include Owner, Originating Lead, Price List, and Last Date Included in Campaign.

		🕌 Microsoft	t Dynamics CRM			Standard March
File Account Add O	ustomize	-				SalesDemo
Attach Add Task E-mail	Phone Call	Recurring Appointment	Mail Campaign Merge Response	Relationship		
Include	Activity		Marketing	Create Relationship		
information	Account				Accounts	واجاح
General	Blue Com	pany (sample)			- Augusta	
Details Contacts Notes & Activities Preferences	Primary Contac	hand (sample)	Preferred Method o Any Annual Revenue	f Contact	Owner	
Delated						
Common .	· Preferences					
More Addresses	Owner*	S CRM Admin				
Activities	Contact Methods					
Closed Activities	Budawad	(inc.				
Sub-Accounts	Freieneo	ADY	•			
Relationships	E-mail	Allow C Do Not Allow		Bulk E-mail	Allow C Do Not Allow	
S Connections	Phone	Allow C Do Not Allow		Fax	Allow C Do Not Allow	
Audit History	Mail	Allow C Do Not Allow				
Sales	Originating Lead		a	Last Date Included in		
Quotes Orders	Send Marketing Materials	F Send C Do Not Send		- Annalysis (Annalysis)		
Invoices	Service Preference	es				
Service Cases	Preferred Day		-	Preferred Facility/Equipment		
Contracts	Preferred Time		-	Preferred User		
Marketing	Preferred Service		173			
Campaigns	Status	Active				
The Marketing Lists						

FIGURE 7.10

Did you Know?

Data fields of particular interest in the Preferences section.

In the Preferences section, the first data field that jumps out is the Owner field. Notice that next to the owner is a small red asterisk (*). This red star indicates that this is a required field. The owner must be a Microsoft Dynamics CRM user or a staff member at the organization using Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The Owner field is one of the security controls that can be used to determine who has access to which Account entities. The Owner field also drives a number of reports and views. You can rename the field called Owner, but you cannot eliminate this field because it is required by the system. Some examples of renaming the owner might be to rename it to account manager or the primary salesperson, or the assigned customer service representative. In earlier chapters, we talked briefly about a lead versus an account prospect. When a Lead entity is entered into the system, it can be converted to an Account, Contact, and/or Opportunity entity. The Originating Lead data field is a system field that displays where this Account entity came from if it came from a Lead entity. A system field is a data field that the software keeps updated automatically. As a reminder, the best way to think of a lead is as an unqualified contact.

Last Date Included in Campaign is another system field. When you use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM campaign features, the system captures and tracks the last date that this account was associated with a campaign. It then displays this field in the Administrative section of the Account form. This is useful when thinking about the account either because you want to include it in a new marketing campaign or you are interested in calling and following up with that account regarding the last material that was sent.

How the Account Entity Relates to a Few Other Entities

Account is a core entity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. It has numerous other associations to other entities. Let's look at a few of these other entities and the relationship they have to Account.

Contacts

Account relates to a number of other entities, and each relationship is slightly different. The first, and possibly the most obvious, relationship is the relationship between an Account entity and its various Contact entities. An Account entity can have an unlimited number of associated Contact entities. In addition, within an Account is an optional primary contact. The primary contact appears on account-specific views and reports, whereas all the other contacts might not. This keeps the account reports and views cleaner and easier to read. Another feature within the relationship between Account and Contact is the ability for the Account entity to share information with a new Contact entity when a new Contact entity is created from the Account form. This reduces user data entry and maintains data integrity. For instance, when a Contact entity is created after choosing the Account entity, the account address details and account name are duplicated to the new Contact entity. If the Contact entity is created without the Account entity open, data will not populate.

Other Accounts: Parent Account and Subaccounts

Subaccounts can be used when setting up an account that is a subset of a larger account structure, such as an umbrella company or a very large corporation that has different accounting practices. Figure 7.11 shows an example of using subaccounts.



FIGURE 7.11 A subaccount example.

You don't have to use subaccounts because you can set up an account as a parent, and each parent account can have a parent, and so on. Figure 7.12 shows an example of a parent account structure.



FIGURE 7.12 A parent account example.

What the Account Entity Can Impact

Account is one of the core entities within Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and it is related to many other entities. The Account entity has an impact on many other functions and features in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Therefore, if you are thinking of renaming the Account entity, consider a few things. First, consider the fact that features that you might not want to use today might be features you want to use tomorrow. If you decide to rename Account to Prospect and set up some other database structure for Client, for example, the entire service module prebuilt within Microsoft Dynamics CRM is semi-useless because it would be tied to Prospect rather than Client.

Other features and functions are also built on the core building block account, including the connections function, the contract features, the service calendar, and even such functions as duplicate checking and inactivation. The Account entity is a key building block in the greater scheme of Microsoft Dynamics CRM.



Introducing the GUID

The Account entity also has a globally unique identifier (GUID) which can be used to connect many different systems. It can be used to tie to an account-specific document folder created and maintained in Microsoft SharePoint to the account in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. It is also used by third-party independent software vendors (ISVs) who offer Microsoft Dynamics CRM plug-ins and add-on applications.

When working with Microsoft Dynamics CRM, it is easy to get lured into changing and adding everything. However, without good vision into the long-term impact, it is always good to talk with an experienced Microsoft Dynamics CRM architect first. At the very least, post your ideas to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM forums and see what type of feedback you get from the field.

How the Account Entity Can Be Redefined



Software Architecture Insight Could Be Helpful

The following text shows major changes to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM system that do not require the experienced skills of a software developer or software architect. Reproduce at your own risk.

The first two lessons of this book provide a few hints about how the Account entity can be redefined, but let's take a deeper dive now that you understand that changing the Account entity has wide-ranging impacts.

Say that a company purchases buildings and then hires a rental management company to handle the leasing of the offices within the buildings. In this particular case, the company wants to track all the buildings as the core building blocks of its system. After careful consideration by the Microsoft Dynamics CRM architect and review of the implications with the client, the Account entity is renamed Building.

In Figure 7.13, you see that when you rename the Account entity, the top of the screen displays the word Building, as opposed to Account. On the other hand, there are specific data fields, which still have the name Account, associated with them. In this particular example, the Microsoft Dynamics CRM system customizer would also have to rename each data field (attribute) that has the word *account* as part of the data field (attribute) name. There are only a few, but as you can see in Figure 7.13, they definitely need to be changed. In addition to changing the entity title, you need to consider the text associated with error messages, the names of any account-specific system views, and any reports that have *account* as part of any of the descriptive information. Although this seems like a lot of information, the name of the Account entity and all associated data fields can be changed fairly efficiently by using available tools and a dash of Microsoft Dynamics CRM experience.

Carlo da http://emp/Sala	erDemo/main.a. Q = C X	4. V		
File Edit View Favorites	Tools Help 2 Cogin for Microsoft Partn	Metadata 🔀 Publishing Pages and Files 🗴	Microsoft Dynamics CRM .	. 🕘 Flush Cache
File Buildings View	Al Micros	oft Dynamics CRM		Stephen Noe 🛞 SalesDemo Sign Out
New Edit X Delete -	Merge Send Direct Add to Marketing Connect Assign	Share Share Start Run Start Reput	in Simport OMA	Advanced Find
Records	Collaborate	Process	Data	Help
Sales 🖬 🦕 *	Get Started with Accounts An account is a company or	corporation that you do business with.		
Coportunities	L Import	2. Use	3. Modify & Man	ane
Buildings	a local from film	About Oxide Campaigns	A Create Custom	Views
Sea Contacts	About Importing	Detect Duplicates	+ Set Up Duplica	te Detection
Marketing Lists	Overview Video	+ Set Synchronization Option	+ Customize Acce	punts
Competitors Products		*		
Sales Literature	Buildings Active Accounts *		Search for records	
Quotes		Laboration Laboration and	Discussion of the second	
Orders	Account Name ~	Main Phone Address 1: City	Advise Dumitracci (cample)	E-mail (Primary Contact
Invoices	Advanced Components (cample)	555.0136 Renton	Reain Lables (cample)	someone_agexample
Goals	Manatee components (sample)	555-0163 Santa Court	Cat Eranzis (sample)	tomagna chavangle
Goal Metrics	Basic Company (sample)	555,0174 Ivnnwood	Cathan Cook (sample)	someone disexample
Rollup Queries	Rest o' Things (sample)	SSS-0145 Los Angeles	Darren Parker (tample)	
	Blue Company (sample)	555-0131 Redmond	Forrest Chand (sample)	someone o@example
	Designer Goods (sample)	555-0197 Redmond	Eva Corets (sample)	someone f@example
Workplace	Elemental Goods (sample)	555-0127 Missoula	Gabriele Cannata (sample)	someone_h@example
10 color	Grand Store (sample)	555-0135 Redmond	George Sullivan (sample)	someone_i@example
ap sites	Litware Inc. (sample)	555-0116 Phoenix	Marco Tanara (sample)	someone_j@example
Marketing	Magnificent Store (sample)	555-0135 Daty City	Patrick Steiner (sample)	someone_k@example
💰 Service	Recreation Supplies (sample)	555-0171 Newport Beach	Susan Burk (sample)	someone_I@example -
E Settings	4			Þ
	1 - 14 of 14 (0 selected)			I4 4 Page1 ≥
134 Resource Center	AL . A B C D E F G H	I J K L M N O P	ORSTUN	/ W X Y Z

FIGURE 7.13 Renaming

Account to Building in system customization (with nothing else changed).

Workshop

A financial investment company, Wood Finance, has a staff of 10 financial planners. Each planner has many relationships, specifically with consumers who work with individuals from Wood Finance to manage their long-term and short-term investment portfolios. In addition, Wood Finance offers corporate discounts and corporate "lunch and learn" seminars to corporations that offer the services of Wood Finance to their staff members interested in more detailed financial planning. Wood Finance uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM to manage its relationships. The Account entity captures corporation details, and it also captures a family surname so that families of individuals can be grouped and potentially viewed or reported on together. Wood Finance uses the subaccount, and it uses it rather creatively. The company uses the subaccount to capture the details of other surnames within a family tree. For instance, the Smith family has a master surname of Smith, which is an Account entity within Microsoft Dynamics CRM; however, Mr. and Mrs. Smith have two daughters who are both married. Wood Finance would like to track all that happens within the world of the married children, too, and it wants to track that the married children have a relationship to the Smiths. A Subaccount entity has been created for the James family in Microsoft Dynamics CRM for the James family because Mrs. James is Mr. and Mrs. Smith's married daughter.

Figure 7.14 shows an example of the building blocks in this family example.

FIGURE 7.14 If the Account entity is a family surname, the subaccounts contain related family surnames.



Q&A

- **Q.** We track NAICS and SIC, but sometimes we just want to associate a general less standard industry. Is this possible?
- **A.** Yes, you can track other industry codes and you have two choices. You can use a drop-down list of industries that are common to your company, or you can create a text field to capture any combination of typed-in text that describes the industry.

- **Q.** Many of our accounts have a complex hierarchy of relationships to other accounts. How is this handled?
- **A.** An account can have a parent account, a parent account can have a parent account, and so on up the ladder. You also have the option of associating sub-accounts. Lastly you can use the Connections feature of Microsoft Dynamics CRM to associate an account to any other account.
- **Q.** We e-mail around a ton of attachments, but we do not necessarily want to capture those attachments within Dynamics CRM associated with e-mail tracking or notes. Can we turn off attachments?
- A. Yes, you can block attachments.

Quiz

- **1.** What are some of the impacts of changing the name of an Account entity to something else?
- 2. Are Parent Account entities different from Account entities?
- 3. How are Territory entities related to an Account entity?
- 4. What are the four components of a form?
- **5.** Why is the address phone number different from the main business phone number?
- 6. How many addresses are attribute fields within the Account entity?
- 7. How many sections can you create on the Account form?
- **8.** Would you enter your descriptive notes in the Description field or the Notes field?

Answers

- **1.** If you decide to rename Account to Prospect, for example, and set up some other data structure for Client, your entire service module prebuilt within Microsoft Dynamics CRM would be semi-useless because it would be tied to Prospect rather than Client.
- 2. Parent account entities are not different from account entities.

- **3.** Every Account entity is associated with a Territory entity, and every owner of an Account entity is associated with a Territory entity.
- **4.** The four components of a form include the Left navigation pane, the Form Assistant, the main entry form (orscreen), and sections.
- **5.** The Phone Number field associated with the address is provided for delivery companies such as FedEx and UPS.
- **6.** There are two addresses that are defined as attribute fields within the Account entity.
- 7. You can create more than eight sections on any specific form.
- **8.** No, because the Description field is limited in size. The Notes field is not limited in size and is designed for an unlimited amount of notes.

Exercise

Using Microsoft Visio, paper, or a large white board, diagram the following scenario. The Wild Adventure Corporation (WAC) organizes tours of local nature preserves as a team-building exercise for large local corporations. The WAC needs to keep track of the nature preserves that it visits and the corporations that purchase its nature preserve tours team-building services. How would you use the Account entity in this scenario?

HOUR 8

The Sales Funnel

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Sales styles and choices
- Automating the sales process with workflow
- Editing an existing workflow

In this hour, you'll learn about the world of sales and how sales, sales processes, sales funnels, and overall sales styles are tied to Microsoft Dynamics CRM. This lesson dives into different industry sales methodologies, and it looks closely at what the sales funnel is all about, what it is used for, and why it is important.

Sales Styles and Choices

It is hard to talk, think, and learn about Microsoft Dynamics CRM without some discussion about personal working styles. It is even more difficult to talk about the application, as a true sales force automation or a customer relationship management application, without discussing the impact of sales styles.

Sales Cultures and Styles

There are many different approaches to sales and the sales process. Two approaches are to use a relationship-focused approach or to use a product-oriented approach. Relationship-oriented salespeople, approaching a sale from a prospect-oriented and personal perspective, place an incredibly high level of value on the relationships that they have with individual contacts. In fact, many relationship-oriented salespeople put the relationship above the immediate sale because they know that in the long term, the return will be higher. Relationship-oriented salespeople have a very specific need to protect and grow their trusted relationships. They also strive to keep all the details of all their various contacts organized and available so that they can work on the maximum number of accounts and contact relationships. They are interested in buzz and information about their prospect and customer accounts within the system that might come from other sources, such as social media sites. For instance, if a particular prospect is the subject of a Twitter conversation or the prospect has a long list of new press releases, this information is critical for a relationship-oriented sales person. Tracking this external data becomes a value add for any system. This arena of sales audience can gain benefit from integration of Microsoft Dynamics CRM with external sources, such as a data cleansing services or repositories of additional information on specific businesses, such as Hoovers (www. hoovers.com), Dun & Bradstreet (www.dnb.com), and others. They often also have an interest in integration with some of the social media and Web 2.0 toolsets, including websites such as LinkedIn (www.linkedin.com) and Twitter (www.twitter.com).

Technical sales style salespeople are experts on their product and work to educate and inform their prospects. Technical salespeople not only need to keep track of all their relationships, they also need to keep track of their product knowledge and product knowledge resources.

A product-oriented salesperson tends to be in tune with their products, with an everchanging audience of prospects. They don't necessarily need a deep relationship with a prospect because a prospect might only be buying the offering once. Productoriented salespeople are more interested in capturing all the details of their specific product, engineering and sales techniques for selling the product, their market, and the competition selling the same type of commodity product. Product-oriented salespersons need to keep track of their prospects or incoming sales calls, as volume tends to indicate number of sales, but they might also need Microsoft Dynamics CRM to keep all the product and competitor details organized and accessible. They might use the system to track weaknesses in comparable products on the market, competition specials, product defects and recalls, available inventory, and perhaps key knowledge on use and configuration (and additional details). They might also want to keep diagrams and schematics on their products, and they can use the integration to SharePoint to maintain details on unstructured product data.

Neither of these primary focus cultures is exclusive; in fact, many sales styles overlap. A person selling a set of commodity products might have a well-established network of clients that he upsells to in addition to incoming calls for orders, and a salesperson focused on selling services through relationships might also have a wide range of product offerings. Microsoft Dynamics CRM handles this overlap by offering support for both services and product cultures. The software offers a product catalog and quote, invoice, and order functionality, and it offers a robust company hierarchy to support complex relationships through the connections feature. The goal for you is to dive in and master the pieces of the software that best apply to your selling culture and methodology.

Corporate Selling Methodologies

For any given company, there are many different sales methodologies. These range from industry-standard methodologies, such as those used by Sandler Sales (www.sandler.com), Miller Heiman (www.millerheiman.com), Richardson (www.richardson.com), and Performance Methods (www.performancemethods.com), to custom (perhaps more industry-specific) sales process methodologies designed and matured within a specific company. One of the keys to success with Microsoft Dynamics CRM for a customer, partner, or third-party vendor is to understand the selling methodology and business process that are to be used with the product.

If your company does not currently have a formal selling methodology, it most likely has business processes in use that can give additional insight into how using Microsoft Dynamics CRM might work best within the environment. In our consulting days we would often work with companies that did not necessarily categorize how they sold into a "sales methodology"; however, with a bit of detective work and some business process diagramming, existing processes can easily be understood.

The Existing Sales Methodology Built into Another Application

If your company is currently using a CRM application other than Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you might have a methodology built into the software that was or is in use today. This methodology could be something that everyone loves or hates, and it could also be limited or crafted to fit the software in use. One of the key shifts when moving to Microsoft Dynamics CRM is to not only move existing sales processes, but to also consider these sales processes as they might mature and change based on new functionalities. Take, for instance, a company that uses the XYZ CRM application. In this software, you cannot define a sales process, but the software captures notes, contact details, appointments, and scheduled calls. It is robust enough, but it is not everything that the company needs. When this company moves away from the XYZ CRM application to Microsoft Dynamics CRM, it has the option to define a standard sales process because Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers it a place to define the process and the functionality to make the sales process more efficient.

The Ad Hoc Sales Method

What about a company that is not using an industry-level CRM application? An example might be a company heavily vested in using Microsoft Outlook for much of

its day-to-day sales work. It might not have an existing CRM application, but through the use of Microsoft Outlook, it categorizes information, captures communication, organizes contact details, creates reminders, sets appointments, tracks tasks, and perhaps follows a routine that works for it. The company might also be supplementing Outlook with a variety of Microsoft Excel spreadsheets to forecast, set budgets, analyze open opportunities, and compare goals to actuals. It does not have a true collaborative environment, but it does have processes. Letters, mailings, and other efforts might be part of the process, perhaps supported by Microsoft Word. The reality is that technology is being used. It might not be the best technology for the job, but it is being used.

If you add in its collaborative need for a service department that captures details on what is going on with current clients and that this service department has ideas and efforts about selling additional product and services, this company really needs that one place to organize and collaborate.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM pulls all of this into a total solution, organizing and pairing technology with methodologies and business process and bringing a new dimension to the table, which offers different complementary layers of collaboration and organization. Microsoft Dynamics CRM takes all the pieces and applies the right piece to the right job, Outlook for e-mail, Word for letters, and Microsoft Dynamics CRM to collaborate on what needs to get done to close an opportunity. It also adds a layer of graphical visibility to what is being captured and reinforces requests to sales teams to enter data.

Opportunity Tracking

Earlier lessons talk about what makes up an opportunity. This section reviews what opportunities are used for. The opportunity is the core building block of most sales processes. It is the "object" or "the potential sale" that moves through the sales funnel and that is classified, won or lost, closed, analyzed, compared to goals, reviewed, and tracked. An opportunity has a life all its own, with a beginning, a middle, and an end. It is also associated with a prospect. The opportunity is not the prospect, but it is related. The opportunity starts with the awareness that a potential sale is within reach or worth going after and ends with the winning, losing, or postponement of that sales opportunity. Some companies also consider that an opportunity starts once a prospect is qualified, but this can be personal preference.

When courting a potential prospect, the loss of an opportunity does not necessarily mean that you will not try to sell that same prospect again in a year or so. The loss of an opportunity also does not mean that the prospect is not a prospect. The loss of an opportunity signals the end of a sales process, which was supposed to result in success or failure or perhaps the closing of an open door because of a locked-down budget or problems in the economy.

The other advantage of an opportunity is that for any given prospect, you could potentially have multiple opportunities, depending on your business model. For instance, you might have two departments that sell different products to the same company, or you might have a product division and a service division. The product division might have an opportunity to sell a specific set of products, and the service department might have a different opportunity to sell complementary services. Each opportunity can be unique and have its own close date and its own set of processes, and the success of each is independent.

Sales Percentages

The sales percentage or the probability of a win is related to the opportunity. Microsoft Dynamics CRM supports defining a probability of a win in any number of different formats. Many companies like to have a common definition of their probabilities and so will relate the percent probability to a stage within the sales process. Still other companies tolerate the free-will choices of their sales team and can interrupt the probability based on individual salesperson's style. Others offer three to six options, such as 0%, 10%, 25%, 50%, 75%, and 99% (or a similar series).

One of the key concepts with probability percentages is that the probability is generally used to offset the predicted and anticipated revenue in the pipeline. If there is a potential deal for \$10,000 with a probability of 25 percent, the analysis determines this potential sale is worth \$2,500 dollars (10,000 * .25).

When the anticipated revenue is offset based on the salesperson's or sales team's predictions, a CEO, board of directors, or even venture capitalists can better understand what sales will be successfully closed based on the sales teams predictions.

The probability can also be used to judge the risk level or temperature around a specific opportunity. The percentage can be a salesperson's assumption or even a manager's valuation, based on provided data.

Sales Stages

A sales process is made up of a set of sales stages. For each stage, there might be a set probability percentage, a set temperature or rating, and a defined set of actions. As actions are completed, you move closer and closer to the goal of moving a prospect to the role of new client or customer. As each step is completed, you move the opportunity through the sales funnel. For each set of actions completed, a sales stage is completed, and the sales process moves forward. The following is an example of a sales process:
- Stage one—Establish a dialog and an initial relationship with the prospect. Potential activity items for sales stage one include the following:
 - 1. Phone call: Follow-up to initial conversation
 - 2. Send letter with more details and further introduction
 - 3. Phone call: Follow-up to letter
 - **4.** After connecting with the prospect, send a thank you e-mail or letter and an e-mail with promised info
 - 5. Update sales stage and probability percentage
- Stage two—Understand and document the needs as defined by the prospect. Potential activity items for sales stage two include the following:
 - **1.** Prepare custom PowerPoint presentation (focused on prospect needs)
 - 2. Outline your understanding of what they are looking for
 - 3. Research prospect history for supporting information
 - 4. Make appointment to meet
 - 5. Meet face to face to reiterate what you have learned
 - 6. Update sales stage and probability percentage
- Stage three—Validate to the prospect that you have heard their needs by communicating back your understanding of what they are looking for. Potential activity items for sales stage three include the following:
 - **1.** Meet face to face to reiterate what you have learned
 - 2. Update sales stage and probability percentage
- Stage four—Share your company's culture, vision, and history with your prospect. Potential activity items for sales stage four include the following:
 - **1.** Follow-up to meeting
 - 2. Update sales stage and probability percentage
- Stage five—Answer any questions your prospect might have about the company. Potential activity items for sales stage five include the following:
 - 1. Phone call
 - 2. Continue to build and mature your relationship with the prospect.
 - 3. Update sales stage and probability percentage

- Stage six—Share with the prospect how your offering can meet their needs. Potential activity items for sales stage six could include the following:
 - **1.** Demonstrate the product
 - 2. Update the sales stage and probability percentage
- Stage seven—Present proposal. Potential activity items for sales stage seven include the following:
 - 1. Prepare proposal
 - 2. Negotiate details
 - 3. Update sales stage and probability percentage
- Stage eight—Close the deal. The activity item for sales stage eight is as follows:
 - **1.** Close the opportunity as won!

Each stage can have any number of activities, which can include a variety of different tasks, phone calls, letters, e-mails, and even specific goals. Stages can also call different workflows or have automatic functions that occur, such as the automatic generation of an e-mail message. In addition, Microsoft Dynamics CRM supports the ability to standardize and automate a sales process using the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Workflow engine. There is more about workflow in the next chapter; for now, let's look at a simplified example that was configured in Microsoft Dynamics CRM Workflow.

Automating the Sales Process with Workflow

In this section, we walk through setting up a piece of a full sales process and the end result. We start by accessing processes and creating a new workflow and then add the sales stages to this new workflow. Figure 8.1 kicks off the process.

Creating a New Workflow for the Sales Process

Figure 8.1 shows where to start creating a workflow for the sales process. This is how your window will appear when you are getting started.



Next, you'll see how to set up the sales stages and the associated steps for a new workflow. You start by creating a new workflow, and because you are focusing on a sales process, you associate this new workflow with the opportunity record. Notice that you are not selecting a dialog; a dialog is a different type of process. As shown in Figure 8.2, you assign a name (CRMLady Sales Process) and select the opportunity entity from the entity list.



The scope of the new automated sales process should be organization. Figure 8.3 shows the scope in the upper-right corner.

168

Automated sales process (workflow).

	General Administration Notes	
2. Information	Mide Process Properties Process Transme* CMMLady Saless Process Activities AA Process Pro	Entity Capacitumity Category Wendflyw Optone for Antematic Processes Stope Organizations Start where, IF Record is translad Record is unsigned IF Record is subjected Faceore is solicited
	🚰 Add Step - 🚰 Insert - 🗙 Delete this step.	
	Select this row and click Add Step.	

FIGURE 8.3 Sales process scope.

Adding Sales Stages

In Figure 8.4, you take your first step toward creating a sales process in the workflow: You start to add a stage. A stage categorizes a set of steps and often a set of activities and a section of the sales process. A stage can also indicate or help classify what needs to be done within a level or section of the sales funnel. Stages are optional, but they are fairly common when defining sales process workflows.







Individual Sales Processes

You can create individual sales processes for specific subsets of salespeople for a less-standardized and more custom offering. Depending on your organization, this option might be embraced or strongly rejected.

Figure 8.5 shows how you add steps to the first stage of the sales process. This figure shows the stage "Stage One: Establish Initial Relationship" and the step phone call. The concept is that when an opportunity is created, a phone call activity is automatically created and added to the opportunity owner's to-do list. The label "Initial Reachout" that you see in Figure 8.5 is just a label describing what the step is actually doing.



Hard Steep * Constraints United His Index Hard House H	And a March Country Manual Pro-								
Prices None* CMRAuly Sales Recess Data Advises A Pricess Cargony mestings Advises A Pricess Cargony mestings A as in-densed process A as in-densed process Support Union For Advisantly Processis A as in-densed process Support Union For Advisantly Freed in any office Freed in advised Freed i	Side Process Prope	rtes							
Admite to flam Admite to flam Admite to flam Configure Admite to flam Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Configure Confi	Process Name*	CRMLady Sales Pr	00015			Entity	Oppintumity		
Analate to lon	Activate As	Process				Category	Vielafiaw		
T As an in-densed proces Suppr Organization	Available to Run					Options for A	atomatic Processes		
A a child poores Start unles Preced in unded Preced in unded Preced in under Pre	T As an on-dem	and process				Scope	Organization	•	
Forecast status relations Forecast status relations Forecast status relations Forecast is estimate Forecast Foreca	T As a child pro	cest				Start when	F Record is created		
Crate Piero Col							E Record status shanges		
Record fields change Add Stra + Shells this stra. * Stage One Establish Initial relationship * Usail Rectivul Create Plane Cal +							T Record is assigned		
Add Step + [24 bited * X Delete the step. * Step One Establish under referencing * Step One Establish under referencing * Stell Answerd Constel * Stell Priore Call + Set Physeline							F Record fields change	Seed	
Add Step - () 2- baset - X Delete the step. - Step Conc Establish Initial initiationing * bete Reshrud Credie Pion Call - Sel Projection							ERCORD is deleted		
2 Ad Star 2 [Starbard: X Divident the day. * Stage One Eachieft in India Instantiation * Exact Instantiat Coaste Priver Cal + Set Properties									
* Step One Establish Initial Initialianay * Initial Restruct Create Peor Cal • Set Propriate									
B bolla Reached Create Pienn Cal - Set Properties	Add Step + 📑	• Incert • 🗙 Delete	this step.						
Create Phone Call - Set Properties	Add Step + 3	- Insert - 🗙 Delete labilish initial relation	this step.						
	Add Step + 2	- Insert - X Delete tablish initial relation teachout	this step. ship						
	* Stage One. Est * Stage One. Est * Initial R Create	• Insert • X Delete labilish initial relation teachout Phone Call	this step. chip	Set Properties					
	Add Step + Stape One Est * Stape One Est # Invitial R Create	• Inset • 🗙 Delete labish initial relation leadhout Phone Call	this step. chip	Set Properties	_				
	Add Step - Stape One: Est * Stape One: Est # Institut R Create	• Insert • X Delete ablish initial relation teachaut Phone Call	this step. ship •	Set Properties					
	Add Step - 3	• Insert • X Delete abilish initial relation leachaut Phone Call	this step. chip	Set Properties	_				
	Add Step - 2 * Stepe Cree Est * India R Create	e Joseft - X Delete ablish initial relation leachout Phone Call	this step. chip	Set Properties					

Adding Steps to the Stage

To add a new step to an established stage, do the following:

- **1.** On the General tab, click Add Step.
- **2.** Using the Create drop-down, select what to do in that step, such as Phone Call.

- 3. Click Set Properties and configure the properties of the activity.
- **4.** Select Step Description and enter a description for the step.

Figure 8.6 shows an example with the phone call stage open.

You can now add more steps that create activities or update the prospect to sales stage one, or you can add another stage. For instance in sales stage two, you can set the probability percentage to 25%.

Hide Process Property	ies								
Process Name*	CRMLady Sales Process			Entity	Opportunity				
Available to Run				Options for Aut	omatic Processes				
As an on-deman	nd process		1	Rhone Call New	Minned Density CD	M Wahaana Dialaa	- Inte	e a second	_ 0 =
As a child proce	:15			de trans l'and d	and open opining of	in incopage carry		C	- 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10
				Mups//crmiady	crim.dynamics.com/srA	workhow enotytorm.	aspxractivityname=	Creates	teppoxentity*uireame=phonecalloxe
				File and Save	and Close				😧 Help
				Process: C Create P	RMLady Sales Process 'hone Call				
Add Step + 341	Insert - 🗙 Delete this step.		_	* Phone Call				-	Form Assistant
* Stage One: Estat	blish initial relationship			Sender	ICreated By	Phone Number			Dynamic Values
* Initial Rea	schout			Recipient	(Account Datential	Direction			Dunamic Values
Create:	Phone Call +	Set	Properties	Neuprein	burranul article	Catton	Cincoming	e c	Operator
* If Phone (Call Successfully Completed			Subject*	Initial Phone Call				-
If Initial R	eachout (Phone Call):Activity S ione call was successful - Pros	tatus e pect Q	quals (Compl ualified						Look for: Opportunity
Cre	sate: Note	٠	Set Proper						
+ Cr	eate Opportunity		_						
Cre	rate: Opportunity	٠	Set Proper						X * *
* Step Two: Under	istand and document the nee	ds as d	efined by the						
Research		_							
Create:	Task 👻	Set	Properties	Regarding	(Opportunity(Opport	tunityp			Default value:
				Owner					
				Duration	¥	Priority	Normal		OK
				Due	(2 Days After				
		-		Catanan		Sub-Category			
				caregory					

FIGURE 8.6 Sales Stage One, Phone Call Activity.

If the probability to close is less than 25%, set the probability to close to 25%, as shown in Figure 8.7. You do this so that any new opportunity that has had stage one completed will have a probability assigned. There are other ways to skin this beast, but this serves as an example of the condition option of workflow. Within any given step, you can add conditions that when true or false can be associated with activities or can update attributes in the opportunity.



FIGURE 8.7 Conditionally setting the probability on the opportunity to 25 percent.

Async and Conditional Statements

You do not want to create a conditional statement that puts the system into an infinite or potentially infinite wait state.

Process Name CRMLady Sales Process	Entity	Opp	ortunity			
Activate As Process	 Categ 	ory Wor	dlow			
Available to Run	Ontio	ns for Automati	Processes			
As an on-demand process	Opportunity: Information -	Microsoft Dyna	mics CRM Webpi	age Dialog		
T As a child process	https://crmlady.crm.dyna	mics.com/SFA/	Workflow/entityforn	n.aspx?entityFullNar	ne=opp	ortunity&ent
	File Save and Close	ales Process				
	Update Opport	inity			•	
🕞 Add Step • 📲 Insert • 🗙 Delete this step.	* General					Form Assist
Stage One: Establish initial relationship	Topic					Dynamic Vi
Initial Reachout	Potential Customer					Dynamic Va
Create: Phone Call . Se	t Proc Description					Operator:
■ If Phone Call Successfully Completed						Set to
If Initial Reachout (Phone Call):Activity Status	equi					Opportun
Phone call was successful - Prospect C	Quali				-	Actual Clo
Create: Note -	4					
Create Opportunity	Forecast Information					XI
Create: Opportunity Step Two: Understand and document the needs as	Revenue C S	stem Calculated	C User Provided			
Update Opportunity	Est. Revenue	-	Probability (%)	25		
Update: Opportunity - S	et Pre Est. Close Date		Rating	Warm	•	Default val
	Currency					
	▼ Line Items					
	Price List					
	Existing Product		Write-In Product	ř.		

Using a Conditional Statement in a Step

Figure 8.8 shows how you add a new task to prepare a PowerPoint presentation. You go a bit further by showing that the task can also be customized to include details that might be important to remember and dynamic variables that pull data from the opportunity entity (record type) when the stage is activated.



Form Assistant

You can add dynamic data by using the Form Assistant on the Set Properties page of the task.

Pull together the PowerNoint Use the old ABC template, add the prospect's company color, pull the graphics from their website	Dynamic Values Dynamic Values Operator. Set to Look for: Opportunity Actual Close Date Add		ir website	aphics from the	ny color, pull the	Pull together the PowerPoir mplate, add the prospect's com	ibject * se the old ABC te
Use the old ABC temptate, add the prospect's company color, pull the graphics from their website	Dynamic Values Operator: Set to Look for: Opportunity Actual Close Date Add		ir website	aphics from the	ny color, pull the	mplate, add the prospect's com	se the old ABC te
	Operator: Setto Look for: Opportunity Actual Close Date Add	c L					
	Look for: Opportunity Actual Close Date Add						
	Opportunity Actual Close Date Add						
	Actual Close Date						
	Add						
	VIA B						
	ОК						
		_					
garding (Opportunity(Opportunity)						(Opportunity(Opportunity))	garding
rgarding Coperturity/Deperturity/						(Opportunity(Opportunity))	garding vner

FIGURE 8.8 The task for preparing a

PowerPoint presentation.

You can now continue to add an unlimited number of different types of activities by using Create Record, or you can add updates to other existing records by using Modify Record. You can also assign new or modified records to other people who are users of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and you can complement them with conditions.

Publishing a Workflow

The sales process can be a set of simple tasks to get started, or it can be multilayered and complex. Start small by creating a two- to three-step sales process with one or two activities. After the sales process is created, you need to activate it to access and use it, or if it is automated, to have it start processing. You can make a sales process automatic or on demand manual. Manual allows you to control when the sales process starts, because you choose the Run Workflow option when you are ready to run the workflow.

Figure 8.9 shows the Publish option.



To activate, you select Activate from the top of the Create Workflow form or from the view of all workflow processes.

After the workflow is activated, it is available to run. In this example, the new manual workflow is available to run from the Opportunity screen. If it had been created as an automatic sales process, the process would run automatically when a new opportunity is created. Manual or automatic depends on the configuration choice when creating the workflow.

Figure 8.10 shows a new opportunity created and saved. Notice that after the opportunity is saved, you have the Run Workflow on top of the opportunity form. Figure 8.10 shows green check marks next to each step:

- 1. Select Sales.
- 2. Select Opportunity.
- 3. Select New.

In this example, if you choose to run the workflow, the entire workflow runs from start to finish, and you can see the final process. In the sales process workflow, you did not add any conditions (for example, requiring an activity to be completed to move to the next step) or wait states (for example, requiring a condition to be met to do the next action). The system does what it was told and displays what was accomplished and what is still pending in the sales process.

		Microsoft Dynamics CRM		
File Opportunity Add	Customize			
Save & New Save & Close Save	Close as Close as Choren Reopen Recalculate Opportunity Actions	Connect Assign Collaborate	k Workflow Dialog	Run Report - Data
	Conoctunity			[
- General - Line Items - Notes & Activities - Quotes	Potential Customer	Est. Revenue		Est. Close Date
Preferences	Workflows: System Job Assoc	ciated View 👻		Search for records
elated	📧 🗙 More Actions 🗸			
Common	System Job Name	Status Reason	Owner	Started On 🔻
Closed Activities Relationships Connections	System Job: CRMLady Sale	s Process - Microsoft Dynamics CRI	M - Windows Internet	Explorer
Audit History Sales Orders Invoices Competitors	File Close Concernation	<mark>∿ A</mark> ctions - dy Sales Process		
Processes	Information	▼ General		
	- General			
G Workflows	Details	Name CRMI	Ladv Sales Process	Туре
G Workflows	Details	Name CRMI	Lady Sales Process	Type Created On
Workflows	Details Related	Name CRMI Regarding at 1	Lady Sales Process Fraining services	Type Created On Completed On
C Workflows Dialog Sessions	Petails Related	Name CRM. Regarding I Job Owner* S	Lady Sales Process Fraining services Anne Stanton	Type Created On Completed On
C Workflows	Certais Related	Name CRM Regarding 1 Job Owner* S 2 Retry Count 0 Start Reason Reco	Lady Sales Process Training services Anne Stanton	Type Created On Completed On Pathone until
C& Workflows	Detail: Related	Name CRM Regarding 1 1 Job Owner* 2 2 Retry Count 0 Start Reason Reco Process Progress	Lady Sales Process Training services Anne Stanton rd was created	Type Created On Completed On Postpone until:
🤹 Workflows	Related	Name COM Regarding 21 Job Owner* 2 Retry Count 3 Start Reason Reco Process Progress	Lady Sales Process fraining services Anne Stanton rd was created	Type Created On Completed On Postpone until:
C Workflows	Potais Related	Name COM Regarding 201 Job Owner* 201 Start Reason Reco Process Progress 201 * Stage Ome: Establish	Lady Sales Process fraining services Anne Stanton rd was created	Type Created On Completed On Postpone until:
C Workflows	Related	Name COM Regarding 2 Job Owner* 2 Start Reason Reco Process Progress 2 *Stage One: Establish \$ w Initial Reache	Lady Sales Process fraining services Anne Stanton rd was created	Type Created On Completed On Postpone until:

You now want to add in some timing logic and progress based on timing, dates, and the completion of activities. So, you need to build into your sales process workflow some wait conditions.

Wait States Can Be Dangerous

Wait states can be dangerous if they are not properly created because they can create a situation where the async process (the process that handles workflow processing) is waiting in a never-ending state. Always work with a knowledgeable CRM advisor on wait steps within a workflow.

Editing an Existing Workflow

If you want to change a workflow that has already been published, you need to do two things: Check the workflow and see whether it is actively running or waiting and then unpublish the workflow so that it can be edited. To unpublish, do the following:

- 1. Select Workflows.
- 2. Select the workflow of interest (for example, the sales process workflow).
- **3.** Select the Unpublish option.



FIGURE 8.10 The opportunity workflow. The status of the workflow is set back to Draft, as shown in Figure 8.11. To set a workflow back to Draft, you must choose to Deactivate it.

https://crmlady.crm.dynamics.com/_grid/cm	ds/dlg_deactivate.aspx?bulkChangeSt
Process Deactivate Confirmation	
You have selected 1 Process to deactivate.	
	OK Cance

You'll learn about expanding this workflow to include wait states, more conditions, and dates in Hour 16, "Workflows: Creating Simple Workflows."

Workshop

Wild Landscaping is a landscaping company that specializes in native species. It focuses on bringing hardy and local plants to each area that it services, and it offers services and has offices all over the world. Each office has a variety of teams, including long-term maintenance, administration, planning and architecture, consumer sales, business sales, and the weekend dream makeover speed team.

The company sells its services to both businesses and consumers. Businesses often purchase the long-term maintenance plan, whereas consumers are more partial to the weekend dream makeover offering.

Wild Landscaping has a successful sales process that it has used around the world. It uses its sales process in two different ways with two different sets of associated activities depending on the audience. It uses its sales process as it applies to the business prospects and the business sales team, and it uses its sales process when approaching consumers.

The business sales team must ultimately find out who the key decision makers are within the company it wants to approach. It does this by starting with a warm referral to someone within the company, and then it leverages the relationship to learn more about the company.

FIGURE 8.11 Workflow deactivation.

Q&A

- **Q.** We use five different sales processes. Can we create these and then associate different sales processes with different accounts?
- **A.** You can create each of the sales processes as manual processes and then associate them as you need them. You can also automatically associate them if you have a clear business rule, such as the owner of the opportunity that helps the system to act on a specific set of conditions.
- Q. We use the Miller Heiman sales methodology. Is there a plug-in that automatically configures Microsoft Dynamics CRM with the Miller Heiman templates, worksheets, and configurations?
- **A.** Yes, there are third-party options that offer the Miller Heiman sales methodology as a plug-in to Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Check out the Microsoft Dynamics Marketplace.
- Q. We recently created a workflow, but it is not running. What did we forget?
- **A.** If your workflow is not working, then most likely you forgot to activate the workflow. A workflow stays in draft mode until it is activated.

Quiz

- **1.** What is the probability to close used for as it applies to opportunity? Why would this variable be of value to a group of venture capitalists?
- **2.** Name two sales methodologies that can be incorporated into Microsoft Dynamics CRM.
- **3.** Can the system handle a sales process that is oriented around selling a specific set of services as opposed to a set of products?
- 4. How many opportunities can you have on any one given prospect?

Answers

1. The probability percentage on an opportunity is used for analysis to offset the estimated revenue based on a salesperson's interpretation or a step in the sales process. This offers a more realistic expectation of expected revenue.

- **2.** Two of the many sales processes that can be incorporated into Microsoft Dynamics CRM are Sandler Sales and Miller Heiman.
- **3.** Yes. Microsoft Dynamics CRM can automate, document, and follow a servicesoriented sales process.
- 4. You can have an unlimited number of opportunities on any given prospect.

Exercises

Create a simple sales process that includes the following items:

- **1.** Automatically create a new activity of type task to remind a specific salesperson to update the close date, estimated revenue, and probability to close on the opportunity.
- 2. Plan for and schedule a demonstration of a product.
- **3.** Follow up on the demonstration.

Outline the sales process that Wild Landscaping might be using. Start with a warm referral to a person in a company in your area. What happens after that introduction? Can any of these steps be automated? Which steps? What are some of the other things you might have to do if you start with this warm lead?

HOUR 9

Marketing Campaigns

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- ► The marketing campaign
- Creating and tracking a marketing budget
- Capturing the results
- Tracking the steps, activities, and tasks

Now that you have learned the different sales styles and how to track opportunities, it is time to learn about a component that helps drive sales: the Marketing Campaigns module. This module in Microsoft Dynamics CRM enables you to build, manage, track, and report on the efforts that your team has put into promoting a marketing event.

The Marketing Campaign

A campaign contains all the information related to a specific marketing effort over a period of time. One way to look at a campaign is as an umbrella over a set of information. Take, for example, all the details that are involved with putting together a trade show. These details include tasks that need to be done, budgets that need to be put together and tracked, mailings and announcements and the responses to these, and more. A full marketing campaign keeps track of all the planning tasks, the campaign activities, and the campaign responses. It also lets you add target products and sales literature to the campaign, which allows you to see all related information in one place in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. By having all the information in one place, you can see and understand the effectiveness of your marketing campaign.

Think of a campaign as a container that holds all the information related to a marketing activity. Full marketing campaigns manage more complex marketing efforts, where you want to create multiple activities, maintain several marketing lists, and keep track of planning tasks and responses.

To create a new campaign, follow these steps:

- **1.** From the main menu, Navigate to the Marketing area of Microsoft Dynamics CRM by selecting Marketing from the Left Navigation.
- 2. Next, Select Campaigns from the left navigation menu.
- **3.** Click New.

For an example, you will create a full marketing campaign to manage your company's annual summer picnic. On the Campaign entry form, as shown in Figure 9.1, do the following:

		🚧 Microsoft Dynamic	s CRM			Jot ClickDimensions	In Gravely
Save a New Conservation of the save a	Copy as Copy as	Assign 🔂 Copy a Link Collaborate	Run Workflow Proces	Start Dialog s Data			
Information General	Campaign ClickDime	nsions Summer Picni	c			Campaigns	* \$
Administration Notes	General Name Campaign Code	ClickDimensions Summer Picni	e St	atus Reason Impaign Type	Proposed		
Common Planning Activities Campaign Activities Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Audit History	Currency* Expected Response (%) Offer	100	Pr	ice List			
Sales Jarget Products	Schedule						
Sales Literature Marketing Target Marketing Lists Related Campaigns	Proposed Begin Date Proposed End Date Description	6/18/2011 6/18/2011		tual Begin Date tual End Date			iov iov
Internet Marketing Internet Lead Capture Processes Workflows	Description	Picnic by ClickDimensions mark	keting automati	ion			
Dialog Sessions	Status	Active					
							R 100%

- **1.** Enter a name for your campaign.
- **2.** Select the status reason. Because you are creating a new campaign, you can leave it at its default value, Proposed.
- **3.** In the Campaign Type field, select the type of the campaign you are managing. In this case, select Event from the drop-down list because you are creating a campaign for an event.
- **4.** In the Campaign Code field, enter your own code or leave it blank to have the system automatically generate a campaign code.

FIGURE 9.1 A new campaign.

- **5.** Save the campaign. After you save your campaign, you cannot change the Campaign Code field.
- **6.** Leave the Currency field set to the default, your system base currency. In this case, it is set to U.S. Dollar.
- **7.** Leave the Expected Response field set to its default of 100. This field holds the number of expected responses from managing this campaign.
- **8.** Set the Proposed Begin Date and Proposed End Date fields for your campaign in the Schedule section.
- **9.** Enter a description for your campaign in the Description field (optional).
- **10.** When you are done populating the information on the General section, click Save on the menu bar to save the Campaign. After the Campaign is saved, you can add planning tasks, campaign activities, and campaign responses.

Quick Campaign Versus Campaign

Quick campaigns differ from full-blown campaigns in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. A quick campaign is a light version of a campaign. It contains only a single type of activity and works with a single marketing list. However, quick campaigns and campaigns can share the same marketing list and receive campaign responses. We look at quick campaigns later in this hour.

Marketing Lists

One of the important tasks to do for a campaign is to define the marketing lists. A marketing list contains the list of members that are either Account, Contact, or Lead entities that will receive the marketing material.

Microsoft CRM 2011 has two types of marketing lists: static and dynamic. A static marketing list contains a group of leads, contacts or accounts (referred to as *list members*) that you manually add to the list by using one of CRM's search or query tools. Once these members have been added to a static list, the list will not change unless you add or remove members manually. In contrast, dynamic marketing lists are queries that always contain whatever members meet the criteria at the time you use the list. For example, you might create a dynamic marketing list of leads whose Lead Source field is set to Trade Show. Each time you use the list, it will dynamically refresh itself to include all trade show leads at that moment.

If you have already created marketing lists in the Microsoft Dynamics CRM system, you can use your existing marketing lists for your marketing campaign, or you can

By the Way create a new marketing list. Because you are doing a new campaign, in this section, you'll create a new marketing list.



Marketing List Members

Each marketing list can contain members from only a single type of record. If your campaign needs to be sent to all types of records, you need to create multiple marketing lists.

To create a new marketing list, follow these steps:

- 1. Navigate to the Marketing area of Microsoft Dynamics CRM.
- 2. Select Marketing Lists from the left navigation menu.
- 3. Click New.
- 4. On the Marketing List entry form, enter the name for your new marketing list.
- **5.** Select the type of record (Account, Contact, or Lead) from the Member Type drop-down list.
- 6. Populate the Purpose, Cost, and Description fields (if desired).
- **7.** Click the Save button on the menu bar to save the marketing list. After the marketing list is saved, as shown in Figure 9.2, you can add the Marketing List members.



FIGURE 9.2 A new marketing list for existing contacts. Marketing list members are existing contacts—that is, accounts or leads from within your Dynamics CRM system. If you want to add to your marketing list someone who is not currently a contact, you need to first add the person as a contact or lead before associating him with a marketing list.

Locking Marketing List

If you lock a marketing list by selecting Yes for the Locked field, as shown in Figure 9.2, you cannot add or remove members to the marketing list. To add or remove members, you change the value to No and save the marketing list. After you finalize your members, you can lock your marketing list by changing the Locked value back to Yes.

The Marketing List Members navigation choice is now enabled on the navigation menu. To add new members, follow these steps:

- **1.** Click Marketing List Members.
- 2. Click Manage Members on the View menu. A Manage Members window appears (see Figure 9.3).

2 Manage Members Webpage Dialog
Manage Members Select how you want to find customers to add or remove as members of this marketing list.
How do you want to find members?
C Use Lookup to add members Find members to add to marketing list.
C Use Advanced Find to add members Find members to add based on search criteria.
C Use Advanced Find to remove members Find members to remove based on search criteria.
 Use Advanced Find to evaluate members Evaluate which members to keep in the marketing list based on search criteria. Update the marketing list.
OK Cancel

3. Choose an option to manage members. You have four different options: Use Lookup to Add Members, Use Advanced Find to Add Members, Use Advanced Find to Remove Members, and Use Advanced Find to Evaluate Members. As long as the marketing list is not locked, you can use the four options to change your members.



Use Lookup to Add Members

If you select the option Use Lookup to Add Members, a Lookup dialog box appears, enabling you to search for the records that you have identified in the Member Type field of your marketing list. With the Contact type selected, the system will perform the search against contacts, and the active contacts will be returned to you. To see this in action, follow these steps:

- **1.** Select the contacts, as shown in Figure 9.4, and add them to the right pane.
- 2. Click OK after you add members.

View: Contacts Lookup View Search: Full Name ▲ Parent Customer Address 1: City/ Search: Address 1: City/	Look for:	Contact	-	Show Only My Records		
Search: > Full Name ▲ Parent Customer Address 1: City M Adrian Dumitracu (sample) A Store (sample) Redmond M Brain LaMee (sample) Advanced Components (an Issayah M Gat Francis (sample) Advanced Components (an Issayah M Gat Francis (sample) Advanced Components (an Issayah M Gat Francis (sample) Basic Company (sample) M Darren Parker (sample) Best or Things (sample) M Forrest (sample) Designer Goods (sample) M Forrest (sample) Designer Goods (sample) I - 14 of 14 () selected) M ≤ Page 1) Selected records: Add	View:	Contacts Lookup View	•			
Full Name A Parent Customer Address 1: Chyl Addian Dumitracu (sample) A Store (sample) Redmond Adja Adrian Dumitracu (sample) Advanced Components (san Issaquah Adja Cathan Cook (sample) Advanced Components (san Issaquah Adja Cathan Cook (sample) Basic Company (sample) Marce Stample) Best o' Things (sample) Adja Darren Parker (sample) Best o' Things (sample) Adja Darren Parker (sample) Best o' Things (sample) Adja Basic Company (sample) Snohomish I - 14 of 14 (b selected) M 4 Page 1	Search:	1	0			
Full Name A Parent Customer Address 1: CHy/ Substant Dumitrascu (sample) A Store (sample) Redmond Substant Stan Dumitrascu (sample) Advanced Components (sam Issaquah Substant Stan Cook (sample) Advanced Components (sam Issaquah Substant Cook (sample) Advanced Company (sample) Monroe Basic Company (sample) Substant Cook (sample) Beto 'Things (sample) Substant Cook (sample) Designer Good (sample) Supple Deringer Good (sample) Supple Deringer Good (sample) Supple Deringer Good (sample) Supple Sanuth Supple Sonhomish Stetcter ecords: Idd	Jearch.		-			
Advanced Components (an Dunitrascu (sample) Advanced Components (an Esaquah Advanced Company (sample) Advanced Company (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sample) Sandhonish Cat Francis (sample) Sondhonish Setted records: Add Ball Cat Francis (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sample) Sondhonish Ball Cat Francis (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sample) Sondhonish Ball Cat Francis (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sample) Sondhonish Ball Cat Francis (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sample) Sondhonish Ball Cat Francis (sample) Ball Cat Francis (sa		ull Name 🔺		Parent Customer	Address 1: Ci	te d
Adamced Components (am ple) Advanced Components (am Issauah Cattrancis (sample) Advanced Components (am Issauah Cattrancis (sample) Cattrancis (sample) Basic Company (sample) Basic Company (sample) Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah Sauah		drian Dumitrascu (sample)		A Store (sample)	Redmond	4
Add Add Add Add		rain LaMee (sample)		Advanced Components (sa	n Issaguah	1
Image: Sector		at Francis (sample)		Affordable Equipment (san	n Duvall	
Image: Standing of the standi	- S- C	athan Cook (sample)		Basic Company (sample)	Monroe	-1
Bij Eva Corets (sample) Designer Goods (sample) Issaquah Bij Forrest Chand (sample) Blue Company (sample) Snohomish I - 14 of 14 (0 selected) Id < Page 1 > Selected records: Add	- S. D	arren Parker (sample)		Best o' Things (sample)	Issaguah	
Bij Forrest Chand (sample) Shohomish 4 Blue Company (sample) Shohomish 1 1 1 1 1 14 of 14 Stetcted Setected records: Add	E SE E	va Corets (sample)		Designer Goods (sample)	Issaguah	
I Image: Selected Id Page 1 Selected records: Image: Selected records: Add Remove	- S. F	orrest Chand (sample)		Blue Company (sample)	Snohomish	٦.
1 - 14 of 14 (0 selected) № 4 Page 1 > Selected records:	4				•	, i
Selected records: Add Remove	1 - 14 of	14 (0 selected)			Id 4 Page 1	•
Add Remove	Selected r	ecords:				
Add Remove						
Remove	Add	1				
kemove						
	Remo	ve				

Use Advanced Find to Add Members

Use Advanced Find to Add Members is a feature that will be introduced a few times in this book. You use it to set up your own views with your own queries (see Hour 11, "Configuring Your Interaction with Microsoft Dynamics CRM") and working with Excel (see Hour 20, "Utilizing the Power of Microsoft Excel with CRM Data"). If you select Use Advanced Find to Add Members, a common Advanced Find dialog box appears, as shown in Figure 9.5. You can add your own filter criteria to identify the list of members as follows:

- **1.** Choose your criteria: an attribute (field) and a value or range of values.
- 2. Choose View.
- **3.** On the result page, select the members you want to include.

FIGURE 9.4 Using the Look Up Records dialog box to add members.

			V
Add Members	nd members to add to the mark	etina list	
nd			
Edit Columns			
Look for: Contact		Use Saved View: [new]	
🚰 Details 🔭 Clear	Group AND]. Group	OR	
- Status	Equals	Active	
+ Address 1: City	Equals	Atlanta	
Select			

FIGURE 9.5 The Add

Members dialog box for adding members.

4. Click Add to Marketing List to add the found people or accounts to your marketing list, as shown in Figure 9.6.

Add Members		
Use search criteria to find members to add to the	marketing list.	
1 Full Name &	Burinerr Phone	
9 Brad Burks	888.214.4228	
9 John Gravely	888.214.4228	
🛛 🚛 Koren Tako	888.214.4228	
. Sul Tony Cannizzo	888.214.4228	
1 - 4 of 4 (D selected)		4 € Page 1
1 - 4 of 4 (0 selected) Add only the selected members to the market	ng list	if 4 Page1
1 - 4 of 4 (0 selected) Add only the selected members to the market Add all the members returned by the search to	ng list the marketing list	M 4 Page 1
1 - 4 of 4 (0 selected)	ng list	if 4 Page1



Use Advanced Find to Remove Members

The Use Advanced Find to Remove Members option is similar to the Use Advanced Find to Add Members option. Follow the same steps to identify the list of members that you want to remove:

- **1.** Choose your criteria: an attribute (field) and a value or range of values.
- 2. Choose View.
- 3. On the result page, select the members that you want to exclude.
- Click the Remove from Marketing List button to remove them from your marketing list.

Use Advanced Find to Evaluate Members

The Use Advanced Find to Evaluate Members option is similar to the previous two options. You can use this option to evaluate the existing marketing list to add or remove members based on additional filtering criteria.

Add Marketing List to Campaign

After a marketing list is created, you can use it in your marketing campaign. To tie your marketing list to your campaign, follow these steps:

- 1. From the Left Navigation, Campaigns, Navigate to your campaign.
- 2. Select Target Marketing List from the navigation menu.
- **3.** Click Add to add your marketing list (see Figure 9.7).



Adding a Marketing List to Campaign Activities

The marketing lists must be added to a campaign before you can use them in your campaign activities.

File Campaign Add Cur	stomize	Li Mark	st Tools eting List	5		-	Microso	ft Dynar	nics CR	м							Clic	kDime	nsion	Joh ns - G	n Gran RM Be	ook a
dd Existing Marketing	R 10		副 - As	ign M	B. arketir	5 C C	F		Set	As Defa View	ult P	hart ane -	Run Workdi	and op	tart	Rep	un iort -	Expor	nt Mar	rketin	19	
Records	Acti	ons	c	ollabo	rate	_	Curr	ent View	v	Vie	ew		Pr	ocess				Dat				
iformation - General		ampa lick	ign Dimen	sion	s Su	mm	er Pi	cnic									C	mpai	gns		Ŧ	e 4
Administration	👘 Ta	rget N	Aarketin	g List	s: M	arke	ting L	ist Ass	ociat	ed Vie	w •				ſ	1	_	_	_	_	_	\$
* Notes		ame 🛩								Туре			Marketin	ng List		Last U	sed C	n	Pu	rpos	e	K
Related	🗆 💼 🕻	lickDim	ensions :	iumme	r Picni	٢.				Static			Contact				6/1	4/2011	GL	Jest I	ist for	CII
Planning Activities																						
Planning Activities Campaign Activities Campaign Activities Campaign Responses Connections Audit History																						
WE Planning Activities Campaign Activities Campaign Responses Connections Audit History Sales Target Products Sales Uterature																						
Campaign Activities Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Campaign Cam																						
Grangian Activities Grangian Responses Gonetian Activities Gonetian Activities Gonetian Activities Gonetian Activities Gonetian Activities Sales Literature Marketing Target Products Grangians Internet Marketing Internet Karketine		0.01																			4.0	
	1 - 1 of) All	L (D sel	ected)	D	E	F	G H	I		K L	м	N	0 P	0	R	2	T		/ /	Н	4 Pag	el Þ
	1-1 of 3	L (D seid	ected) B C	D	E	F	G H	I	J	κL	М	N	0 P	Q	R	5	Ţ	u 1	/ /	H	4 Pag	e1 ₽ 7 Z

FIGURE 9.7 A new camnaign's Target

paign's Target Marketing Lists quick view.

Planning Tasks

Planning tasks are activities of type Task. Think of them as your marketing campaign to-do list. After a planning task is created, you can assign the task to yourself or to others on your team to help launch the campaign. For example, if you are going to run a campaign for your company's summer picnic, you could create a planning task for booking the location, a task for ordering the food, a task for putting together the e-mail invitations, and so on.

To create a planning task, follow these steps:

- 1. Select Marketing.
- 2. Select Campaigns.
- 3. Find and open your campaign.
- 4. Select Planning Tasks on the navigation.
- **5.** Click New from the ribbon.
- **6.** Enter the information for the planning task, including Subject, Regarding, Owner, Duration, Due, and Priority, as shown in Figure 9.8.
- **7.** Click Notes to add additional information or attachments related to this planning task.
- 8. When you finish, click Save and Close to save your planning task.



File Task Customize		🚧 Microsoft I	Dynamics CRM			ClickDir	Je mensions	- CRM Bor	ty ok
Mark omplete Save Save Save	å New te Attach Ad File Not Include	d te Convert Activity	Connect Add	to Queue Item ue Details Collabori	Assign ate	Gii Sharing + I∰ Copy a Link I∰ E-mail a Link	Process	Run Report - Data	
nformation Task	Task New					Tasks		* 0	-
	Subject	Booking ClickDimer	nsions picnic loca	stion					
Common Connections Audit History Processes Workflows Dialog Sessions	Look for locations	near the ClickDimensio	ns Atlanta office						
Common Connections Audit History Processes Workflows Dialog Sessions	Look for locations	near the ClickDimensio	ns Atlanta office						
Audit History Audit History Processes Common Views Workflows	Look for locations Regarding Owner *	ear the ClickDimensio	ns Atlanta office <u>15 Summer Pisnis</u>						
Audit History Audit History Connections (Workflows Dialog Sessions	Look for locations Regarding Owner * Duration	rear the ClickDimensio	ns Atlanta office 15 Summer Pisnis	Priority		Normal			
Audit History Audit History Processes Workflows	Look for focations Regarding Owner * Duration Due	ear the ClickDimensio ClickDimension 5 John Gravely 2 hours 6/20/2011	s Summer Picnis	Priority		Normal			
Connections Connections Audit History Processor Weinflows Dialog Sessions	Look for locations Regarding Owner * Duration Due Category	ear the ClickDimension ClickDimension S John Gravely 2 hours 6/10/2011 IS N	s Summer Picnis	Priority Sub-Categor	Ŋ	Normal			

Creating a Planning Task

You can create a planning task by selecting a new activity of type Task and setting the Regarding field to a specific campaign.

Campaign Activities

Campaign activities are the core component of a campaign. They are not the same as regular Microsoft Dynamics CRM activities. They are the actions that make up the campaign, such as phone calls, appointments, letters, faxes, and e-mails. Campaign activities contain information, such as scheduled start date, scheduled end date, priority, budgeted cost, and actual cost of the activity.

A campaign can contain multiple campaign activities. For example, you can set up a campaign activity to send out an e-mail campaign and then follow up with phone calls. Campaign activities have two categories: channel activities and non-channel activities. Channel activities are communications such as a phone call, a letter, or an e-mail message that reaches the customer when the campaign activity is distributed. Non-channel activities are to-dos for you and your team during the campaign; a task will be created and added to the user's activity list. Campaign activities can share a single marketing list or use a different marketing list within a campaign. To create a campaign activity, follow these steps:

- 1. From the left navigation, select Marketing.
- 2. Select Campaigns.
- 3. Find and open your campaign.
- 4. Select Campaign Activities from the navigation pane.
- **5.** Click New from ribbon.
- **6.** On the Campaign Activity form, select the channel from the Channel dropdown list, as shown in Figure 9.9.
- 7. Enter a subject for your campaign activity.
- **8.** For the Type field, select the option that best describes the campaign activity that you are creating.
- **9.** Verify the owner. The Owner field, by default, is you because you are creating the campaign activity. You can assign it to another user if that user will be responsible for it.

Non-Channel Activities

If you want to create a non-channel activity, select Other or just leave the Channel field blank.

		🕌 Microsof	Dynamics CRM				John Graveh	¥
File Campaign Activity C	lustomize					ClickDimension	s - CRM Book	k
Save & New X Delete	Attach Add Dist	tribute Campaign Close Campaign	Connect Add to Queue	Queue Rem Assign	Sharing -	Run Workflow Dialog	Run Report +	
Save	Include	Actions		Collaborate		Process	Data	
formation Campaign Activity	Campaign Campaign	Activity mensions Company Picr	ic Invitation			Campaign Act	ivities 👻 🕸	I
lelated	Campaign Act Parent Campaign	tivity	Picnic 🖂	Status Reason	Proposed		v	
📆 Target Marketing Lists	Channel	Letter	•	Type	Direct Initial	Contact	-	
 Connections Audit History 	Subject *	ClickDimensions Company Pio	nic Invitation					
Audit History Processes Wonkflows Dialog Sessions	Subject *	ClickDimensions Company Pice	nic Invitation					
Connections Connec	Subject*	ClickDimensions Company Pic	hic Invitation					
Connections Audit History Processes Convertience Convertience Convertience Dialog Sessions	Subject * Owner * Outsource Vendo	ClickDimensions Company Pice	hic Invitation					
Audit History Audit History Connections Audit History Wonthows Dialog Sessions	Subjett * Owner * Outsource Vendo Scheduled Start	ClickDimensions Company Pin S John Gravely 6:6:2011	in Invitation	Actual Start	[
Audit History Audit History Audit History Workflows Get Workflows Dialog Sessions	Subjett * Owner * Outsource Vendo Scheduled Start Scheduled End	ClickDimensions Company Pro ClickDimensions Company Pro Status 6:6/2011 6:13/2011		Actual Start Actual End				
Benetions Audit History Processes Ge Woodflows Dialog Sessions	Subject * Owner * Outsource Vendo Scheduled Start Scheduled End Budget Allocated	ClickDimensions Company Pro		Actual Start Actual Ind Actual Cost	[[50.20			
Audit History Audit History Audit History Troceses Get Would How Dialog Sessions	Subject * Owner * Outsource Vendo Scheduled Start Scheduled End Budget Allocated Priority	CitikÖlimensions Company Pro	ic Invitation	Actual Start Actual End Actual Cost Currency	 \$0.00 ₽₹_US Della	и		



FIGURE 9.9 A new campaign's new cam-

paign activity.

- **10.** Assign an outsource vendor if your campaign activity involves an outside vendor. Enter the scheduled start, scheduled end, budget allocated, and priority information.
- **11.** Under the Anti-Spam setting, exclude marketing list members if contacted within a set time period and enter the number of days you want to pass before a member in your marketing list can be contacted again.
- **12.** Click Save to save the campaign activity.

Every campaign activity must have at least one marketing list. Because you added the marketing lists to the campaign earlier, you can add that to your campaign activity.

To add a marketing list to the campaign activity, follow these steps:

- **1.** Click Target Marketing Lists in the navigation pane.
- 2. Click Add from the ribbon.
- **3.** In the Look Up Records dialog box, as shown in Figure 9.10, click the search icon to get the lists of available marketing lists.
- **4.** Add the marketing list by moving it to the pane on the right.
- 5. Click OK to add the marketing list to the campaign activity.
- 6. Click Save to save the campaign activity.

View: Lists For Campaign	
Search: Search for records	
Name Type Purpose M	
	arketing Lis
4	
4 1 - 1 of 1 (0 selected) 4	
4	
I - 1 of 1 () selected) H	4 Page 1
I - 1 of 1 (b selected) Id	4 Page 1

FIGURE 9.10

A new campaign's Look Up Records dialog box.

Distributing Campaign Activities

After you create a campaign activity, your next step is to distribute the campaign activities. Distribution of a campaign activity kicks off and assigns the campaign activity to the specific people who need to accomplish it and links the activity to the associated Account, Contact, or Lead entities. To distribute a campaign activity, click Distribute Campaign Activity on the menu bar. A form opens, based on the channel type that you specified. For example, if you select E-mail, a New E-mail form shows up. If you select Phone Call, a New Phone Call form shows up. In this example, a letter was selected in this campaign activity, so a New Letters form appears, as shown in Figure 9.11. You can see that some of the fields on the form are disabled because the system automatically populated those values.

Sender				Address	[
Recipient				Direction	C Incoming 🕝 Ou	itgoing	
Subject *	ClickDimensions Sun	nmer Picnic					
Regarding							
Regarding Owner *							
Regarding Owner * Duration	30 minutes		×	Priority	Normal		
Regarding Owner * Duration Due	30 minutes 6/13/2011	(v 1200 AM	M	Priority	Normal		

FIGURE 9.11 Distributing a campaign activity.

After a campaign activity is distributed, the activity owners can view the open activities under Activities in their workplace. They can then complete the activity, such as making phone calls or sending the e-mail.

Campaign Activity Status

After a campaign activity is successfully distributed, the status reason for the campaign activity changes from Proposed to Completed.



Campaign Templates

Over time, you will invariably conduct similar campaigns. Instead of re-creating a campaign every time, Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers you the option to create a campaign and save it as a template. Then, the next time you run a similar campaign, you don't have to re-create the same tasks and activities. This saves you time in planning your marketing campaigns.

There are two approaches for creating a campaign template. The first approach is to create a new campaign template by going to Campaigns and clicking the New Template button on the ribbon. When the new campaign form appears, fill in the necessary information and then click Save and Close to save the template. The second approach is to create a template from an existing campaign. Just open your existing Campaign, click the Action menu, and select Copy as Template, as shown in Figure 9.12. This second approach is the most popular way to create a campaign template.





Campaign Template

To identify a campaign template, it's a good idea to include the word *Template* in the name.

Quick Campaigns

A quick campaign is a light version of a full-blown campaign. It can contain only a single type of activity and works with a single marketing list. The marketing list can be a group of Account, Contact, or Lead entities. After you decide what type of activity you are going to create and the owner of the activity, creating the quick campaign is easy.

First, identify a list of recipients through the Advanced Find tool, as shown in Figure 9.13, or through one of the Account, Contact, or Lead views. In this example, you will launch a quick campaign from the search result of contacts through Advanced Find, as shown in Figure 9.14.

Advanced Find	1		_	Microsoft Dynar	nics c.ion			Clid		John Grav ons - CRM Bo	ely rok
Saved Results	New Save	Save As Edit Columns Edit Properties View	Q Clear	(E Group AND (E Group OR Details	Download Fetch XML Debug						
ok for: Contacts			▼ Use	Saved View:	My Active Contacts						
Status Address 1: City	Equal	8	Active Atlanta								
				_						100 %	6
ttps://clickdimensions	-crmbook.crm.d	ynamics.com/?extra	iqs=%31Da	taProvider%3dM	Vicrosoft.Crm.Appl nics CRM	i - Window	s Internet E	xplorer	1000	100%	ely
ttps://clickdimensions	-crmbook.crm.d List Tools Contacts Send Direct / Send Direct /	ynamics.com/?extra	eqs=%3/Da	taProvider%3dh (Mkrosoft Dynar 및 Mail Merge 원 Connect ~	Alcrosoft.Crm.Appl nics CRM	ii - Window re y a Link ail a Link	s Internet E	xplorer Click Start Dialog R	kDimensio Run Report - (Dat	John Grav John Grav Dopot Coport Contacts	ely
ttps://clickdimensions	-crmbook.crm.d List Tools Contacts Send Direct / Send Direct / E-mail E b	ynamics.com/?extra	Quick Quick For Sele For All F	ttaProvider%3dM (Microsoft Dynar G Mail Merge 음을 Connect - etted Records Records on Curre Records on All Pa	Alicrosoft/Crm.Appl nics CRM Assign Contacts int Page upes ns	i - Window re y a Link all a Link Busi 888	s Internet E Workflow Proces ness Phone 214.4228	xplorer Click Start Dialog S	Run Leport - C Dat	Image: state	ely
Advanced Find Advanced Find Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Contro	-trmbook.crm.du Uit Tools Contarts Send Direct J E-mail B b k k	Add to Marketing C mail rad.burks@cickdin oren.lak.o@cickdim	Quick Quick For Sele For All F For All F nensions.com	taProvider%3dM (Microsoft Dynam g_3 Mail Merge @ Connect _ exted Records Records on Curre Records on All Pa om <u>Clic</u> n <u>Clic</u>	Microsoft/Crm.Appl mics CRM Astigo Copy Contacts Contacts Contacts Contacts Contacts Contacts Copy E-ma Microsoft/Crm.Appl Shar Copy E-ma Stations Stations Stations	i - Window e y a Link all a Link Busii 888. 888.	s Internet E Run Workflow Proces Phone 214.4228 214.4228 214.4228	xplorer Click Start Dialog S	Run Run Dat	Call Control C	ely
Advanced Find Advanced Find State State Records Find Hame - Bend Bucks S. John Streety S. Koren Tako S. Tony Connizco	-crmbook.crm.d Litt Tools Contacts Seng Direct E-mail k k k t	ynamics.com//extra Add to Marketing Badd to Marketing Ist Ist Ist Ist Ist Ist Ist Ist Ist Ist	egs=%31Da Quick For Sele For Sele For All F mensions.com imensions.com	taProvider/&3dN (Microsoft Dynam) Mail Merge (Mail Mail Merge (Mail Merge)(Mail Merge (Mail Merge)(Mail Merge)(Ma	Acrosoft.Crm.Appl nics CBM	i - Window y a Link all a Link 888. 998. 888. 888.	s Internet E Run Proces Proces Proces Proces 214.4228 214.4228 214.4228	xplorer Clid Start s	Run . C Dat	R 100%	ely

FIGURE 9.13 An advanced find for contacts in Atlanta.

FIGURE 9.14 Advanced Find result.

On the results screen, click the Create Quick Campaign button on the ribbon and then select one of the three available options: For Selected Records, For All Records on the Current Page, or For All Records on All Pages. In this case, you are going to select all records. On the next page, enter the name of the campaign and then click the Next button to continue, as shown in Figure 9.15.

FIGURE 9.15 The Create Quick Campaign Wizard: Specify the Campaign Name screen.

194

pecify the Campaign Name		
secify the name for this Quick Campaign. The maximum number of character	rs is 200.	
ame:		
lickDimensions Summer Picnic Reminder		
	<back next=""></back>	Cancel

On the Select the Activity Type and Owners page, as shown in Figure 9.16, choose the type of activity that you want to create and select the owner of the activity. The available activity types are Phone Call, Appointment, Letter, Fax, and E-mail. If you select E-mail, you have the option to have Microsoft Dynamics CRM send out the e-mail message and automatically close the e-mail activities.

	t the Activity lype and Owners	
Sele Acti	ct what type of activity to create. ity Type:	
8	Phone Call	
Ē	Appointment	
	Letter	
4	ð Fax	
	E-mail	
0	Me The owners of the records that are included in the quick campaign	
000	Me The owners of the records that are included in the quick campaign Assign to another user or team	
00	Me The owners of the records that are included in the quick campaign Assign to another user or team Add the created activities to a queue	

FIGURE 9.16 The Create Quick Campaign Wizard: Select

the Activity Type and Owners screen. Based on the activity type you select, the corresponding activity form opens. Populate the necessary information for the activity and then click the Next button to continue. After confirming the details, click Create to create the quick campaign; the activities are distributed immediately.

Creating and Tracking a Marketing Budget

The budget and the actual cost of a campaign are located in the Financials section, as shown in Figure 9.17. You can enter the Budget Allocated amount, Miscellaneous Costs amount, and Estimated Revenue amount for a given campaign. The Budget Allocated field indicates the dollar amounts that you have dedicated to this campaign. The Miscellaneous Costs field contains the dollar amounts that are not incurred by the campaign activities, such as the cost of the marketing lists. The Estimated Revenue field contains the dollar amounts that you expect to generate from this marketing campaign.

Remain Add Cutomize CataDimensions - CMM Book Image: Strate in the strate			All Microsoft Dynamic	IS CRM			John Grav	ely
Serve & Nerve Serve & Nerve Serve & Detective Campaign Serve & Longett Serve & Actions Campaign Serve & Longett Serve & Actions Callaborate Serve & Actions Callaborate Common Callaborate Common Description Description Description Description Description Serve Maketing Total Cost of Common Financials Financials Financials Financials Financials Serve Maketing Total Cost of Selent Campaign Common Audit History Salas Sales Financials Financials Financials Financials Financials Sales Uterstruct Goldo Total Cost of Campaign	File Campaign Add (Sustomize				ClickDime	ensions - CRM Bo	ook .
Sere Addies Callaborate Process Data Internation Campaign Campaigns • • • • • Central ClickDimensions Summer Picnic Campaigns • • • • • ClickDimensions Description Particle y ClickDimensions marketing automation Image: Status Parning Attrities Description Particle y ClickDimensions marketing automation Image: Status Common Particle y ClickDimensions Financials Image: Status Common Financials Financials Status Financials Image: Status Status Financials Image: Status Status Financials Image: Status Particle Status Image: Status Image: Status Processes Generation Image: Status Status Advine	Save & Save & New Save & Save & New Save & Deactivate Close X Delete	Copy as Copy as Copy as Copy as	innect Assign @ E-m	ering . by a Link sail a Link	Run Start Workflow Dialog	Run Report -		
termation Cernal CitckDimensions Summer Picnic CitckDimensions Su	Save	Actions	Collaborate		Process	Data		
Administration Notes Description Percription Branchast Description Percription Branchast Description Percription Implementation Percription Percription Internet tead Capture Percription Percription Internet tead Capture Sature Implementation Implementation Implementation Percription Implementation Implementation	nformation General	Campaign ClickDime	nsions Summe	r Picnic		Campai	gns 👻 1	2 9
Notes Description Retated Description Common Partic by ClickDimensions marketing automation Image: Product Statutes Provide by ClickDimensions Image: Product Statutes Provide by ClickDimensions Image: Product Statutes Provide by ClickDimensions Image: Resketing Units Provide by ClickDimensions Image: Status Status Image: Status Status	- Administration	1.1.1		(MARKED)			Canadi	- 1
Description Percic by ClickDimensions marketing automation Common Percic by ClickDimensions marketing automation Image: Comparison Reported Image: Comparison Reported Image: Comparison Reported <td>Notes</td> <td>Description</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Notes	Description						
Common Common Compage Attributes Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concelions Concel	Related	Description	Picnic by ClickDimens	ions marke	ting automation			
Sales Total (cit of Grant Products [0:00] Budget Allocated \$1,000.00 Sales Uterature Miscelinaeous Costs [0:00] Estimated Revenue \$0.00 Warbeling Total (cost of grant Markeling USS [0:00] Estimated Revenue \$0.00 Processes Administration Frocesses Created On [r:14/001] [0:00] Status Adveting Salen Gravety Modified On [r:14/001] [0:00]	2013							
Advised Service Modelied Capture Modelied Dates Setsors Modelied Dates Setsors Seture Modelied Dates Seture Se	 Planning Activities Campaign Activities Campaign Activities Campaign Responses Connections Audit History 	* Financials Financials					Ċ	
Markeling	Planning Activities Campaign Activities Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Connections Audit History Sales Target Products	 Financials Financials Total Cost of Campaign Activities 	\$0.00		Budget Allocated	\$1,000.00		
Administration Administration Owner* Administration Owner* S Jahn Greeter Created On Frid/Obli INV 541 Alm Processer Modified On Frid/Obli INV 546 Alm Dateg Sessions Status Active	Planning Activities Campaign Activities Campaign Responses Connections Audit History Sales Target Products Sales Literature	 Financials Financials Total Cost of Campaign Activities Miscellaneous Costs 	50.00		Budget Allocated Estimated Revenue	\$1,000.00		
Manente Manetengi © Internet Lead Capture Owner* Status Processes Modified Dy Status © Workflows Status Active		Financials Financials Total Cost of Campaign Activities Miscelleneous Costs Total Cost of Campaign	[50.00 [50.00 [50.00		Budget Allocated Estimated Revenue	\$1,000.00 \$0.00		
Processes Modified By S John Gravely C Modified On Strat/2011 (S 546 Alm)	Panning Activities Campaign Activities Campaign Responses Connections Connect	Financials Financials Financials Total Cost of Campaign Activities Miscellaneous Costs Total Cost of Campaign • Administration	\$0.00 \$0.00 \$0.00		Budget Allocated Estimated Revenue	[\$1,000.00 [\$0.00		
Dialog Sessions Active	Campaign Activities Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Just Heating Target Products Sales Uterature Marketing Target Athacking Rested Campaignt Internet Marketing Company	Financials Financials Tetal Cost of Campaign Activities Miscellaneous Costs Total Cost of Campaign • Administration Owner*	50.00 50.00 50.00		Budget Allocated Estimated Revenue Created On	\$1,000.00 \$0.00 \$/14/2011	541 A	
Status Active	Company Activities Company Activities Company Responses Connections Aude Hostory Longent Products Sets Stars Literature Marketing Target Marketing Market	Financials Financials Financials Total Cost of Compaign Artitities Miscellaneous Costs Total Cost of Campaign • Administration Owner* Modified By	50.00 50.00 Soloo Soloo Soloo Soloo Soloo Soloo Soloo Soloo Soloo		Budget Allocated Estimated Revenue Created On Modified On	\$1,000.00 \$0.00 \$ /14/2011 \$ /14/2011	541 A	
	Campaign Anthress Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Campaign Responses Audit History Juster History Safes Uterstore Target Nataketing Rested Campaigns Internet Lad Capture Processes Control Tox Dualog Session	Financials Financials Financials Total Cost of Campaign Attivities Total Cost of Campaign * Administration Owner* Modified By	10.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50		Budget Allocated Estimated Revenue Created On Modified On	\$1,000.00 \$0.00 \$7,4/2011 \$7,4/2011	541 A	

FIGURE 9.17 The Campaign Financials section.

Total Cost of Campaign Activities and the Total Cost of Campaign have been disabled on the campaign by default because Microsoft Dynamics CRM will automatically calculate the values based on the financials from the campaign activities that are tied to the campaign, as shown in Figure 9.18. The calculation of the total cost of the campaign activities amount is based on the actual costs of all the campaign activities. The calculation of the total cost of the campaign amount is based on the total cost of campaign activities plus the miscellaneous costs recorded for the campaign.







Refreshing Campaign Activity

If you don't see the Total Cost of Campaign Activities and Total Cost of Campaign values change after you update the financial fields on the associated campaign activities, refresh the campaign by closing and reopening it.

Capturing the Results

After you have distributed the activities to your customers, the customers will start responding to your campaign. Their responses will be captured as campaign responses in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The total number of responses for the campaign will be one of the ways to measure the effectiveness of the campaign. After the campaign responses are generated in the system, you can convert the responses into leads, quotes, orders, or opportunities.

There are multiple ways to capture the results in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. You can manually create the campaign responses from within the campaign or create an activity and convert it to a campaign response. If you are not connected to Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you can still record the responses of your campaign in a text file and then import the records when you have access to your Microsoft Dynamics CRM system again. In addition, if e-mail tracking is enabled in your Microsoft Dynamics CRM settings, incoming e-mails in response to your campaign can automatically be created as a campaign response in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Manually Creating a Campaign Response

To manually create a campaign response, follow these steps:

- **1.** Open your campaign.
- 2. Click the campaign responses on the navigation menu.
- **3.** Click New on the ribbon. A new Campaign Response form displays for you to enter information, as shown in Figure 9.19.
- **4.** Indicate the customer's response by populating the Response Code field on the Campaign Response form.
- **5.** Associate this response to your existing Account, Contact, or Lead entity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM by clicking the lookup icon next to the Customer field.
- **6.** When you finish with this screen, click Save to save your campaign response.

		All Microso	At Dynamics CRM			John Gravely
File Campaign Response	Customize				Cito	kDimensions - CRM Book
Save & New X Delete	Attach Add Conve	rt Campaign Copy Campaign esponse Response	Add to Queue Item	Assign Staring -	Run workflow Dialog	Run Report -
Save	Include	Actions	Co	ollaborate	Process	Data
nformation Campaign Response	Campaign Re New	sponse			0	impalon Respo _{nte} 💌 🕸 🛛
	* Campaign Resp	onse				
Related	Parent Campaign*	SP ClickDimensions Summe	Picnic 🖂	Response Code	Interested	•
Audit History	Promotion Code					
Processes	Subject *	Attending the ClickDimensio	ons Picnic			
	Owner	S John Gravely	1	Priority	Normal	-
	Received From E	cisting Customer				
	Received From E	kisting Customer				
	Received From E Customer Received From N	cisting Customer ew Customer				a
	Received From E Customer Received From N Company Name	xisting Customer		Phone		a
	Received From E Customer Received From N Company Name Last Name	visting Customer		Phone E-Mail		
	Received From E Customer Received From N Company Name Last Name First Name	visting Customer		Phone E-Mail Fax		a
	Received From E Customer Received From N Company Name Last Name First Name Details	uisting Customer		Phone E-Mail Fax		
	Control Contro	Letter		Phone E-Mail Fax Outsource Vendor		<u>a</u>
	Control Received From E Customer Received From N Company Name Last Name First Name Details Channel Received On	Letter 61442011	To v	Phone E-Mail Fax Outsource Vendor Close By		ت ت ت
	Received From E Customer Received From N Company Name Last Name First Name Details Channel Received On Originating Activity	ew Customer ew Customer Letter 6/34/2011	·	Phone E-Mail Fax Outsource Vendor Close By		ت م س
	Received From E Customer Received From N Company Name Last Name First Name Details Channel Received On Originating Activity	ew Customer ew Customer Letter 6/14/2011	•	Phone E-Mail Fax Outsource Vendor Close By		्य व्य व्य
	Received From E Customer Received From N Company Name Last Name Details Channel Received On Originating Activity Status	Letter 6/14/2011	•	Phone E-Mail Pax Outsource Vendor Close By		يت م م



More Options for Converting an Activity to a Campaign Response

An activity, such as an incoming e-mail, can be converted to a campaign response. Additionally a completed phone call or other type of activity can be used as a campaign response.

Creating a New Customer

You might have to create a new customer by populating the Company, Last Name, First Name, Phone, E-mail, and Fax fields in the Received from New Customer section. Optionally, you can also populate the Details section here.

Creating a Campaign Response

Another way to create a campaign response is to create a new activity and chose Campaign Response as the activity type. This can be done anywhere within the system that you can create a new activity.



Response Code Values

Your system administrator can customize the Response Code values to use the terminology that fits your business.

When you are working with a specific activity, such as a phone call that you received, you can also convert it to an activity of type Campaign Response by associating it with a source campaign.

To convert an activity through association, follow these steps:

1. Click the Convert Activity button on the menu bar, as shown in Figure 9.20.



FIGURE 9.20

The Phone Call Activity form; notice the Convert Activity button on the menu bar. **2.** Select To Opportunity from the available options. The Convert Phone Call to Opportunity dialog box appears, as shown in Figure 9.21.

Cust	omer *	Sad Burks	<u>_</u>
Curr	ency *	🥰 US Dollar	
Sou	ce Campaign *	ClickDimensions Summer Picnic	
	Open the new opportunity		
V	Change the Phone Call status to	Completed and close the form	
~	Record a closed campaign respon	ise	

FIGURE 9.21 The Convert Phone Call to Opportunity dialog box.

- 3. Populate the Customer and Source Campaign lookup fields.
- 4. Check Record a Closed Campaign Response.
- **5.** Click OK. A new Campaign Response is created for the source campaign that you specified.

Create Campaign Response

You can convert the following activities into campaign responses: Appointment, Letter, E-mail, and Fax.

Importing Responses

To import campaign responses into Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you have many options. You can leverage the default Microsoft Default CRM data import tool, as described in Hour 6, "Managing Leads," or you can use a third-party import tool.

After the campaign responses are created, you can perform several tasks. You can assign the campaign response to another user on your sales team or assign it to a queue. You can convert the response into a lead, quote, order, or opportunity. Also, you can close the campaign response as completed or canceled.

Tracking the Steps, Activities, and Tasks

After a marketing campaign is under way, you can track the status of each step in the campaign and view the progress of the activities in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. To



view the status of the campaign activities, go into the specific campaign and select Campaign Activities in the navigation area, as shown in Figure 9.22. You will see a list of the activities and the status for each of them.



In addition, Microsoft Dynamics CRM provides three reports to track the progress and effectiveness of your campaigns. Based on the information provided in these reports, your company can decide which campaigns should continue to run, which should stop, and which should be modified.

The reports available in the Reports section are Campaign Activity Status, Campaign Comparison, and Campaign Performance. If the default reports don't contain the information you are looking for, you can create an Advanced Find query or a Report Wizard report to get the data you need. For more information on finding, analyzing, and reporting, see Hour 20 and Hour 21, "Reporting and Query Basics."

Summary

In this lesson, you learned the essentials of marketing campaigns in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. You should be able to create a marketing campaign, create a marketing list, manage cost, capture responses, and track activities in a marketing campaign. Now, you can see that the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Marketing Campaigns module is a great tool for your company.

FIGURE 9.22

Campaign

A campaign's

Activities view.

Workshop

Dragon Financials is a brokerage house that sells financial products and services to customers across the country. To get investors interested in its financial products and services, it participates in several national financial events every year. In addition to the national financial events, Dragon Financials hosts monthly online seminars to educate investors about the different financial products and trading platforms it offers. The marketing department at Dragon Financials has leveraged the Marketing Campaigns module in Microsoft Dynamics CRM to help it to plan, keep track of activities and costs, and measure the effectiveness of its marketing activities.

Dragon Financials mainly focuses on the yearly national financial events. There are many things to prepare before attending the show. The marketing team creates a full marketing campaign to manage those events. The team uses planning tasks to lay out the action items that it needs to do for the event, such as reserving the booth space, preparing the booth, printing the brochures, making travel reservations, and inviting its top-rated customers to the financial events. Because its top-rated customers consist of private investors and institutions, the team creates two marketing lists for its campaign in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. After the marketing lists are created, the marketing team creates and then mails the invitations to investors. Next, it follows up with them on a phone call after two weeks to make sure that they have received the invitation and to confirm their attendance. So, it has created two campaign activities: one for the invitations and one for the follow-up phone call. After marketing receives the confirmation of attendance, it creates a campaign response and associates it with the campaign. The marketing team also uses the financial functions in the campaign to keep track of its campaign costs and report them to upper management when the campaign ends.

In addition to the yearly national financial events, Dragon Financials hosts online seminars to educate investors. It needs to notify its potential investors and current customers about these seminars and to keep track of the registrations. It leverages the quick campaign feature in Microsoft Dynamics CRM to create an e-mail campaign to notify its investors. Because Dragon Financials has the Microsoft Dynamics CRM tracking setting turned on, all the e-mail replies are automatically converted to campaign responses. After a campaign response gets into the system, Dragon Financials then assigns it to a salesperson to follow up with the investor.

As you can see, Microsoft Dynamics CRM provides the marketing features that Dragon Financials needs. It helps the company organize many marketing events and streamline the process for maintaining constant communication with its investors.
Q&A

- Q. Does the financial data in a full campaign synchronize with my accounting software?
- **A.** No. Currently, the marketing campaign financial features do not integrate with any Microsoft ERP packages. A Microsoft Dynamics Partner can provide more information on available third-party solutions to integrate your two systems.
- Q. Does a contact have to exist in the system for me to add it to a marketing list?
- **A.** Yes. If a contact does not exist, you need to first create the contact as a contact, account, or lead and then associate it with your marketing list.

Q. Why must I distribute campaign activities?

- **A.** Campaign activities have an extra feature built into their functionality to allow a marketing department the flexibility to fully organize all the necessary activities associated with a full campaign prior to actually assigning them to specific people to get accomplished.
- Q. Can I create a new campaign from an existing campaign?
- **A.** Yes. You can use an existing campaign as a campaign template to create a new campaign.

Quiz

- 1. What is the difference between a full campaign and a quick campaign?
- 2. What record types can be used in a marketing list?
- 3. What is a channel campaign activity? What is a nonchannel campaign activity?
- 4. True or False: A campaign response can be converted to a Lead entity.
- 5. True or False: The total cost of a campaign is calculated automatically.
- **6.** What default reports in Microsoft Dynamics CRM help a marketing manager track the progress of a campaign?

Answers

- **1.** A quick campaign is a light version of a campaign. It contains only a single type of activity and works with a single marketing list. It is geared toward use by a salesperson at the end of the month or a sales department doing a quick announcement, special, or alert. A full campaign is geared toward use by the marketing department, which has more coordination needs around complex events.
- 2. Account, Contact, Lead, and Opportunity can be used in Marketing Lists.
- **3.** A channel activity is an external activity, such as an e-mail message, a letter, or a phone call, that initiates contact with a customer when the campaign is distributed. A non-channel activity is an internal activity act, such as to-do list items to track actions that must be performed during a campaign.
- 4. True. A campaign response can be converted to a Lead entity.
- 5. True. The total cost of a campaign is calculated automatically.
- **6.** Campaign Activity Status, Campaign Comparison, and Campaign Performance help a marketing manager track the progress of a campaign.

Exercise

Imagine that you are the marketing manager for a real-estate company, and your company is going to host a presales event for a new residential building. You have to ensure that the location of the event is booked, identify the list of guests you want to invite, send e-mail invitations, and call the guests to confirm the registration after they respond that they will attend the event. You have been given \$10,000 for this sales event. Upper management wants to know the actual cost and effectiveness of this marketing event after it's over.

Use the information provided here to create a campaign in CRM to manage this marketing campaign.

This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 10

Entering Data as a Salesperson

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- A month in the life of a salesperson
- Capturing a lead and entering a lead
- Converting a lead to an account and contact
- Final planning

This lesson looks at how a salesperson might use Microsoft Dynamics CRM during a typical day and the following weeks. We will follow a scenario from day to day as a lead moves from being a lead to being a new customer.

A Month in the Life of a Salesperson

David Daily works at a small company that locally roasts specialty organic coffees and processes dried organic tea leaves. The company, Semi-Roasted, Inc., sells specialty coffees that it locally roasts and organic tea leaves that it dries. It also sells associated hot drink items, such as coffeemakers, coffee cups, teapots, and other tea accessories. David's is a consultative sales representative and coffee aficionado, and his position requires that he find new sales prospects. He manages his existing customers while continuing to sell them more value-added product.

To find new prospects, David participates in a national coffee roasters' event in which representatives from all the global coffee distributors present on the latest in the coffee farming industry in their respective countries. Attendees at the conference tend to be restaurant owners, wine and cheese shop buyers, consumers, and other food and beverage industry people. David's goal at the conference is to meet people who have a high-end audience of consumers and an appreciation for both organic and locally roasted product.



Different Ways to Create a Lead

There are many ways to create a lead or a new contact in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. These include entering directly into a mobile phone by using a Microsoft Dynamics CRM Mobile client; scanning the information into a third-party scanning plug-in to Microsoft Dynamics CRM; typing the information into the mobile device contacts and synchronizing with Outlook Contacts, which then can synchronize to CRM contacts; and accessing Microsoft Dynamics CRM from any web-enabled machine and typing in the new lead details directly.

Semi-Roasted, Inc., also regularly sends out mailings to its current customers and the people in its prospect list to promote their subscription service for the coffee bean of the month and for their local tasting events.

Semi-Roasted, Inc., places a high value on its existing relationships with its customers. It manages a prerelease new product club and often has private tastings for local VIPs.

In the next few sections, we sit on David's shoulder and walk through a day, a week, and a month in his life at Semi-Roasted, Inc.

Capturing a Lead and Entering a Lead

David attends the national coffee roasters' event and, at lunch, he meets Janice, a woman from a town near where Semi-Roasted, Inc., is located. After further discussion, David learns that Janice is the owner of a local restaurant called The Coffee House, which serves recipes cooked from seasonal locally grown fruits and vegetables for breakfast and lunch.

David and Janice exchange business cards because Janice is interested in adding locally dried teas and locally roasted organic coffees to her menu. Janice then has to rush to another session.

David has a few minutes and he has his laptop, so he enters Janice's contact information directly into his Microsoft Dynamics CRM system. In Figure 10.1, David starts Microsoft Dynamics CRM and chooses Sales and then Leads.

In Figure 10.2, David creates a new Lead entity, and in Figure 10.3, he enters the details from Janice's business card. He first enters contact details into the General section.

		2.0 - 24		
(=) (-) // http://crm2011	/CRM/main.as 🔎 + 🖒 🗙 🚂 Leads: My Op	en Leads - Mi ×		
🎄 🚂 CRM 🔀 CRM Team Si	te 🧃 Contoso 🔀 Contoso Team Site 🕌 Po	ertals 🕶 🏭 xRM 🕶		
		Hicrosoft Dynamics CRM		David Daily
Leads View O	arts Add Customize			COM
New Edit	Jerge Detect Detect Qualify Send Direct Add	to Marketing Connect. Add to Assign Stare	k. Process Run li nk. Process Run li	mport Advanced
Records	Actions	Collaborate		Data
Sales 🗳 📴 -	1	*		
Rh Leads	Leads: My Open Leads -		Search for reco	ords
g Opportunities	Name Name	Topic	Status Reason Cri	eated On 👻 🛛 💈
Accounts	Tvonne McKay (sample)	New store opened this year - follo.	New	4/4/2011 12:38 PM
Contacts	🖂 🍪 Wathalee Steuber (sample)	Mailed an interest card back (samp	le) New	4/4/2011 12:38 PM
Marketing Lists				
Products				
Sales Literature				
Quotes				
Orders				
Duick Campaions				
Goals				
Goal Metrics				
Rollup Queries				
🗹 Workplace				
🔰 Sales	1			
Marketing				
🚳 Service				
1 Settings	1.2.0(2.0) (aladad)			lif of Passet It
Sid Resource Center			0 8 5 7 11	V W Y Y Z
	AND - A O C D E F	O H I V K L M N O P	4 6 6 1 0	

FIGURE 10.1 Creating a new Lead entity.

file Leads View Cha	rts Add Customize		At Microsoft	Dynamics CRM			Davi	d Daily CRM
New Edit Records	erge Detect Duplicates, Actions	Send Direct A	Add to Marketing	Connect Add to Queue	Assign 🔂 E-mail a Link	Process Run Report	n. Import Data	d
Sales 🕼 🙀 -					*	2.5		
a Leads	Leads: My Open Le	ads -				Search fo	or records	
Opportunities	Name Name			Topic		Status Reason	Created On ~	2
Accounts	Tvonne McKay (sar	nple)		New store og	pened this year - follo	New	4/4/2011 12:38 PM	
Contacts	Wathalee Steuber	(sample)		Mailed an in	terest card back (sample)	New	4/4/2011 12:38 PM	
Sales Literature Quotes Orders								
Invoices Quick Campaigns Goals Goal Metrics Rollup Queries								anta .
Trooices Quick Campaigns Quick Campaigns Goals Goals Rollup Queries Workplace								10.11
Invoices Quick Campaigns Goals Goal Metrics Rollup Queries Workplace Sales								1011
Invoices Goals Goals Goals Goals Goals Rollup Querics Notices Notices Solid Montplace Sales Marketing								
Trootes Quick Campaigns Goal Metrics Goal Metrics Goal Metrics Rollup Queries Workplace Sales Marketing Service								
Invices Guide Campaigns Guide Campaigns Guide Campaigns Guide Campaigns Guide Campaignee Analung Queries Montplace Sales Sales Sales Sales Sections							lá á Da	

FIGURE 10.2 Entering the details.

David is a fast typist, so he does not mind typing in the information. He also enjoys the chance to further think about and memorize some of Janice's information. He uses a few memory tricks, including noting the color of her hair and associating it to her company name. She has blonde hair with a small green braid, and he associates green braid with local produce, green and organic.

FIGURE 10.3

Entering the general details for a Lead entity.



FIGURE 10.4 Entering the address details.

Lead: New - Microsoft Dynam	ics CRM - Windows Inter	net Explorer				
		🛵 Mice	osoft Dynamics CRM			David Daily 🤒
File Lead Add Custo	omize					CRM @
Save & New Save & Save & New Save Save & X Delete Save	Add to Marketing Cong	Add to Queue Item Assignment Add to Queue Collaborate	Copy a Link	Run Start Workflow Dialog Process	Run Leport -	
Information	beat lead				[
General	New				Leads	* 3 *
Details Notes & Activities Preferences	Lead Source		Rating Warm		Owner	
Palatert	Description					
Closed Activities Connections Documents Audit History Marketing Marketing Lists	 Details Lead Informatio 	n				
Campaigns	Lead Source	Trade Show	•	Rating	Warm	•
Processes G4 Workflows	Company Inform	nation				
Dialog Sessions	Industry					•
	Currency	M US Dollar		SIC Code		
	Annual Revenue	\$1,000,000,000.00		No. of Employees	25	
	• Notes & Activi	ties				
	Status	Open				
						# 100% ×
						100/0

David continues to enter information, as shown in Figures 10.4 and 10.5.

Finally, David wants to capture a few notes while the conversation is still fresh in his mind. He will meet a number of new people throughout the day, and if he does not take notes now, he might forget some details. In Figure 10.6, David has entered some notes on the lead.

🕘 Lead: New - Microsoft Dynam	ics CRM - Windows Interne	tt Explorer						×
File Lead Add Custe	omize	🛵 Microso	oft Dynamics CRM				David Daily CRM	0
Save & New Save & Save & New Save & Delete Save Save	Add to Marketing Conne	Add to Queue Item Assign Collaborate	및 Sharing - 영상 Copy a Link 영문-mail a Link	Run Workflow Start Dialog Process	Run Report - Data			
Information General Details Notes & Activities	Lead New Lead Source		Rating Warm		c	Leads Dwner S David Daily	v 2	4
	 Notes & Activiti Preferences Owner* 	es B David Dally		Status Reason	New			
Connections Connections Connections Connections Audit History Marketing Marketing Marketing Lists Comparis Processes WondTows	Preferred E-mail Phone Mail Marketing Inform	Any Allow C Do Not Allow Allow C Do Not Allow Allow C Do Not Allow ation	-	Bulk E-mail Fax	(≉ Allo	w C De Not Allow w C De Not Allow		
tan Dialog Sessions	Source Campaign Send Marketing Materials	☞ Send C Do Not Send		Last Date Include Campaign	rd in			
	Status	Open						
							₹ 100%	+

FIGURE 10.5 Entering the

administrative and marketing information.

	FIGURE 10.6
alty ≌ RM ⇔	Entering notes.
1	

Image: Add Curtemer Candid Day Store & Reade Contact <	Cead: Janice Piddienead - Micro	son bynamics Chini - w	indows intern	iet Explorer							1.00
Control C	File Lead Add Custor	nize		🛵 Mio	osoft Dynam	ics CRM				David Da CR	ily M d
Information Contain C	Save & Save & New Save & Save & Delete Save Save	Quality Add to Market	ing Connect	Add to Queue Queue Deta Collaborate	tem Assign	Copy a Ling Copy a	nk Run Workflow Proce	Start Dialog	Run Report - Data		
Related Notes Common Add a flow noted Control Attents There Note created on for // 2/2011 4/44 PM by David Daby Concretions There Note created on for // 2/2011 4/44 PM by David Daby Concretions There Note created on for // 2/2011 4/44 PM by David Daby Concretions There Note created on for // 2/2011 4/44 PM by David Daby Matching Utits Preferences Owner** David Daby Control Attemp Utits Control Call Preferences Owner** Owner*** David Daby Control Attemp Utits Contact Methods Processes Owner*** Outing Series Attow Mail Attow Mail Attow Mail Attow Source Comparigon Last Date Included in Botus Open	nformation - General - Details - Notes & Activities - Preferences	Lead Janice Fid Lead Source Trade Show	idlehead		Rating Warm	2			Owner	ii v 9	1 4
Common	Related	Notes									-
Mail Contact Methods Contractions Phone Contract Methods Formation During Serioses Phone Contractions Formation Contract Methods Formation Phone Contract Allow Mail Contract Allow Marketing Information Source Companyon Status Open	Closed Activities Connections Documents Audit History Marketing	Title: Note crea 6/14/2011 4:44 PM Met Janice at lunch Preferences	ted on 6/14/2 by David Dail during the N	011 4:44 PM by D y ational Coffee As	sociation an	inual meeting.	Good conversatio	on and she	Edited 6/14/2011 4:44 is interested in more	PM by David Daily information.	
Processes Preferred Any Preferred	Marketing Lists	Owner*	S David	Daily		 \$	itatus Reason	New			•
Source Campaign (2) Last Date Included in (100 w) Status Open	Processes Workflows Dialog Sessions	Preferred E-mail Phone Mail Marketing Inform	Any Any Allow Allow Allow nation	C Do Not Allor C Do Not Allor C Do Not Allor	u u v	•	Suik E-mail	Г А П А	llow C Do Not Allo llow C Do Not Allo	w	
Status Open		Source Campaign					ast Date Include	d in		100	-
		Status	Open								

Now that Janice Fiddlehead has been added to David's Microsoft Dynamics CRM system, he can continue with the show. He runs to his next session.

Later that night, David decides to further qualify and follow up on his conversation with Janice. He jumps back into his Microsoft Dynamics CRM system to send Janice an e-mail.

David uses the Microsoft Dynamics CRM search features to quickly find Janice in his long list of leads. He types Janice into the search box at the top of the Leads view, as shown in Figure 10.7.

	View Ch	arts Add Cu	tomize	All Microsof	t Dynamic	SCRM				David Dal CR
New Edit	X Delete -	terge Detect Duplicates -	Quality Send Di	rect Add to Marketing	Connect	Add to Assign	Copy a Link	Process Report	Import Data	Advanced Find
	Records		Actions		Collabo	rate			Data	
Sales	1 🕼 🙀 -					v		-		
teads		Leads: All Le	ads -					Janice		
Opportunit	ies	Name			To	pic		Owner	Status Reason	Creater
Accounts		I Janice Fid	dlehead		0	ganic Tea and C	offee for Restaur	David Daily	New	6/1
Marketing I	lists	Tvonne M	cKay (sample)		Ne	w store opened	this year - follo	David Daily	New	4/4
Competitor	\$	Wathalee	Steuber (sample)		M	ailed an interest	card back (sample)	David Daily	New	4/4
Products		Teresa Ati	inson (sample)		N	w store opened	this year - follo	CRM Administrate	New	4/4
Sales Literat	ture	Citary M	Conroy (sample)		in c	erested in onlin	re only store (sam	CRM Administrate	New	4/4
Orders		Scott Kon	ersmann (sample)		In	terested in our r	newer offerings (s	CRM Administrate	New	4.4
A Invoices		E abert Ab	leting (sample)		Se	me interest in a	ur products (sam	CRM Administrate	New	4.4
Quick Camp	paigns	Paul Alcor	n (sample)		Lik	es our producte	(sample)	CRM Administrate	New	4/4
Goals	_	Oscar Alp	uerto (sample)		Fo	llow-up with in	formation regard	CRM Administrato	New	4/4
Rollup Oue	s ries	🖂 🖏 Orlando (iee (sample)		St	ore is expanding	- send new liter	CRM Administrato	New	4/4

Once he opens Janice's record, he navigates to the Notes & Activities area from the left navigation pane and then uses the ribbon to create a new activity of type E-mail, as shown in Figure 10.8.





210

Another Option

David could also send an e-mail to Janice from his Microsoft Outlook e-mail client and associate it with Microsoft Dynamics CRM if he is currently connected to his internal network or the next time he is connected to the network.

Converting a Lead to an Account and Contact

David finishes up his week at the conference and is back in the office the next Monday morning. In the office, he enters many other leads that he met at the conference and schedules and makes decisions regarding what he needs to do to qualify each of them.

Another Option

David could also upload a list of leads from Excel, or he could use a third-party tool that supports scanning business cards into electronic Microsoft Dynamics CRM format to scan the business cards he collected.

Later in the day, he receives a response to his e-mail from Janice. She is available on Thursday at 3:00 p.m. David converts Janice's Lead record to an Account entity and a Contact entity, now that a solid base of conversation has continued and Janice has agreed to meet. To make this change, David opens Janice's Lead entity. Then he selects Qualify from the ribbon at the top of the form. Finally, he chooses Account and Contact.

David is not ready to create an Opportunity entity for The Coffee House yet because he is not comfortable defining an estimated close date and the probability of close until after his first meeting.

Once the Lead entity is converted, David creates an appointment in Outlook for Thursday at 3:00 p.m., and he relates that to Janice's contact record in Microsoft Dynamics CRM (see Figure 10.9).

David does a little research and discovers that there are a few other people associated with The Coffee House. He finds Jack Wilkes, the CFO, by searching for The Coffee House on the Internet. He finds a couple of articles where Jack has been profiled, and he finds a Yellow Pages listing with a few primary contact people. David adds these contacts to the account, as shown in Figure 10.10. To do so, he opens the Account and selects Contacts, Add New Contact from the ribbon, then he enters the information he has found. Figure 10.10 shows entering a new contact from the prospect. Because David first selects the account and then Contacts, Add New Contact, all the address details are automatically populated.

211

By the Way



FIGURE 10.9 Associating an Outlook appointment with Microsoft Dynamics CRM.



FIGURE 10.10 Adding a new contact to a prospect account.

🏉 Contact: New - Microsoft Dyn	amics CRM - Windows In	sternet Explorer				
File Contact Add Cu	stomize	🕌 Micr	osoft Dynamics CRM			David Daily 🤒 CRM 💩
Save & New X Delete	Add to Marketing Con	nect Assign E-mail a Link	Run Start	Run Report -		
Save	C	ollaborate	Process	Data		
Information	Contact New				Contacts	+ 2 0
- Details - Notes & Activities - Preferences	E-mail		Preferred Metho Any	ad of Contact	Owner	
Related	* General					-
4 Common	Salutation	Mr.		Business Phone	301-238-1231	
More Addresses	First Name *	Jack		Home Phone		
Closed Activities	Middle Name	w.		Mobile Phone		
Sub-Contacts	Last Name *	Wilkes		Fax		
Generations	Job Title	CFO		E-mail	Jack@coffeehouse.24h	
Audit History	Parent Customer	The Coffee House				
# Sales	Address					
Opportunities	Address Type			City	Silver Spring	
Quotes	Address Name			State/Province	MD	
Invoices	Street 1	45 North Corion Street		ZIP/Portal Code	20015	
4 Service	Street 2	45 Horan Spring Screet		CountryRanion	20015	
Cases	Succes 2	PO 80X 1231		Country/Region	USA	
4 Marketing	Street 2			Priorie		
Harketing Lists	Freight Terms		•	Shipping Method		• •
Campaigns	Status	Active				
	C. Sector Concerns					(Show desktop

Figure 10.11 shows a list of the new contacts David entered and that are associated with the new account The Coffee House. Notice that the list is filtered and shows only contacts associated with The Coffee House.

David considers his options and decides that he wants to offer Janice and some of her associates a taste test of his product. He is not going to do this until after his first meeting with Janice, but by planning ahead, he can mention in his meeting the option for a follow-up. He also knows that there is a delicate balance between too few meetings and too many meetings. Using the sales process that he has configured in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, David has a well-used and rehearsed plan.

			-																-
File Account Add	Customize	List Tool: Contact:			_	(Microsol	t Dynamic	5 CRM									Da	vid Dai CR	ily M
Idd New Add Existing Edit Contact Records	X 13- 19 15 19 15	Send Dired	Add to N	tarketing colle	Quick Campaign	12 @ .	Assign	2 2 2	Filter	No.	Set As Defa View	ult C	hart ane	Run Workflo	w Da	ing i	Run Report -	Expo	art sets
aformation • General	1	Account The Co	ffee H	ouse											Aco	ounts		• 2	1
- Details - Contacts		Primary Co	ntact e Fiddleh	ead			Preferre	d Meth	od of Co	ntact			Owr	ier David D	aily				
- Notes & Activities - Preferences		Credit Lim	e.				Annual \$1,000,	Revens 000,00	0.00										
Related	1.0	Contacte	Contac	Amori	ated Vi								r				_		-
Common		j contacts.	contac	ASSOCI	ateu vi									_			_		4
More Addresses		Full Name	*					Busine	ss Phone								_		_
Activities		Jack Wilke	5					301-23	3-1231										
Closed Activities	10.8	Janice Fid	dichead					301-23	8-1231										
Sub-Accounts		Neil Winn	of					301-23	3-1231										
 Relationships Connections Documents Audit History 																			
Sales Doportunities Quotes Orders Invoices																			
Service	1.0	of 3 (D selec	ted)														H r	Page	1
Cases	All	+ A	8 C	DE	F	G H	1.1	к	L M	N	O P	Q	R	S T	U	v	w x	Y	
Contracts	_	14.2	1102111	15.05				_		_		-			_	_			-

FIGURE 10.11 All the new contacts on the account of The Coffee House.

David completes each activity in the sales process by filing the activity away to history, and he date and time stamps it for future reference (see Figure 10.12). David's appointment with Janice is an activity, but he also needs associated activities that help him prepare for his appointment.

File Task Customize			🕌 Microsoft Dynami	ics CRM				David Daily CRM	0
Mark Save Save Save Save	tete Attach File Includ	Add To Opportunity le Convert Activity	Connect Add to	Queue Rem Assig Collaborate	an B Copy a L an B Copy a L an B Copy a L	ink Link Wondflow Proce	Start Ru Dialog Repo	int - ta	
Information	Task						Tasks	+ ±	φ.
- Task	- New								
~ Notes	* Tark								•
Related	Subject*	Received Despects C							
4 Common	Judgett	Research Organic C	onees						
Workflows Dialog Sessions									
Workflown Dialog Sessions									
Process Workflown Workflown Dialog Sessions	Regarding	The Coffee Hou	856						
Ge Workflows Dialog Sessions	Regarding Owner*	The Coffee Hos	154						
Workflown Workflown Dialog Sessions	Regarding Owner* Duration	The Coffee Hos B David Darly 30 minutes	88	v Prio	sifty	Normal			
G Worldown Dialog Sessions	Regarding Owner* Duration Due	The Coffee Hos David Daty 30 minutes		Y Prio	vity	Normal		 	
Construction Windform	Regarding Owner * Duration Due Category	The Coffee Hos David Daily 30 minutes Sales		Vio	vity - Category	Normal	e.	 	
Weidler	Regarding Owner * Duration Due Category	Des Coffee Hos David Dally 30 minutes Sales	35 (0 v	Yrio M Sub	rity -Category	Normal Organic Lotte	rë		
Weidlen	Regarding Owner * Duration Due Category	The Coffee Mess C	24 (Cv)	V Prio	nty -Category	Normal	e .		



David sets up a task activity to research which of the coffees that Semi-Roasted, Inc., provides are organic. He sets up another task activity to research the most environmentally friendly coffee-producing countries and adds a note to double-check for the closest provider. Janice had mentioned that she tries to buy as much locally produced product as possible. Figure 10.13 shows the newly created task.



After David adds these two tasks, he runs to a meeting, confident that he won't forget to prepare for the appointment he has with Janice now that he has captured the two things he wants to do before their meeting. Figure 10.14 is a list of all David's open tasks.

When David returns, he completes the first of the two assigned tasks. He can mark an activity as completed in three ways:

- ▶ From Outlook, check off the task as completed from the Outlook task list.
- From Microsoft Dynamics CRM, open the activity and select Complete.
- ▶ From Microsoft Dynamics CRM, open the activity and select Close Task.

Figure 10.15 shows the detailed completed task activity. Completed activities have a status of Completed and show up under all activities and the Completed Activities option associated with the account. If you display all of David's activities, you get Figure 10.16. If you choose the account The Coffee House and choose Completed Activities, you get the completed activities associated with The Coffee House.



File Activities View	At Microsoft Dynamics CRM Charls Customice	David Daily CRM
Verw State	Concel Concel Set Regarding Connect Add Location Action Action Concel Note Connect Add Location Action Concel Connect Add Location Action Concel Connect Add Location Action Concel Connect Add Location Concel Concel Connect Add Location Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel Concel C	
Workplace	ACCOMPONIACE Process cata	
toublace [7] M.	Activities: My Activities - Search for records	
My Work	Due All Y	
Celendar Duplicate Detection Queues Antices Antices Reports Antices Accounts Accounts Contacts Contacts	Annony type Jourgest Account of equations Account of e	
Central Displots Displots Displots Displots Displots Articles Articles Articles Articles Artoconts Accounts Accounts Contacts Workplace Workplace	Annony type Jourgest Acquired Segment Conflict Ac	
Central Japots Duplicate Detection Duplicate Detection Corres Antoise Contacts Woomplace Sales Sales	Anny type Joures Account of the annual of the	
Carnat Japots Dispots Dispots Displate Detection Displate Detection Displate Detection Displate Detection Displate Accounts Contacts Versite Salas Marketing Displate Displate Displate Marketing Displate Displa	Anny type Joures Academy	



The Tark Contact		🚑 Microsoft Dynan	vics CRM			David Daily
fask Customize						CRM (
Mark Save Save & X De Save Save	elete Attach A File N	Add Copportunity Convert Activity	connect Add to Queue R Queue Contactor	Sharing - Copy a Link Barria Link te	Run Workflow Start Dialog Process	Run Report - Data
ormation Task Notes	Research	h Organic Coff ees			Activities	• • •
lated	• Task	Bacasch Densnie Estland				
ommon	subject	Research Organic Coffees	15.62 33			
Dialog Sessions						
Dialog Sessions						
Dialog Sessions	Regarding	The Coffee House				
Dialog Sessions	Regarding Owner*	The Colfree House				
Dialog Sessions	Regarding Owner * Duration	The Coffee House Datad Daby Dominutes	priority	Normal		
Dialog Sessions	Regarding Owner * Duration Due	The Cattee House David Davy 30 minutes	In Promy	Normal		
Dialog Sessions	Regarding Owner [#] Duration Due Category	Die Coffee House S David Dahy 30 minutes Sales	Ini Priority Ini Sub-Category	Normal Organic Cotter		
ge mototom	Regarding Owner * Duration Due Category Activity Status	The Coffee House Double Data Double Data Double Data Safes Completed	Sub-Celegory	Normal Organic Coffee		-



Options for Managing Activities

1 T . I . D ...

Microsoft Dynamics CRM provides several ways to manage your activities. You can manage activities from Outlook, with Outlook tasks synchronizing to Microsoft







Dynamics CRM task activities. You can manage activities by selecting Microsoft Dynamics CRM, My Work, Activities. And you can manage activities from a specific account by selecting the account and then selecting Activities.

David likes to manage his tasks in both Microsoft Dynamics CRM and Outlook. He loves that he can mix and match how he keeps track of things (see Figure 10.17).



The Appointment

Thursday comes, and David is ready. He is looking forward to meeting with Janice again, and he feels confident that he has products that meet her needs.

David and Janice talk for an hour. David spends a good amount of time listening to Janice's explanation of her business, goals, and needs. He asks a few questions to support his internal efforts to ensure that her company is going to be a good long-term customer and that funds and budget are available, but in general, he mostly listens. At the end of the meeting, David fills Janice in on the Semi-Roasted, Inc., philosophy that matches some of what she has mentioned, and he sets up a meeting for the entire team to try some of David's coffee and tea offerings. David specifically wants a chance to meet a few other people at the company so that he has good depth of buy-in and some extra internal champions.

When David gets back to the office, he jumps into Dynamics CRM and prepares a follow-up letter using a template he has used in the past. To do so, he opens the account for The Coffee House. Then, from the menu bar, he selects Add. Finally, from the ribbon, he selects Mail Merge. The screen shown in Figure 10.18 appears.





David realizes that he has a good chance of closing this deal within the next 60 days, and he decides to set up a new Opportunity entity with an estimated close date of July 31, 2011. He calculates that the approximate revenue will be

\$1,000/quarter and that this account is positioned for a long-term reoccurring revenue model, if handled correctly. David creates the Opportunity entity as shown in Figure 10.19.



Final Planning

Now that David has had his first meeting and has created the Opportunity entity and captured some details about The Coffee House, he decides to meet with his sales manager to talk about his final approach and technique.

David sends out an appointment activity request to John Brown, sales manager. He creates this appointment in Outlook and links it to his Microsoft Dynamics CRM calendar by choosing the Track in CRM option in the CRM Outlook client. He also sets a regarding, which allows David to pick another entity to relate to the appointment. He associates the appointment to John's company, the Coffee House. This helps David capture appointments related to The Coffee House in the Microsoft Dynamics CRM history.

John Brown is notified that David has requested a meeting. He accepts, and the response updates David's Outlook calendar item.

David and John meet and decide on the following action plan for The Coffee House:

- **1.** The coffee/tea tasting
- 2. Follow-up call to the tasting, offering a reference (or two)

FIGURE 10.19

Creating an

Opportunity

entity.

- **3.** Introduction to Mel Robinson, owner of This Little House of Cookies (an existing client from a neighboring state)
- **4.** Follow-up call on how the discussions with Mel went and scheduling of the revenue meeting
- **5.** A revenue meeting/discussion with Janice, with some sharing of statistics related to potential profit that The Coffee house can generate from offering high-quality good-tasting coffee
- 6. Follow-up call to the revenue meeting to answer any remaining questions
- **7.** Close-the-deal meeting to sign final paper work and possibly an introduction to the new account/customer service representative

Now that the plan has been decided, David adds these items to his calendar and task list. They become activities in Microsoft Dynamics CRM (Outlook synchronizes from tasks and Outlook calendar), and they are dated with a pending date that balances all that needs to be done prior to July 31, 2011.

As the weeks go by, David completes each phone call, each appointment, and each task, resulting in a closed deal on July 31, 2011. After returning from his last appointment, David closes the Opportunity entity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a win, as shown in Figure 10.20.

Close Opportunity	Webpage Dialog 🛛 💌
Close Opportunity Provide the following	information about why this opportunity is being closed.
Status *	● Won C Lost
Status Reason *	Won 👻
Actual Revenue *	\$1,000.00
Close Date *	7/31/2011
Competitor	
Won the Deal - 1000 t	o start but long term quarterly revenue expectation.
	OK Cancel
http://cr 👊 Local intra	anet Protected Mode: Off



Workshop

Semi-Roasted, Inc., has a marketing department, which is run by Jackie Grand. Jackie is excited that David has closed The Coffee House because it is one of her favorite local restaurants. Jackie makes a point to introduce herself to Janice Fiddlehead the next time she is in the restaurant. As they are talking, Jackie mentions that she is looking for a few new case studies for some of the marketing efforts she is working on. Janice jumps at the chance for some free advertising and volunteers to be written up as a case study for Semi-Roasted, Inc. Janice creates a new marketing campaign called Case Studies and defines a number of specific activities associated with this campaign. These activities include sorting and finding a list of happy existing clients, reaching out and talking with the clients, scheduling interviews with the clients who have volunteered, writing and editing the case studies, and sending a follow-up thank-you gift. Janice has been given a budget for these activities, and she adds this to the marketing campaign.

Q&A

- Q. Is it possible to pull leads into Dynamics CRM from an Excel Spreadsheet?
- **A.** Yes. Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers Excel templates that can be populated and then uploaded into Dynamics CRM.
- **Q.** Can David associate his notes on Janice with her record in Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- A. Yes. Notes can be associated with records in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.
- Q. When an appointment is created in Outlook, what does it look like when synchronized with Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- **A.** An Outlook appointment becomes a Microsoft Dynamics CRM activity of type Appointment. It displays on the activity views.

Quiz

- Can David add one task to Outlook and a different task activity to Microsoft Dynamics CRM? What would his Outlook task list look like? What would his open activities list look like?
- **2.** What does David do in Microsoft Dynamics CRM when he gets a new lead at the national coffee roasters' event?

- 3. What are David's options for entering a new lead in Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- 4. Why does David close activities when they are done?
- **5.** Can Jim Brown, sales manager, see David's activities? Is such transparency valuable? Why?

Answers

- **1.** Yes, David can add tasks to either Microsoft Dynamics CRM or Outlook. His task list will include all tasks.
- 2. He enters the lead as a new Lead in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.
- **3.** One option for David is to enter leads through his mobile device using the Microsoft Dynamics CRM mobile client or a third-party mobile option. He can also use his laptop, as long as he has Internet access or, if he is offline, he can use his laptop and sync with the corporate network later.
- **4.** David closes activities so that they are filed to history and removed from his active list of things to do.
- 5. Depending on how security is set up, Jim Brown can see David's activities.

Exercise

Create a marketing campaign that Jackie can use to keep track of her need to capture and create a number of case studies. What are other tools within Dynamics CRM that Jackie can leverage to make creating these case studies easier? Set up a marketing list and then use it to invite people to participate in the case study effort. When people respond, where do you capture their responses? Associate the responses with the marketing campaign. This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 11

Configuring Your Interaction with Microsoft Dynamics CRM

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Basic configurations
- Web Resources
- Default fields

In this hour, you will learn how to modify Microsoft Dynamics CRM to better fit your business needs. You will learn how to add new fields to the data entry forms and modify existing fields. You will also learn how to move fields from section to section. Finally, you will learn about including iFrames and adding form-specific scripts to the system.

Basic Configurations

When it comes to designing the entry forms for getting data into Microsoft Dynamics CRM, Microsoft delivers a robust offering. In this section, you start by making just a few changes and then expand out into the world of really changing a user's interaction with Microsoft Dynamics CRM without writing a single line of code.

Figure 11.1 shows the top of the default data entry form for an account.

Figure 11.2 shows the bottom of the default data entry form for an account.

Every entity (record type) has at least one form, and you can change a number of different things on these forms. You can add or remove fields, you can add or remove sections, and you can add or remove tabs. You can also modify the values of a drop-down list either by adding to them, changing them, or deleting them. You can also add an iFrame. (We discuss what an iFrame is in later sections of this hour.)



The top of the default account data entry form.

Blue Com	ipany (sample)				Accounts	• 0 4
Primary Contac Credit Limit	t Pr Ad	efened Method of Contact Sy smuai Revenue		S Anne Stanton		
General						
Account Name*	Blue Company (sample)		Main Phone	555-0131		
Primary Contact			Other Phone			
Account Number			THE DEC			
Faren Account		ue	tota per			
Address	Jamenet Emmale.com					
Address Type		•	City	Redmond		
Address Name			State/Province	wa		
Street 1	9906 Oak Grove Road		23PiPostal Code	80803		
Street 2			Country/Region	2.0		
Street 3	1		Phone			
Shipping Method			Freight Terms			
Description						
lafters .	Active					

FIGURE 11.2

The bottom of the default account data entry form.

Blue Com	pany (sample)						Accounts	• 0
Primary Contact		Prot Any Sec	erred Method of Contact val Revenue			Owner S Anne Starton		
Professional Info	rmation							
Industry								
Annual Revenue	5			Ownership				
No. of Employees				Ticker Symbol				
SIC Code								
Territory				Category				
Relationship Type								
Billing Informatio	on							
Currency	MS INS Dealer			Payment Terrs	•: [
Credit Limit	5			Price List				-
Credit Hold	C'tes @ No							
Contacts								
And Contacts: M	ly Active Contacts +	Loui	Parant Curtor		Entinest Prone			
			No Centari records an	re available in th	li vhhu			
0-0 of 0 (D selecte	di .						н (Page 1 b
Notes & Activit	les							
etua .	Active							

You are now going to change the look of this default data entry form by changing fields.

Removing Fields

You can remove a number of fields from the forms shown in Figure 11.1 and Figure 11.2.

To remove fields and change the default form, you need to do the following in Microsoft Dynamics CRM:

- 1. Choose Settings.
- **2.** Choose Customization. (If you do not have this option on your menu, you probably do not have the correct security privileges to perform this function. Talk with your Microsoft Dynamics CRM administrator.)
- 3. Choose Customize the System.
- 4. Choose Components, Entities.
- 5. Choose Account.

You now see a list of items that are related to the specific Account entity (record type). These include the core setup information, the forms and views functionality, account fields, a series of different types of relationships that can be created, charts, and the account-specific system messages and error code descriptions. As discussed in earlier hours, an account is an entity that is built from a number of fields. To modify the data entry form for an account, select Forms and Views.

How Many Forms Can You Have for Each Entity?

For any given entity, you can have a main form and a mobile form.

Figure 11.3 shows the area where you select the account form. Figure 11.4 shows the form as it looks when editing. Notice that you have a number of new choices, including a new Common Tasks pane.

] New 🖌 🔀 Assign S	ecurity Roles 📑 Form Ord	er - More Actio	ns 🕶		
Name	Form Type 📥	State	Customizable	Description	
Information	Main	Managed	True	A form for this entity.	
Information	Mobile	Managed	True	This is the form that is displayed	i for the CRM

FIGURE 11.3 Choosing an Account form.



To remove a field from the account form, follow these steps:

- **1.** Select the field using your mouse. You can tell the field is selected because a solid box appears around the field.
- **2.** When the field is selected, remove it by choosing the Remove button in the ribbon. This process does not remove the field from the database, nor does it delete data. It simply removes the field from the data entry form.

Consider, for instance, a company that decides to only capture address information at the contact level. This method has various disadvantages, but it is an example. This company also decides that there is no e-mail address associated at the generic company level, but it wants to leave its options open for later. To encourage the adoption of this business process, the company removes the address fields and the e-mail fields from the account form. It does not delete the fields from the database. If the place to enter data is not available, data will not be entered.

Figure 11.5 shows exactly the same account data entry form in edit mode minus the address fields and the e-mail field.

Moving Fields

Now that you have removed a number of fields, you might also want to move fields around the form. Here you will move a number of fields by using the mouse to drag



Form: Accou	nt		
Form: Accou	nt -		
Seneral			
Account Information	1		
Account Name*	Account Name	Main Phone	Usin Phone
Primary Contact		Other Phone	Other Phone
Account Number		Fax	Fax
Recent Account	Descent Account	Mah Site	lute rec
areni Arrouni		TYEN DIE	MED DIE
Detaik			
Details			
Details rofessional Informa	tion		
Details Professional Informa Industry	tion		
Details Professional Informa Industry Annual Revenue	tion Industry Annual Reenae	Connership	Ourorship
Details rofessional Informa Industry Annual Revenue	tion Induity Annue Reeman	Constitue	
Petails rofessional Informa ndustry Snnual Revenue No. of Employees	Son Debuty Annual Bronne Hanna Bronne	Connsilig Tota Symbol	Converting Transform
vetails rofessional Inform ndustry unnual Revenue 10. of Employees 315 Code	Non Industry Annual Revenue Historical Conference The all Conference	Conteship Titeer Symbol	Countration Countration Countration Countration Countration Countration
Details rofessional Informs Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employees SIC Code	Sion Departy Annual Revenue The of Lepignes Field Code	Countership Ticker Symbol	Contenting Contenting Contenting Contenting Contenting
Details rolessional Inform Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employees SIC Code	Ibouting Inclusing Arrange Formation Arrange Formation Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion Inclusio Inclusion Inclusion In	Commissing Ticker Symbol	
Details Vedessional Inform Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employees SIC Code	ilon Dedutte Annut Reenar Head Leptopes Sic Code	Contraship Ticker Symbol	Couversity Take Symbol
Details Professional Informa Industry Income Revenue No. of Employees SIC Code	Mon Protection Annual Account Account Association Account Has of Conference Discount Account Sectors	Connechip Titker Symbol	
Details Votessional Inform Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employees SIC Code SIC Code	Bon Induity Annual Reeman The of Leptopes Dic Cole	Contestilip Ticker Symbol	Conversion Trace yesses
Details Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employees SSC Code SSC Code	Mon Decisity Langual Gentrar Langual Gentrar Langual Gentrar Status Si Cook Gentrary	Contracting Ticker Symbol Category	Commente Commente Dates Symbol Category

FIGURE 11.5 Removing the address fields: editing the form.

and drop the fields. Figures 11.6 and 11.7 show the fields moved to new locations. Notice that you need to choose the section you are editing, including the header, the footer, and the body.

Jeneral			
Account Information			
Decest Local and	(m	1.0.0.000000000000000000000000000000000	
Parent Account	Parent Account	Account Name*	Account Name
Primary Contact		Account Number	
		Main Phone	
		Other Phone	
		Fax	
		Wab Cita	furth City
			Twee are
Details Professional Informa	tion		
Details Professional Informa Industry	tion		
Details Professional Informa Industry	ton Dotusty		
Details Professional Informa Industry Annual Revenue	50n Codustry Codustry Advant Revenue	Ownership	Conentia
Details Professional Informa Industry Annual Revenue No. of Engloyers	Bon Defaulty Around Revenue Default Revenue	Owenho	
Details Professional Informa Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employees	ton Podostry Program Promote Program Promote No. of Engloyees	Overetile Tider Symbol	Concerto
Details Professional Informa Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employees SSC Code	Bon Dedustry Annual Recentur David Recentur David Reprover David Recentur Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Statistics Sta	Ownership Tider Symbol	
Details Professional Informa Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employces SIC Code	fon Desentry Admus Reentry No. et Copleyees SC Code	Oumenhie Ticker Symbol	Conservation Foor Samo
Details Professional Informa Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employees SIC Code	Bon Dedestry Annual Recentur David Recentur David Capaceter ISS Code	Ownership Tice: Symbol	
Details Professional Informa Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employces SIC Code	Gon Description Annual Revenue No. of Coplayees SC Code	Oumenhip Ticker Symbol	Connection Procession
Details Professional Informa Industry Annual Revenue No. of Employees SIC Code Description	Son Bodietty Control of the second se	Contentio Tider Symbol	

FIGURE 11.6 Moving fields: editing the form.



Adding a Subgrid

You can add and modify a form by using some advanced features on the Insert tab. To add a subgrid, do the following:

- **1.** Choose Insert from the upper-left corner.
- **2.** In the ribbon, click Sub-Grid.
- **3.** As shown in Figure 11.8, add a subgrid to the account form to hold international details. Adding a subgrid requires choosing a format of either one, two, three, or four columns. Figure 11.9 shows the new International subgrid.

Fit Hume Inset		A Mersolt Dynamics OM	Aure	itarita FEE,a
Dre Ters Ters for Share Columns Columns Columns	Come Contents Sectors	Epo angenas Line		
Advention of the	Selution: Default Selution		Field Explorer	
General	12			
- Ortalia	Furni: Account		Filter All Fields	
Cartacta	General		P Only show unused fields	1
Preferences			Account Rating	
	Parent Account	Account Name * Contract Front	Address 1: Address Type	
Conduct	Primary Contact	Account Number Science Account	Addres 1: City	
12 EFTERNALED STORES	L'annini in an		Address 1: Country/Regio	-
a contraction of the second	The second secon	Transferrenza and transferrenza an	Address 1: County	
Canage Address pp		Other Phane The Phane	Address 1: Far	
Soll-Accounts		fai (m	Address 1: Preight Terms	
A Centuris		West Site	Address 2 Latitude	
- Tatalianatip)	I Beaution and the second s		Address 1: Langitude	
·			Address 1: Name	
Distances 1	Description		Address 1: Past Office Bo	18
A mail makes	in the second se		Address 1: Primary Cantas	et N
Name of Contemporation of Cont			🖆 Address 1: Shipping Meth	hed
Casadumbris	1.0		Address 1: State Prevince	
Custer			Address 1: Street 1	
Desert			Address 1: Unred 2	
2			Address 1: Street 3	
	Summer and the second s		Address 1: Telephone 2	
Leves a			Address 1: Telephone 3	
			Address 1: UPS Zone	
2	* Details		Address 1: UTC Offset	
Marketing	Professional Information		Address 1: 29/Roidal Cod	28
a Perinter leinenennen	Industry		Address 2 Address Type	
manunni i ini			📓 Address 2 City	
Processors			Address 2 Country Regio	18
Q WestMart	No. of Engloyees	Take fymbul	Address 2: County	
Dating Sections	SIC Code		Address 2: Pax	
			address 2: Freight Terms	
			Address 2: Lathude	
			R Addair & Landtoda	
	Tentory	Category	E les fuit	



isplay For	matting
Name	
Specify a uni	que name.
Name *	International
Label *	International
Show the	label of this section on the Form
🗐 Show a li	ne at top of the section
Width *	115
Visibility Specify the d	efault visibility of this section.
Visibility Specify the d Visible by	efault visibility of this section.
Visibility Specify the d Visible by	efault visibility of this section. • default
Visibility Specify the d Visible by	efault visibility of this section. r default
Visibility Specify the d Visible by	efault visibility of this section. r default
Visibility Specify the d	efault visibility of this section. default
Visibility Specify the d Visible by	efault visibility of this section. default



Figure 11.10 shows the process for adding and moving fields:

File Home Incert			ficrosoft Dynamics CRM		An	CRMLady
One Two Threes Course	One Two Column Columns	Sub-Grid Web Resource Not	es			
at low it	Solution: Def	ult Colution			Field Explorer	,
Information	abiation. Der	iuit solution				
Details	Form: Accou	nt			Filter All Fields	
- Contacts	General				Only show unused fie	elds
- Notes & Activities	Contraction				California a margareteri	rada 🛛
··· Preferences	Account Information				Address 2: 200/Postal	Code
Common	Parent Account		Account Name*		Address Phone	
More Addresses	Primary Contact		Account Number	Account Number	Aging 30	
Activities					Aging 30 (Base)	
Closed Artholties			Main Phone	Main Phone	Aging 60	
			Other Phone	Other Phone	Aging 60 (Base)	
SUD-Accounts			Env		Aging 90	
Contacts			E.m.		Aging 90 (Base)	
Relationships			Web Site		Annual Revenue (Base)	e)
S Connections					Business Type	
Documents					Classification	
A Loud Hickory	Description				Created By	
	Description				Created By (Delegate)	
Sales	11			11	Created On	
Opportunities		1			Credit Limit (Race)	
Quotes	L				Crede conte (dark)	
Orders	International 🐇				Customer size	
Invoices	Country/Region		Country Code		E-mail	
Senire					E-mail Address 2	
Cases			International Access	Telephone J	E-mail Address 3	
Contracto					Exchange Rate	
					E FTP Site	
Marketing	T Datalla				Market Capitalization	2 - B
Campaigns	Details					
Marketing Lists	Professional Informa	ation			 New Field 	

FIGURE 11.10 International section fields.

- **1.** Move any fields that are internationally oriented to the International section.
- **2.** Add a new field such as Country Code by clicking the New Field button in the bottom-right corner of the form.
- **3.** Turn on fields that are international in nature.

Figure 11.11 shows two fields added: Country Code and International Access.

FIGURE 11.11 The new International section on the account form.	Account Blue Com Pismary Contac Credit Limit	pany (sample)	Preferred Method of Contact Any Annual Revenue		Comer & Acce Stanton	Accounts	* 0 0
	International						
	Country/Region	U.S.		Country Code	п		
	* Details Professional Info	rmation		International Access	12-3333333		
	Industry	Non-Durable Merchandise Retail					
	Annual Revenue	\$1,100,000.00		Ownership	Public		
	No. of Employees SIC Code	1,000		Ticker Symbol			
	Territory			Category			
	Relationship Type	Competitor					
	Billing Informati	on					
	Currency	M US.Dallar	a	Payment Terms			•

Changing Columns Within a Section

Mr. Jack BlackHat decides that he does not want his display to appear in two even columns. He has a number of check box fields, and he wants to display them in four columns to get maximum use of the screen real estate. He wonders how to change this. To change this, Jack needs to do the following:

1. Select Insert.

C'tes @ No

Credit Hole

2. Insert a new four-column section, as shown in Figure 11.12.



Once Saved

Once the section is saved, the layout of columns cannot be changed unless you delete the section and set up a new one.





After Jack creates the section as four columns, he can add fields to this section. Jack has already created a number of fields to represent colors. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, you can create an option set of colors and then you can use this option set for each field you create. Jack is a magician who makes balloon animals at parties, and he always asks his clients what their favorite colors are. Jack has added these color selections to the account form. Notice that the choices in Figure 11.13 are all the boxes.





How Did Jack Add New Fields?

As you are building a form, you can add new fields as follows:

- **1.** Click New Field at the bottom of the fields list on the right-hand side of the screen.
- **2.** Choose a display name for the field, as shown in Figure 11.14.
- **3.** Choose whether the field is required, business recommended, or optional.
- **4.** Choose a type for the field, such as Option Set. If you choose Option Set, then choose the option set you want to use, as shown in Figure 11.15.

New for Accou	nt				
Common	Schema				
	Display Name * Name * Field Security Auditing * Description	new_ ← Enable ← Disable ← Enable ← Disable ▲ This field will not be audited until	Requirement Level * Searchable	No Constraint Yes	•
	For information about he	ow to interact with entities and fields p	rogrammatically, see the <u>Microsoft D</u>	vnamics CRM SDK	
	For information about he Type Type * Use Existing Option Set Default Value Options	Option Set C Yes G No Unassigned Value	rogrammatically, see the <u>Microsoft D</u>	vnamikt CBM SOK	

FIGURE 11.14

Choosing a new field's display name.

Field			
New for Accou	unt		
Common	General		
Information	Schema		
	Display Name *		Requirement Level
	Name *	new_	Searchable
	Field Security	C Enable C Disable	
	Auditing *	C Enable C Disable	
		A This field will not be audited until y	you enable auditing on the entity.
	Description		
	For information about Type	how to interact with entities and fields pro	igrammatically, see the <u>Microsoft I</u>
	For information about Type Type *	how to interact with entities and fields pro	grammatically, see the <u>Microsoft [</u>
	For information about Type Type * Use Existing Option Se	how to interact with entities and fields pro Option Set t G Yes C No	rgrammatically, see the <u>Microsoft f</u>
	For information about Type Type * Use Existing Option Se Option Set *	how to interact with entities and fields pro Option Set t G Yes C No Colors	grammatically, see the <u>Microsoft I</u>
	For information about Type * Use Existing Option St Option Set * Default Value	Now to interact with entities and fields pro Option Set t © Yes © No Colors A Yes or No boolean Activity Type Category	grammatically, see the <u>Microsoft I</u>
	For information about Type Type * Use Existing Option St Option Set * Default Value	how to interact with entities and fields pro Option Set t © Yes © No Colors A Yes or No boolean Activity Type Category Comparent State Component Type Dependency Type Fiscal Period	egrammatically, see the <u>Microsoft I</u>
	For information about Type * Use Existing Option So Option Set * Default Value	bow to interact with entities and fields pro Option Set Colors A Yes or No boolean Activity type Category Colors A Yes or No boolean Activity type Category Colors Dependency Type Fiscal Period Fiscal Period Fiscal Period Fiscal Period Object Type	grammatically, see the <u>Microsoft (</u>



new field's option set.

Adding the Internet to a Form: An iFrame

An iFrame is a frame that allows you to display content from other places within Microsoft Dynamics CRM or from the Internet, within an entity form in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. *iFrame* has an official definition, but it's rather technical. For those readers who live and breathe technical terms, well, you either know what an iFrame is already or you can search online for iFrame to satisfy that technical desire to add it to your vocabulary.

Jack BlackHat wants to search for content on specific accounts each time he is looking at the details of an account. He thinks that a tab that offers him some search capability would be wonderful. He is in luck: Microsoft Dynamics CRM supports this interest. Look at Figure 11.16. It shows a new field that offers search, as well as an iFrame added to the new favorite color section. In addition, the properties of the iFrame include Microsoft's search decision engine's website (www.bing.com).

In the following section, you will dip your toe into a bit of programming, or at least you are going to visit the area of forms that programmers can have fun with.



Plus Company (cample)				Accounts 💌 🕸
Primary Contract Credit Limit	Preferred Method of Contact Any Annual Revenue \$1,100,000.00		Owner	
Description		Fax Web Site		
This is a test description				æ
International Country/Region U.S. Favorite Colors		Country Code International Access	13 12-21321321321	
Explore MSN Hotmail			Sign in 🔹 Rewards 🧕 United	States Preferences
				1
Keep your friends close while you search - see their like	Enter your search term	<u>10</u>		×
Keep your friends close while you search - see their like Details Potesisional Information	Enter your search term	<u>e</u>		×
Keep your friends close while you search - see their like Potasilea Potostional Information Physical Information Physical Information Physical Phys	Enteryour search term	<u>e</u>		× .

Form Properties

A form has four areas: the header, the body, the footer, and the left navigation pane. Figure 11.17 shows the form with most of the sections removed out of the body of the form for clarity.





For any given form in the system (and each entity has at least one form), you can run a script OnLoad or OnSave of the form. To access this feature, choose Form Properties, as shown in Figure 11.18.

	At Microsoft Dynamics CRM					
ile Home Insert		6				
Save As	🔄 🔄 灯 Undo 🧮	Header 💦 🖓 Assign Security Roles				
Save and Close	Redo 😽	Footer Show Dependencies				
Publish Pro	perfies Boo	Navigation Properties				
Save	Edit	Select Form				
	Solution: Default Solu	ution				
New Form						
Notes	Form: Account	Form Properties Webpage Dialog				
Common	A weater	👫 🏄 https://crmlady.crm.dynamics.com/Tools/FormEditor/Dialogs/formProperties.aspa?appSolutionId=%7bFD140A				
More Addresses	- ricager	Form Properties				
Artheties		Modify this form's properties.				
Classed Arthotics						
		Events Display Parameters Non-Event Dependencies				
Sub-Accounts	Canand	fund list				
Contacts	· Meneral	T form Librarian				
Relationships	* Notes	- Tryini Columb				
Sonnections		Manage libraries that will be available in the form.				
Documents	A Looter	🕂 🖶 Add 👔 Remove 🏦 Up 🐥 Down 🚯 Edit				
Audit History		Name Display Name Description				
Siles						
Opportunities	1					
Duntes						
A Costar						
Concers .						
Invoices		Event Handlers				
Service						
🚆 Cases		Manage functions that will be called for form or field events.				
Contracts						
Marketing		Control Form				
Gampalgns		Event OnLoad •				
Marketing Lists		🖶 Add 🕃 Remove 🚖 Up 🐥 Down 😏 Edit 🚉 Edit Library				
Prozestas		Library Function Enabled				
Workflows						
Dislag Carrigan						
Change Services		OK Cancel				
		https://comlade.com.dom.mics.com/Tools/Too. 🕒 Internet Bestanted Moder Off				
		Tanker and a substantial and a substantial for a substantial and a substantia				

FIGURE 11.18 The Form Properties screen.

You can now access your libraries by using OnLoad or OnSave.

Web Resources

In addition to iFrames, you now also have a new item called Web Resources. This was necessary given that in the world of online you can limit yourself to custom pages hosted in the same web server in which CRM was running. As the web tools have expanded, so has Dynamics CRM.

In addition, Web Resources prevent you from having to copy and paste the same Jscript over and over again on various onChange, onLoad, and onSave events.

Josh Beal sums it up in one really nice statement: "It is not a matter of can I do it...it is a matter of should I do it." He also indicates that hacking away at some .JS files on a web server is a risky venture and potentially not upgradable.

There are now a number of Web Resources that developers can use to expand the user experience. These include many of the following (although this list doesn't not include all the options):

- ► HTML web pages
- ► CSS style sheets

- Script (JScript)
- Data (XML)
- Images (PNG, JPG, GIF, or ICO)
- ► Silverlight (XAP)
- ► XSL style sheets
- ASPx.net Pages

Default Fields

A certain number of default fields come with Microsoft Dynamics CRM, but you are not limited to just these. You can add your own fields to capture data that might be specific to your company. After you create a field you can circle back and update the form and add your new field to any section.



Optional Fields

Numerous attributes exist within Microsoft Dynamics CRM that are not necessarily displayed on the initial forms.

Adding Fields

To add or change fields, you go to the Customize Entities page. Here's how you add some fun fields to the contact entity to complement Jack BlackHat's business model:

- 1. Choose Custom Entities.
- 2. Choose the entity you want to add attributes to (for example, Contacts).
- 3. Choose Fields.

In Figure 11.19, you can see the list of default contact fields. Some of them are already displayed on the form, and others can be used as needed. If the field that you want to create is not in the list, you can create it. When creating a field, you must make a number of decisions. As an example, you will create a field called Likes Magic? that will allow Jack BlackHat to mark each contact as either liking or disliking magic. This field has an answer that is one of two answers, Yes or No, so you want to choose the field type Bit. Figure 11.19 shows the list of default fields for Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Figure 11.20 shows the first screen you see when creating a new custom field.

Solution: Default Solution			Field Explorer
Form: Contact General			Filter All Fields
Name			Address 1: County
Salutation	- Business Phone		Address 1: Fan
First Name * (For) Norm	Home Phone Turns Phone		Address 1: Freight Terms
Middle Name	Mobile Phone		Address 3: Latitude
			Address 3: Longitude
Last Name	Fax		Address 3: Name
Nickname Transmit	Space:		Address 1: Phone
Job Title	- L-mail C. mail		Address 1: Post Office Box
	Control Towns		Address 1: Primary Contact Nam
Perent Account	Contact Source		Address 1: Shipping Method
Pacebook Name Carrount Nama	E-mail Address 2 Coupt Address 2		Address 1: Telephone 2
Web Site was say	E-mail Address 3 F mail Address 7		Address 1: Telephone 3
Tenure *			Address 1: UPS Zone
		anna ann an a	Address 1: UTC Offset
Date Introduced * Deer terredulet	Facebook Handle Transform De		Address 2: Address Type
Linkedin Profile Name	Likedin Handle ander Handle	1	Address 2: City
	a Territor Handle		Address 2: Country/Region
			Address 2: County
			Address 2: Fan
lddress			Address 2: Freight Terms
Address Type (Address Type	Oty America Chy		Address 2: Latitude
Grand 1	Onto Deminya		Address 2 Longitude
			Address 2: Name
Street 2 Annual Street (ZIP/Postal Code Address 1: 20/Postal Code		Address 2: Post Office Box
Street 3 Lannary (Unrul)	Country/Region (Country/Region		Address 2: Primary Contact Nam
			Address 2: Shipping Method
			Address 2 State/Province
Jesciy Ban			Address 2: Street 1
Centration			Address 2: Street 2
			Contract of the second se
		E [.]	New Feid

FIGURE 11.19

Contact fields.

https://crmlady.crm.dynamic	s.com/tools/systemcustom	ization/attributes/manageAttribute.a	espx?appSolutionId=%7bFD140/	AF-4DF4-11DD-8D17-001	989312238%
ile 🛃 🛃 Save and Clos	• 🖬				😵 Hels
Field New for Contact	Working on solution: Default Solution				
Information	Schema Display Name * Name * Field Security Auditing * Description	I rew_ ← Enable ← Disable ← Enable ← Disable ▲ This field will not be audited u how to interact with entities and field	Requirement Level * Searchable	No Constraint Yes organization.	•
	Type * Formst * Maximum Length * IME Mode *	Single Line of Text Text 100 auto	•		•

FIGURE 11.20 Creating a new attribute: Likes Magic?

Fields can be of all different types. The Type field within the attribute is not only a drop-down list of choices, but when you make your choice, the formatting of the actual details change based on the type you select. For instance, if you choose that the field you are adding is an Int (for integer), your formatting choices will include how many decimals and the maximum and minimum values.


Microsoft Dynamics CRM Architecture

If you are going to add a number of fields, you should read more about architecting Microsoft Dynamics CRM or talk with a Microsoft Dynamics CRM specialist before proceeding. The type of field and the creation of fields affect the entire Microsoft Dynamics CRM framework and database structure. Adding a new field is not always the best architectural decision to solve a business need for a specific type of report or display.

Changing Names

You can change the names of existing fields. When you change the name of a field, the name on the form and the name in any associated views also change. You cannot change the internal database name of the field, but you can change the display name of a specific field. To change a field name, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a specific field.
- **2.** Select the field.
- **3.** Change the display name to a name of your liking. Figure 11.21 shows the form for editing a field.

Information Schema Display Hame * <u>Eddress 2: CP; Requirement Level * No Name * Indoress2; chy Searchable Yes Field Security C Enable © Disable Audiling * @ Enable C Disable </u>	Constraint
Display Name * Address 21 Cd) Requirement Level * No C Name * Searchable Yes Field Security C* Enable © Disable Audition * @ Enable C* Disable	Constraint
Name • Joddrest2, city Searchable Yes Field Security C Enable @ Disable Auditing • C Enable C Disable	
Field Security C Enable C Disable	
Auditing * (* Enable (* Disable	
A This field will not be audited until auditing is enabled for the organization.	
Description City name for address 2.	
For information about how to interact with entities and fields programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft Dynamics C</u>	CRM SDK
Туре	
Type * Single Line of Text ~	
Format * Text	
Maximum Length * 80	
IME Mode * active	

Field Internal Names

Although you are changing the field display name, the name that appears in reports will be the original.

Adding and Modifying Drop-Down List Values

Another common change to fields is to modify or add drop-down values to fields that are of type picklist. If you choose the field role on the Contact entity, you can add to the default picklist values, as shown in Figure 11.22.

Schema				
Display Name *	Role	Requirement Level *	No Constraint	•
Name *	accountrolecode	Searchable	Yes	•
Field Security	C Enable 📀 Disable			
Auditing *	Enable C Disable			
	A This field will not be audited up	ntil auditing is enabled for the organiza	tion.	
Description	Account role of the contact.			
For information about he	ow to interact with entities and fields	s programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft Dy</u>	mamics CRM SDK	
For information about he	ow to interact with entities and fields	s programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft D</u>	rnamics CRM SDK	
For information about he Type Type *	ow to interact with entities and fields	s programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft D</u>	rnamics CRM SDK	
For information about he Type Type * Use Existing Option Set	Option Set C Yes で No	s programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft Dy</u>	rnamics CRM SDK	
For information about he Type Type * Use Existing Option Set Default Value	Option Set C Yes G No Unassigned Value	s programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft Dy</u>	rnamics CRM SDK	
For information about he Fype Type * Use Existing Option Set Default Value D ptions	Option Set	; programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft D</u> ;	rnamics CRM SDK	
For information about he Type * Use Existing Option Set Default Value Options	Option Set Cytes Cytes Cytes Onessigned Value	s programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft D</u>	mamics CRM SDK	
For information about he Type * Use Existing Option Set Default Value Options Decision Maker	w to interact with entities and fields	s programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft D</u>	mamics CRM SDK	
For information about he Type * Use Existing Option Set Default Value Options Decision Maker Employee	C Yes C No Unassigned Value	s programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft D</u>	mamics CRM SDK	
For information about he Type * Use Existing Option Set Default Value Options Decision Maker Employee Influencer	C Yes G No Unassigned Value	programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft D</u>	mamics CRM SDK	
For information about he Type * Use Existing Option Set Default Value Default Value Detions Decision Maker Employee Influencer	C Yes G No Unassigned Value	s programmatically, see the <u>Microsoft Da</u>	mamics CRM SDK	

FIGURE 11.22 Adding to the drop-down list values.

By the

lav

You now know how to change and modify a form and add and change existing fields. You can add drop-down values to drop-down fields, and you can create sections on a form. You also have the power to add your new fields to the existing form. You have also learned how to add a simple iFrame that serves up an external web page. These web pages could be a search engine or even a mapping application for easy access to maps.

Views

A list of system views is available on every entity you select. System views include items such as My Accounts, Active Accounts, My Activities, Closed Activities, Leads Open Last Week, and more. To create system views, you can start by looking at the Account entity System Views option under Customization. Figure 11.23 shows a list of the system views under Forms and Views associated with the Account entity. In addition to what you will learn about Advanced Find and creating ad hoc user-specific views in later hours, here we examine how you can modify existing system views and set up new system views.



Solution: Default Solution	View: All Active Views			
Account Account Activity		Туре	State	Customizable
Address	Active Contacts	Public View	Managed	True
Appointment	Contact Associated View	Associated View	Managed	True
Article	Contacts Advanced Find View	Advanced Find View	Managed	True
Article lemplate Business Unit	Contacts Lookup View	Lookup View	Managed	True
Campaign	Contacts: Influenced Deals That We	Public View	Managed	True
Campaign Activity	Contacts: No Campaign Activities in	Public View	Managed	True
Campaign Respo	Contacts: No Orders in Last 6 Mont	Public View	Managed	True
Case	Contacts: Responded to Campaign	Public View	Managed	True
Case Resolution	Inactive Contacts	Public View	Managed	True
Competitor Addr	🗐 🌉 My Active Contacts	Default Public View	Managed	True
Connection	My Connections	Public View	Managed	True
Connection Role	Quick Find Active Contacts	Quick Find View	Managed	True
 Gontact Forms Views Charts Fields Relations Nr. Relations Nr. Relations 				

By the

System Views

System views are available to all users who have access to your Microsoft Dynamics CRM system. You can have an unlimited number of system views per entity.

Modifying an Existing System View

To modify a view, follow these steps:

- **1.** Select the system view you want to change (Figure 11.24).
- 2. Choose a column.
- **3.** Use your mouse to control the common tasks green arrows to move a column to the right or left (see Figure 11.25).
- 4. Select Common Tasks, Add Columns to add existing fields to the view.

- 5. Select Common Tasks, Change Properties to change the width of the column you have selected.
- 6. Use Configure Sorting to select a field as the default sort (see Figures 11.24 through 11.26 for examples).



View: Active Accounts - Windows Internet Explorer 🌽 https://crmlady.crm.dynamics.com/tools/vieweditor/viewManager.aspx?appSolutionId=%7bFD140AAF-4DF4-11DD-BD17-0019B9312238 🔒 🧟 🛃 🔚 Save As 🛛 Save and Close 救 Actions 🕶 🕜 <u>H</u>elp 🕶 File Working on solution: Default Solution View: Active Accounts Main Phone Account Name Address 1: City Primary Contact € G View Properties Edit Filter Criteria View results are displayed here Configure Sorting ᡖ Add Columns • F 🐻 Change Properties Ъ Remove () Note: When there are too many columns to fit on a page, the view will be shortened and scrollbars will be added. √a ▼ € 100% ▼

Internet | Protected Mode: Off

Done

FIGURE 11.24 A system view.

FIGURE 11.25 Modifying green arrows.



When you are modifying the Accounts system view, you are changing the Accounts view for all users. You might want to remove the columns that do not really apply to your business model, or you might want to rearrange the columns so that the most critical information on the accounts is listed in the first column.

When you use a view, you can sort by any column by clicking on the column header, but a review and a change of the default sort saves a step.

The width of the column can also make a difference. If your business has long account names, ensure that the Account Name column is as wide as possible. On the other hand, if your account names are relatively short, shorten the Account Name column to take advantage of more screen real estate. Also, you can manage the white space to make the display more user-friendly.

Columns that you select for your view are also columns of data that will appear in your interaction and use between Microsoft Dynamics Excel and views of data. You will learn more about this in Hour 20, "Utilizing the Power of Microsoft Excel with CRM Data."

Adding a New System View

To add a new system view, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose Customize Entities.
- **2.** Choose the entity associated where you want to create a new system view. For example, you can create a new view associated with the Phone Call entity.

- **3.** Choose Forms and Views.
- **4.** Click New (see Figure 11.27) and give your new view a name and description (see Figure 11.28).



FIGURE 11.27 Forms and Views.

https://crmlad	y.crm. dynamics.com /Tools/ViewEditor/Dialogs/ViewProperties.aspx?
Provide Inform Provide a name ar in the View list.	ation for This View Id description for this view. For public views the name will be visible to user:
Name * Description	
	OK Cancel



You can now proceed to select columns, adjust the width of those columns, and arrange those columns to your liking. After you finish, click Save.

Adding a Filter

You might want to limit the data that displays when your new view is selected. For instance, say that you are creating a phone call view that only shows phone calls that start with 401. To filter the data in your new system view, follow these steps:

- **1.** Choose Filter Data Criteria (see Figure 11.29).
- 2. Using the power of query, select your filter criteria.
- 3. Choose Phone Number.
- 4. Choose Contains and Enter 401.

Ke View: My Phone Calls - Windows Internet Explorer 🎽 https://crmlady.crm.dynamics.com/tools/vieweditor/viewManager.aspx?appSolutionId=%7bFD140AAF-4DF4-11DD-BD17-0019B9312238 🔒 睯 🛃 🕞 Save As 🛛 Save and Close 👍 Actions 🕶 🕜 Help 🖥 File View: My Phone Calls Working on solution: Default Solution Recipient Phone Number Subject Regarding Priorit n Tasks Ð G 🟉 Edit Filter Criteria -- Webpage Dialog X View Properties Edit Filter Criteria 🏄 https://crmlady.crm.dynamics.com/Tools/ViewEditor/Dialogs/SetFilters.aspx?appSolutionId=%7bFD14 🔒 Configure Sorting Edit Filter Criteria Define the filter and search criteria for this view to use Add Columns T Clear | [•] Group AND]•[Group OR hange Properties → Activity Status
 Equals Open 🎝 Remove Select ★ Activity Parties (Activity) → Participation Type
 Equals
 To Recipient;Sender;Owne Party Equals Current User Select A +
 A 100% +
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 A
 😝 Internet | Protected Me

Adding new system views is just one of the many ways you can use views. For more details on creating custom ad hoc views, see Hour 20.

You have now changed your interaction with Microsoft Dynamics CRM and have added additional ways to interact with and display all the data that has been captured in the system.

FIGURE 11.29 Filtering data criteria.

Workshop

Jack BlackHat has a small business called BlackHat Magic, which offers magic performances to individual families for birthday parties and celebrations, and to large corporations for trade shows and employee festivals. Jack uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM to track specific details on the contacts he works with and the families and companies who engage him. Jack has added a number of custom fields to his version of Microsoft Dynamics CRM so that he can track the different preferences of his contacts as well as the various associated birthdays, anniversaries, and special events. Jack also likes to remember everyone he meets, so he spends extra effort to capture details that helps him remember his hundreds of contacts. These details include hair color, eye color, and favorite outfit.

Jack also keeps track of how different families are related to each other. He uses the Parent Account field in Microsoft Dynamics CRM to create a family tree type of association. Jack also uses the Microsoft Dynamics CRM relationships feature to capture associations between kids that play on the same sports teams and their parents so that he can pass out his business cards and ask for appropriate references.

Q&A

- **Q.** Are there fields available to use that are not displayed on the default forms?
- **A.** Yes. Microsoft Dynamics CRM comes with a large number of fields that are not included on the initial default screens. These can be used as they are or renamed.
- Q. How do I add values to the drop-down lists?
- **A.** You add values to the drop-down lists by editing an attribute that is of type picklist, you can also associate option lists with picklist fields.

Q. I want to offer the entry of an account number on two different sections in the account form. Can this be done?

A. Yes, you can display the account number field on different sections of the form multiple times.

- **Q.** How do I create a personal view that is not available to other users in the system?
- **A.** You can use Advanced Find. For more details on using Advanced Find, see Hour 20.

Q. Can I share a personal view with other people?

- **A.** Yes. You can create a personal view and share it with a team or with specific users.
- Q. Can I delete an existing system view?
- **A.** Yes, but doing so deletes it for all users of your Microsoft Dynamics CRM environment.

Quiz

- **1.** What are three fields that Jack needs to add to his Microsoft Dynamics CRM system? What type of fields are they?
- **2.** Do you see any example within Jack's business where an iFrame would prove useful?
- 3. How many forms does each entity have?
- 4. What needs to be changed on the form to allow for four columns?
- 5. Can you display a field more than once on any given form?
- 6. After you create a new system view, who has access to it?

Answers

- **1.** Likes Magic? of type Bit, Favorite Color of type Picklist, and birthday of type DATETIME with the option of Date only selected.
- **2.** Jack BlackHat travels often. Easy access from within the account to one of the mapping applications, such as Live Maps, is extremely helpful.
- **3.** Each entity can have more than one form.
- 4. The properties of the section need to be changed to add four columns.
- 5. You can now display more than one of the same attribute on any given form.
- 6. System views are available to all users of Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Exercise

Add the fields that Jack BlackHat needs for his BlackHat Magic company, including fields to track each critical event on the contact form and the details to help Jack remember each contact's unique features. These might include height, character, and eye color. In addition, create the color fields of type Bit and then add these to a section of the account form. Set each field to a check box and display it in four columns.

Check Boxes Are Not Usually the Answer

Check boxes are not the answer for a good number of business situations. There is a more historically appropriate solution in the use of activities. Discuss your choices with an experienced Microsoft Dynamics CRM architect.



This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 12

Contacts and Activity Capture

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Capturing contact information
- Related contacts
- Leveraging and using activities

In this hour, you will learn about contacts and associated activities. In addition, this hour gets into the details of relating contacts to each other and to other accounts.

Capturing Contact Information

In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, you capture contact information through the Contact form, which is separated into different sections. We are now going to look at the different sections of the Contact form.

The General Section

As introduced in Hour 2, "The Basic Vocabulary of CRM Functionality," a contact is a specific person. A contact also has related information, such as the activities a staff person might have promised to complete for a person and the relationships that a person has with other people and companies. Depending on the industry and business, and even the country culture and rules, various levels of detail can be captured about a specific person in the Contact form in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

Contacts Are Not Always People

A contact does not have to be a person: It can be renamed just like any other customizable entity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Rename offers you the full contact functionality whereas a custom entity would not. If you are in a unique industry, you can rename and use a contact for a piece of clothing associated with an outfit, a farm animal associated with a farm, an area of a sign associated with a sign, or a type of wine associated with a wine cellar.



Contacts in Microsoft Dynamics CRM have a number of nuances of interest for discussion. For instance, capturing details on a person isn't always just about the technology. In certain countries, it is not culturally acceptable to track certain types of personal information within business electronic databases, such as personal habits, favorite hobbies, golf scores, and more. If you are configuring Microsoft Dynamics CRM for another company, you might want to check on some of these types of business and cultural rules.

Figure 12.1 shows the default General section of the Contact form. The following looks at some of the important fields in this section.

New				
E-mail	Preferred Method of Contact Any		S Anne Stanton	
General				
Salutation		Business Phone		
First Name *		Home Phone		
Middle Name		Mobile Phone		
Last Name *		Fax		
Nidoname				
Job Title		E-mail		
Parent Account	a	E-mail Address 2		
Web Site		E-mail Address 3		
Source *				
Date Introduced	0v			
Address				
Address Type	•	City		
Street 1		State/Province		
Street 2		ZIP/Postal Code		
Street 3		Country/Region		
Description				

FIGURE 12.1 A contact's gen-

eral details.



The Name Fields

Notice that in Figure 12.1, the name is displayed using three different fields: First Name, Middle Name, and Last Name. This format for capturing allows for sorting and for granular views based on three specifically unique and yet related pieces of information. The system is also designed to offer a full name display if it has access to these three core data fields. There is also the option to totally skip this separation of name and use the full name only, with JScript populating the required Last Name field.

Salutation

Salutation is a field for capturing all the different terms you would use when writing a letter or addressing someone other than by his or her first and last name. These

can include Mr., Mrs., Ms., Dr., and more, depending on the country or style in which your company addresses contacts. This field can also be used with mail merge when you are using a generic Dear field such as Dear Sir.

Salutation

By default, the Salutation field is a text field, but if you have a long list of options, you may want to hide the default Salutation field and add your own custom field of type Picklist to ensure a higher level of consistency in spelling and form over time.

Job Title

One of the default fields for a contact is Job Title. Job Title is an open text field, so a user can enter any derivative of job title as fits. Text fields can be a problem for data quality and as such you might want to replace this field.

Data Quality

If you want to control consistency of spelling and job title options, you might want to make this a drop-down list (using the Picklist attribute). On the other hand, in this day and age, you can come across some rather creative job titles, and you don't want to frustrate yourself or users if they want to add something creative.

Parent Account

For any given contact, there is one parent account. The parent account relationship is a special one in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Just as an account can have a primary contact, a contact can have an association to a specific account (or customer). The association to a customer is a lookup on the Account entity. If the account doesn't exist, this field can be left empty, or a new account can be entered when the contact is entered.

Lookup

A lookup is when the system has an association between two entities and the system uses this association to look up data that is related via a key or primary field. This can also be thought of as a one-to-many, many-to-one, or many-to-many relationship between entities.

Currency

Every contact can have a unique association to a currency from the currencies defined in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Currency is a required field for a contact because it is used in many other places in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. However, if you have only one currency, you can move this field to a different section and set your currency as the default.







Figure 12.2 shows the currency lookup.



FIGURE 12.2

The currency lookup.

Phone Numbers

Each contact has spaces for a number of different phone numbers, by default a set of telephone numbers are named Business, Home, Mobile, and Fax. This sixth phone number is a delivery address phone number for reference to shipping forms that require a phone number. There are default phone numbers, but that does not mean you can't add more or take away some that might not be useful. You can also change the phone number format by creating new complementary attributes for extension and area code. You can use a small piece of code as part of the OnChange event to the phone number attribute for formatting. For more information on OnChange, OnLoad, and OnSave events, check out Hour 24, "Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a Development Framework."

The Address Fields

The Contact form includes a primary address, but you can add an unlimited number of addresses for a contact by using the More Addresses option in the left navigation pane. If you create a contact after selecting its account, the address will be prepopulated with the account's address; otherwise, it will be blank. The primary address also includes an address name (which might be something like "corporate headquarters").

Other Fields in the General Section

Other fields worth noting include Address Type (which includes Bill To, Ship To, Primary, and Other by default), Shipping Method, and Default Freight Terms. If you are in a service industry and you don't ship product, you might want to turn off some of these fields by selecting System Configuration, Customization to offer a cleaner interface.

Description

The text in the Description field is limited to approximately 2,000 characters, so you should carefully consider how to use it. One use of the Description field is to summarize a general profile for a contact, or you can select the contact's profile from a website and paste it into this space. The Description field should not be used for regular historical notes because if it is used in this manner, a user might run out of space. (See the section "The Notes and Activities Section," later in this chapter, for information on historical notes.)

The Details Section of the Contact Form

Figure 12.3 shows the common fields found in the Details section of the Contact form.

letails				
ersonal Information	n	l'anne		
sender	Gender	Birthday	(5irthday	
tarital Status		Spouse/Partner Name		
las Children	Has Children	Späcer		
Owner*		Children's Names		
urrency	Саннау	Anniversary	Annivercary	
otes & Activities	Correg	Anniversary	Lannuer Lag	
Currency lotes & Activities farketing	Correnge	Anniversary		
lurrency lotes & Activities larketing ontact Methods	Conneg	Anniversary		
urrency otes & Activities larketing ontact Methods referred	Converge	Anniversary		
urrency lotes & Activities larketing ontact Methods referred	Conney	Anniversary		
iotes & Activities barketing ontact Methods referred -mail	Contrary	Anniversary Buik E-mail		
iotes & Activities larketing ontact Methods veferred -mail thone	Conneg Destance Method of Context Do not allow Faculty Do not allow Faculty	Anniversary Buck E-mail Fax	(Annoversay	
turrency tortes & Activities tarketing intact Methods referred -mail hone	Conneg	Anniversary Duik E-mail Fax	Constant and a consta	
urrency otes & Activities tarketing what Methods referred mail bone	Connergy Performed Method of Contoct On real server 4 and On real server	Anniversary	Constanting	
Jurrency lotes & Activities barketing sontact Methods vrderred -mail Thone Mail	Converge	Anniversary Duit E-mail Par		
Lurrency Rotes & Activities Earketing ontact Methods Preferred Lenal Phone Mail		Anniversary Duk E-mail Fax	Constant and a second s	
Currency Rotes & Activities Marketing antact Methods Preferred Langel Prone Mail Driginating Lead	Conneg Prefered Linear & Contact Data James Faster Data James Faster District Contact States District	Anniversary	Contractions for a company.	



Department

Department is descriptive only and is not used in other parts of the system. It can be helpful, however, when extending Microsoft Dynamics CRM or when creating ad hoc reports.

Role

Role is a drop-down field that supports a user's interest in classifying the true role of a contact (for instance, influencer, decision maker).

Owner

The owner of the contact affects many things in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. It is a key field that helps control data access and role-based security. It can also be used to focus and filter data for views and reports. Every contact in Microsoft Dynamics CRM must be assigned an owner, and the owner of the contact must be a licensed Microsoft Dynamics CRM user of the system. This also applies to the owner of the account. The owner of the account and the owner of the contact do not have to be the same.

For instance, perhaps you want to limit who has access to specific contacts. You can do this by assigning the proper owner to each of the contacts associated with an account and then configuring security to be owner specific. As you learned in Hour 5, "Security," you can add many layers of security to Microsoft Dynamics CRM.



Team Ownership

Accounts and Contacts (as well as other entities) can also be owned by a team. Team ownership works similarly to specific owner although each member of the team is given access to the entity as if they owned it.

Originating Lead

If you are using the leads feature of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and you convert a lead to an account and a contact, the Originating Lead field will display the lead record where this contact came from. You can use this link to look at lead notes and activities related to the contact.

Billing Information

If you integrate Microsoft Dynamics CRM with other Dynamics applications, such as the accounting software Microsoft Dynamics NAV, Microsoft Dynamics GP, or Microsoft Dynamics AX, some of the billing information will be automatically populated. If your accounting software is not integrated with Microsoft Dynamics CRM, the Billing Information field is a place to capture billing details that might be of interest to the sales team. In addition, if you are using Microsoft Dynamics CRM to create quotes, orders, and invoices, the default price list defined on the contact will be the default price list used when creating quotes, orders, and invoices for this contact. If you are not using Microsoft Dynamics CRM for any type of accounting, you might want to remove this field from the form.

Contact Methods

To help support anti-spam regulations and compliance with these regulations, Microsoft Dynamics CRM provides a place to capture the marketing wishes of your contacts. When creating marketing campaigns, when sending email (including bulk email), and when doing mailings, Microsoft Dynamics CRM checks the settings on the contact and alerts the user of any mailing issues. For instance, if you set a contact to not allow email, Microsoft Dynamics CRM will not allow you to send email to that contact. If you have the account set to Do Not Allow and the contact to Allow, the Account takes priority, and your mailing will be blocked.

Marketing Information

As you learned in Hour 9, "Marketing Campaigns," Microsoft Dynamics CRM has a campaign management system that allows for detailed tracking of activities associated with specific marketing efforts. When looking at specific contacts, you can see the last campaign that a specific contact was included in, and you can set whether you want a specific contact to be included in future marketing campaigns.

Service Preferences

Service Preferences is a section associated with the scheduling and service functionality in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. If you are not using service and scheduling functionality, you can remove this field or this entire section from the form (although you might find some of the fields useful).

In terms of service, as you will learn in Hour 19, "Scheduling," scheduling is a detailed and robust function in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, but it is also quite particular when it comes to wanting specific details. If you plan to use scheduling, you definitely want to choose and set the right specifics on your contact with regard to preferred service, preferred equipment/facility, and preferred user. This will make using the scheduling feature a lot smoother. Defining the preferred fields within a contact

when a contact is added eliminates the need to go back and update all contacts with the preferred settings.

The Notes and Activities Section

Notes and Activities are available on many different entities, and you can capture notes and activities on all or a subset of entities, but it's important to consider how notes will be used. If you want to aggregate all notes from all entities into one central place, you need either a report, a custom application, or a third-party add-in to Microsoft Dynamics CRM. By default, Microsoft Dynamics CRM serves up notes as they relate to a specific entity. There is definitely good reasoning behind this, but it also can trip you up. For instance, to see all the notes and the total set of conversations you have had with a specific contact, choosing the Notes section on that contact will show you a good running history, unless you also have contact-specific notes on an account, an activity, or the opportunity.

It is important to decide on a good business process with regard to notes. You can also offer more freedom in note taking (ultimately capturing more corporate details) if you add in a note display or report.

Figure 12.4 shows an example of the Notes section with three captured notes.



Notes are unlimited in terms of how many words you can type in them. You can have a long note or a series of short notes. You can also associate attachments with notes, although these attachments are more for historical reference than for long-

FIGURE 12.4

The Notes and Activities section of the Contact form. term collaboration and editing. If you want a true document library where you can search, check out, edit, and check in documents, you really want to leverage the integration between Microsoft Dynamics CRM and Microsoft SharePoint. They make a natural partnership, and with a tiny bit of work, you can have the correct SharePoint account-specific document library appear as a section in the account or contact record of Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Unstructured Data Such as Documents

SharePoint is a great solution for unstructured data, and Microsoft Dynamics CRM works well as SharePoint's partner with structured data.

For more information about your chosen architecture for Microsoft SharePoint with Microsoft Dynamics CRM, talk with a local Microsoft Partner who specializes in SharePoint and Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Additionally you will want to leverage the integration to SharePoint that is delivered with Dynamics CRM v2011.

Where to Put Notes

If your teams are good at business processes, a simple rule of thumb could be to organize the free-form notes captured by all the different people in your organization. If each person at your company has a unique and creative style, however, you might want to leverage technology to summarize and organize the free-form notes captured.

Related Contacts

If you have many different relationships that you want to track or if you want to capture the relationships that a given contact has to other contacts or accounts, you might want to take advantage of the relationship-tracking feature of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. There are two different options here: relationships and connections.

Tracking Relationships

The relationship-tracking feature offers a chance to define relationship roles, such as association and association member or vendor contact and reseller contact. The relationship-tracking feature of Microsoft Dynamics CRM exists because it was available in earlier version, but in v2011 is being replaced by connections. The relationship tracking feature is accessible from the left navigation pane of the Contact form, the Account form, and the Opportunity form.





Figure 12.5 shows the new relationship form, as accessed from by selecting Relationships on the Contact form.

Custome	r Relationship: New			
 General Current record: 			Create relationship	o to:
Party 1 *	Jack Wilkes		Party 2 *	National Coffee Lovers Associ
Role 1		•	Role 2	
Status: New				

Figure 12.6 shows the details of a completed relationship. In this example, Jack Wilkes is a member of the National Coffee Lovers Association.





tionship.

FIGURE 12.5 Adding a new relationship.

Tracking Connections

The second option when it comes to tracking who is connected to whom is to track connections. Connections are unique entities that track relationships between different accounts and relationships between different contacts. In fact, you can even use connections to track the complex relationships between other entities.

Unlike the relationship feature discussed in the preceding section, connections offers a lot more long-term depth of feature and functionality. For instance, when you create a connection between a person and an account, you can define the specific role the person has within that relationship. You can also capture when the relationship started and when the relationship ended (if it ended). So a contact can be connected to an account, but it can also be connected to an opportunity, a lead, or another contact.

When you are using connections, you can use different views to determine such things as who is influencing a specific sale or who manages a specific budget. Figure 12.7 shows a connection on a contact associated with an account. In this specific situation, the account is not the contact's employer but is a vendor with which the contact does business. The contact has this connection because he was a former employee of this vendor. We can capture that John Smith worked at Greenfield Vendor prior to holding his current position with ABC Company.





Leveraging and Using Activities

As you learned in Hour 2, activities are classified as one of the following: tasks, faxes, phone calls, e-mails, letters, appointments, and special case service activities or marketing campaign activities. The special activities are discussed in Hour 9 and Hour 19. Figure 12.8 shows the full list of activity types.



Each activity type captures a set of unique information and core details, and therefore each activity is slightly different, but they are all considered activities and are aggregated under the Activity entity views. This means that all activities can be shown under the activities view usually found in Workplace, and all your activities can be seen in the view My Activities (see Figure 12.9). We talk more about special types of activity views later in this hour.

Additionally if you select a specific contact or if you select a specific account, you will see listed in the left menu that you have an Activities option and a History option. In these two areas, History is another name for completed activities.

FIGURE 12.8

Activity types.

Activities as a Key Indicator

Activities are the key indicator for tracking who did what and when within the system. When the Save as Completed option is chosen, an activity is locked into history, and the system stamps it with a user, date, and time. This stamp allows you to view or report on the actual completed date and on the created date and last modified date.



By the

Way

Task Activities

Figure 12.10 shows the details of a Task activity. You can configure a Task activity to synchronize with Microsoft Outlook tasks. This synchronization means that, if you check off the task as completed in Outlook, it also shows up as completed in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and if you complete the activity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, it shows up as completed in Outlook tasks. Activities of type Task are the only activities that synchronize with Outlook tasks.

You can associate an attachment with a task activity, as shown in Figure 12.11.





Attachments

Attachments are unstructured files of various sizes, and although Microsoft Dynamics CRM can be configured to limit attachments to sizes within a limit, you should consider the risks and rewards of inserting attachments before building this feature into your business process.

Fax Activities

Figure 12.12 shows a Fax activity. A Fax activity does not send faxes; it tracks that a fax was sent. It includes an area for you to indicate what number and to whom the fax was sent. In a Fax activity, notice that there are some unique fields, such as Fax Number, Recipient, and Sender. Fax activities do not synchronize with Outlook, but

they can be viewed under the Activities view (see Figure 12.13). You can also reach the Activities view via the Activities folder in Outlook.

Fax					
Sender	S Anne Stanton		Fax Number	312-412-2233	
Recipient	Harry Greenfield	_	Direction	C Incoming Outgoing	
Subject *	Fax the Confidentiality Agree	ement			
Regarding					
Regarding Owner*	S Anne Stanton				
Regarding Owner* Duration	S minutes		Priority	Normal	
Regarding Owner* Duration Due Category	S Anne Stanton 30 minutes 8/9/2011 FBW 12:00	▼ AM▼	Priority Cover Page Sub-Category	Normal Required	

FIGURE 12.12 A Fax activity.

Activ	ities: All Faxes +					Search	for excends		- ,
Due	AE								
1.1	Subject ~	Sender	Recipient	Regarding	Direction	FaxNumber	Priority	Due Date	Activity Sta
4	Fax the Confidentiality Agreement	Anne Stanton	Harry Greenfield		Outpoing	312-412-2233	Normai	8/9/2011 12:00	. Open

FIGURE 12.13 The Fax Activities view.

Phone Call Activities

If you create a new activity of type Phone Call after you have chosen the contact, the Phone Call activity automatically populates with the contact's main phone number and the correct contacts for both the contact and the CRM user. Figure 12.14 shows an example.



In addition, if you change the Outgoing and Incoming radio buttons on the Phone Call activity, the names will be automatically swapped.

E-mail Activities

E-mail activities are completed when tracking e-mail from Outlook. However, from within Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you can create an e-mail message and save it to be sent later. You can also create an e-mail message and associate it with someone else so that the other person can send it when ready. Perhaps someone wants you to create a first draft and he then wants to do a final edit and send it. You can also create and send an e-mail message immediately. E-mail messages created and sent from Microsoft Dynamics CRM are not tracked in Microsoft Outlook. This is by design. Figure 12.15 shows an E-mail activity.

E-mail activities have an option to allow you to format an e-mail message using rich text commands, insert a standard e-mail template that might include data fields from Microsoft Dynamics CRM, or insert one of your Knowledge Base articles.

E-mail Meeting	Activities	• ☆ ♥
E-mail		-
From	S Anne Stanton	Q
То	🤢 john Smith	Q
Cc		Q
Bcc		Q
Subject	Meeting	
Regarding	BC Company	Q
እ 🖻 🛍 ዞ	/ U 臣 吾 晋 汪 汪 谭 谭 🛧 - A - 💁 Insert Template 🗎 Insert Article	

If you do want to associate an attachment with an e-mail message, you first need to save the e-mail message (which you can do without exiting) and then associate the attachment to the created E-mail activity.

As you learned in Hour 9, you can also send e-mail messages as part of a full marketing campaign or a quick campaign.

E-mail messages that are tracked from Outlook and e-mail messages that are sent from Microsoft Dynamics CRM would appear under a contact's history and under the staff members' activities. In addition, you can set a "regarding" within an e-mail message and associate it with another entity, such as an invoice, an opportunity, or a service case. FIGURE 12.15 An E-mail activity.

Letter Activities

A Letter activity can track when letters are sent to a prospect or customer. A Letter activity is a classification that includes an area to indicate which address to send a letter to or the address to which a letter was sent. Figure 12.16 shows an example of an activity of type Letter.

etter activity.	New				
	* Letter				
	Sender	S Anne Stanton	Address	Corporate Office	
	Recipient	Sij Terry Brown	Direction	C Incoming @ Outgoing	
	Subject *	Send a Thank You Note			
	school mank je		in the open noor		
	Regarding	ARC. Company			
	Regarding Owner *	AISC Company			
	Regarding Owner* Duration	ABC Company ABC Company ABC Stanton S0 minutes	s. Priority	Normal	
	Regarding Owner * Duration Due	ABC Company ABC Stanton 30 minutes 8/11/2011	2. Priority	Normal	
	Regarding Owner* Duration Due Category	ABC Company ABC Company Anne Stanton 30 minutes 8/11/2011	e Priority e Sub-Category	Normal	

Appointment or Recurring Appointment Activities

An Appointment activity shows up on the Microsoft Dynamics CRM calendar in the My Activities view of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. If you are synchronizing all appointments to Microsoft Outlook, they also appear in your Outlook calendar. You can also selectively connect Outlook appointments to Microsoft Dynamics CRM from Outlook. When you do this, the items appear as Appointment activities in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. See Figure 12.17. Recurring activities can also be tracked, although they are tracked as a unique activity of type recurring.

FIGURE 12.16

Appointment					
Subject *	Webinar on Dynamics	CRM			
Location	Telephone				
Regarding	9 Terry Brown				_
Scheduling Inf	ormation				
Required	Sa Terry Brown Sa jo	hn Smith			
Optional					
Start Time *	10/13/2011	3:00 PM 💌	Duration	1 hour	*
End Time *	10/13/2011	4:00 PM 💌	All Day Event		
Show Time As	Busy	*	Priority	Normal	-
1					
I					



Custom Activities

You can create custom activity types if the other options do not fit your business model. To create a custom activity type, you need to create a new entity and select the option to make the new entity an activity (see Figure 12.18). Here's how you do it:

Customization - Micro	Solution Default Solution - Micro	soft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet	t Explorer		5-0-	- 12 - Safety +		
	https://comiledy.com.dynamics.c	om hools 'solution 'edit apps "dis 1714 d	41auf 4:44-11d 8-6417-001	Helil 2238 %76#		88		
Hame	Save and Case	🗃 🔂 Export Solution 🗿 Impor	t Translations 📋 💁 Export	Translations 🙆 Publish All Customiz	ations 🔌 <u>Artions</u> -	O Bela -		
Dire New Second .	Solution: Default Solution							
tiers:	Solution: Default Solution	Component Type Entity		· View Customizable				
Settings 🔯	2 Statemation	New X Delete	Show Dependencies	Managed Properties				
Business Business Managemen Templates Product Catalog Product Catalog System	Colposers Option Sets Option Sets Web Reserves Proper Assembles Set Message Processin- Set Message Processin- Set Message Processin-	Tosty New - Windows Inte	M Inthe New - Windows Internet Liplover					
		A https://cmixty.cm.dynam	A Mtps://omlidy.cm.dynamics.com/tools/systemcostomization/inities/manageentity.asp/bggSolutionEs/10/FD1464AF-40F4-110D-1017-001989312291574					
		n al la Save and O	use					
Data Management		Wunding Working						
- Auditra	Heports	A Common	General Primary	Field				
Contomization	Connection Roles	a briermation	Entity Definition					
🐉 salutiens 🗮	Contract Templates		Display Name*		Dwnership*	User or Team		
Dynamici Marketpia Process Center	Mail Merge Templates	Tanan Tanan	Plural Name *		C Define ai ar	n activity entity.		
2. Processes	Security Roles	1 10 Astatuseships	Name *	new_	P Display	in Activity Menus		
		1 A	Description					
			Areas that display th	uis entity				
		- A	T workplace	IT Sales	EMarketing	□ Service		
		1-50	/ Settings	Resource Center				
	Status Existing		Options for Entity					
CA INCIDENT			Communication & C	initaboration 🐨				
and monipole			P Notes Includes a	diachmentsi *				
D. Mathematica			P Attaites 1					
Car and a starting			Connections*					

FIGURE 12.18 Creating a custom activity.

- **1.** Select Settings.
- 2. Select Customizations.
- 3. Select Customize the System.
- 4. Select Entities.
- 5. Select New.
- 6. Select Define as an Activity Entity.

After you define a custom activity entity, the choice of types of activities list will be updated. For instance if you select New from My Activities, the list of choices will now include your new type.

Workshop

Janet runs a boutique clothing store, and she uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM to manage her marketing efforts and her relationships with customers. Given that Janet's store is a boutique, she has a special relationship with some of her most loyal clients, and Janet makes a point of remembering what they like. Janet captures each visitor who visits her store and who signs up for her regular mailings. Janet also uses Appointment activities to capture meetings for private showings of new clothing lines and to mark on her calendar her quarterly board meeting. Janet has rearranged the Contact form to fit her business model. She has created a new section and a set of attributes to capture details, such as favorite clothing color sets, sizes, and notes on buying history.

Janet does not capture job titles on her contacts, but she does use much of the other information. She captures a home address, business address, and, if unique, a shipping address for each contact, and she makes sure to capture at least two phone numbers and (if possible) an email address. She also notes if one of her clients does not want to receive mailings or e-mail messages. There is a low tolerance among her audience for unrequested marketing materials.

Janet uses subcontacts to capture details on the children of each of her elite member customers. (She always asks for permission before doing this.) Janet plans to expand her children's clothing line, so having these details is helpful. When capturing details on contacts' children, Janet includes the birth date.

Janet is incredibly busy and juggles many different to-do items. She keeps track of these items as tasks within Outlook. She synchronizes these tasks with Dynamics CRM and occasionally associates these to specific contacts.

Q&A

- **Q.** We are thinking of using contacts for items other than "people." Is this a problem?
- **A.** Renaming contacts and using the entity differently is not a problem; it is commonly done in some industries.
- **Q.** We want to be able to fax from Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Is this what the Fax activity is for?
- **A.** No. The Fax activity does not send a fax; it is designed to remind you to send a fax or track that a fax was sent.
- **Q.** We have a drop-down list for salutation. Can we change the Salutation field to a drop-down list?
- **A.** No. The Salutation field in Microsoft Dynamics CRM cannot be changed, but it can be taken off the form and replaced with your own salutation attribute (field).

Quiz

- **1.** If Janet, whose boutique is described earlier, creates an activity of type Letter, will it show up in Outlook's Tasks list?
- **2.** If you create and send an e-mail message from Microsoft Dynamics CRM, will it appear in Outlook's Sent folder?
- **3.** Why is the owner of a contact so important?
- **4.** Where would you recommend that Janet capture her notes on the buying habits of her customers? Where should she capture notes about on the buying habits of the children? What are some of the advantages and disadvantages of the various choices?
- **5.** When will an activity of type Phone Call be automatically populated with the phone number from the account or contact?

Answers

- **1.** Letters will appear in Outlook's Tasks list if Janet configures letters to synchronize with Outlook.
- **2.** No. E-mail sent from Microsoft Dynamics CRM does not synchronize with Outlook.
- 3. The owner of a contact is a key field for security and for views and reporting.
- **4.** Buying habits can be captured in the notes of each contact. You potentially lose a summary view of all notes on the entire account, but with code or a third-party add-on, you have options.
- **5.** The activity of type Phone Call gets automatically populated with the phone number if you have an account or contact in context and then create a new activity of type Phone Call.

Exercise

Create two activities of each type and associate them with a specific contact. Create one activity from Activities from the Workplace navigation bar. Create the other activity after selecting a specific contact and then selecting Activity from the left menu of the Contact form. What happens differently when you create each of these activities in these two different ways?

Go to the Activity view and change the view type to each of the unique types. Notice how the views change, based on the type of activity you choose.

HOUR 13

Sending E-mail from Microsoft Dynamics CRM

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Capturing e-mail
- Sending one quick message
- Sending multiple e-mail messages
- ► CAN-SPAM Act compliance
- ► The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook address book
- Configuring e-mail based on your preferences

In this hour, you will learn how e-mail works in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. You will also learn how to associate e-mail in Microsoft Outlook with records in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Capturing E-mail

Many of our conversations these days are captured in e-mail, and yet we often don't manage to get these e-mails saved and associated with other company information. When only storing e-mail in our personal Outlook folders, we lose the chance to categorize and associate e-mails with specific service cases, sales opportunities, and marketing campaigns. Microsoft Dynamics CRM resolves this issue by offering a number of configuration choices when it comes to e-mail.

Choices include the following:

- Track all incoming Outlook e-mail in Microsoft Dynamics CRM— This tracks all e-mail for the specified user in Microsoft Dynamics CRM as e-mail activities, and a link exists between all e-mail-associated people in the To and From fields.
- Track only incoming e-mail that was sent in response to an e-mail originally sent from Microsoft Dynamics CRM—When e-mail is sent from Microsoft Dynamics CRM, a tracking token is associated. When this e-mail is responded to, Microsoft Dynamics CRM can link the response to the original via the tracking token.
- Track only e-mail related to your accounts, contacts, or leads— E-mail that you send or that is sent to you is tracked if it came from an account, a contact, or a lead with a matching e-mail address within Microsoft Dynamics CRM for which you were designated as owner.
- Manually track e-mail you specifically choose—You can manually track selected messages from Outlook in CRM by using the Track in CRM option in the Microsoft Outlook ribbon.
- Manually Track a set off e-mails in Microsoft Dynamics CRM—If you select a set of e-mails and then choose track the system will manually track each one.
- E-mail messages from Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online records that are e-mail enabled—E-mail messages are tracked from all record types, including custom record types, that contain an e-mail address field.

After e-mails are tracked you can also change which records those are associated with, either by associating them or changing their association.

Sending One Quick Message

Say that you want to send a message from Microsoft Dynamics CRM. As you learned in Hour 12, "Contacts and Activity Capture," you can do this by creating a new activity of type E-mail. To send a quick e-mail in this way, follow these steps:

- 1. Select Activities.
- 2. Select E-mail (a type of activity).
- 3. Look up and associate the recipient.

- 4. Add your e-mail content or template and content.
- 5. Click Send.

Figure 13.1 shows an e-mail being sent directly from Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

		At Microsoft Dunamics CBM	
e E-mail Customize		Ministration Class	Anne Stanto CRMLac
nd Save Save X Delet	& New Le Attach Insert File Include	Inter To Spectrumy Connect Addis Queue Rem Asign Convert Addity Collaborate Convert Addity	nk Ink Ink WortsTow Dialog Process Data
ormation E-mail	E-mail New		E-mail Messages 💌 🕸
Attachments Details	* E-mail		
lated	From	S Anne Stanton	2
ommon	То		C
Connections Audit History	Cc		
ocesses	Bcc		<u>[</u>
Workflows	Subject		
The second se			
Dialog Sessions	Regarding	/ y 🖩 🖷 🗄 🗄 🗄 🛠 (R 💁 🖍 A - 🥥 busterpt	ate 📄 Insert Article
Diałog Sessioni	Regarding	/ U	Eile]] Invert Article

FIGURE 13.1 An E-mail activity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Now, let's say you want to send a quick e-mail from Outlook, and you want to track this e-mail in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. To send an e-mail message in this way, follow these steps:

- **1.** Create an e-mail message in Outlook.
- **2.** Click the Track in CRM button at the top of the message.
- 3. Click Send.

Figure 13.2 shows an e-mail message with the Track button in Microsoft Outlook. When sending an e-mail via Microsoft Outlook or when opening an existing e-mail, you have the option to click this Track button. This button also has the option to set a "regarding," which enables you to associate an e-mail from Outlook with more than just the sender and selected receivers. It also lets you associate the e-mail with other specific records in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.


Sending Multiple E-mail Messages

In Hour 9, "Marketing Campaigns," you learned about marketing and the ability to do quick campaigns and full marketing campaigns. If you are interested in tracking a blast of e-mails, you have three choices. You can do a quick campaign or full campaign with e-mail campaign activities from Microsoft Dynamics CRM (options 1 and 2), or you can send an e-mail to multiple people (option 3), either from Microsoft Dynamics CRM or from Outlook with Track selected.

If you choose to send a single e-mail to multiple people, the single e-mail message will be captured in Microsoft Dynamics CRM and will be available for lookup on all valid contacts in Microsoft Dynamics CRM who received the message.

In Figure 13.3, one e-mail record is associated with different contacts. This represents the sending of an e-mail to multiple contacts. In Figure 13.4, three different e-mail records are created, and they are all exactly the same. This represents the sending of e-mail from bulk mail or marketing campaigns where a unique E-mail activity record is created for each and every person the e-mail message is sent to.

Bulk e-mail creates and stores multiple copies of the same e-mail message, each associated with a different contact. This allows the system to capture the responses of each individual and to copy and save the responses against the unique e-mail

FIGURE 13.2

An Outlook e-

mail message.



FIGURE 13.3

Mail sent to multiple recipients from Outlook.

NEW		
om	🕵 Anne Stanton	
	iohns@abccompany.com	
	sales@abccompany.com	
r .	••	
bject	Meeting	
garding	BC Company	
	- R (II) 王 王 王 二 二 元 行 行 」 An An An I [3] Invest Template 10] Invest Article	
Best Rega Anne	ırds	
Best Reg	rds	
Best Rega	rds	

FIGURE 13.4 Mail sent to multiple recipients from Dynamics CRM.

and contact. Sending one e-mail message to multiple recipients saves one copy of the e-mail and links it to multiple different people. If a recipient is not a contact within CRM, the contact's e-mail address in the e-mail activity record will be highlighted in red. All other e-mail recipients who are contacts with valid and associated e-mail addresses will appear in blue in the e-mail activity record (see Figure 13.5).

🐼 The sender, or o	ne or more recipients, could not be resolved to a record in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.	
▼ E-mail		
From	S Anne Stanton	
То	🧝 john Smoth	
Cc		
Bcc		1
Subject	Meeting	
Regarding	ABC Company	
X 🗈 🛍	B / U 臣 吾 晋 汪 汪 谭 谭 🎪 - A - 📮 Insert Template 🛅 Insert Article	
Best Regar	rds	
Best Rega	rds	

To further clarify, in the first situation, if you delete one e-mail message, all other e-mail messages are retained. In the second situation, if you delete the e-mail message, it will not be available to any recipients.

Creating and Sending Bulk Mail from a Quick Campaign

If you decide to do a bulk e-mailing from a quick campaign, you have two choices. The first is to use Microsoft Dynamics CRM to create the e-mail message that will be sent. Figure 13.6 shows the Create Quick Campaign Wizard. To complete the process, follow these steps:

address.





- **1.** Select or create a marketing list to which to send your e-mail campaign. (See Hour 9 if you need a refresher.)
- 2. Choose Create Quick Campaign and follow the Quick Campaign Wizard.
- **3.** Choose the type of item that Microsoft Dynamics CRM will generate when the campaign is kicked off. Figure 13.7 shows an example of choosing E-mail from the drop-down list.
- **4.** Create the e-mail message, as shown in Figure 13.8. You can use rich text to make the e-mail look the way you want, and you can insert Microsoft Dynamics CRM data fields that will populate when you create and kick off the campaign. Write the body of the e-mail message.
- **5.** Kick off the campaign by clicking the Create button (see Figure 13.9).

Another way to do a bulk e-mailing from a quick campaign is to do a Microsoft Word mail merge (see Figure 13.10 and there is more in Hour 14, "Microsoft Word Mail Merge"). Doing a mail merge offers different choices than those you have when building the e-mail from within Microsoft Dynamics CRM.



Regarding

When you open the Select the Mail Merge Type drop-down, you have a number of choices, as shown in Figure 13.11.

🐰 🖻 🍓 | B / U | 副 冨 冨 | 扫 日 | 扫 日 | 単 卓 | 🐴 - K - A - | 😼 Unsubscribe

Q

-

<Back Next> Cancel



To proceed with creating a quick campaign mail merge of type E-mail, follow these steps:

- **1.** Select either an organization e-mail template or one of your own personal mail merge templates.
- 2. Select the data fields you want to include.
- **3.** Click OK. The Word mail merge template opens on your screen.

FIGURE 13.10 A mail merge on contacts.



Microsoft Dynamics CRM Mail Merge for Microsoft Office Word Web	opage Dialog	
https://crmlady.crm.dynamics.com/_grid/cmds/dlg_webmailmerge.as	px?objectTypeCode=2	
licrosoft Dynamics CRM Mail Merge for Microsoft Office Won elect the options for this mail merge.	d	
Select the mail merge type:		
E-mail		
Letter		
E-mail		
Fax Foveland		
Label		
(* Blank document		
C Organization mail merge template		
		-
C Personal mail merge template		
Merge:		
 Selected records on current page 		
C All records on current page		
C All records on all pages		
Select data fields:		
To select the data fields to use with this mail merge, click Data Fields.		
Data Fields		
	ок	ancel

Creating Standard E-mail Templates

There are two different repositories of templates and options for creating e-mail messages. These include an individual e-mail template from the personal templates and an organizational template from the company templates. You can create standard organizational e-mail templates that can be used by everyone on your team in Microsoft Dynamics CRM by following these steps (see Figure 13.12):

- 1. Select Settings.
- 2. Select Templates under Business Administration.
- 3. Select E-mail Templates from the list of template options.
- 4. Select New E-Mail Template.
- 5. Choose Global, as in a Global template to be shared.
- 6. Create the e-mail template details.

Settings 🙆 🙀 -	E-mail Temp	lates				
Business Business	Search for record	6			P View:	All E-mail Templates
Templates	🔤 New 🛛 🎯	X G Run Wor	kflow 📷 Start Dialog More Action	i.		
Product Catalog	Title -	C L-mail Templa	te: New - Windows Internet Explorer	an interaction of the	internet.	0 0 4
Administration	Account	https://crmla	dy.crm.dynamics.com/Tools/EmailTem	plateEditor/emailtemplateedito	ar.aspx?isPersonal=0&templateTy	ypeCode=8 🔒 😫
🚰 Data Management	Bulk Del	rie fel i	Save and Close 🚡 Insert/Update 👔	Delete		🕑 Help •
Document Management	Case Esc	E-mail	Template: New		Working	on solution: Default Solution
Customization	Closed C					
Solutions	Contract	Details				
Dynamics Marketplace	Duplicate	Type*	📮 Global Template	Language	English	
Process Center	Follow-L	Title *				
6. manuti	Import D	Description				
	Lead Red					
	E a Lead Reg					
	E Lost Opp	Subject*				
	Lost Opp	X Bank		- A. A. A.	ubscribe	
	Marketin					
	New Cas					
	E A New Opp	8				
🚮 Workplace	Crder Th					
10 Sales	Thank yo					
Autoring	Wen Op					
Service		_titestanoots_				
t Settings	1 - 23 of 23 (0 s	Done		😜 Internet P	rotected Mode: Off	√2 • € 100% •

FIGURE 13.12

Creating an e-mail template.

CAN-SPAM Act Compliance

As you learned in Hour 7, "The Account Entity in More Detail," and Hour 12, you can mark individual accounts or contacts at your clients so that you don't send e-mail to them.

You can also send bulk e-mails and track the responses from those e-mails, as you learned in Hour 9.

To understand the Federal Trade Commission's (FTC's) CAN-SPAM Act and to ensure that your e-mails are in compliance with this act, see http://business.ftc.gov/ multimedia/videos/complying-can-spam-act.

Now that you have learned the ins and outs of e-mailing from Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you might want more functionality when it comes to marketing, particularly as it relates to advanced marketing. Third-party solutions are available, and many of them plug right into Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook Address Book

Microsoft Outlook has a concept called the Personal Address Book, which is what you see when you drill down on To in Outlook. This is different from Microsoft Outlook Contacts. Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers a complementary personal Outlook address book with Microsoft Dynamics CRM data for use when choosing the To field when sending messages from Outlook. The Microsoft Dynamics CRM address book includes accounts, contacts, facilities/equipment, leads, queues, and users.



FIGURE 13.13

Address Book Security

The Outlook address book is saved on the local drive of the Outlook user. If the security of local data is of concern, you might want to discuss this external data with your Microsoft Dynamics CRM partner or your technology advisor. Having data on your local drive puts it at risk when a laptop is stolen.

Configuring E-mail Based on Your Preferences

Some configuration settings are unique to every user of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. One of these configuration options is the choice of how your Outlook address book is handled. Figure 13.13 shows the options.

To display the user preferences in Dynamics CRM 2011, you need to select File, Options.



There is also an E-mail tab, as shown in Figure 13.7. It's worth thinking hard about how you want to track e-mail because there are advantages and disadvantages to all the e-mail tracking options. For instance, consider the option to automatically track all e-mails. The benefit: The most robust capture of corporate intelligence is controlled by the system, eliminating human choice and error. The disadvantage: Personal e-mail and e-mail that staff do not want tracked are captured, tracked in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and seen by other Microsoft Dynamics CRM team members.

Workshop

A small medical practice called Just in Time Advice has just installed Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Just in Time Advice provides answers to common medical questions via the Internet and telephone. Questions that cannot be answered are referred to a local physicians' network. Justin Brown is the CEO of Just in Time Advice. Justin wants to expand the number of physicians in Just in Time Advice's physicians' network. Justin starts his efforts by using e-mail to reach out to his connections from various previous positions. He reviews his contacts and selects 30 different people. He writes a personal e-mail message to each contact. The message is written and then saved in Microsoft Dynamics CRM for future reference. The message is also set with a specific medical practice using the "regarding" feature, which is the medical practice that exists in his database as an account that each physician is associated with.

Justin also asks his marketing coordinator, Mary Mill, to send out a bulk e-mail to all contacts, announcing a new e-newsletter. Mary uses a quick campaign to send this announcement.

Q&A

- **Q.** We send a lot of e-mail. Does Microsoft Dynamics CRM track who has requested not to be contacted?
- **A.** Yes. Each contact can be optionally marked as Do Not Send or can be further refined and limited by being set to Do Not Send Bulk E-mail.
- Q. Can we track the responses to e-mail messages that have been sent?
- A. Yes. You have numerous ways to capture responses to e-mail messages.
- **Q.** Some people at our company want all of their e-mail messages tracked, and others want only selected e-mail messages tracked. Is this difference of choice an option in Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- A. Yes. E-mail tracking is configured at the user level.

Quiz

- 1. What is one advantage to tracking e-mail in Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- **2.** What are the three choices for tracking e-mail responses in Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- **3.** When you send an e-mail message from Outlook, copy five contacts, and track the message in CRM, how many copies of the e-mail are saved in CRM?
- **4.** What is one reason you would not want to use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook address book?
- **5.** In the scenario described previously, what are Mary's choices when creating her announcement about the new e-newsletter?

Answers

- **1.** Tracking e-mail in Microsoft Dynamics CRM allows you to be more organized by associating e-mail messages with accounts and contacts. In addition tracking e-mail messages, Microsoft Dynamics CRM lets all users see the message, rather than just the user who created the e-mail conversation.
- 2. You can track all incoming Outlook e-mail in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, track only incoming e-mail that was sent in response to an e-mail originally sent from Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and track only e-mail related to your accounts, contacts, or leads.
- **3.** One copy of the e-mail is saved in CRM.
- 4. There is a higher security risk when data is stored locally.
- **5.** Mary can create an E-mail activity and send it to multiple people, or she can use the quick campaign feature of Microsoft Dynamics CRM to send a bulk mailing.

Exercise

Create Mary Mill's e-newsletter announcement e-mail. To get started, set up a marketing list for all active contacts. After the list is created, follow the steps for creating a quick campaign using the Quick Campaign Wizard. Get creative with what you want to say in the e-mail and insert some of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM fields. You can also insert a Microsoft Dynamics CRM e-mail template.

HOUR 14

Microsoft Word Mail Merge

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Mail merge templates
- Creating a template using an existing Word template
- Managing templates
- Managing data fields
- ▶ Enabling macros in Microsoft Word 2010 or 2007

The ability to merge data from Microsoft Dynamics CRM into familiar tools, such as Microsoft Word, is a big plus for business professionals. This hour explores a topic that many business professionals struggled with before finding Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Workers often spent hours designing or creating business letters or complex Word documents each time their data changed or a new, slightly different need arose. Using data stored in Microsoft Dynamics CRM and templates reduces the redundancy of repeatedly creating something new.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM can work with what you have, allowing much of the data from Microsoft Dynamics CRM to be merged into a template or different templates that can then be used to quickly create finished Microsoft Word documents.

Let's now look at the available templates and familiarize ourselves with our options.

Mail Merge Templates

Various management templates are available in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. For instance, several templates relate to major business building blocks (entities) within the software (quotes, letters, marketing events, and leads, to name just a few). Figure 14.1 shows the gateway to templates.



To reach the mail merge templates, follow these steps:

- **1.** Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Templates.
- 3. Choose Mail Merge Templates. The screen shown in Figure 14.2 appears.

File Home			Microsoft Dynamics	CRM		Stephen Noe @ SalesDemo Sign Out
New New Activity - Record -	Import Ady Data	Anced Help Help				
Settings	🖾 👒 -	Canards for records		0 (100		`
4 Business		New 3 2 & X GRun	Workflow 🚮 Start Diale	g More Actions -	The mail inverse removates	
Templates	anagement	Name ~	Viewable By Ass	ociated Entity File Name	File Size (Dytes)	
Product Cat	alog	E Sollow-up to a Meeting	Organization Co	ntact Meeting Follow.	11,502	
4 System		Tappy Birthday Note - Gift Certifica	te Organization Co	Happy Birthday		
1 Administrat	ion	E Lead Reply - Tradeshow Visit	Organization Lea	d Lead Reply - Tra.	13,449	
🚰 Data Manag	pement	Marketing Event Notification	Organization Lea	d Marketing Even.	. 12,774	
System Jobs		Product Catalog Cover Letter	Organization Co	ntact Product Catalo	11,046	
Document I	Management	Proposal Cover Letter	Organization Co	ntact Proposal Cover .	13,548	
Auditing		Quote For Customer	Organization Qu	ote Quote for custo.	100,116	
Customization	222	Reconnect with Accounts	Organization Acc	ount Account Recon.	17,388	
Solutions	0115	Reconnect with Contacts	Organization Co	ntact Contact Reconn	10,845	
4 Broress Center		Reconnect with Contacts - Gift Cert	Organization Co	ntact Contact Reconn.	42,480	
Processes						
🕜 Workplace		-				
15 Sales						
Marketing						
Service						
E Settings		1 - 10 of 10 ID selected)				H 4 Page 1 P
101 0000			FGHIJ	K L M N O P	ORSTU	V W X Y Z

These templates were designed for both new and experienced users, and the list can be expanded as you get more comfortable with the application. In Figure 14.2, by



default, the Word templates have the .doc extension (representing the Microsoft Word 2003 format). This extension gives the templates the most versatility for working with all versions of Word and backward compatibility with Microsoft Word 2003. It also allows them to work with Microsoft Word 2010 and 2007.

The default system view when you select Templates is a list of all active mail merge templates, which also includes any customized templates. Customized templates do not default to having the .doc extension. In Figure 14.2, you can see that the customized template filename differs from the filenames of the default templates that come with Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Customized templates use the current Microsoft Office Extensible Markup Language (XML) format when they are created. There are two reasons for this: The XML format is a new standard that is compatible with many other applications and the XML format is nonproprietary.

Other views, including the following, are also available to see all or a subset of available templates from this area:

- Active Mail Merge Templates
- All Mail Merge Templates
- Inactive Mail Merge Templates
- ► My Active Mail Merge Templates

All templates that you create and that are active are listed in the My Active Mail Merge Templates view (see Figure 14.3).

File Home		🕌 Microsoft Dynamics CRM			Stephen Noe ⑦ SalesDemo Sign Out *
New New Tools	Named Help Help				
Settings 🔰 🖾 🙀 -	Search for records		P Views My As	tive Mail Merge Templates	
4 Business	New 4 1 So X 66 Ru	Workflow 🛐 Start Dialog 🗌 More Act	ions +		
Business Management	Name -	Viewable By Associated Entity	File Name	File Size (Dytes)	8
Product Catalog	Follow-up to a Meeting	Organization Contact	Meeting Follow	11,502	
- System	Lead Reply - Tradeshow Visit	Organization Lead	Lead Reply - Tra	13,449	
Customization Solutions Solutions	4				
Process Center C., Processes	-				
G Workplace					
🤑 Sales					
Marketing					
🚳 Service					
3 Settings	1 - 3 of 3 (D selected)				H ≪ Page1 ▶
S Resource Center	A8 # A 8 C D E	FGHIJKLM	N O P	QRSTUV	w x y z

FIGURE 14.3 My Active Mail Merge Templates view.

Creating a Template Using an Existing Word Template

To add an existing Microsoft Word XML template to Microsoft Dynamics CRM, choose New from the menu bar. Figure 14.4 shows what you see at this point. Basically, you take a standard Microsoft Word 2007 template in XML format and save it into Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a new Microsoft Dynamics CRM mail merge template.

IGURE 14.4	Mail Merge Template: New - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Exp	plorer 🕞 📼 🗮
reating a new	File 🛃 🛃 Save and Close 📓	🚱 Help -
aail merge emplate.	🔊 Mail Merge Template: New	Working on solution: Default Solution
	* General	
	Details	
	Name*	
	Description	
	Categorization	
	Associated Entity*	-
	Ownership	
	Ownership* Individual • O	Owner* Stephen Noe
	Language	
	Template Language English	
	_CO\File Allachment	
	File Name:	Browse Attach
	Status: New	
		€ 100% -

Give your template a name that will make it easy to find and descriptive enough that others with whom you share it will readily know what it was designed for.

For example, you can create a template, named Business Casual Letter Template, that enables you to easily write business casual letters. You can associate this template with the Contact entity because it is meant for a specific contact.

Then, you can associate this template with the Word XML template file created earlier. Figure 14.5 shows the results of all this.

After you complete these steps, you can further edit the original XML file by inserting Microsoft Dynamics CRM data references into the Microsoft Word XML template by using the Data Fields button on the template screen.

	e and Close 🔓 🎯 😒	Edit Template in Word 🔌 Actions -		😢 Hel
🙇 Mail Merg	e Template: Busines	ss casual letter temp	Working on solv	ution: Default Soluti
General				
Details				
Name*	Business casual letter tem	plate		
Description	This letter template can be	e used to create a letter for someone who	o you have a fairly well-established relation	ship with.
Categorization				
Associated Entity*	Contact			
Ownership				
Ownership *	Individual	- Owner*	Stephen Noe	(
Language				
	English			
Template Language				
Template Language				
Template Language lect data fields: Data Fields	Seli	xcted Tields: Default		
Template Language Nect data fields: Data Fields () File Atlachment	Sel	cted fields: Default		
Template Language fect data fields: Data Fields 9\ File Atlachment ie Name: Proposs	Seli	rcted fields: Default 064 Byte(s)		Remove

FIGURE 14.5 A mail merge template populated with answers.

After you click the Data Fields button, a list of all available contact data fields (attributes) appears (see Figure 14.6). Note the Record Type drop-down list at the top of this screen. This list allows you to select data fields from related entities for your merge in addition to the contact data fields, such as the company name from the parent account.

Selec	t the columns to add to this view.		
lecore	d Type Contact		-
	Display Name 🔺	Name	Туре
	Address 1: Address Type	address1_addresstypecode	Option Set
v	Address 1: City	address1_city	Single Line o
v	Address 1: Country/Region	address1_country	Single Line o
	Address 1: County	address1_county	Single Line o
	Address 1: Fax	address1_fax	Single Line o
	Address 1: Freight Terms	address1_freighttermscode	Option Set
	Address 1: Latitude	address1_latitude	Floating Poin
	Address 1: Longitude	address1_longitude	Floating Poin
	Address 1: Name	address1_name	Single Line o
	Address 1: Phone	address1_telephone1	Single Line o
	Address 1: Post Office Box	address1_postofficebox	Single Line o
	Address 1: Primary Contact Name	address1_primarycontactname	Single Line o
	Address 1: Shipping Method	address1_shippingmethodcode	Option Set
V	Address 1: State/Province	address1_stateorprovince	Single Line o
lumb	er of selected data fields: 37 (max. 62)		
		ОК	Cancel



By checking the checkbox next to an attribute, you can choose the extra data fields that suit your modifications. When you have done so, click OK.

Managing Templates

Templates can be individual, shared, or available for everyone in an organization. In this section, you'll open up an existing template and look at some of the options for sharing and managing it. When you create a template, you are the owner of it by default. The new template is individual, available under My Active views, and not seen by others within the company.



FIGURE 14.7

Assigning a

template.

Deleting Templates

You can delete or deactivate templates if they are no longer of use.

What if you create a template that everyone in the office will benefit from? You have the option of making this new template available to your entire organization. Or you can select to assign the template to only one other Microsoft Dynamics CRM user in your organization. You also have the option to share the template with a team or list of users. Figure 14.7 shows the Assign Mail Merge Template dialog.



As shown in Figure 14.8, you can make a template available to the entire organization. The figure shows the options you see when you click the Make Available to Organization button.

Now that you know how to associate an existing XML file so that it becomes a Microsoft Dynamics CRM mail merge template, let's look at the internal data fields of a specific template.

Mail Merge	- Template: Business casual letter ten		Delete Mail Merge Template Deactivate Mail Merge Template	Working on solution: Default Solution
General Details Name * Description	Business casual letter template This letter template can be used to create a letter for	6	Assign Sharing Run Workflow Start Dialog Copy a Link	ablished relationship with.
Categorization Associated Entity*	Contact		L-mail a Link	J
Ownership*	Individual *	c	Dwner* Stephe	n Noe D
Template Language	English			
ert data fields-				
Data Fields Data Fields	Selected fields: Default			
Data Fields Data Fields G\File Atlachment Ic Name: Proposi	Selected Tields: Default ICoverLetter.aml (111,084 Byte(s))			Remove



Managing Data Fields

Each Microsoft Dynamics CRM entity has many data attributes (fields). The basic templates have default attributes (fields) chosen, but you can add or remove data attributes (fields) that you want within the template. Just click the Data Fields button to see those fields (see Figure 14.9).

Micro Micro Select	rosoft Dynamics CRM Mail Merge for Microsoft Offi rsoft Dynamics CRM Mail Merge for Microso the options for this mail merge.	ce Word Webpage Dialog 🛛 🔊 🔁
Lett	er T	
Start	with a:	
۲	Blank document	
C	Organization mail merge template	a
С	Personal mail merge template	Q
Merg	je:	
۲	Selected records on current page	
C	All records on current page	
C	All records on all pages	
Selec	t data fields: let the data fields to use with this mail merge, click t ata Fields	Data Fields.
		OK Cancel
to://c	rm/SalesDemo/ grid/cmds/d 😪 Local intranet Pr	ntected Mode: Off



One use of a template is to prepare professional-looking quotes. You can take data from a quote entered in Microsoft Dynamics CRM and merge it into a Microsoft Word document, using a template to merge it into a final Word document that includes your logo, choice of fonts, colors, and the data fields of your choice.

A limit of 62 data fields applies when using mail merge templates. Therefore, mail merge templates might not always be the best solution. Figure 14.10 shows the warning that the system displays.



Figure 14.11 shows an example of a quote template, and Figure 14.12 shows the resulting mail merged quote. In the quote template, notice that there are a lot of commands and codes that look messy and can be fairly bewildering. These are Microsoft Word macro system codes that are used when you do the final merge.

To use the template created, you go over to the Quote feature under Sales, Quotes. From the top of the Creating a Quote dialog, you click the Word icon next to the words Print Quote for Customer.

When you get the hang of it, you can create numerous different templates in a variety of formats with a myriad of data fields. You can then share these formats with individual users or teams or change the value in Ownership to Organization and increase everyone's choices.



	Mail_Merge_8481.doc [Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word	- 6ª
File Home Insert Page Layout Refer	ences Mailings Review View Add-Ins	۵ ۵
Arial • 9 • A* A* Aa• aste	● 注·注·注·读·读家 (注) ¶ AaBbCel Astbecede. A ▲· ■ ● 書 ■ 注· 魚·⊡ · BookTitle T Caption	AoBbCcD AaBbC Aabb
board G Font	G Paragraph G S	Styles & Editing
Talsari mail meres, click CRM. Durates at Processionals, not in Microsoft Office Word 2007, the CRM bi depending on the mail merge template you After you click CRM, the macro creates an data source for your mail merge. Caution: Torun mail merge, you must enail delete this file and the associated text file of Services - CRM Design Performation mains meets anaily main in Raingh. Neet with Sales reps in Raingh Sa	Itton appears on either the Add-ins tab or the Mailings tab, a selected. We text file and puts the comment data into it. The comment is the De macros for this document. After the mail merge is completed, to safeguard possibly sensitive data. This with sales 3 0 ays \$1,500.00 \$0.00 \$4,500.	Comment [C0911] + 104.13+104.13 Institutional July County Agency/Institution energy County Agency/Institution energy County Agency/Institution energy County County Agency/Institution energy County County Agency County Agency energy County County Agency County Agency Institution James (County County Agency County Agency Institution James) County Agency County Agency Institution James (County Agency County Agency County Agency Institution James) County Agency County Agency Institution James (County Agency County Agency County Agency Institution James) County Agency County Agency Institution James (County Agency County Agency County Agency Institution James) County Agency County Agency Institution (County Agency County Agency Agency County Agency Agency County Agency Age

W Directory1 [Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word 0 8 83 File Home Insert Page Layout References Mailings Review View Design Layout a 🕜 A Callen -12 -A A ※ 田 + 田 + 平 学 学 # A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A Paragraph **G**BIZ**I**TPRO Date Customer 100010-0011 The Sideon, Sollarson Taxa Changer Sales Rep Training Quote Bill To ShipTo -----Effective From Effective To Payment Terms Jun-13-11 Jun-17-11 COD / Credit Card Qty Unit Unit Price Discount Ext A Rev 0 UI etou QUO-01226-Q9B0J1 Product Product TE-MA920xX6CC Dynamics8 CRM 2011 Competency Bootcam This Microsoft CRM certification bootcame is a FULL 8 days. 10 hours per day of intense taining certification tel reparation. FOR THE NEW CRM 2011 CONTENT This includes content from CRM 2011 applications. Installation and customization coursesin an accelerated format. \$2,995.0 50.0 \$2 995 Concerning and a contrastic contrast. Microsoft Dynamics CAN 2011 Certification Bootcamp will leach you how to use CRM to address each unique bountes problems the joint certification braining, this programs designified to give you your clients. This is not a developer level class, so no. Net or other programming shills are required. This bootcamp is instructor led, compressing days d content into six daylong sessions, and indivates the following classes. ** Student is responsible for travel & expenses : This Microsoft CRM certification bootcamp is a FULL 6 days, 10 hours per day of intense training, certification test preparation, FOR THE NEW CRM 2011 COUTINT1 This Intrudes content from CRM 2011 applications, installation and customization courses in an applications, install accelerated format MicrosoftDynamics CRM 2011 Certification Bootcamp will leach you how to use CRM to address each unique business problems. Not just certification training, his program is designed to grive you the tools you meed to implement successful CRM deployments for your cliefts. This is not a develope freet class. so no Net or Page: 2 of 2 Words: 584 🗳

FIGURE 14.11

A quote template.

FIGURE 14.12 A quote.

Enabling Macros in Microsoft Word 2010 or 2007

In some network environments, security administrators disable the use of macros within Microsoft Word to protect the network from macro viruses. You need to look at how to allow macros to work in Microsoft Word if Microsoft Dynamics CRM templates are going to be of any use to you.

In Word 2010, click the File tab at the upper left of the Microsoft Word interface. In Word 2007, click the large Microsoft Office button at the upper left of the Microsoft Word interface. There are many controls you can use to customize your Microsoft Word environment. You get to them through the Trust Center by following these steps:

- 1. In Word 2010, choose Options; in Word 2007, choose Word Options.
- 2. Click Trust Center.
- 3. Click Trust Center Settings.
- 4. Click Macro Settings. The dialog shown in Figure 14.13 appears.



In the Macro Settings dialog, you are interested in the last two settings:

- Disable All Macros Except Digitally Signed Macros
- Enable All Macros (not recommended; potentially dangerous code can run)

FIGURE 14.13 Enabling macros.

Your security administrator will be happy to learn that the Microsoft Dynamics CRM macro is a signed macro. Therefore, you can choose the first option; you don't have to discuss the second option with the rest of the IT staff.

When you first work with a template, the macros are displayed and are technical looking. You need to get to the CRM button, as displayed at the top of the Word document. Figure 14.14 shows add-ins where you can find the CRM button to perform the merge.

Mail_Mer	ge_98741.doc [Compatil	bility Mode] - Micr	osoft Word	- # 1
File Home Insert Page Layout References Mailin	gs Review Viev	Add-Ins)	\$
formation Commands				
Castar mail merge, click CRM. Microsoft Office Vord 20007, the CRM button appears depending on the mail merge template you selected. After you click CRM, the macro creates a new text file an data source for your mail merge Castion: To run mail merge, you must enable macros for delete this file and the associated text file to safeguard p	on either the Add-i d puts the commer this document. Aft ossibly sensitive da	ns tab or the M at data into it. T wer the mail me ta.	ailings tab, he comment is the ge is completed,	Comment [CBM1]: CTALLS-CTO-RIL 10, CA To-CTO-RIL 10, Carany, agency/To-CTO-RIL 1047/10470149; J. Starter, 2/14440149; J. To- 2019, To-rand, Galer (The-CTO-RIL 10), Starter, 2/14 2019, To-rand, J. Galer (The-CTO-RIL 10), Starter, 104 4019, CTO-RIL 101, J. Davard, The-CTO-RIL 100, Starter, 104 4019, CTO-RIL 101, Davard, The-CTO-RIL 100, Starter, 104 4019, CTO-RIL 1019, Davard, The-CTO-RIL 100, Starter, 104 4019, Davard, 10
Services - CRM Design Perform tales needs natyris with tales team in Raing/Meet with Sales reps in Raingh Sales meeting. Meet with Sales Management Raingh, Ride along with sales rep for a cay. Document and make recommendations.	3 Days	\$1,500.00	\$0.00 \$4,500.00	See Table 2. See
)

FIGURE 14.14 The CRM macro is digitally signed. You can find it under Add-Ins.

Try It Yourself

Using a Letter Template with a Lead

In this section, you'll test run a merge using a template. Say that there is a lead in Microsoft Dynamics CRM whose name is Walter Horton. He stopped by your booth at a recent trade show, and you want to send him a follow-up letter.

You can use one of the default templates for leads to do this. To choose a default template and apply it to a specific lead, you follow these steps:

- 1. Select Sales.
- 2. Select Leads.
- **3.** Highlight Walter Horton.
- **4.** Click the Add tab on the top of the ribbon.

- **5.** Click the Mail Merge icon on the ribbon to start the mail merge (see Figure 14.15).
- 6. Click the Organization Mail Merge Template radio button.

File Leads	View	Cha	rts Add	Customize	🕌 Microsoft	Dynamics CR8	4				tephen SalesD Sign	Noe Demo Out	0
Attach Add File Note Include	T ask	E-mail	Phone Call	Appointment Activity	CR Recurring Appointment	Mail Merge	Quick Campaign + spaign ponse Marketing						
Sales	4	ک و.		1	Set Started with Leads	the bac pot v	at here outlified by your calact	DIOCALL					
Leads Opportunitie	15			2	1. Import	ing has not j	2. Use	process	3. Mo	dify & Manage	_		-
Accounts	sts		Overview	Video	* Import from Files About Importing About Importing Leads		About Converting Leads Detect Duplicates About Sharing & Assigning		+ Cr + Se + Cu	eate Custom Views t Up Duplicate Dete istomize Leads	ction		
Products							^						
Sales Literatu	re		Leads: Op	n Leads +	nds •				Search for records				P
Quotes			Name			Topic		Status	Reason	Created On -		2	<
Invoices			Nonne	McKay (sample	6	New st	ore opened this year - follo	New		5/25/2011 11:	57 AM		
duick Campa	ligns		🖂 🥎 Wathal	ee Steuber (sar	nple)	Mailed	an interest card back (sample)	New		5/25/2011 11:	57 AM		₽
Goals			🖂 🗞 Teresa	Atkinson (samp	ile)	New st	ore opened this year - follo	New		5/25/2011 11:	S7 AM		ŝ
Goal Metrics			🗌 🍫 Stepha	nie Conroy (sar	nple)	Interes	ted in online only store (sam	New		5/25/2011 11:	57 AM		8
Konop Quer	63		Sidney	Higa (sample)		Good	rospect (sample)	New		5/25/2011 11:	57 AM		5
			🔄 🔄 🍪 Scott Konersmann (sa		mple)	Interested in our newer offerings (s		New		\$/25/2011 11:57 AM			ie'w
			Robert	Ahlering (samp	ole)	Somei	nterest in our products (sam	New		5/25/2011 11:	57 AM		the second
			Paul Alcorn (sample)			Likes our products (sample)		New		5/25/2011 11:57 AM			÷
			Cscar /	Ipuerto (samp	(e)	Follow	up with information regard	New		5/25/2011 11:	\$7 AM		2
Workplace			Orland	o Gee (sample)		Store is	expanding - send new liter	New		5/25/2011 11:	57 AM		
1 Sales													
Marketing													
Service													
5 Settings			1-10-0110.0	relected						м	E Dana 1		
C Bergerre Ce	inter												

7. Click the lookup icon to the far right of the Organization Mail Merge Template radio button. Microsoft Dynamics CRM prompts you to choose a template (see Figure 14.16).



FIGURE 14.16 Selecting a template.



Templates by Entity

Notice that Microsoft Dynamics CRM is aware that you are using the Lead entity and it therefore displays only the lists of templates for leads. This feature expedites the process because you don't have a lot of unnecessary options that might slow you down.

8. Choose a template from the list and click OK (see Figure 14.17).

1				
ame		Location	Actions	
Mail_Merge_93271.doc crm2011.bizitpro.com		Do you want to open or save this file?	Open Sa	ve 🔻
PlanningTools.zip download.microsoft.com	981 KB	Microsoft_Dynamics_CRM_2011_IG 5.4	2 Open this file	en 🔻
MicrosoftDynamicsCRM201doc download.microsoft.com	113 KB	Microsoft_Dynamics_CRM_2011_IG 5.	2 Op	en 🔻
MicrosoftDynamicsCRM201doc download.microsoft.com	113 KB	Downloads	Ор	en 🔻
Microsoft_Dynamics_CRM_2zip download.microsoft.com	758 KB	Microsoft_Dynamics_CRM_2011_IG 5.	2 Op	en 🔻

9. If you see a Protected View bar at the top of Word where the ribbon is supposed to be, click the Enable Editing button to continue. If a security warning stating that macros have been disabled is displayed, click the Enable Content button. When you start the merge, Microsoft Word opens, but it may look different from what you're used to (see Figure 14.18).







Leveraging the Power of Word

Here is what is happening: Microsoft Dynamics CRM is using a Microsoft Word macro to perform the merge. The data entered into the document can be understood as formatting from the template. The fields are referencing the data fields chosen for the template and, essentially, you are hooking into the data stored in the Microsoft SQL tables of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM databases. You can ignore all the noise.

Ignore all the potentially bewildering noise and just run the Microsoft Dynamics CRM macro, as follows:

- **1.** Click Add-Ins from the Microsoft Word ribbon (see Figure 14.19).
- 2. Click CRM. The screen shown in Figure 14.20 appears.
- **3.** When prompted to do so, add recipients to the document, as shown in Figure 14.21.
- **4.** Scroll to the right, and you see all the fields that will be included in the merge. Click the OK button in the bottom right of the dialog box. The sidebar offers many of the mail merge options in Microsoft Word. Preview the letter by selecting Next: Preview Your Letters in the lower-right area of the screen. The letter is displayed, as shown in Figure 14.22.

<pre>statused</pre>																					
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
<complex-block> Start and marge, club CASH Ansatz of the Word 200, the CM but to tap sprare on either the Add sine to the tage to the tage of tage of the tage of tage</complex-block>	ar Commands	
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | |
| <complex-block></complex-block> | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| <complex-block></complex-block> | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| <complex-block></complex-block> | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | To start mail merge, click CRM. | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| <pre>ht dataset to depend on the mail marger is complete you elected.</pre> | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| After your dick CM, the macro creates a new text file and plus the comment data into the comment is the data source of thy user mall negred. After your of the macro creates a new text file to asfeguad possible. | | In Microsoft Office word 2007, the CRM button appears on either the Add-ins tab or th
Mailings tab, depending on the mail merge template you selected. | Markup Area |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| The comment is the data source for your mult merge
Crasties: To run mail merge, you must easies associated test file to safeguard possibly
indires. Junice
Junice Junice Junice
Junice Junice
Address: Blocks
- address: | | After you click CRM, the macro creates a new text file and puts the comment data into i | it. | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Carsies: To run mail merge, you muse eakle masses for bis document. After the mail merge is completed, delets this file and the associated text file to safeguard possible in the safeguard possibl | | The comment is the data source for your mail merge. | Comment [CRM1]: <table><th>Lead<th>
<th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></table> | Lead <th>
<th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> |
<th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th<
td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th>
Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th<
td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>
Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th<
td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th<
td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th<
td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th>Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th<
td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th> Commer<th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th><th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th<
td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th<
td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th<
td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th<
td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th>
Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th></th> | Commer <th> Commer<th< td=""></th<></th> | Commer <th< td=""></th<> |
<pre>metry if completed, delete this file in all the associated text file to safeguard possibly </pre>		Caution: To run mail merge, you must enable macros for this document. After the mail	Region-CTH>CTH>Street_lcCTH>CTH>Street_lcC TH>CTH>Street_lcCTH>CTH>CTH>CTH>CTH>CCCC TH>CTH>Street_lcCTH>CTH>CTH>CTH>CCCCCCC																		
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| - User_First_Names - Uler_Last_Names - Uler_Busines_Units Jane 19, 2011 - AddressBlocks - GreetingLines Task yoo for visiting our booth at the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show this vest. We have forward to first the trade show the vest. We have forward to first the trade show the vest. We have forward to first the trade show the vest. We have forward to first the trade show the vest. We have forward to first the trade show the vest. We have forward to first the trade show the vest. We have forward to first the trade show the vest. We have forward to first the trade show the vest. We have forward the trade show the vest. We have forward to first the trade show the vest. We have forward the vest. We have forward the trade show the vest. We have forward the vest. We | | merge is completed, delete this file and the associated text file to safeguard possibly
sensitive data. | me@TH>#TH>E_mai@TH> <th>Fax@TH><th>
First_Name@TH><th>Name@TH><th>Last_Na</th></th></th></th> | Fax@TH> <th>
First_Name@TH><th>Name@TH><th>Last_Na</th></th></th> |
First_Name@TH> <th>Name@TH><th>Last_Na</th></th>
 | Name@TH> <th>Last_Na</th> | Last_Na | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| *Ure: Fur: Numes -Ure: Lat: Numes: | | | mecTH> <th>Mobile_FhomeoTH><th>FagnetT
H><th>SalutationsTH><th>Businest_PhonesT
ID<th>Web_SalecTh>CTDClare Basiness_Unit</th></th></th></th></th> | Mobile_FhomeoTH> <th>FagnetT
H><th>SalutationsTH><th>Businest_PhonesT
ID<th>Web_SalecTh>CTDClare Basiness_Unit</th></th></th></th>
 | FagnetT
H> <th>SalutationsTH><th>Businest_PhonesT
ID<th>Web_SalecTh>CTDClare Basiness_Unit</th></th></th> | SalutationsTH> <th>Businest_PhonesT
ID<th>Web_SalecTh>CTDClare Basiness_Unit</th></th> | Businest_PhonesT
ID <th>Web_SalecTh>CTDClare Basiness_Unit</th> | Web_SalecTh>CTDClare Basiness_Unit
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| <pre>address_Business_Units>
June 19, 2011
addressBlocks
aGreeningLines
Thank yos for visining care booths at the trade show this week. We have forwarded your
yos want to contact us immediately, you can call my direct lise at 4Uire_Main_Phone.
The trade show for visining care booths at the trade show this week. We have forwarded your
yos want to contact us immediately, you can call my direct lise at 4Uire_Main_Phone.
The trade show for visining care booths at the trade show this week. We have forwarded your
yos want to contact us immediately, you can call my direct lise at 4Uire_Main_Phone.
The trade show the trade show this week. We have forwarded your
trade trade show the trade show the week. We have forwarded your
you want to contact us immediately. you can call my direct lise at 4Uire_Main_Phone.
The trade show the trade show the week week we have forwarded your
trade trade show the week week we have forwarded your
trade trade show the trade show the week. We have forwarded your
trade trade trade show the week week we have forwarded your
trade trade trade show the week week we have forwarded your
trade trade trade show the week week we have forwarded your
trade trade trade show the week week week week we have forwarded your
trade trade trade show the week week week week week week week we</pre> | | «User_First_Name» «User_Last_Name» | oTHE-CHE-User_Steet_1 <the-che-user_steet_
2<the-che-user_steet_1<the-che-user_chy-< p=""></the-che-user_steet_1<the-che-user_chy-<></the-che-user_steet_
 |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| June 19, 2011
«AddressBlock»
«GreetingLine»
Thank yoo for visiting our boards at he trade show this week. We have forward you shortly. This
we want to centract us immediately, you can call my direct line at «User_Main_Phone.
* User that Marge Registers Regist | | «User_Business_Unit» | THS=CHSUser_State_Province=THS=THS=User_Z
IP_Postal_Code=THS=CHS=User_County_Regions
(THS=THS=User_Main_Phone=THS=THS=User_Fin | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | |
| AddressBlocks •GreeningLines Thatk you for visiting our booth at the trade show visit week. We have forwarded you goe want to cancer us immediated, you can all um direct line at visite_Main_Phone • at of a Work visit I work visit is a sale so you have visit be contacting you have for visiting our booth at the trade show visit be contacting you have for visiting wards: Door of the trade show visit be contacting you have for visiting wards: Door of the trade show visit be contacting you have for visiting wards: Door of the trade show visit be contacting you have for visiting wards: Door of the trade show visit be contacting you have for visiting wards: Door of the trade show visit be contacting you have for visiting wards: Door of the trade show the trade show wards be contacting you have for visiting wards: Door of the trade show the visit wards wards: Door of the trade show the trade | | June 19, 2011 | Name=TH>=TH>Use_Last_Name=TH>=TH>U
set_Tels=TH>=TH>Use_Primay_E_mai=TH>=
TH>=TH>=TH>=TH>Use_Name=TH>=
TH>=TH>=TH>=TH>=
TH>=TH>=TH>=TH>=
TH>=TH>=TH>=TH>=
TH>=TH>=TH>=TH>=
TH>=TH>=TH>=TH>=
TH>=TH>=TH>=
TH>=TH>=TH>=
TH>=TH>=
TH>=TH>=
TH>=TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH>=
TH=
TH>=
TH=
TH=
TH=
TH=
TH=
TH=
TH=
TH | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
| <pre></pre> | | «AddressBlock» | 00155D09502E3 <td><134B546AF-E286-
E011-BE37-</td> | <134B546AF-E286-
E011-BE37-
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| The devices for additional information to a sales rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sales rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sales rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sales rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sales rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shorthy. It is the additional information to a sale rep, who will be additional information to a sale rep, who will be additional information to a sale represented information to a sale repres | | «GreetingLine» | 00155D0B9D2E) <td><td>Miami<td><td>U.
S.<td><td>12321 NE Granite ROad<td><td>U.</td></td></td></td></td></td></td></td> | <td>Miami<td><td>U.
S.<td><td>12321 NE Granite ROad<td><td>U.</td></td></td></td></td></td></td>
 | Miami <td><td>U.
S.<td><td>12321 NE Granite ROad<td><td>U.</td></td></td></td></td></td> | <td>U.
S.<td><td>12321 NE Granite ROad<td><td>U.</td></td></td></td></td> | U.
S. <td><td>12321 NE Granite ROad<td><td>U.</td></td></td></td> | <td>12321 NE Granite ROad<td><td>U.</td></td></td>
 | 12321 NE Granite ROad <td><td>U.</td></td> | <td>U.</td> | U.
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| request for additional information to a sale rep, who will be contacting you shortly. If:
you want to contact us immediately, you can call my direct line at «User_Main_Phones.
The total works of the contact us immediately, you can call my direct line at «User_Main_Phones.
The total works of the contact us immediately, you can call my direct line at «User_Main_Phones.
The total works of the contact us immediately, you can call my direct line at «User_Main_Phones.
The total works of the contact us immediately, you can call my direct line at «User_Main_Phones.
The total works of the contact us immediately, you can call my direct line at «User_Main_Phones.
The total works of the contact us immediately, you can call my direct line at «User_Main_Phones.
The total works of the contact us immediately, you can call my direct line at «User_Main_Phones.
The total works of the total works of the contact works of the contact works of the total works of | | Thank you for visiting our booth at the trade show this week. We have forwarded your | S
Boutique TD-cTD-someonal Sgampla comoT | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
| Sign Walk to contact us immediately, yet can cau in y arect as in the sign value _ raises. In the sign value _ raise is a sign value _ raise | | request for additional information to a sales rep, who will be contacting you shortly. If | DowTD /owTDoSidney wTDowTDowTDowTDowTDowTDowTDowTDowTDowTDo | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | |
| e k at 1 words: Lid
Words: Lid
Words: Lid
Words: Lid
Words: Lid
Words: Lid
Words: Lid
Words: Lide
Words: Lide | | you want to contact us immediately, you can call my direct line at «Oser_Main_Phone». | /> <td>SaletDemo<td><td>1140 KildareFarm</td></td></td> | SaletDemo <td><td>1140 KildareFarm</td></td> | <td>1140 KildareFarm</td>
 | 1140 KildareFarm | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Create | e 1 of 1 Wo | rds: 161 🛛 🥸 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Item Item Page Layout References Multiping References Multiping References Multiping | | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
| Image: Second | 1 17 - 13 | Mail_Merge_9327Ldoc [Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 |
teters Lakets Ber Mail Stretz Registert and Marge Control (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996) (1996)	e Home	Mail_Merge_02271.doc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Insert Page Layout References Mailings Review View Add Ins																														
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Create Start Mail Marge Write & Interf Fields Perior Return Perior Return Mail Marge Recipites Mail Marge Recipites Mail Marge Recipites Mail Marge Recipites Mail Marge Recipites The above that we lab used in your merge. Use the options below to add to or thome your list. Use the dedoctions to add or remove recipients that we lab used in your merge. Use the options below to add to or change your list. Use the dedoctions to add or remove recipients that we lab used in your merge. Use the options below to add to or change you list. Use the dedoction of the dedoction of | ie Home | Mail_Merge_9271.doc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout References Mailings Review View Add Inset - | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
| Mail Marge Recipitots Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. Were type it is ready, ddx O. Image: The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. The second processes to add or remove recipients from the energy. The second processes add or remove recipient from the energy. The second processes add or remove recipients | Home | V Mail Merge, 92271.dcc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout References Mailings Review View Add ins Stat Mail Steet Tablet Tablet Tablet Tablet Tablet Tablet in the reds The reds Where Respect to the reds Tablet Address Greeting Intent Merge (Match Frids) The reds The reds The reds | H 4 P H Add Check for from Marger |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| The is the list of request that we have a low or marge. List the object below is add to or dange your kit. Use the
defendence is add or manyer, we have the solution below is add to or dange your kit. Use the
Data Source I (Merulanian) Fire_lama (Company, Name (Correction), add X.
We want the solution of the so | Home
Home
Hopes Labels
Create | Mail_Merge_92221.dcc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout References Mailings Review View Add Inse Start Mail Steet E Pagebilith Address Greeting Inset Marge @ Update Labots Start Mail Merge Write & Inset Frieds Write & Inset Frieds | H 4 Prod Recipient
Auto Check for form Streps
Preview Results | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | |
| Obts Source Last_State Prod_state Company_None Cyr Float «User_Fit «User_Fit Plog(source) Sidercy E3 Bootspace Mann Sidercy E3 Bootspace E3 Bootspac | Home
Home
Home
Hopes Labels
Create | Mail Merge 51271.doc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word
Inset Page Layout References Mailing Review View Add Jos
Stat Mail Steel for
Merger Responses - Respons | H () P H
Find Respirent
Protein Results
Protein Results
Mal Marge v 1
Write some Patter | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| aUser_Fit auser Feld Address Address body. aUser_Fit June 19.7 Address Address body. aAddress Address body. Address body. Address body. base body. Address body. Address body. Body body. base body. Address body. Address body. Body body. base body. Address body. Address body. Body body. base body. Address body. Body body. Body body. base body. Body body. Body body. Body body. base body. Body body. Body body. Body body. control address. Body body. Body body. Body body. < | Home
Home
Home
Labels
Create | Mail Marge 33271.doc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout Reference: Mailing Review View Add 9 is Set Mail Set Total Page Layout Reference: Mailing Review View Add 9 is Set Mail Set Total Page Layout Reference: Mailing Review View Add 9 is Set Mail Set Total Page Layout Reference: Mailing Review View Add 9 is Set Mail Marge Set Mail Marge Mail MargeReview Marge Fields: Marge Fields: Write & Inset Fields Write & Inset Fields Mail MargeReview MargeRevi | H I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 |
aUser_Fit «User_Fit «User_Fit »User Source Image: Source<	In P - 0 Ite Home clopes Labels Create	Mail_Marge_33271.dsc [Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout Reference: Mailing Review View Ad-3 in: Set Mail Stored Edit Start Mail Marge Start Mail Marge Mail_Marge_SizeT1.dsc [Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word Wire A Inset Feedorement Start Mail Marge Mail_MargeReview Write & Inset Feedorement Word in the set of incipants that all be used in your mege. Use the colore below to add to or darge The Set December Start Marger Particle Write A Inset Feedorement Write Write A Inset Feedorement Write W	Printer Record For Force on A Part of A P																												
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| June 19, 2
«Address
«Greening
Trajust for
Song warfs
We look f
Sincerdy,
«User_Title»
Sincerdy,
«User_Title»
Sincerdy,
«User_Title»
Sincerdy,
«User_Title» | Ide Y - 0
Home
elopes Labels
Create | Mail_Marge_33271.dsc [Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout Reference Mailing Review Vew Add-dx Page Add-tx Page Add | Profess Results Mail Marge You have Yo | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| June 19, 2
«Address
«Greeting
Data Source
Thank you
request for
Yong want
We look f
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
«User_Fite»
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely,
Sincerely, | I Home | Mail_Marge_32271.doc [Compatibility Model - Microsoft Word Insert Page Layout Reference: Mailing Review View Add http: Start Mail Steel Ends Start Mail Marge Copients Start Mail Marge Mail_MargeRepients Mail MargeRepients Mail MargeRepient Mailleleeee | Protect Results Prot | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Addrest Greening Data Source Refine region lot Data Source Thank you provide source provide | it Hone | Mail_Marge_9277.dec [Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout References Mailing Review View Add has Set Mail Set Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word Set Mail Set Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word With Address Control to Page Layout References With Control to Page Layout Refere | Auto Check for Ecropy Proteine Results Manuer Socie Manuer | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| "Greeting Data Source Refere respond to: Thank yo Cluber STR946 - VecCutal 21 Sock. Thank yo Cluber STR946 - VecCutal 21 Sock. We look ft Entrum. 20 Sock. Sincerely. Validate addressen. 21 Sock. Viser_Title> Step 4 of 6 | it Hone | Mail Merge 5/271.doc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout References Mailing Review View Add bre Set Mail Set Control (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Set Control (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Set Control (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Set Control (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Set Control (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Set Control (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Set Control (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Set Control (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Marge Word (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Marge Word (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Word (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word (Compatibility Mode) Word (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word (Compatibility Mode) Word (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word (Compatibility Word) - Microsoft Word (Compatibility Wo | Auto Check for Dross Provide Recurst | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Thank you
request for
You want
We look f
Sincedy,
"User_Title"
* Step 4 of 6
* Refmin * Sincedy
* Step 4 of 6
* Refmin * Sincedy | ie Hone | Mail Merge 33271.doc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Insert Page Layout References Mailing Review View Add are Set Mail Set Company Set | Adde Oteck for Error
Proving Recurst You have not already does on,
You | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| request for
yog want
We look f
Sincerely,
«User_Title»
* Step 4 of 6
* Ref end
* Step 4 of 6
* Ref end
* Ref ref Collected and there and the second
* Step 4 of 6
* Ref end
* Ref ref Collected and there and the second
* Step 4 of 6
* Ref ref Collected and the second
* Step 4 of 6 | ie Hone | Mail Marge 53271.doc [Compatibility Mode] - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout Reference: Mailing Review View Add Six Set Mail Set T and Set Mail Marge Size I and Set Mail Marge Were Add Six Mail Marge Marge Size I and Set Mail Marge Word Add Six Mail Marge Marge Size I and Set Marge Size I and | Portice Recurst Main SSS Main | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| We look f
Sincerely,
«User_Title»
Sincerely,
«User_Title»
Sincerely,
«User_Title»
Sincerely,
«User_Title»
Sincerely,
«User_Title»
Sincerely,
«User_Title» | It P - O Hone | Mail Marge 53271.dec (Compatibility Model - Microsoft Word Inset Pige Layout Reference: Mailing Review View Ad-3 hs Were Ad- | A de Creck for form
Prorter Breuit
Made Creck for form
Prorter Breuit
Made Creck for form
Prorter Breuit
Made Creck for form
Prorter Breuit
Made State non.
Made State non.
Made State non.
Made State non.
To add recipient formation to
the sour letter, disk abcators in the
the sour letter, disk abcators in the
me source letter in the s | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Sincerdy,
«User_Fin
«User_Title»
Step 4 of 6
P Roth Theires your letters | In P - O Hone | Mail, Marge, 33271.dec [Compatbility Mode] - Microsoft Word Inert Page Layout Reference Mailing Review View Ad-3 his Second State Compatbility Mode] - Microsoft Word Word Allower View Ad-3 his Word Allower Compatbility Mode] Word Allower Compatbility Mode] Mailer Field Word Allower Compatbility Mode] - Microsoft Word Word Allower Word A | Preview Results P | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Sincerdy.
«Use_Fin
«Use_Title»
Step 4 of 6
P Reti Prever your letters | elopes Labels
Create | Mail_Marge_33271.dsc [Compatibility Model - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout Reference Mailing Review View Add ns Page Layout Reference Mailing Review View Add ns Page Layout Reference Mailing Review View Add ns Page Layout Reference Were Add ns Page Layout Reference Were Add ns Page Layout Reference Write A Inset Fields Write A Inset Fields Match Fields | Auto Crest for Error
Proton Results Mail Marge Proton Results Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Mail Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Mail Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Marge Mail Marge Marge Marge Marge Mail Marge Mail Marge | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| «User_Fite» | lie P- O
lie Hone
elopes Labels
<u>Create</u> | Mail Merge 59272.doc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Inset Page Layout Reference: Mailing Review View Add Star Bed Mail Seed To for Coperts Seed Mail Seed To for Coperts Seed Mail Marge Wee Add Star | Auto Ottech for Error Proteine Results Mainway Mai | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| v Step 4 of 6
0 ₱ Rett Prever your letters | le lone
Create | Mail Marge 33271.doc (Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Inset Page layout Reference Mailing Review View Add the Set Mail Sector Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Marge Word Alter Fried Widdle Marger Word Compatibility Mode) - Microsoft Word Set Mail Marger Word Alter Fried Widdle Marger Word Word Set Mail Sector Compatibility Middle Marger Word Alter Fried Widdle Marger Word Alter Fried Set Mail Sector Widdle Marger Word Alter Fried Widdle Marger | Adv Check for Example 1 Adv Check for Example 2 | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| y
x
Step 4 of 6
0 ₱ -RetL Preview year letters | le Hone | Mail Marge 33271.dic (Compatibility Model - Microsoft Word Index Page Layout Reference Mailing Review View Add Sin Were Add | A de Orce A for terreror A de Orce A fore A force A fore A force A force A force A fore A forc | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| axep 4 of 6
a
b
b
b
c
b
c
b
c
c
c
c
c
c
c
c
c
c
c
c
c | le Hone
clopes Labels
Create | * Mail Marge 32271.dis (Compatibility Model - Marcardt Nadel
Nation First Registration Registra | Add es block. Add es | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| D The rest of the | In P - 05
It Hone
 | * Mail Marge 30271.dis (Compatibility Model - Marcard Namel
Namel Reg Layout Reference Mailing Reference Verier Addars
Reger Mail Segret Reger La Reference Verier Addars
Reger Mail Segret Reger La Reference Verier Reference Verier Addars
Wite a Theref Field
Wite a Theref Field | Protein Security | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

FIGURE 14.19 A mail merge document being created.

FIGURE 14.20 A mail merge document started.

A Basic Template

Because this is the basic template, you might find this a bit lackluster for a business document. To spruce it up, you can edit the document template to include a company logo and other text within the template itself or you can edit the document while in this process. Both options allow you flexibility.





Adding recipients to the document.







- **5.** Click Next: Complete the Merge in the lower-right area of the screen. You now have the option to print or to edit individual letters.
- **6.** Click Print, and you are done.

Try It Yourself

Creating a Document with Merged Data from an Account

Now, let's work without a template to help clarify how Microsoft Dynamics CRM works with Microsoft Word. Follow these steps:

- 1. Select Sales.
- 2. Select Accounts.
- 3. Highlight a specific account. (Figure 14.23 shows an example.)

https://crm201	1.bizitpro, D = 🗎 C X 📈 Accounts: Active Accounts X			@ ☆ {								
	🔏 Microsoft Dyna	mics-CRM		Stephen Noe								
File Accounts View	Charts Add Customize			Sign Out								
New Edit 2 Deactivate	Merge Send Direct Add to Marketing Connect Assign @Em	y a link . Run Sta ail a link . Workflow Dial	Run Import og Report. Data.	Advanced Find								
Records	Collaborate	Process	Data									
Workplace 🚮 🙀 -	Get Started with Accounts An account is a company or corporat	ion that you do business witi	h.									
My Work Dashboards	1. Import	2. Use	3. Modify & Ma	nage								
Activities Calendar Imports	Winner Video	년 About Quick Cam + Detect Duplicates 라 About Sharing &	paigns + Create Custor + Set Up Duplic Assigning + Customize Ao	n Views ate Detection counts								
dueues	^											
Articles	Accounts: Active Accounts -	Search for records										
Reports	Account Name -	Main Phone Address	1: City Primary Contact	E-mail (Primary C-2)								
Announcements	A Store (sample)	555-0136 Renton	Adrian Dumitrascu (sample)	someone_a@examp								
Customers	Advanced Components (sample)	555-0135 Dallas	Brain LaMee (sample)	someone_b@examp								
S Contacts	Affordable Equipment (sample)	555-0162 Santa Ci	ruz Cat Francis (sample)	someone_c@examp								
	Empany (sample)	555-0174 Lynnwo	od Cathan Cook (sample)	someone_d@examp								
	Best o' Things (sample)	555-0145 Los Ang	eles Darren Parker (sample)	someone_e@examp								
	Blue Company (sample)	555-0131 Redmon	d Forrest Chand (sample)	someone_g@examp								
	Designer Goods (sample) [Blue Company (sample)]	SSS-0197 Redmon	d Eva Corets (sample)	someone_f@examp								
	Elemental Goods (sample)	555-0127 Missoul	a Gabriele Cannata (sample)	someone_h@examp_								
	Grand Store (sample)	555-0135 Redmon	d George Sullivan (sample)	someone_i@examp								
/ Workshare	🗌 📴 Litware Inc. (sample)	555-0116 Phoenix	Marco Tanara (sample)	someone_j@examp								
a montprinte	Magnificent Store (sample)	555-0135 Daly City	Patrick Steiner (sample)	someone_k@examp								
5 Sales	Recreation Supplies (sample)	555-0171 Newpor	t Beach Susan Burk (sample)	someone_I@examp								
Marketing	Unusual Store (sample)	555-0178 Lebanor	h Thomas Axen (sample)	someone_m@examp								
	Variety Store (sample)	SSS-0135 Port Ore	hard Yvonne McKay (sample)	someone_n@examp								
Service												
Service	4			•								

FIGURE 14.23

Creating a new document for an account with Microsoft Dynamics CRM data.

- **4.** Choose the Add tab on the top of the ribbon.
- **5.** Click the Mail Merge icon on the ribbon to start the mail merge.
- **6.** When asked to choose from a list of personal or organizational templates or create your document from a blank document, choose Blank Document (see Figure 14.24).
- **7.** Click Data Fields and select the data fields to use in your document. Notice that company fields related to the name and address are already selected for you.

lacksquare

302

FIGURE 14.24 Creating a new document for an account.

Selec	t the mail merge type:		
Start	with a:		
•	Blank document		
С	Organization mail merge template		Q
с	Personal mail merge template		Q
C C	All records on current page All records on all pages		
Selec	t data fields: lect the data fields to use with this mail merge, click	Data Fields.	
To se D	ata Fields		

- 8. Click OK.
- **9.** Click Open to open the new document in Microsoft Word. Figure 14.25 shows a blank document with the Microsoft Word macros enabled. You can now add any number of data fields and various associated text or tables.



FIGURE 14.25 Inserting a mail merge.

- **10.** Choose the Add-Ins tab of the ribbon.
- **11.** Click the CRM button on the Add-Ins tab.
- **12.** Select the Mailings tab of the ribbon.
- **13.** Use Insert Merge Field to insert any of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM data fields that are of interest to your document (refer to Figure 14.25). If desired, type any text into the document and format it as you would in any Word document.

Using the Match Fields Option

You can also use the Match Fields option to match Microsoft Word merge fields to Microsoft Dynamics CRM merge fields. If you do this, you can use the Microsoft Word wizards.

Figure 14.26 shows an example of the document with a few of the merge fields embedded in the text.

W . 7 · U	¥	Mail	Merge_65156.doc [0	Compatibility	Mode] - Microsoft	Word			- 6 - 8
file Home	Insert Page Layout	References M	tailings Review	View	Add-Ins				۵ 🕜
Envelopes Labels Create	Start Mail Select Merge * Recipients * Recip Start Mail Merge	Edit Nerge Fiel	Address Greeting ds Block Line Write & I	Insert Merg Field *	Rules + Cal Match Fields	Preview Results	H 4 1 Find Recipier Auto Check f Preview Results	et or Err	Finish & Merger Finish
								ō	Mail Merge 🗸 🗙
	This is a new docur	nent I intend to u: s: «Account» t is: «Primary_Co ess is:	se mtact»						Write your letter If you have ready due too, the finan have ready and the too. To add reciber information to the them table one information the table o
4	or «Address_1_Stree «Address_1_Stree «Address_1_Stree «Address_1_City»	t_1» t_2» t_3» o, «Address_1!	State_Province»	«Address_	1_ZIP_Poshi_4	Code»		+ 0 # +	Step 4 of 6 Previous Selectreopents

Bv	the
	Way

FIGURE 14.26 A Word document with merge fields.

Try It Yourself

Using the Reconnect with Contacts - Gift Certificate Template

As a final example, you'll run through using one of the standard templates for a specific contact. Follow these steps:

- **1.** Choose Sales.
- 2. Choose Contact.
- 3. Highlight a specific contact.
- **4.** Click the Add Ins tab on the top of the ribbon.
- 5. Click the Mail Merge icon on the ribbon to start the mail merge.
- 6. Choose Organizational Mail Merge Template.
- 7. Choose the last template in the list: Reconnect with Contacts Gift Certificate.
- 8. Choose Selected Records on Current Page (see Figure 14.27).

Select the mail merge type:	
Letter 👻	
Start with a:	
C Blank document	
 Organization mail merge template 	🛃 Reconnect with Contacts - Gift Certifi 🗧 🖬
C Personal mail merge template	
Merge:	
 Selected records on current page 	
C All records on current page	
C All records on all pages	
Select data fields:	
To select the data fields to use with this mail mer	rge, click Data Fields.
Liata Fields	

- 9. Click OK. The recipients are displayed, as shown in Figure 14.28.
- **10.** In the Mail Merge Recipients dialog, click OK.
- **11.** In the Mailings tab of the ribbon, choose Finish & Merge (see Figure 14.29).

FIGURE 14.27 Merging into an existing template.

File Home	Insert Page Layo	ut Re	eferences	Mailings	Review	View	Add-Ins							0
relopes Labels Create	Start Mail Merge * Recipients * F Start Mail Mer	Edit tecipient L	Highl Highl	ight Add Fields Bid	dress Greeting ock Line Write & 1	Insert Mer Field *	말 Rules * 한 Match Fi ge 알 Update I	elds Labels Preview Results	H 4 Find Dy Auto Preview	Recipien Check fo Results	► or Err	Finish &		
											ā	Mail Merge		Ŧ
	Mail Merge Recipie This is the list of recipied divedboxes to add o Data Source	nts sients that remove re L	will be used in ecipients from Last_Name Cennata (ser	n your mer n the merge v mplic)	pe. Use the op b. When your I Finst_Name Gabriele	tions below st is ready,	to add to or chan dick OK. te_Phone	ge your list. Use	the one			Write your lett If you have not write your letter To add recipient, clid document, and the items below Address Greetin Greetin	er already done now. information in a location in then click one s block g line	to the of
	m Data Source C:Users(\$TEPH)	•1\AppOat Refresh	Refin	e recipient I Sort Eiter Find skale Find recipi Yaklate ar	ist alts ent dresses							Electron More to When you have your letter, did can preview an recipient's letter	ic postage ms finished writ Next. Then i personalize	ng you each



	HARRY CALIFORNIA
	CRM Lady
[Vou: Name]	
[Street Address]	
[City ST ZIP Code]	
ferding we could	
August 15, 2009	
[Recipient Name] [Title] [Company Name] [Street Address] [City, ST ZIP Code]	
Dear [Recipient Name]:	
Sincerely,	
[Your Name] [Title]	

FIGURE 14.29 Merging.

HOUR 14: Microsoft Word Mail Merge

- 12. Choose Edit the Individual Document.
- **13.** Click OK. The document appears on the screen, as shown in Figure 14.30, and you can print, edit, or change it.



Workshop

A bridge builder's architectural firm spends a great deal of time looking at potential sites for new bridges. When it looks at a site, the employees gather a lot of unique data about soil types, distance, risk factors, and more. They enter all this data for an account that represents that particular site. The firm then uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM to put together all the site details into a Word document that can be shared with all the interested parties. It also uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM to prepare complex proposals if the firm decides that a project makes sense.

Given that the bridge builder's architectural firm is using Microsoft Dynamics CRM, it has also added to the system all the products it uses and the contractors it depends on. The employees add notes and data for the contractors to capture what each contracting firm specializes in, and they use the product catalog when they are preparing proposals and quotes.

Each generated proposal is unique, but every proposal is based on 1 of 15 different proposal templates and the existing quote data in the system. The bridge builder's architectural firm uses the data within the system and a Word mail merge with the appropriate organizational proposal template to complete any proposal needs.

Q&A

- **Q.** My company has strict rules about Word macros. Can we use the mail merge feature without enabling macros?
- **A.** No. The Microsoft Word macros need to be enabled for mail merge to work; however, the Microsoft Dynamics CRM macro is a signed macro.
- **Q.** Does Microsoft Word 2010 make much of a difference? We are currently on Microsoft Word 2007.
- A. Microsoft Word 2007 is the first version of Word to support the standard XML format. This format offers more flexibility and options with mail merging. Microsoft Word 2010 takes this one step further and offers you even more capabilities.

Quiz

- **1.** Is there a way to see all mail merge templates in a system?
- 2. Is there a default template for creating a letter?
- **3.** Can I use my own Microsoft Word XML file as a Microsoft Dynamics CRM mail merge template?
- **4.** In the scenario described previously, what does the bridge builder's architectural firm need to do to set up its proposal templates?

Answers

- **1.** Yes. You can select Settings, Templates, Mail Merge Templates and then choose the All Active Templates view.
- 2. Yes. There are a couple different default letter templates.
- **3.** Yes. You can associate any Microsoft Word XML document with Microsoft Dynamics CRM.
- **4.** The firm needs to save its existing proposal templates into XML format and then associate them to Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Exercise

On your own system, set up a number of new mail merge templates. For instance, you can create a template for each of the major building blocks within the system, such as accounts, leads, contacts, opportunities, and quotes.

After you have created some templates, use one or two of them to see how they work. Be patient but be ready to be dazzled.

HOUR 15

Outlook Integration

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook options
- ► The synchronizing architecture
- Synchronizing data
- Mobility
- ► What to watch out for: troubleshooting Microsoft Outlook

Microsoft Dynamics CRM integrates with Microsoft Outlook in a number of different places. There are numerous choices when it comes to Outlook integration. In previous hours, we touched on a few of them. This hour examines the options that relate to data in Outlook, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 data, and data on your mobile device synchronizing with Outlook.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook Options

Microsoft Dynamics CRM has many configuration settings, but only one set applies uniquely to each user. To get to these unique settings, you select File, Options to open the Set Personal Options window. Figure 15.1 shows the General tab in this window.


eneral Workplac	e Activities	Formats	E-mail Templates	E-mail	Privacy Languages		
elect your home pag	pe and settings	for Get Starte	d panes				
efault Pane	Workplace				Default Tab	Activities	
Show Get Starter	d panes on all li	sts					
et the number of re	cords shown pe	r page in any	list of records.				
ecords Per Page	250			٠			
elect the default mo	de in Advanced	Find					
dvanced Find Mode	C Simple		(* Detaile	d			
et the time zone yo	are in						
me Zone	(GMT-05-00) E	astern Time (JS & Canada)	•			
elect a default curre	ncy						
urrency	IS Dollar						
upport high contras	t settings						
elect this option if y	ou are using the	e High Contra	ist settings in your b	prowser or o	perating system.		
Enable high cont	trast						
new your user inform	nation.						

4

The Synchronizing Architecture

In the world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you have a number of choices when it comes to where data is stored and what is shared between various potential repositories, including Microsoft Exchange, Microsoft Outlook, the centralized corporate Microsoft Dynamics CRM databases, and the local offline Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client. Figure 15.2 shows a diagram that indicates where data could *possibly* be located as it relates to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client.

Notice the word *possibly*. There are significant configuration choices with regard to this subject, as discussed in Hour 4, "Infrastructure Choices."

All data is stored in the central Microsoft Dynamics CRM database on the server, with some exceptions. Sometimes, users want access to their CRM data when they are not connected to the Internet such as when they are on a plane. Therefore, a subset of the master data needs to occasionally be available offline. In addition, in some companies, users have control over which of their Outlook data is stored in the centralized database, so some data from Outlook is in both Outlook and Microsoft Dynamics CRM. There are advantages and disadvantages to each choice.



Synchronizing Data

When there is data in Outlook (such as Outlook tasks, Outlook appointments, and Outlook contacts) that is also in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you may want to have this data related from one application to another, but you might not want to synchronize all the different pieces of data. To make the synchronization choices, you open Outlook and select File, Options, CRM (see Figure 15.3). Then, on the Organization Information screen, you click Synchronize. The Synchronization tab appears, as shown in Figure 15.4.

Ne Home Cent	Barana Robier	Index - Personal Folders - Microsoft	Outlock	
Save As	Attest 1940	тем сетендит наркана скот	Getting Hel	,
Save Attachments	Organization I	Information	TIMA	Contents
hto	T. Manana Ora	and a second sec		View or search the help topics.
Open	111manale out	production (Administrative Cuide
Print	D.	Set Personal Options	0	Open the Administrator's Guide. This guide will help noteen administratory measure Mission R
Help		Personalize Microsoft Dynamics CRM or set local data settings.	100	Dynamics CRM,
Detions	Uptions		1	Troubleshooting View the Transfershooting table of contents
tot 🖸	1.	Synchronize	-	A service inconsistent of the second second
CRM	Cuerbanaine	Modify your Outlook filters and Synchronize information between Outlook and Microsoft Dynamics CFM.	-	Microsoft Donamics CRM Online
CRM Recent	*			Voit the Microsoft Dynamics CRM web site.
	794	Go Offline		
	Go Offline *	Modify your offline filters and take your information offline.		About Microsoft Dynamics CRM See application information for Microsoft Dynamics CRM, including the version.
		Import Contacts		
	Import Contacts •	Import your centacts from a file, or import your centacts with Add Centacts Wisard.		
		Manage Records		
	Manage Records -	Choose tools to manage your records, such as duplicate detection or bulk deletion.		
		Sign Out		
	Sign Out*	Sign out of CRM for the remainder of the Outlook session.		

FIGURE 15.3 Selecting File, Options, CRM in Outlook. FIGURE 15.4 The Synchronization tab.



Tasks

You can map and synchronize Microsoft Outlook tasks to Microsoft Dynamics CRM Task activities. If these two items are mapped, actions against one impact the other. This synchronization is so seamless that when you complete a task in Microsoft Outlook (by checking the Complete box), the activity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM is completed. In addition, if you add an activity of type Task in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, the task will appear on the Microsoft Outlook task list. If you follow the steps to close an activity of type Task in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, the task will be completed in Microsoft Outlook. Figures 15.5 and 15.6 show the tasks as viewed from Microsoft Outlook and Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

To complete a task in Outlook, do the following:

- 1. Select Tasks.
- 2. Choose the task you want to complete.
- **3.** Click the check box to the left of the task.

To complete an activity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, follow these steps:

- 1. From the main menu choose, My Work, select Activities.
- 2. Open a specific activity by double-clicking it.
- 3. Select Actions, Close.

FIG	URE	15.5
	- 1	

My Tasks selected for synchronizing.

Activ	nties: My Acti	vities +								Sea	rch for reco
ue:	All										
	Activity Type	Subject			R	egarding	Priority	Start Date		Due Date +	
12	E-mail	Meeting			1	ABC Comp	an Normal				
2	Task	Einish The book					Normal	8/1/	2010 4:00 AM	8/1/2	011 4:00 AM
10	Appointment	Webinar on Dynar	mics CRM		3	Terry Brow	m Normal	10/13	2011 3:00 PM	10/13/2	011 4:00 PM
-3	of 3 (1 selected)										

2 0 0				Finish The book - Task	000	x
File Ta	sk Insert Format T	ext Review	Developer Add-Ins			00
Save & Delete Close	Forward OneNote Ctions	Details Co Show	Mark Assign Send Status mplete Task Report Manage Task	Recurrence CRM	Categorize Follow Up Tags	
Subject:	Finish The book					
Start date:	Sun 8/1/2010	- Status;	In Progress			-
Due date:	Mon 8/1/2011	• Priority:	Normal - % C	omplete: 0%		
Reminder:	Wed 8/17/2011 -	8:00 AA	u - 40 Own	er: Anne Stanton		
1						[#]
- Marcall	Denterior (PM			- 400		-
Kegarding:	None					

FIGURE 15.6 Microsoft Dynamics CRM activities of type Task.

- 4. Choose Status and accept the default, Completed.
- **5.** Close the window.

Synchronizing Task Activities

Only Task activities and, optionally, Phone Call activities from Microsoft Dynamics CRM synchronize with Task activities in Microsoft Outlook. Appointments and other types of activities do not synchronize to tasks because they are related to other areas of Outlook.



Appointments

You can map and synchronize Microsoft Outlook appointments with Microsoft Dynamics CRM Appointment activities. If appointment synchronization is turned on for the user's personal options, and then when they create an appointment in Microsoft Outlook, an Appointment activity is created in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. In addition, the Appointment activity is associated with the same person on whose Outlook calendar it originated. Thus, five different Microsoft Dynamics CRM users who are creating different appointments in their Outlook environment for possibly the same account have one place, Microsoft Dynamics CRM, to go to see all appointments associated with a specific account (but only if the contact on the account was invited to the appointment). Appointments are a special situation because they can be synchronized only if they relate to an appointment between two people. Recurring appointments from Outlook are also supported. Recurring appointments are a special type of activity, but they also show on the CRM calendar if they are tracked.

E-mail

E-mail is the reason Microsoft Outlook exists. Capturing e-mail from Outlook to Microsoft Dynamics CRM is so important that it is difficult to explain exactly what a turning point this can be for some companies.

The communications between teams and clients or teams and prospects contain a wealth of insight into a company's relationships. This information also represents private conversations between two people. Needless to say, making these private communications more public may present conflicts. Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers a couple different choices for tracking e-mail. From an Outlook perspective, you can synchronize all e-mails or you can choose which e-mails you are composing or that you have received that you want to manually push from Microsoft Outlook to Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

When you synchronize e-mail, the e-mail shows up in Microsoft Dynamics CRM as an E-mail activity. The e-mail is associated with the sender and the receiver in the database. If either of these people is not a contact with the same e-mail address in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, the e-mail address will appear red in CRM to indicate that it needs resolution. Figure 15.7 shows an e-mail address in red.

You can resolve a red e-mail address by doing the following:

- Double-click the e-mail address highlighted in red. The Resolve Address window appears (see Figure 15.8).
- **2.** Resolve the e-mail address by associating it with an existing contact or by creating a new contact and associating it with that.



New	E-mail messages	* 1
E-mail		
From	S Anne Stanton	Q
То	iohnsmith@abccompany.com	Q
Cc.		Q
Bcc		Q
iubject	This is a New E-mail	
Regarding		Q
እ 🖻 🛍 i	B / U 臣 吾 晋 任 任 作 作 4 · A · 🔤 Insert Template 🗎 Insert Article	

	FIGURE 15.7
	A Microsoft Dynamics CRM unassociated
9	ennañ address.

E-mail: Johnsmith@abccompany.com Resolve to an existing record	
Resolve to an existing record Resolve to a new record Create new: Contact Go Resolve to: OK Cancel	
Resolve to a new record Create new: Contact Go Resolve to: OK Cancel	
Resolve to a new record Create new: Contact Go Resolve to: OK Cancel	Q
Create new: Contact Go Resolve to: OK Cancel	
Resolve to: OK Cancel	
OK	
OK Cancel	_



Resolving e-mail: Clicking the e-mail address.



Deleting Outlook Business Rules

You can delete e-mail messages in Outlook, and they will not be deleted automatically in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Therefore, you can file and store e-mail associated with accounts and contacts and still keep your Outlook inbox small, clean, and neat.

Contacts

Contacts can be a tough subject because many people actually use the Microsoft Outlook contacts in their current daily business processes, and they must therefore change their habits and business process to take into consideration the new options with Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Take Microsoft Dynamics CRM out of the picture and just think about Microsoft Outlook and contacts; Microsoft Outlook has a contact system that is represented in two different ways. We start from this baseline before looking at how the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client changes the picture with more choices.

Figure 15.9 shows the Microsoft Outlook Contact template. Notice that you have some core basic information, including name, job title, addresses, e-mail addresses, and notes.

1 N 0 (* *	5.4	1977 (A. 1977)		-	Untitled - Contact	Statement of the local division of the local	
Save & Delete Save Close	A Forward OneNote	at Test Review Developer	Add-Int	Address Onerk Book Names Names	Business Riduer Card	Track Set - Were in CRM	Categorize Pollow Privat
Full Name Company: Job title File at: Internet						Į.	
Diplay as: Web page addres M address			Notes				
Phone numbers							
Business							
Home							
Business Fax.							
Mahila							
MODIE_							
Butinett	•						
This is the mai address	ing		Alley 2				
Click on a photo b Unable to log in to	o see social network u I: Linkedîn. Click here	apdates and email messages from t to log in.	his person.				

Figure 15.10 shows the Microsoft Outlook contacts address book. This is the list of contacts you access when you select and click the To field in a new e-mail message.



1 0 0 0 0 0	r -		Untitled - Messag	je (HTML)	
File Message	Insert Option	s Format Text Review	Developer Add-In	15	
aste J pboard G	• B I ∐ ⊟ • ∜> A • E ≡ Basic Text	A ∧ ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧ A ∧	Attach File	Track Regarding - CRM	 Follow Up - High Important Low Important Tags
end Subject:					
		€ To ->] Cc ->] Bcc ->]		, OK Cance	

FIGURE 15.10 Microsoft Outlook address book.

In Microsoft Outlook, you have some duplication. If you synchronize your Outlook contacts with your mobile device, you have two places where your contact names reside within Outlook and on your mobile device. If you then introduce CRM, you add a third place within the CRM database on the network. Wow! And yet it works. What happens when we introduce the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client? Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers three additional choices:

- Direct access to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM central database of contacts via a Contacts folder right from within Outlook
- A new Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook address book that complements the Microsoft Outlook address book and is available when you double-click the To field when sending a new e-mail message
- Synchronization and mapping between the Microsoft Outlook contacts and the Microsoft Dynamics CRM contacts (You can synchronize either all contacts in your main Outlook Contacts folder or an individual selection of a specific contact.)

Figure 15.11 shows how contacts can move from Microsoft Dynamics CRM to Outlook and then to a mobile device and back again. In this example, the connection from Microsoft Outlook to the mobile device is specifically between Microsoft Outlook and the mobile device. Microsoft Dynamics CRM gets involved only because it is talking to Outlook. In the next section, we talk more about other mobile options.

A key concept is that Microsoft Dynamics CRM synchronizes with the main Microsoft Outlook Contacts folder. If you create a second folder called Personal, you can move your personal contacts to this second folder. When you do so, personal contacts are not synchronized with Microsoft Dynamics CRM. But this might also prevent synchronization with a mobile device.

Notice how, in Figure 15.12, there are three Outlook contact folders in addition to the main Contacts folder.



Another option is that many companies that use Microsoft Dynamics CRM do not use Microsoft Outlook contacts. They get a piece of software for their mobile device, or they use the default mobile client within Dynamics CRM, and they just stop using the Microsoft Outlook Contacts feature altogether.

Mobility

Microsoft Dynamics CRM lends itself to mobility, and as mentioned in earlier lessons, it includes a mobile option. One concept with mobile and the mobility options for Microsoft Dynamics CRM is that if you can get to the web, you can access your Microsoft Dynamics CRM data in a form that fits on a phone. This type of option totally eliminates the complexity of moving or copying or synchronizing data between three places (the server, the laptop, and the phone). Data is stored on the secure corporate network, and access to that data is either via the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client, the Microsoft Dynamics CRM web interface via Internet Explorer, or a mobile client running on any number of different mobile devices.

The second concept in the world of mobility is to have a subset of the data copied to the mobile device and then resynchronized at regular intervals. This allows access to this data even when the Internet is unavailable, such as when you are on an airplane or underground. A number of third-party companies offer this complex offline capability, particularly with enterprise security. An example is www.cwrmobility.com.

Keep in mind that Microsoft Dynamics CRM uses an authentication model that might not be compatible with the operating system or the browser that you use on your phone. In such cases, software specifically designed for Microsoft Dynamics CRM is usually required.

What to Watch Out For: Troubleshooting Microsoft Outlook

Given the complexity of moving data (such as contacts) around between multiple places and the handling of this data by many different applications, such as Microsoft Outlook and mobile synchronization, there are a few key things to watch out for.

Consider that Microsoft Outlook can be modified by many different applications and plug-ins, such as toolbars and other products, and you see that there are a number of variables. If you experience any difficulty with the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client, you might look at what else is installed as an add-in to Outlook.

Microsoft has upgraded and developed a number of tools to complement the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client software and help reduce and check for potential issues in a variety of environments. The tools are part of the installation of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client, and they have options and preferences for troubleshooting.

Some of the areas that the Microsoft Outlook CRM tool helps to diagnose are address book synchronization and Outlook synchronization.

If you are using Outlook to send all CRM e-mail, then you want to check the following:

- Send e-mail
- Track e-mail
- Automatic e-mail tagging
- Offline data updates (for laptops/offline clients)

You can also delete temporary Microsoft Dynamics CRM client files and create an output file for Microsoft.

The Conversion Feature

Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers a conversion feature that allows users to convert an e-mail to an opportunity, a lead, or a case. This greatly reduces the setup time required by a person who wants to quickly take a new incoming e-mail message and track a potential sale or service call. You also have the ability to connect an e-mail message to a connection. Take, for instance, an incoming e-mail message from a specific prospect contact. Tracking this e-mail message ties it to the prospect contact, but you can also connect it to a different relationship such as a vendor or third-party partner.

On troubleshooting the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client, The Power Objects team has a great blog post. It has expanded some of Microsoft's tips and added its own insight with supporting pictures (http://blog.powerobjects.com/2009/06/02/ outlook-crm-client-troubleshooting-a-guide-for-the-rest-of-us/).

You might also find an eight-step guide to getting started with the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client interesting reading. To access this guide, go to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Resource Center at http://rc.crm.dynamics.com/rc/regcont/ en_us/live/articles/10stepstoOC.aspx.

Workshop

Jack Green is the CEO of an engineering company. His firm does a wide variety of sketches, drawings, inspections, and other architectural work for businesses all around his area. One of Jack's goals is to actively network at a variety of association meetings. He runs into numerous people he knows well, but occasionally he finds himself talking with someone he can't quite remember. Jack wants to be able to excuse himself and check his database of contacts and notes. To do this, Jack uses the mobile client for Microsoft Dynamics CRM. He can quickly search his contacts, and he has also set up a view to sort by a few key characteristics.

Jack also uses a combination of Microsoft Dynamics CRM and Microsoft SharePoint to organize and store the architectural drawings that are produced and their associations to certain accounts. With enterprise search, he can quickly find any document needed without having to define account-specific folders.

Q&A

- **Q.** I want to delete a bunch of contacts out of my Outlook folder. What happens in Microsoft Dynamics CRM when I do this to synchronized contacts?
- **A.** Contacts deleted in Outlook are not deleted in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. This also applies to e-mail messages.
- Q. I have a limit on the total number of e-mail messages that I can keep in Outlook. Can I delete items from Outlook without deleting them from Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- **A.** Yes. Any e-mail message that is synchronized with Microsoft Dynamics CRM can be deleted from Microsoft Outlook without impacting Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Q. I receive a number of attachments. What happens to my e-mail attachments when I synchronize with Microsoft Dynamics CRM?

A. Attachments can be stored with e-mail messages in Microsoft Dynamics CRM; however, they can accumulate and eat a lot of database space. Given this, larger Microsoft Dynamics CRM installations often have an alternative option for the storage of associated attachments, such as integration with SharePoint, which is a document library.

Quiz

- **1.** In the scenario described previously, what else can Jack use from his Microsoft Dynamics CRM system to help him remember details about different people he meets?
- **2.** Mary wants to keep her personal contacts out of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and yet she needs some of these key details at work. How can Mary keep her personal contacts separate if all contacts are synchronized?
- **3.** Do you have to use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client to access Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- **4.** Will Microsoft Dynamics CRM Phone Call activities synchronize with Microsoft Outlook Task activities?
- 5. Where do Outlook appointments synchronize?

Answers

- **1.** Jack can use the account feature of Microsoft Dynamics CRM to associate accounts with his contacts. He can then search by account or contacts.
- **2.** Mary can create a new Outlook contacts file called Personal. This personal file does not have to synchronize with Microsoft Dynamics CRM.
- 3. No. You do not need to use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client.
- **4.** Yes. Phone calls will synchronize with tasks if you choose to synchronize phone calls.
- **5.** Outlook appointments synchronize with Microsoft Dynamics CRM Appointment activities. They do not show up in the Outlook task list.

Exercise

Create a new Outlook folder of type Contacts. Move a couple of your contacts to this folder. What happens to these contacts? Can you associate these contacts with Microsoft Dynamics CRM? Try synchronizing a few e-mail messages. What happens to e-mail messages that have multiple recipients? Are these messages available on each and every contact?

HOUR 16

Workflows: Creating Simple Workflows

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- What is a workflow?
- Internal alerts based on specific criteria
- Using a workflow to automate a process

This hour takes a closer look at the world of workflows and how workflows help you automate simple processes. We touched on workflows in earlier hours—specifically, on how they relate to the sales process. However, workflows can be used for much more. This hour is a primer that will help get you started working with Microsoft Dynamics CRM's automatic workflow creation features. One of the goals of this lesson is to get you started with workflows without overwhelming you, so we approach the topic from a simple step-by-step. You want to increase your understanding of workflows slowly so that you can first master an understanding of a single workflow and then multiple and perhaps parallel workflow processes that can be kicked off.

What Is a Workflow?

A workflow is an automated process. A process that is automated is often associated with conditional statements, such as business rules that have multiple choices. Depending on the choice, an action can occur. (For instance, if an e-mail is received, a task activity called follow up is automatically created.)

So, if a condition within a business rule is true and an action can occur, a workflow can empower the system to automatically do this action, such as create or close tasks, appointments, e-mails, or other activities. A workflow can also call a small program, based on a set of conditions. Additionally a workflow can be designed to be extremely simple or more complex, such as the simple step of identifying when an Account record is created or the more complex series of steps of when a set of interrelated tasks are completed.

You can have a personal workflow that streamlines your own tasks, or there may be workflows that everyone in your organization uses to ensure that business processes are consistent.

A workflow can be about back-office processes or directly related and responsive to actions that a user might perform.

When setting up a specific workflow, it can also apply to either the needs of a developer extending Dynamics CRM or to a CRM administrator automating a process, two very different audiences.

By the Way

A Workflow Is Asynchronous

A workflow contains asynchronous processes, which means that a request is created, and then, depending on what is pending and happening at the same time, the request is processed when resources are available. Programmers and CRM administrators need to make sure a workflow is the right tool for a particular situation.

The following are a few examples of workflows:

- When an opportunity is closed, send the sales manager an alert that indicates whether the opportunity was won or lost.
- When a new lead is entered, assign that lead to the appropriate territory manager.
- If a value is added to a specific field that is incorrect, send an e-mail to the user (or to the user's manager) to correct the value.
- ▶ If a client exceeds his credit limit, set that client's account to "on hold."
- If an estimated close date has passed, send an alert to update or close the opportunity.
- If an appointment is scheduled with one of the company's top 100 C-level executives, send an e-mail to the account manager and to the regional manager.
- If the system generates an error and posts to a log file, send an alert to the CRM administrator.

Key benefits of workflows include the following:

- ► Increasing efficiency
- Standardizing processes
- Training new users on existing process
- Controlling well-established routines
- Improving existing process
- ▶ Providing an audit trail
- Streamlining steps
- Doing parallel processing to increase data throughput
- Increasing user adoption
- ▶ Improving internal communication and collaboration

Key areas to watch out for when working with workflows:

- Automating can generate unwanted or misunderstood transactions.
- Workflows with wait states can wait forever without the right logic.
- Automation does not guarantee compliance.

The best way to learn about workflows in Microsoft Dynamics CRM is to set up a few. You'll do this next.

Shared Workflow Technology

Microsoft Dynamics CRM uses the same Microsoft Windows Workflow Foundation as Microsoft SharePoint Services. This consistent technology continues to support the long-term goal of a totally integrated experience between Microsoft Office SharePoint Services (MOSS), Windows SharePoint Services (WSS), Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and Microsoft Office.

In the following pages, you will create a few simple workflows. You'll then move to creating a slightly more complex workflow.

As shown in Figure 16.1, you start the process by selecting Settings, Processes, New and choosing Workflow as the category.

FIGURE 16.1	FIT Hume		all Microsoft Dynamics OM	Anie Stanken (B Ofickely Sept Out *				
Creating a new	Alter Andrea Alterna							
	New Task	(g Process New - Wetpage Dalog					
	seconds (3) (4).	Get Stat	🚜 https://comixidy.com.dynamics.com/ifs/~onifics/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Template/~onifics/Templat	nd dialogs.				
	Business Business Management Trepters Management Product Calarce		Create Process Could a new process definition or a process layerd on an existing template. There are fixe categories of processes pro-can reveal, during and waterflows.	3. Manage & Alexal Dividing Process Status				
	* System	Dates Vier	Process name: * Test Watthaw					
	Administration		Entry * Account • Category * Westflow •					
	Testen Jobs	Processes -	Type:	each for estands				
	St Decument Management	Linex a B SX	New process from an existing template (select from lat):	and the second s				
	# Confirmination	Process Name +	I Tempate Name + Prenary Little Overe	Created On Modified On 2				
	Statution ≤ Instance ≤ Instance Statestypics ≤ Instance State ≤ Instance ≤ Instance		No plants hereful a sublish or - Let it is unlead in - Let it is unlead in					
	da Service							
	E Settings	1-1 of 1 () selected		14.4 Page 1.9				
	Sg Resource Center	AL 4 A 8	C D E F G H I J E L M H O F Q B	5 7 U V W X F Z				



Access to Settings

Configuring a workflow is considered an administrative task, although workflows are designed to allow either automatic or manual user processing.

If you do not have access to setting up workflows, talk with your Microsoft Dynamics CRM administrator about getting your security role changed.

Figure 16.2 shows the screen you use to set up a new workflow. In this case, you are going to set up a workflow that sends an e-mail alert when an appointment activity is created.

Creating the	Process: Test World	low	Working on solution: Default Solution
steps in a workflow.	Lief Z. Information Z. Information Z. Information Z. Information Git Workflows Git Workflows	General Administration Notes * Hide Process Properties ************************************	tenty <u>Account</u> Category <u>Voortlow</u> Options for Actomatic Processes Scope Use Vier Record is ansigned Record is assigned Record is desited

To create this new workflow, you need to choose a name and pick the correct entity:

- **1.** Enter Appointment Alert Workflow.
- 2. Choose Entity Appointment.

Note that you are creating this workflow from scratch as opposed to using a predefined template. You can set up templates later in the process, after you are using many different, yet perhaps similar, workflows.

Figure 16.3 shows the next screen you use to create a workflow. At this point, you can indicate whether this is a workflow or a workflow template, and you need to choose the scope. In this example, you are going to create a personal workflow, so the scope is User. This scope limits the workflow access. The other choices include setting the access to this workflow to Business Unit, Child Business Unit, or Organization.

Process: Appointmen	t Alert Worldlow		Working on solution: Default Solution
Common Common Common Z. Information Audit Nictory Process Ge Workflows	General Administration Notes • Hide Process Properties Process Name * Appaintment Allert Workflow Activate As Recess Available to Run A an on-demand process If As a child process	E-mail Unit Processes Unit Processes Unit Processes Unit Processes Filterate is assigned Filterate is assigned Filterate is designed Filterate Filterate is designed Filterate i	
	Add Step + 3 th Inset + X Delete this step. Select this row and click Add Step.		

FIGURE 16.3 Defining workflow properties.

You are going to create an alert when an appointment is created and, therefore, you can leave the default Start When setting (that is, Record Is Created). The next step is to add the condition and the step:

- 1. Choose Add Step.
- 2. Choose Check Condition. (Figure 16.4 shows the condition statement.)



- **3.** Add a description for the step. At this point, you have added a description, but you have not added a step or an action.
- 4. Choose Add Step.
- 5. Choose Create Record.
- 6. Choose E-mail.
- 7. Select Set Properties to Edit and create the e-mail.

Figure 16.5 shows a copy of the e-mail template. Notice the yellow fields, which indicate dynamic values that will be populated when the e-mail is generated.

Now save your workflow. For the workflow to work, it must not be in draft mode, so you need to publish it. To do so, choose Publish at the top of the Workflow, Settings form.

The new workflow will now automatically run every time an appointment activity is created in the system.

To test the workflow you've just created, make a new activity of type Appointment and assign it to yourself. In a minute or two, you will get an e-mail message, alerting you to the fact that a new appointment was created.

.crm.dynamics.com/SFA/Workflow/entityform.aspx?entityFullName=email&entity	name=email	&stepId=CreateStep1&workfl	owId= 🔒
and Close			@ <u>H</u> elp -
ppointment Alert Workflow mail			
	-	Form Assistant	>
{Created By(Owning User (User))}		Dynamic Values	•
{Contact(Regarding (Contact))}		Dynamic Values	
		Operator:	
		Set to	*
		Regarding (Contact)	•
		Contact	•
		Add	
	_	X 🛊 🐥	
		Contact(Regarding (Contac	t))
		Default value:	Q
	cm.dynamics.com/SFA/Workflow/entityform.aspx?entityFullName=email&entity and Close pointment Alert Workflow -mail (Created By(Owning User (User))) (Contact(Regarding (Contact))) (Contact(Regarding (Contact))) B J U ■ ■ ■ = := := := := := := := := := := := := := := := := := := := := := :=	crm.dynamics.com/SFA/Workflow/entityform.aspx2entityFullName=email&entityname=email and Close pointment Alert Workflow -mail [[Contact[Regarding (Contact]]) [[Contact[Regarding (Contact]]) [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] []	crm.dynamics.com/SFA/Workflow/entityform.aspx?entityFullName=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tentityname=email&tent

FIGURE 16.5 Creating a step to create an e-mail message.

Internal Alerts Based on Specific Criteria

You've already created a simple workflow to send an e-mail message when an appointment activity is created, but perhaps there is something more critical that you want to make sure does not slip between the cracks. What if a company does not want to go after any sales opportunities of less than \$100,000 because it thinks that these opportunities are not worth the expense it takes to close them? Now, let's expand the scope of this example and say that the sales force for this company is all over the world. It is hard to resist the temptation to go after a hot deal. Perhaps an opportunity has estimated revenue of \$90,000, and all the salesperson has to do is make a few phone calls to close it. Do you think that salesperson is going to follow the company policy and walk away?

To automatically alert management that such opportunities have been created, you can use a Microsoft Dynamics CRM workflow to alert a few key people when a new opportunity is added that is less than \$100,000. Here's how you set up this new workflow:

- 1. Select Settings.
- 2. Select Workflow.
- 3. Select New.
- 4. Give the workflow a new name, such as Opportunity Less Than 100,000 Alert.

- 5. Select the Opportunity entity.
- 6. Click OK.
- 7. Select Add a Step.
- 8. Select Check Condition.

Figure 16.6 shows where you are so far. You have created a new workflow of type Opportunity with the desired description.



Now, you are going to set the variables associated with the condition. You should double-click the blue words that look like this: <condition>. Click to define.

Figure 16.7 shows the first screen for setting the condition. Notice that it looks almost exactly like the Advanced Find screen you have seen in other lessons.

In this particular case, you are inserting a condition which says that the opportunity estimated revenue is less than or equal to \$100,000, and if this condition is true, the system will send an e-mail to the big boss. Figure 16.8 shows an example of an e-mail message that could be sent in this situation. Notice that you can use colors (for example, the word alert in red). You can also insert dynamic data fields, as shown in Figure 16.8 in yellow. These fields would be populated from the data in the created opportunity record.

FIGURE 16.6

	Canal Melalidation Man	FIGURE 16.7
Common Information	Vide Record Reserved	Inserting a
Audit History	· mor mora riopitus	husinoss rulo
A Processes	Process Name* Opperfunity Less than 100,000 Entry Opperfunity	business rule
G	Advate As models Category Process	or condition.
	Assaulte to hum options to Automatic Processis	
	T As a child process Start where: Ø Record is created	
	☐ Record status changes	
	Record is assigned	
	Record fields change Statut	
	Record is deleted	
	Add Step - → Inset - X Delete this step.	
	2 Check if the Opportunity Amount is less than 100,000	
	I «condition» (clok to configure), then:	
	Select this rew and click Add Step.	
	Specify Condition	
	they/contady.cm dynamics.com/Condition/Condition.assi/Tothylds/Bic/sdid-98147-403-4354-647-684ad/11389/iman/inter/Tyx	
	Tay tay and close with the second sec	
	to Crear c	
	Cassedunity Est. Revenue la Jess Than or Fauel To 100,000 00	
	Select	
itahus: Draft		
ttps://crmlady.crm.dynam	s.com/sfa/workflow/edit.aspi?id=3bc5eLe0-08	
Process: Oppo	hunity Less than 100.000	A sample ale
Send E-mai	and size our assisted	e-mail.
E mail	A 4	
From	[Created Bu/Conocture/M	
To		
Ce .		
Bcc		
Subject		
Regarding	(Opportunity)	
🗶 🖻 🛍 🛙 В	/ U 新 著 酒 汪 汪 伊 伊 / d- K-A- 🗋 Inset Artice 😫 Inset Hyperick	
(Created By(Opp (Potential Custon	rtunity): Created an Opportunity for less than 100,000 dollars, you might want to setup a lunch meeting with them to discuss this account.	
Theread contain		
Sincerely,		
Siri, the system		

Figure 16.9 shows the completed workflow. If your condition is false, you are not going to do anything, so you do not need to enter a condition and action if your original rule is false.

You do, however, have to publish the workflow for it to start working on the next saved opportunity.

HOUR 16: Workflows: Creating Simple Workflows





Warning

Published workflows should be stopped and unpublished before applying updates to any environment. If they are not stopped, a partially running workflow could be poorly interrupted.



Running OnCreate

Your new workflow is set to run OnCreate, and therefore this workflow will not run retroactively on already saved opportunities.



Setting a Workflow to Run

You do not have to choose On Demand or Child Workflow for the workflow to run automatically upon creation of a new opportunity.

Using a Workflow to Automate a Process

To this point, you have worked with some fairly simple workflow rules that either have no condition or only one condition or, if that condition is true, they do only one thing. What about a more complex workflow, designed to automate a complete process? We tackled the sales process in earlier hours, but workflow automation is not limited to sales. What if you have a process that requires three people doing things at different times? Take, for instance, a simplified version of the process involved in completing a book chapter for a publisher. Each chapter has to be written, reviewed, edited for format and content, and reviewed by the author. Table 16.1 shows this flow of information.

TABLE 16.	1 E	Book	Chapter	Process
INDER IV.		2001	onaptor	11000000

1.	Author: Write chapter.
2.	Publisher: Distribute to reviewer.
3.	Reviewer: Review chapter.
4.	Publisher: Receive reviewed chapter back from reviewer.
5.	Publisher: Send to author to confirm changes.
6.	Author: Confirm reviewer changes.
7.	Author: Send chapter to publisher.
8.	Publisher: Receive finalized chapter.
9.	Publisher: Publish.

You can create a workflow that tracks these steps and, after a step is completed, the workflow can create the next action for the appropriate person. Here's how you create the workflow:

- 1. Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Workflow.
- 3. Choose New.
- 4. Enter a name, such as Book Chapter Process.
- **5.** Choose Task. (You are going to track a series of tasks, so your base entity is Task.)
- **6.** Under Options for Automatic Workflow, make this an organization workflow so that the workflow will kick off anytime someone creates a task that meets the specified conditions. Figure 16.10 shows the new workflow before you've added any steps.
- 7. Set this to an On Demand (manual) workflow so that the user can start the write chapter process when he or she kicks off the process. The other choice would be to set a condition that checks whether a new task was created with either a specific subject line or a specific category or any other business-type rule that can be communicated through the data that the user would be entering.



- 8. Set Available to Run to On Demand.
- 9. Add a step.
- **10.** Create a record. Make this a Task record.
- **11.** Set the task to Write Chapter. The workflow should create the Task activity to write the chapter. You should give the writer three days to complete this task. He or she can adjust as necessary, but you can use the system to set the due date as three days after the creation date.

Figure 16.11 shows the configured task record. Notice the items in yellow.

To create a due date of three days after the creation date, you can use the Form Assistant to the right of your form:

- **1.** Place your cursor in the Due Date field.
- 2. In the Form Assistant, choose Operator 3 Days.
- 3. Choose After.
- 4. Set Look For to Task and Created By.
- 5. Click Add.
- 6. Click OK.

Task				-	Form Assistant	>
Subject*	Send the Completed Draft to Publishing				Dynamic Values	
nclude in the r	note to the publisher the following				Dynamic Values	+
					Operator:	
ast Updated	(Modified On(Task))				Set to	
					Look for:	
created On IC	reated On(Task)				Task	
a sality with the					Modified On	+
					Add	
					X # #	
					Modified On(Task)	
		(Modif	fied On(Task))Include this note		Default value:	
		Create	d Dev (Created On(Task))			. 8
		create	a our ference entrancy		ОК	
		Compl	leted On:			
tegarding						
legarding Dwner						
Regarding Owner Duration		Priority	Normal			
Regarding Owner Duration Due		Priority	Normal			

FIGURE 16.11 A configured task.

Figure 16.12 shows an example of the Form Assistant and your choices. The default value can also be set, but it is necessary only if there is a condition in which the data you selected would not be available.

ile 🛃 Save	e and Close				🕑 Help
Process: B Create T	look Chapter Process F ask		Form Assistant		
Task				Form Assistant	3
Subject *	Send the Completed Draft to Publishing			Dynamic Values	
Include in the n	ote to the publisher the following			Dynamic Values	
				Operator:	
Last Updated	Modified On(Task)			Set to	
	and a family			Task	
Created On: 10	cated onliasta			Modified On	
				Add	
				X 2 3	_
				Modified On/Taski	_
				Default value:	
					-
				ОК	
Regarding					
Uwner					
ouration		Priority	Normal	-	
Due		al			
Category	(Category(Task))	Sub-Category			
				-	

FIGURE 16.12 Adding a dynamic data field. You can now add a wait condition on the Write Chapter task to have the system wait until the user completes the task that was just created. Notice in Figure 16.13 that the Write Chapter task is selected, as opposed to just Task as the variable. This is important because if you select just Task, the process will continue when anyone completes a task.



After you add the wait condition, you must add what the system is to do when the wait condition is met, which can be either of the following:

- Add a step.
- Add a stage.

The system will give you a warning to indicate that this particular workflow is more complex and that, if you add a stage in the middle, you must start the process with a stage. You can add the stage Chapter Completed and rename the automatically inserted stage to Write Chapter. Figure 16.14 shows where you are so far: You have added two stages, one task, and one wait condition.



Who to Assign a Task To?

If you don't know who to assign a task to, you can use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Queue feature and assign tasks to a queue. In this example, however, you know who is going to do what.



Now you need to add the step to edit the chapter:

- 1. Select Add Step.
- 2. Select Create Record.
- 3. Give this step a name, such as Edit Chapter.
- 4. Select Create Task.
- 5. Select Set Properties.

When setting properties, you can assign a record to a specific publisher who will be doing the editing. In this example, you have only one publisher, which makes this setup easier.

You also need to create a draft e-mail for the writer. The writer working from his or her own activity list will see the draft e-mail and can then attach the chapter and send it. Here's how you do this:

- 1. Select Add Step.
- 2. Select Create Record.
- 3. Select Create E-mail.
- 4. Select Modify E-mail Properties.

FIGURE 16.14

Wait condition.



Creating Versus Sending

Notice that you choose to create a record and then choose Create E-mail as opposed to choosing Send E-mail. The difference is that you are creating a draft e-mail for the chapter writer.



Wait States

Warning Two (yes, it is that important): Pay particular attention to wait states within a workflow. A wait state will wait forever if the condition is never met. Needless to say, you can end up with a process that just spins and spins and eats all the machine resources if you are not careful or if there is an error. Tracking down a poorly defined and executed workflow process is no fun.

Microsoft Windows Workflow Foundation tools are available in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. They are also available in other applications, such as Microsoft SharePoint Services. In addition, there are resources available related to architecting proper workflow functionality. Microsoft has a section on architecting workflow, at http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/bb955348.aspx, that is worth reading and mastering, but there are also more out there.

Workshop

The Polar Bear Publishing Shop has a number of complex tasks that need to be completed in a certain order. Completion of these tasks is interdependent, requiring that one person do what he or she needs to do and then hand off to the next. The Polar Bear Publishing Shop wants to document and standardize some of these sets of tasks.

John Brown, CIO of the Polar Bear Publishing Shop, architects a set of processes. He first documents what the processes are and then lays them out in a business process diagram. After the process is validated and approved by his peers, John uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM to automate different sets. He sets up a workflow process for book binding and for editing and review. He also sets up the process around working with a particular set of vendors who supply paper and ink for his presses. John finds that the flexibility of Microsoft Dynamics CRM allows him to review and redo processes regularly.

John also uses the workflows he has designed as training tools. This reduces the classroom and e-learning requirements that would otherwise be needed for his staff.

Q&A

Q. I want to emphasize my alert e-mails. Can I use different-colored text?

- A. Yes. You can use any number of text colors in the body of an e-mail message.
- **Q.** I have a process that involves many different people, and I don't always know to whom to assign a task. How can I set up this workflow?
- A. You need to use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Queue feature, which allows you to assign an activity to the queue. For more information on queues, see Hour 17, "Support Management." You can also use the team concept.
- **Q.** Can I use Microsoft Dynamics CRM without using the workflow functionality? I am just not ready to automate anything yet.
- **A.** Yes. You can use Microsoft Dynamics CRM without workflows, and you can add workflows when you are ready.

Quiz

- **1.** When you are changing the properties of a task within a workflow, what do the yellow fields represent?
- 2. Why is it important to be aware of wait states?
- 3. What is an example of a process that could be automated with a workflow?
- 4. What are three benefits of mastering and using workflows?
- 5. Where is a good place to learn more about workflows?

Answers

- **1.** The yellow fields represent dynamic data fields that are populated when a task is actually created by the workflow.
- 2. Wait states have the potential to wait forever and so may cause a process that spins and spins and spins forever. A workflow that just stops with new requests getting added and without old requests being processed can cause significant system issues.
- **3.** Here is but one example: If a value is added to a specific attribute that is incorrect, you could send an e-mail to the user or to the user's manager to correct the value.

- 4. Any three of the following:
 - Increasing efficiency
 - Standardizing a process
 - Training new users on an existing process
 - Controlling a well-established routine
 - Improving an existing process
 - Providing an audit trail
 - Increasing user adoption
 - Improving internal communication and collaboration
- Microsoft provides more information at http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/ library/bb955348.aspx.

Exercise

Create some of John Brown's processes on paper or with a Microsoft Dynamics CRM workflow. Take, for instance, the steps that John must go through to manage the ordering of a new supply of paper. He works with his CFO or the accounting department to first look at prices and to refresh the research regarding rates and quality. He then needs to select both the quality and the price point that works for the company. He or a team member reaches out to the vendors for more information and real-time pricing, and then the order gets placed. When the order is received, the teams have to update inventory and store the new supplies.

HOUR 17

Support Management

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Creating and using contracts
- Maximizing support profitability and effectiveness
- Leveraging the subject line in a case
- Utilizing the Knowledge Base

We've covered a lot of information in the past 16 hours. However, we haven't yet talked about one particular department—the support department—that can use Microsoft Dynamics CRM for non-sales-related needs. A typical support department might need to keep track of customer service, support contracts, incoming questions, and problems and solutions surrounding incoming calls. This lesson delves into the world of support management using Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

What does a support department need? The functions within Microsoft Dynamics CRM that are key for a support department include contracts, cases, queues, the Knowledge Base, and scheduling. We cover scheduling in Hour 19, "Scheduling," so we touch on it here only briefly.

Creating and Using Contracts

A support contact consists of all the details of the agreement between your company and a client to provide support. The contract also includes management over what you sold to the client with regard to either the total number of calls, the total number of incidents (or cases), or the total number of support hours. Depending on how you offer support, the contracts feature of Microsoft Dynamics CRM can manage incoming use of services against a specific defined contract. Let's set up a contract to examine this further. Figure 17.1 shows where you need to go to get started. You get there by following these steps:

HOUR 17: Support Management



- **1.** Select Service.
- 2. Select Contracts.
- 3. Select New. The Contract form shown in Figure 17.2 appears.

You'll populate the fields in the Contract form in the following pages.

In the following steps, you can start with a Service contract template (see Figure 17.3):

- **1.** Select Service Contract.
- 2. Enter a name for the contract.
- 3. Choose a customer.
- **4.** Choose a contract start date on which the contract will be effective and when it ends. Figure 17.3 shows an effective date of August 1, 2011, and an end date of July 31, 2012. This does not necessarily have to be the creation date. Contracts can be created and become effective at another time (such as the last day of the previous month).
- **5.** Choose the contract address for both contract address and bill-to address or leave the address blank to use the customer's default address.
- 6. Confirm the billing information.

-	Contract New				Contracts	* 1	÷
	General Header						-
	Contract ID Contract Name * Customer *		Contract Address				
	Contract Start Date Duration In Days Billing Informatio	n	Contract End Date "			••	
	Bill To Customer * Billing Start Date Billing Frequency	Monthly	Bill To Address Billing End Date Cancellation Date				
	Pricing Currency* Total Price	US Dollar CQ	Total Discount	5			
	Details Contract Type	p					
	Discount Service Level History	C Percentage @ Amount Gold •					
	Originating Contract Owner* Description	Anne Stanton	Contract Template *	Service		Q	
							-
St	tatus I	Draft	Allotment Type	Number of Cases			



Tit Cartract Add Co	actionize	Jill Microsoft Dyn	amics CRM			Anne Stanton CRMLady	
Save & Save & New Save & Delete Save Save	Copy Contra Set Calendar Contract Actions	d Sharen Connect Assign Standard Context Assign Standard Context as	nk Wenth	Stat Report -			
nformation Contend	Contract New					Contracts · · ·	+
- Details Related	* General Header						•
Common Contract Laters Actualizer Classed Actuations	Contract ID Contract Name* Customer*	Long Term Service Contrait		Contract Address			
Consequences Consequences Consequences Consequences Consequences Consequences Consequences Densing Lossense	Contract Start Date * Duration In Days Billing Information	8/1/2011	a.	Contract End Date *	7/01/2012	10 M	
	Bill To Curtomer* Billing Start Date Billing Frequency Pricing	ACCOMPANY 8/1/2011 Manthly		Bill To Address Billing End Date Cancellation Date	7/31/2012	2 • 20 • 20	
	Currency* Total Price Net Price	Context States	4	Total Discount	þ.		
	Contract Type Discount Service Level History	C Percentage IF Amount Gold					
	Originating Contract Owner* Description	S Anne Mantan		Contract Template*	🧾 Senice		
	Status	Draft		Allotment Type	Number of Cases		



7. When the basics are entered, save the contract but do not leave the screen. When you save the contract, you create the framework to associate other key Microsoft Dynamics CRM entities to the new contract (see Figure 17.4).

HOUR 17: Support Management



Next, you need to associate some specific products, prices, and other specifics that make up the bulk of the contract. This combination of prices, products, quantity, and more are referred to as *contract lines*, and contract lines can be accessed from the left navigation pane. Figure 17.5 shows the creation of the first contract line.



FIGURE 17.4 A new contract

with general details that has been saved.

FIGURE 17.5

tract line.

Creating a con-

Finance Department

Many times, contracts are part of the finance or accounting department's paperwork, and finance creates them. Typically, the support department uses contracts in CRM. There is a relationship in CRM between contracts and cases that can reduce the total allocated tickets or time on a contract.

Contract Lines

Contract lines make up the body of a contract. They define what is covered under the contract terms. To create a new contract including adding contract lines, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose New.
- **2.** Enter a title for the contract line. The example in Figure 17.5 is a contract line that covers a product called ABC Product, which is bundled in a box rate, and the title is ABC Product/Quantity Box Rate/etc.
- **3.** Select the product from the Product list.
- **4.** Enter the quantity.
- **5.** Enter a value for Unit. Unit defines what quantity relates to. (For instance, a unit could be a box, an each, or a bundle.)
- **6.** Enter the allotment details. The system will keep track of how many cases or minutes are used, but you need to enter what the contract covers.
- **7.** Enter the price.
- 8. Choose Save and Close from the Ribbon to save the contract line.

A contract can have an unlimited number of contract lines. After you add the contract lines, you should save the contract. However, to make the contract available for case or activity association, it needs to be marked as invoiced. Contract lines can include a set of service hours, a yearly maintenance and tune-up, a number of phone calls to ask questions, and so on.

Associating Cases with a Specific Contract

You can associate cases with a specific contract. You do this when you are working on a specific case, and usually the person working the case is not the person who created the contract. The Case option in the left menu under service offers a view of all related cases.

By the

345
When you associate a case with a contract, the data within the case can be used to reduce a set value in the contract. For instance, if you sell a service contract for 10 hours of service, you can have the system keep track of how many of the 10 hours have been used by the data within an associated closed case. You can also associate specific activities with either a case that is related to the contract or directly with the contract. Figure 17.6 shows the Case form. Notice the area related to contracts.

Cases can be associated with a contract or with specific lines within a contract. The example in this section associates the case with a specific contract and a specific contract line. In Hour 18, "Contracts, Cases, and Capturing Time," we look more in depth at using cases.

General					Form Assistant	
Overview					Contract Line	
Title *	RMA Broken Component				Contract Lines	
Customer *	BC Company			4	🚯 Services	
Subject		Case Type		•		
Case Origin		Satisfaction		•		
Assignment Inf	ormation					
Owner*	🐰 Anne Stanton 🛛	Status Reason	In Progress	•		
Follow Up By		Priority	Normal	•		
Contract and Pr	roduct Information					
Contract	👔 Long Term Servi 🕂 🗔	Product		Q		
Contract Line *	🚯 Services 🗔	Serial Number				
Service Level	-				Tips	
Notes and Art	icle				Select a contract line to type of entitlement. Lin lines to the case enable allotment usage and ve customer is receiving th appropriate level of ser	king contr king contr s you to tr rify that the vice.

Maximizing Support Profitability and Effectiveness

Let's jump away from the Microsoft Dynamics CRM software a bit and consider how we might significantly increase the profitability of support. In many situations, sup-

FIGURE 17.6 Associating a

case with a contract.

port and good customer service is a necessary expense, but it can also be a real profit center.

To maximize the profitability of support, you need to define what services you are offering. These could be different levels of telephone support or specific services that are performed in the office. You might also have some proprietary knowledge that is valuable. Take the time to really define and bundle these offerings. When you bundle the offerings, consider the following:

- ► What are you offering?
- What is the market value of these offerings?
- ► How should an offering be marketed?
- ▶ What terms can you use to classify and brand the offering?
- How can you differentiate the offering from the offerings of your competition (particularly if the competition is offering a similar service for free)?
- ▶ If you were to list the offering on a price list, what would you call it?
- What skills are needed to provide the service?

Each of these considerations can help you determine and sell a specific service. Customers will buy value and will pay a premium for something they need. You can also offer a certain amount of added value for free; however, if you offer something for free, make sure the clients understand that they are getting a fixed amount of something for free. Don't forget to remind them occasionally with a letter that indicates how much they have used your service/product and how glad you are that they depend on you.

Consider, for example, the following service: unlimited tier-one support to help you refine and fine-tune and occasionally solve your technical problems. Tier-one support can be a service offering that helps further define a specific problem. The tier-one team can be less experienced in a technology but more experienced with capturing the finite details that make solving the problem easier. These specific service offering details can be used as a win for your own company and a win for the client. A client's easy questions are efficiently answered, the problems are organized, and data is collected without the expense of spending hours with a tier-three support resource.

You now have two services you can sell:

- ▶ Unlimited tier-one support
- ▶ Limited and more expensive, yet more efficient, tier-three support

When your services are properly marketed and bundled, you end up with profit, and your customers end up with efficient and accurate answers to their problems from the right source.

The key concept to take away is that it is important to plan and design the services you are offering. This is especially critical in this age when information is a valuable asset. When information is shared, there is value in return. This value can be in dollars or in more information increasing the knowledge base and information asset pool.

As you work toward refining and defining your services, look at the Service Design Network (www.service-design-network.org) for guidance. The Service Design Network offers predefined offerings, bundles and templates that you can leverage within your own business.

There are other resources, too, but the key point is that marketing, branding, and selling can bring much-needed profit and client satisfaction to your service offerings. Microsoft Dynamics CRM can support your efforts to standardize your offerings and as such can almost pay for itself.

Leveraging the Subject Line in a Case

Let's go back to talking about how Microsoft Dynamics CRM can help you organize and bundle your services. You face a small requirement with an impact within Microsoft Dynamics CRM: the configuration of subjects. Subjects are used in a number of different places within Microsoft Dynamics CRM. For instance, each case can have a related subject; and sales literature, products, and articles can have subjects. The subject tree should be set up with some thought, and it should support both reporting and the general organization of a number of different areas of data. To define your subjects, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Business Management.
- **3.** Choose Subject. The screen shown in Figure 17.7 appears.

Subjects are categories used in a hierarchical list to correlate and organize information. Subjects can be used to organize products, sales literature, and Knowledge Base articles. Earlier in this lesson, you already defined both parent subjects and child subjects. Creating subjects offers one way to organize entities within a system.

This lesson's example has a subject called Bikes and child subjects of all the different types of bikes. Via the creation of subjects, you can organize your cases by category of bike. You can also get reporting by subject, which enables you to determine how



FIGURE 17.7 Setting up subjects.

many cases are being generated for what type of bike. You can then make business decisions based on that information, such as choosing not to carry the line of bikes that requires the most support.

Utilizing the Knowledge Base

The Knowledge Base is an area of Microsoft Dynamics CRM where you can both store your own Knowledge Base articles (KBAs) and manage the review process that creates your Knowledge Base articles. Look at Figure 17.8. One of the advantages of storing Knowledge Base articles within Dynamics CRM is that you can associate Knowledge Base articles with specific cases. If you use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM customer portal, you can also share these articles with your customers.

One of the most frequently asked questions when it comes to the Knowledge Base is whether it's possible to associate a Microsoft Word document with a Knowledge Base article. However, doing this breaks the model. The model is meant to organize data in structured, searchable templates. If you associate a Word document with it, you are not using a structured template, and you are bypassing the ability to search. If

Nu System Views Title Image: System Views All Articles KBA 123121 Draft Articles Printer Issues Resolved Printer Issues Resolved Unapproved Articles Unapproved Articles Create Personal View	Nu System Views Title Image: System Views All Articles KEA 123121 Draft Articles Published Articles Printer Issues Resolved Unapproved Articles Unapproved Articles Create Personal View	Nu System Views Title X KB All Atticles KBA 123121 Daft Articles Dublished Articles Printer Issues Resolved Unpublished Articles Unpublished Articles Create Personal View	Articles:	Draft Articles 👻	_
Image: Wight of the second	Image: Constraint of the second se	Image: Constraint of the second straight of the sec	Nu	System Views	Title
KB Published Articles Unapproved Articles Unapproved Articles Create Personal View	KB, Draft Articles Published Articles Unapproved Articles Unapproved Articles Create Personal View	Kp Draft Articles Published Articles Unapproved Articles Unpublished Articles Create Personal View	🗸 🟹 КВ,	All Articles	KBA 123121
Published Articles Unapproved Articles Unpublished Articles Create Personal View	Published Articles Unapproved Articles Unpublished Articles Create Personal View	Published Articles Unapproved Articles Unpublished Articles Create Personal View	🗌 🚉 КВи	Draft Articles	Printer Issues Resolved
Unapproved Anticles Unpublished Anticles Create Personal View	Unapproved Anticles Unpublished Articles Create Personal View	Unapproved Anticles Unpublished Articles Create Personal View		Published Articles	
Unpublished Articles Create Personal View	Unpublished Articles Create Personal View	Unpublished Articles Create Personal View		Unapproved Articles	
Create Personal View	Create Personal View	Create Personal View		Unpublished Articles	
				Create Personal View	

you would like a knowledge base of Microsoft Word documents, you might consider using the integration with Microsoft SharePoint, which is built to manage unstructured data, such as Microsoft Word documents and document libraries.

Notice that you have Draft, Unapproved, and Published as options for articles. Support personnel can write Knowledge Base articles and submit them for review. You can also build a workflow to support the effort.

Templates help your support department capture information that is stored in standardized formats. If you create a new Knowledge Base article, you are instructed to capture a title, a subject, key words, a summary, and more comments (see Figure 17.9).





FIGURE 17.8 Knowledge Base article status. This standard format gathers a bunch of different information into a standard searchable library. By following a template, you can quickly create a new Knowledge Base article (see Figure 17.10).

Seneral				
ele *		Subject*		
ry Words		Language	English	
1 BB = 1 y = = = =	1 H (R (R)A. N.	٨.		
Summary				
Instructions:				
Additional Comments				
Instructions:				
otes omments	Created By	Multipl On		
	Control of			
		To evalue this content, save the reco	16.	

FIGURE 17.10 A new draft Knowledge Base article.

To submit a new article for publishing consideration, do the following:

- **1.** Select Actions.
- 2. Select Submit.

Once submitted, the article is in the unapproved bucket. To publish the article, complete the following steps:

- **1.** Select Actions.
- 2. Select Approved.

After the article is approved, it appears in the list of published articles and can be used as a reference throughout the company. Knowledge Base articles can be associated with cases, for instance, or shared with clients through e-mail.

Figure 17.11 shows a list of published Knowledge Base articles.

	plore			2. Use	3. Modify & Manage
Dreview Video	ති About Articles ති About Searching for Articles			중 About Article Templates 중 About Publishing Articles	6 ¹ About Editing Articles
Articles: All Articles -				^	Search for records
Number 🗠	Subject	Language	Title		
KBA-01004-N8Y5K9	Training	English(1033)	KBA 12312	1	
KBA-01005-V3M6R7	Installation	English(1033)	Printer Iss	ues Resolved	

FIGURE 17.11 Published Knowledge Base articles.

Workshop

Technology Titans is a technology company that offers IT services. It sells service contracts based on a number of cases (incidents), and it also offers ad hoc hourly billing. Technology Titans sells products, too, and organizes its products in the Microsoft Dynamics CRM product catalog. Technology Titans is particularly keen on utilizing Microsoft Dynamics CRM to keep track of how many cases are getting used by a variety of clients. To do this, it sets up service contracts in Microsoft Dynamics CRM for each client. Each service contract is completed and then double-checked against its accounting software to confirm that it has been billed. After the contract is set up, the contract is activated. The teams are also trained that, to offer a service, they must create a service case. Each service case created is associated with the appropriate client contract.

Technology Titans also has a certain number of recurring cases. The solutions to the recurring cases are documented and saved in the Knowledge Base library in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The company reviews these Knowledge Base articles on a scheduled basis to confirm that the information remains correct. It is also diligent about not putting everything in the Knowledge Base area. In addition, the company wants to save and store only items that recur regularly.

Q&A

- **Q.** We have the standard services that you might find at any technology company. How can we give these zing and the right marketing?
- A. The first step is to understand the value you are offering and your audience. You are also a consumer of technology services; what would make you feel great about spending money on these services? For example, you would probably pay a lot for a real expert in a specific technology because you could learn and potentially resell some of this expertise.

Q. Are subjects that important? We have not set up a hierarchy of subjects.

- **A.** Subjects offer a way to organize cases and associated literature and Knowledge Base articles. They also potentially offer a reporting category for analytics.
- Q. We want to associate a Word document with a Knowledge Base article. Can we do so?
- **A.** No. By design, you cannot associate a Word document with a Knowledge Base article.

Quiz

- **1.** Why does a contract have contract lines? What are they used for?
- 2. How does a case relate to a contract?
- 3. Can you search Knowledge Base articles?
- 4. Name three areas to consider when bundling support services to sell.
- **5.** Does the Knowledge Base section of Microsoft Dynamics CRM offer standardization?

Answers

- **1.** Contract lines define the specific services or products covered by the contract.
- **2.** A case can be associated with a contract, and the hours or incident that the case represents can reduce the total available incidents left.
- 3. Yes. There is extensive search capability associated with Knowledge Base articles.
- **4.** You could consider any of the items listed in this hour. The following three are examples: What terms can you use to classify and brand the offering? What are you offering? What skills are needed to provide the service?
- **5.** Yes. One of the key features of Microsoft Dynamics CRM Knowledge Base is the standardization of information so that it's searchable.

Exercise

Using the earlier example about the Technology Titans, set up two different Knowledge Base articles for the company. Would "How to Configure Outlook" be a valuable addition to its library? Now, set up a contract for a new client who wants unlimited support. Should Technology Titans offer 24x7 support coverage? What would be the cost of doing this right, with the right level of skilled labor? Can this service be profitable? This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 18

Contracts, Cases, and Capturing Time

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Why use cases; what's in it for me?
- ► The hierarchy of contracts, cases, and time
- Working with cases and activities
- Proactive versus reactive capturing of time
- Distributing work: Users, teams, and queues
- Adding a workflow to close a case

This hour spends more time on cases and looks at the concept of capturing time against activities in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. It also explores methods of assigning cases for completion, using queues and teams.

Why Use Cases; What's in It for Me?

A service case record (also called an incident record) is a building block of any process geared toward issue resolution. That issue may be a service or support incident, a warranty repair, a help desk question, or a return merchandise authorization (RMA). Case records have several key features that make them work very well in this area:

- **1.** Each case has a unique identifying number.
- **2.** Each service case can be linked to a service contract and an associated contract line to track work delivered on service agreements.
- **3.** Each case can roll up multiple individual activities into a single billabletime activity.

It is important to understand that case records can be modified and configured with additional fields, data relationships, and processes that meet your organization's requirements.

The Hierarchy of Contracts, Cases, and Time

Figure 18.1 shows the hierarchy of how the entities relate to each other in time related sequences. Time is captured on an activity in the duration field, and activities that are related to cases can map this duration into an actual case duration bucket. When a case is closed, time can be accumulated.

In Figure 18.1, the five-pointed star represents the capturing of time on a specific activity, and the seven-pointed star represents the potential of accumulation of actual time on a closed case.



The general concept is that every activity can capture the amount of time spent on that activity (the duration). When completed activities are associated with a case, the case will be updated with the actual accumulated duration of each activity.

You can also capture start and end dates on each activity. Then, by using the Report Wizard, a view, or an export into an Excel PivotTable, you can quickly get a list or picture of time for any given set of activities.

Using CRM to capture billable time for support cases lends itself very well to organizations where individuals are engaged with many different customers, projects, or issues on a given day. However, most professional service firms use timesheets to capture and track time and frequently have additional requirements related to auditing those time entries. If that sounds like you, then the good news is you can do that with CRM.

If you need timesheet functionality for your organization, you can customize the CRM system to meet your needs, or you can simply install a third-party customization that fits your needs. There are several solutions available in the Microsoft Dynamics Marketplace (http://dynamics.pinpoint.microsoft.com). Some, like Assistance PSA for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, are general PSA tools and others, such as CRM4Legal, are targeted at specific industries.

Let's get back to really looking at capturing time within Microsoft Dynamics CRM without third-party tools. Figure 18.2 shows the time-oriented fields that are available in a Task activity.

		_	_			_	_					
File Task Customize				🕌 Microsoft	Dynamics CF	M				S CRM	cott Colso In 24 Hour	n 2
Mark Complete Save Save Save	e & New ete	Attach File Incl	Add Note	To Opportunity Convert Activity	Connect	Add to Queue	Queue Item Details Collabo	Assign rate	Ga Sharing + 한 Copy a Link 영 E-mail a Link	Process	Run Report - Data	
New Form 👻	7	Task							Tasks		* 2	÷
- Task Notes		New										
	* Task	k										1
Related	Subje	ect *		Sample Task with A	ctual Start a	nd End	Date				-	11
Processes												
Processes Ge Workflows Dialog Sessions												
Processes Workflows Dialog Sessions	Regar	rding										
Processes Workflown Dialog Sessions	Regar Owne	rding er*		Scott Colson								
Processes	Regai Owne Actua	rding er * al Start		Scott Colson 6/17/2011		<u>8</u> v	Actual End		6/17/2011			
Processes Workflews Dialog Sessions	Regar Owne Actua Durat	rding er* al Start tion		© Scott Calson 6/17/2011 2 hours		o v	Actual End Priority		6/17/2011 Normal			and the local data and the
Processes Workflows Dialog Sessions	Regar Owne Actua Durat Due	rding er* al Start tion		© Scott Calson 6/17/2011 2 hours			Actual End Priority		6/17/2011 Normal			
Vocesses Workflows Dialog Sersions	Regai Owne Actua Durat Due Categ	rding er* al Start tion gory		© Scott Calson 6/37/2011 2 hours	×	×	Actual End Priority Sub-Catego	q	6/17/2011 Normal			
Processed Workflows Datag Sessions	Regar Owne Actua Durat Due Categ	rding er * al Start tion gory Status		© Scott Calson 6/17/2011 2 hours			Actual End Priority Sub-Catego	9	6/17/2011 Normal			



Figure 18.2 shows how two hours of work completed on June 17, 2011, would be documented. The Duration field contains the amount of time spent, and the Actual End field documents the date the work was completed.



Fields and the Task Form

All these fields will not show up on the Task form unless you configure the form to show them. The only field that shows up automatically is the Duration field. By default, the Actual End field will be set to the date when you marked the activity as complete unless you show it on the form and actually enter a different date.

If you link a task to a case, the associated time can be reported on, viewed, or exported with relationship to the contact or account associated with the case.

Working with Cases and Activities

When working with cases and activities, it is possible for an activity record (task, phone call, and so on) to get generated before the case record, but it is also possible for a case record to be made first. Let's work through a typical scenario that demonstrates both ways of connecting an activity to a case. In this scenario, you will capture the phone call from a customer, create a case, link the phone call to the case, and then create a second task from the existing case.

There are many ways to create a new Phone Call activity record in CRM. For simplicity, you can start from the contact record because it is very easy to search for contacts based on either the first name or last name. For this exercise, you should use George Sullivan, a record created as part of the sample data load available in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011.

To create a Phone Call activity record from the contact record, follow these steps (see Figure 18.3):

- **1.** Open the contact record.
- 2. Select the Add tab of the ribbon.
- **3.** Click the Phone Call option in the Add tab.

Now you can use the phone call record to capture details about the call and then create a case from the phone call record (see Figure 18.4):

- **1.** Enter the subject of the call.
- 2. Change the direction from Outgoing to Incoming.
- **3.** Enter some notes for the call in the description field.
- 4. Update the Duration field to document the amount of time spent on the call.

Contact George Suman (Juliy		The sent shere copiered	-			
File Contact Add Cus	stomize	Ait Micros	Joft Dynamics CRM		Scott 4 CRM In 24	Hours a
Attach Add File Note Include	Letter Appointm	Recurring Appointment	Mail Campaign Merge Response Marketing	Relationship		
Information	Create Related Phone Cal	8			Contacts	
- General	Add a phone call activity Contact	y to this mple)				
- Details - Notes & Activities - Preferences	E-mail someone_j@e	xample.com	Preferred Method o Any	of Contact	Owner	
Related	* General					
Common	Salutation			Business Phone	\$\$\$.0142	
More Addresses	First Name *	George		Home Phone		
Activities	Middle Name			Mobile Phone		
Sub-Contacts	Last Name*	Sullivan (sample)		Fax		
Relationships	Job Title	Owner		E-mail	someone i@reample.com	
Audit History	Parent Customer	Grand Store (sample)	173		And the second second	
Sales	Address					
Opportunities	Address			Ch .		
Quotes	Address type			City	Seattle	
A Invoices	Address Name			State/Province	WA	
Service	Street 1	4948 West Th St		ZIP/Postal Code	73683	
📻 Cases	Street 2			Country/Region	U.S.	
Contracts	Street 3			Phone		
Marketing						
Marketing Lists	Preight Terms		•	Shipping Method		•
Processes	Description					
G Workflows	Status	Active				
and the second se				C. Lassilistered	Destanted Made Off	00% -

FIGURE 18.3 Creating a

Creating a phone call from an open con-tact.

FIGURE 18.4
A new Phone
Call activity
record.

File Phone Call Contomic		Microso	ft Dynamics CRM			Scott Colson CRM In 24 Hours
Mark Complete Save Save Save	re & New lete	dd Close Phone o	To Dopportunity Convert Activity	Connect Add to Queu	e Item Assign	Process Process Process Process Process Run Report - Data
Information Phone Call Notes Related	Phone Call Call for Phone Call Sender	support	To Ca Con The and reco sect	se vert this activity to a ca activity is automatically can be viewed in the n rd in the Closed Activiti ion.	ec. closed, ew case les	one Calls 👻 🕸 🗟
Connections Connections Audit History Processes Vorkflows Dialog Sessions	Recipient Subject * George needs so	Scott Colson Kall for support me help installing his r	new software.	Direction	Incoming	C Outgoing
	Regarding	e Georae Sulliva	n (sample)			
	Regarding Owner* Duration Due Category	© George Sulliva Scott Colson S minutes	n lameld V S V Go	Priority Sub-Category	Normal	

- **5.** Save the call by clicking the Save button.
- **6.** Select the Convert to Case option on the Phone Call tab of the ribbon. The Convert Phone Call to Case dialog appears (see Figure 18.5).
- 7. Click OK.



You can change the customer and optionally define the subject of the case from the CRM subject tree as part of this process.

FIGURE 18.5 The Convert Phone Call to Case dialog.

Convert Phone Call t Specify the details of the	o Case new case.
Customer *	🐛 George Sullivan (sa 🗦 🗔
Subject	
🔽 Open the ne	ew case
Change the form	Phone Call status to Completed and close the
	OK Cancel

At this point, you are looking at a new case record. Now you can create a task to schedule future work to resolve the issue for the customer. You create the new task as follows (see Figure 18.6):

- **1.** Select the Add tab of the ribbon.
- **2.** Click the Task button in the Add tab.

Fill out the missing information in the task form to schedule the task for future completion (see Figure 18.7):

- **1.** Enter a subject for the task.
- **2.** Enter the due date and time.
- **3.** Enter the expected duration.
- 4. Click Save & Close to save and close the task record.

- - X-

11/2 Care Add Carls	mine	<u> </u>	Microsoft	Dynamics CRM		Set CRM Ir	tt Colson
Conce Card And Conce attach Add File Note Task E-mail	S Phone Call Letter Appol	ntment	oointmer / :s +	Mail Mail Marketing			
Create Related Add a task ac	Task tivity to this Case.	28-55Y1R4				Cases	v 0 0
Related	* General Overview					Form Assistant	•
Common	Title *	Call for support				Form Assistant Help	
Closed Activities	Customer*	George Sullivan (amole)			Select a lookup field.	
Connections Subject				Case Type			
Audit History	Case Origin		-	Satisfaction			
G Workflows	Assignment In	formation					
Dialog Sessions	Owner*	Scott Colson		Status Reason	In Progress	-	
	Follow Up By			Priority	Normal	-	
	Contract and P	roduct Information					
	Contract			Product		1	
	Contract Line			Serial Number			
	Service Level						
	Notes and Ar	ticle					

C Task: New - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer



and the second se			AN MILLOW	out officiants of	249					Scott Cols	on 👓
Elle Task Customize									CRM	In 24 Hor	urs a
Mark Save Close	Save & New Oelete	ttach Add	To Opportunity	Connect	Add to Queue	Queue Iter Details	Assign	Dig Sharing - 한글 Copy a Link ⓒ E-mail a Lini	Process	Run Report	
Save		Include	Convert Activit	ty	_	Collabo	rate			Data	
Task Save & Cl	d close this Task.							Task	3		9
Notes											
Related	* Task										_ î
Common	Subject		Assisit with softw	ware inastallati	on						
G Workflows											
G Workflows Dialog Sessions	Regardi	ng	🖷 Call for supp	pert							2
C Workflows	Regardi Owner	ng	Call for supp Scott Colson	eert						2	1
C Workflows	Regardi Owner Duratio Due	ng	Call for supp Scott Colson 1 hour 6/20/2011	eed 3.00 PM	K K	Priority		Normal		- - -	
G Workflows	Regardi Owner Duratio Due Categor	ng n Y	Stati for supp Stati Colson 1 hour 6/20/2011	eorf S v 3:00 PM	K K	Priority Sub-Catego	ory	Normal		[]]]	

FIGURE 18.7 A new task.

At this point you have a new case record in CRM and two activities associated with the case. Figure 18.8 shows the open activity records associated with the case, and Figure 18.9 shows the closed activity records associated with the case. You can open each activity by clicking the activity name link or by double-clicking in the row.

FIGURE 18.8 Open activities for the case.





Once the issue associated with a service case is corrected, you want to mark the case as resolved. If you tried to mark the case as resolved at this point, however, you would get the error message shown in Figure 18.10 because you have an activity associated with the case that has not been marked as complete.







So to resolve the case, you first need to mark each open activity as complete. To do so, you select the Activities view in the related navigation section of the case form to see a list of all open activities associated with the service case (refer to Figure 18.8). Then you open and update each activity with any missing notes or time spent on the activity. Finally, you click the Mark Complete button to save the changes and mark the activity as completed.

When all the activities are closed, it is time to update the case to show that the issue has been resolved. To do so, you select the Case ribbon tab and then click Resolve Case in the Case tab (see Figure 18.11).

Care Add Coul	mine		Microsoft	Dynamics CRM			Si CRM1	n 24 Hours
Save & Contents	Resolve Case Cancel Actions	meet Add to Queue Queue Queue Col	tem Assign	Copy a Link	Run Workflow Dialog	Run Report -		
formation General Notes and Article	Resolve Case Close this case as re All related activities	solved. must be closed					Cases	v þ ö
lelated	Overview	be closed.					Form Assistant Form Assistant Help	•
Common Activities Closed Activities	Title*	Call for support	n (sample)				Form Assistant Help Select a lookup field.	•
Connections	Subject			Case Type				
Processes	Case Origin Assignment Inf	ormation	+	Satisfaction		•		
Dialog Sessions	Owner*	Scott Colson		Status Reason	In Progress			
	Follow Up By		o •	Priority	Normal			
	Contract and P	roduct Information						
	Contract			Product				
	Contract Line		a	Serial Number				
	Service Level		*					
	Notes and Art Status	Active						



When you complete this action, a Resolve Case dialog box opens, displaying the accumulated time spent on all activities related to the case (see Figure 18.12). To finish closing the case, you adjust the billable time if needed and enter a brief description in the Resolution text box. Then you click the OK button.

FIGURE 18.12	Resolve Case	Webpage Dialog	×	
Case dialog.	Resolve Case Provide informatio	n in the following boxes to resolve th	is case.	
	Resolution Type *	Problem Solved	•	
	Resolution *	Installed Software		
	Total Time	1.08 hours		
	Billable Time *	1.08 hours	~	
	Description	ОК	Cancel	
	😪 Local intranet	Protected Mode: Off		

When the case is resolved, you see a Case Resolution activity in the Completed Activities view for the case. This record contains the resolution information and the billable time you entered when you resolved the case (see Figure 18.13).

The face had find	List Tools	🚧 Microso	t Dynamics CRM				Scott Colson
Add New Add Esisting Edit Activity - Activity Records	X Delete Activity Bulk Delete Actions	de Connect	Assign Activities of E-mail a Link Ilaborate	Filter	Chart Pane -	Start Dialog	Run Report - Activities Data
Information General	Case CAS-01028-5	5Y1R4				Cases	v g ö
L Notes and Article Related	Subject		Activity Type A Case Resolution C	ietivity Status	Regarding	Priority Normal	Due Date i
Activities Closed Activities Connections Audit History	Call for support		Phone Call C	Completed	Call for supp-	Normal	
Processe Workflows Dialog Sessions							
Process Get WorkTows Dialog Sessions	 1-3 of 3 @ selected 						H 4 Pagel F



Proactive Versus Reactive Capturing of Time

The preceding example demonstrates using CRM cases in both a reactive way (generating a case when you take a phone call) and using CRM cases in a proactive way (scheduling a task for a future time). How you use CRM depends a great deal on your business and the processes you are implementing.

If you are constantly planning your schedule and proactively creating tasks, phone calls, and appointments that need to be completed in the future, Microsoft Dynamics CRM can help you track completion of those activities and give you a way to document how much time you spent on each activity as you close them out. On the other hand, if you live in a highly reactive world, and the work you do each day is somewhat dependent on what happens that day, you may find that it makes more sense to use a CRM case record to capture the thing that needs to get done. You can then create CRM activity records when you find time to work on the issue, and you can capture your time then.

Most organizations will be somewhere between these two scenarios. Lots of people want to jump on the proactive wagon. It's a good idea to be realistic about what your organization can do in this area and that you define a business process around CRM so that everyone uses the system the same way. This process can be as simple as a rule which states that no work will be done to resolve an issue until after a case that documents the issue has been made. This simple business rule ensures that everyone in the company who has CRM access has a way to know about the issue and therefore assist in resolution of the issue.

Distributing Work: Users, Teams, and Queues

Now that we have gotten into some details around linking cases to activities and tracking time, let's look at managing cases and workload in more detail. Chances are that you will have more than one person involved in resolving cases, and many issues will not be resolved in a single session or interaction.

Each case or activity in CRM can be owned by a single CRM user or a CRM team. From the standpoint of the system, an owner may have certain rights to modify that record that other users do not have. From the standpoint of getting the work done, the owner is typically responsible for doing the work or at least ensuring that the work gets done. Although teams have been defined in CRM since the beginning, Dynamics CRM 2011 is the first version that actually supports ownership of a record by a team rather than an individual user, and this change has a big impact. Consider a scenario where you want only users who are qualified on a certain technology or process to work on issues related to that technology or process. You now have the ability to assign those cases to a defined team of users who have the required qualification, and you can give all members of that team the access they need to update the case record.

When distributing work in your organization, you have the option of distributing individual activities (a very proactive service model) or distributing service cases and allowing the case owner or team members to decide the best action to take (a more reactive model). You distribute this work directly by assigning the case or activity directly to an individual or a team, or indirectly by adding the case or activity to a queue.

Queues allow you to advertise specific activities or cases to a group of users as opposed to a specific person or team. Visibility to items in a queue can be given to a department, a subset of people, or everyone in the organization. The difference between adding an item to a queue or assigning it to a team is very subtle. The first thing to understand is that items added to a queue will remain in the queue until accepted or added to a different queue, and ownership of the case or activity does not change until someone specifically accepts the item from the queue. The second thing to understand is that queues, by definition, represent information in a FIFO (first-in, first-out) format so that the item that has been in the queue the longest is at the top of the list. The last significant thing is that queues can be set up to automatically process inbound e-mail to a specified e-mail address (for example, support@crmin24hours.com).

In order to understand this subtle difference, you'll next create a queue and a team and show how to distribute a case to a queue and to a team. First, you create a queue as follows:

- 1. Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Business Management.
- 3. Choose Queues.
- **4.** Click the New button to open a new queue window.
- 5. Enter the following information in the queue window (see Figure 18.14):
 - Enter a unique queue name (in this case, Support).
 - If your queue will process inbound e-mail, enter an e-mail address.
 - Set the E-mail Access Configuration settings based on your system requirements.
- 6. Click the Save button.

2 Queue: New - Microsoft Dyn	amics CRM - Windows Inte	ernet Explorer			• ×
File 🛃 🏹 Save and Clo	se 🖬				😧 Help -
oli Queue: New					
Information Ceneral Related Common Co	General Queue Name* E-mail Description Incoming E-mail Genere to e-mail activities* E-mail access type - Incoming.* Email access type - Outgoing:* Configure Creden Allow credentials for the E-mail Router*	Support Support Support Comin24hours.com All e-mail messages Higuration Forward Mailbox E-mail Router tials for E-mail Router	Owner*	Scott Colson	
Status: New http://fs-crm2011/CRMIn24Hou	rs/tools/queuingr	💊 Local intra	net Protected Mode:	0ff 🖓 • 🔍	100% -



Now you create a CRM team and assign yourself as a member as follows:

- **1.** Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Administration.
- 3. Choose Teams.
- **4.** Click the New button to open a new team window.
- **5.** Enter the following information in the team window (see Figure 18.15):
 - Enter a unique team name (in this case, Support Team).
 - ► Set yourself as the administrator.
- **6.** Click the Save button.
- **7.** Give the team the Customer Service Representative Role, using the steps as follows:
 - Click the Manage Roles button in the Team tab of the ribbon.
 - Check the Customer Service Representative role.
 - ► Click the OK button.





- **8.** Add yourself as a member of the team as follows:
 - Choose Members under the related item's section in the form navigation.
 - Click the Members button on the Users tab of the ribbon.
 - Check your name in the list of users.
 - Click the OK button.
- 9. Click Save & Close to save and close the team window.

Now it is time to create a case that you can use to test your various methods of distributing the work to others. You create a case as follows:

- 1. Choose Service.
- 2. Choose Cases.
- **3.** Click the New button.
- **4.** Enter a case title and customer and then click the Save button to save the case but leave the form open.

In a first scenario, you should distribute this work to the support queue you just created (see Figure 18.16):

Add to Queue	
You have selected 1 item. To	which queue would you like to add it?
Add the selected items to	o the following queue:
🛵 Support Queue	
Support Queue	
Support Queue] [

- **1.** Click on the Add to Queue button in the Case tab the ribbon.
- 2. Select the support queue in the Add to Queue dialog.
- **3.** Click the OK button to complete the action.

Notice that you are still the owner of the case, as shown in the Owner field in the case form. Now you need to verify that the case has actually been assigned to the support queue (see Figure 18.17):

🖉 Queue Items: All Items - Micros	soft Dynamics CRM - V	Vindows Internet Exp	orer				
🕝 💮 = 🚂 http://fs-crm20	011/CRMIn24Hours/m	ain.aspo≇			- + ×	 Bing 	ρ -
🙀 Favorites 🛛 🎪 🔊 Suggeste	ed Sites 👻 🔊 Web Si	ice Gallery 🕶					
🛺 Queue Items: All Items - Micro	osoft Dynamics CRM				🛅 = 🖾	r 🖾 🛞 r Pager	🔹 Safety 🔻 Tools 👻 🔞 👻 🗎
File Queue Items View	Charts Customiz	c	🕌 Microsoft	Dynamics CRM			Scott Colson @ CRM In 24 Hours
X Delete - Routing Work	3 Release 3 Remove 3 Queue Rem Details tions	Copy a Link .	Run Start Workflow Dialog	Run Inport V Fite	art to Excel Advance Advance Find	ed	
Workplace 🛛 🙆 🙀 -	Queue Items: Al	l Items -				Search for r	ecords P
Calendar	Queue: All Que	Jes .	•				
Queues Queues Articles Reports Announcements Customers Accounts Contacts	My new case 1	or reassignment		6/19/2011 4:03 PM	rype Case	Queue Support Queue	Click here to view
Workplace							the cha
Marketing							*
3 Settings	4						Þ
S Resource Center	All # A	CDE	FGHI	JKLMN	O P Q	R S T U	V W X Y Z
javascript;				•	Local intranet Pro	tected Mode: Off	-a - 100% -



FIGURE 18.16 The Add to Queue dialog.

- **1.** Choose Workplace.
- 2. Choose Queues.
- **3.** Change the Queue Items view to All Items.
- **4.** Note that the case you created is sitting in the support queue.

At this point, anyone who has been granted access to view queues can see this service case sitting in the queue, and ownership of the case will not change until a user accepts the queue item by clicking the Work On button in the Queue Items tab of the ribbon.

In the following steps, you'll assign the case to a team. You start by opening the case record and then proceed as follows:

- **1.** Click the Assign button in the Collaborate section of the ribbon.
- 2. Select the Assign to Another User or Team option.
- **3.** Click the Search button to the right of the dialog text box to open the Look Up Record dialog.
- 4. Change the Look For drop-down item from User to Team (see Figure 18.18).

or data by using the view options. Then, s	elect the record you want and click OK	
ook for: Team	•	
View: Teams Lookup View	*	
Search: Search for records	Q	
Team Name		
and and and		
So CRM In 24 Hours		
Support Team		
Support Team 1 - 2 of 2 () selected)		M ∢ Page1
Support Team 1 - 2 of 2 (1 selected)		M 4 Page 1
Support Team 1 - 2 of 2 (1 selected) Properties New		M 4 Page1

- 5. Select the support team you created earlier and click the OK button.
- **6.** Click the OK button on the remaining dialog.

Note that the Owner field on the case has changed from you to the support team.



Adding a Workflow to Close a Case

When major functions occur, such as the closing of a case, great opportunities to have the system react with some automation present themselves. Consider, for instance, a need to alert the customer that a case has been closed. The system can generate an e-mail message, using a template that merges information from the service case to create the final e-mail. Figure 18.19 shows an existing e-mail template. Notice that the case number and the title have been included in this e-mail template.





Editing the E-mail Template

You can edit the e-mail template by choosing Settings, Templates, E-mail Templates and then selecting the Closed Case Acknowledgement e-mail template.

This e-mail message gets sent by a workflow when there is a change in the case and the status of the case is set to Resolved. In this example, the e-mail is sent from a specific service person and sent to the customer associated with the case. However, many organizations send the e-mail from a common e-mail address, such as support@crmin24hours.com, so that any replies go back to an existing queue. To make this change, you set the e-mail sender to a queue that has the desired e-mail address.



The workflow to check the status of the case upon a change and to send an e-mail if the status is equal to Resolved is a workflow with two steps. Figure 18.20 shows this workflow.

Information	d case email			Working on solut	tion: Default Sol			
Common	General Administration Notes							
Audit History	 Filde Process Prope 	nes						
Processes Get Workflows	Process Name +	Send closed case email	Entity	Case				
	Activate As	Process +	Category					
	Available to Run		Options for A	utomatic Processes				
	As an on-dem	and process	Scope	Organization	-			
	As a child process		Start when:	Record is created				
				Record status changes				
				Record is assigned				
				Record fields change				
				Record is deleted				
	* Check to see if	the case is resolved						
	H Case Status e	quals [Resolved] then:						
	* Email o	final contact or account primary contact using email template						
	Send e-	nait: Use Template Case View properties						

Notice that the options for automatic workflow are set to occur on record status changes, as opposed to when the record is created. You are capturing when a case changes and then reviewing the change with a condition statement to check whether the change resulted in the status being set to Resolved.

What is another situation where you might want a workflow on a change to a case? Here are some examples:

- When a case closes for a high-profile client, you might want to send an email or create an activity to the internal support department manager or the CEO for a personal follow-up.
- When a case includes a value in the Follow-Up By field, you might want to schedule an activity to follow up for the appropriate support person or the incident manager.
- When a case changes and the status changes to high priority, you might want to create an appointment with a due date. The appointment would synchronize to Outlook and pop up an alert at the set time.
- When a case is resolved and the satisfaction level is very dissatisfied, you might want to kick off a special workflow process called Turning Around a Dissatisfied Customer.



flow process.

The list can get even more interesting if you add a few layers or a bit of code. For instance, consider the following examples:

- When a case closes, you might want to send an e-mail to the client to say that his case is closed and include three questions. When he responds to this e-mail, you could capture the response and update the case with his input to the specific questions.
- When a case is updated, you might check whether there are any associated activities and whether those activities are open. If the activities are open and it has been a certain amount of time, you can determine who the owner of the activity is and alert his manager.
- When a case is updated, you might want to determine whether there are any other open cases for the same customer. If there are, you can check whether the subject has similar words that might indicate a possible duplication.

Workshop

Silver Streak Developers is a company that writes software for municipal governments. It has a number of developers, a quality assurance department, and a support department that takes incoming calls. Silver Streak Developers also has a sales department that sells the company's software to municipal governments all over the country. Silver Streak Developers uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The support department uses all the service components of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Each of the company's clients has a support contract that is either a Gold or Silver level. The Silver level offers 24 incidents equally, approximately 24 calls a year, and the Gold level support contract offers 50 hours of service. Customers of Silver Streak can send email messages to support@silverstreak.com, and a support person accepts requests from the support queue as soon as he is available. The support person creates a case, associates the e-mail message, and tracks all that he does to resolve the problem. When the problem is resolved, the support person closes the case.

Q&A

- **Q.** We want to capture all our time and then bill for it. Can Microsoft Dynamics CRM handle this?
- **A.** Yes. Microsoft Dynamics CRM can support capturing time against activities and the viewing of these activities, with their duration. Time can then be billed either from your accounting software or via an invoice that you enter in

Microsoft Dynamics CRM against a service product. If you need robust project billing, practice management, write-up/down auditing, or other features, you should look for an add-on to Microsoft Dynamics CRM or integrate a practice management or time and billing or project billing application with Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

- **Q.** We use RMAs and need to track when a product is returned under an RMA number. How well does Microsoft Dynamics CRM handle RMAs?
- **A.** The structure of Microsoft Dynamics CRM actually works extremely well for the management and handling of RMAs. In this scenario, the unique case number becomes the RMA number.
- **Q.** We have all our legal contracts set up in Microsoft Word. Can we associate a Word contract with the contract feature of Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- A. No. File attachments cannot be associated with contracts in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Okay, this is not really correct; yes, you can associate a Word contract with a saved note associated with the contract entity, but doing so is not recommend because Microsoft Dynamics CRM is not designed to be an incredible document library for unstructured data. For associating unstructured data, such as Word documents, with Microsoft Dynamics CRM, look into the incredible integration points for Microsoft SharePoint.

Quiz

- 1. Identify two places where time can be captured in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.
- 2. How are contracts related to cases in Microsoft Dynamics CRM?
- **3.** Why would you want to use a queue?
- **4.** If you are a proactive person, is it fairly straightforward to capture time on your activities as you complete them?
- 5. Name two ways to close an activity in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Answers

- **1.** Time can be captured on an activity, and time can be captured on a case as a function of the attached activities.
- **2.** Cases can be associated with a specific contract, and the time on a case can reduce the available time on a contract.

- **3.** Queues allow you to assign activities or send e-mail to a generic bucket, such as a support queue or a support e-mail address.
- **4.** Yes. When you complete your planned activities, you can add the duration when completing.
- **5.** You can save the activity as closed or you can use the Close Activity option on the Action menu.

Exercise

Set up the Gold and Silver contracts that Silver Streak Developers uses with its customers. In addition, set up the support queue. When the contract and queue are created, create some new activities and assign them to the queue. Then try to send an e-mail to the queue's e-mail address. Also try to create a case and assign it to the contract you just created. This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 19

Scheduling

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Scheduling in general
- Getting started with scheduling
- Viewing and managing scheduling conflicts
- Setting up scheduling

This hour focuses on scheduling people, places, groups, shared facilities, and equipment. This is a robust set of features worthy of deep thought and consideration. If scheduling is a core piece of your business, set aside extra time to master and read other material on this subject. Scheduling can be used for onsite visits, training facilities, equipment, and people who use equipment or places interactively.

Scheduling in General

Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers the ability to schedule, find conflicts, assign people, and juggle in-demand equipment and locations, such as conference rooms and training facilities.

Before we dive into scheduling, let's set some context. Some features and functions in Microsoft Dynamics CRM are more complex than others. The silver lining is that the complex functions complement more complex long-term functionality.

Scheduling is one of these more complex features, particularly when it comes to getting it all configured. So, in this lesson, you will first learn how scheduling works and all the great things you can do with scheduling. Then you will learn about the key areas of Microsoft Dynamics CRM that need to be set up for scheduling to work smoothly.

Getting Started with Scheduling

The world of Microsoft Dynamics CRM scheduling uses the term *service* as a specific item. A service is made up of a number of unique variables, including associated resources, times, and durations. In fact, you can use scheduling to organize and manage service teams, service people, service appointments, service activities, and service equipment.

The Service Calendar

The service calendar is a unique centralized calendar for services, service activities and appointments that is configured and displayed in a manner to support conflict resolution and filtering. Service activities also show up on a specific staff member's assigned calendar, which the staff member accesses by selecting My Work, Calendar.

Figure 19.1 shows the Service Calendar accessed in Microsoft Outlook.





Service activities are unique items that apply to the management of service-specific activities. They are not the same as standard activities of types such as Task, Phone Call, Appointment, for example. One way to think of a service activity is as a super-sized and complex appointment.

The service calendar is located on the Service menu, and you get to it as follows:

- 1. Select Service.
- 2. Select Service Calendar.

When you open the service calendar, you see a list of all resources in the left menu bar. These resources consist of all Microsoft Dynamics CRM users and other resources that were created, such as groups of users, equipment, or facilities. What displays in the left navigation pane is controlled by the Type drop-down menu option at the top of the calendar. Figure 19.1 shows the initial service calendar.

A Programmer's Option

You cannot customize the service calendar or change the default view in Dynamics CRM Scheduling. However, with a bit of programming expertise, you can edit the ISV.config file (which is an XML configuration document used to update the navigation structure of Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, including adding custom buttons, tabs, and menus to entity forms) to change the colors of the time blocks.

Items that are scheduled on the service calendar include service activities and appointments. Before you can schedule a service activity, you need to create the service activity. After you create the service activity, the system immediately gives you the option to schedule it. A service can also be created which groups a set of service activities into a logical unit.

Creating a Service and a Service Activity

To create a new service, follow these steps:

- **1.** Select Services from the left navigation.
- 2. Then select Services.
- **3.** Now select New (see Figure 19.2).

For each service you might also have a set of activities to perform so the following shows how to create a new specific service activity.

Example of Service vs. Service Activity

An example of a service and service activity includes a situation where you might have a service called Repair and then a set of service activities that had to be complete for the full repair to be completed.

To create a new Service activity, follow these steps:

- **1.** Select Service from the main menu.
- 2. Select the Service Calendar.





FIGURE 19.2

A service.

					Services	-
General						
Name *	Repair		Initial Status Reason	Reserved		 •
Description	Onsite Visit to re	pair the XYZ Part - Should b	e a quick fix but allowing	an hour.		
Scheduling						
Default Duration *	1 hour	~				
Start Activities Every	15 minutes	~				
Beginning At	8:00 AM	~				
Add a Selection Define the resource this service. Add Resources Add users, facilities, teams to a selection Add resource of Add resource of Add resource of Add resource of Comparison of the selected II Comparison of the selected II	n Rule s required to schedule i /equipment and nule. Groups ss to a selection rule. em elected resources or	Choose 1 Fro	ım nton			

3. Select New Activity from the top of the service calendar form (see Figure 19.3 for the Service Activity form).

Service Activ	vity			
Subject *	Onsite Visit to Repair Broken XYZ			
Service*	Sa Repair	🖾 Site		
Customers	A Store (sample)			
Resources	S Anne Stanton			
Location	[
Show Time As	Reserved			
Scheduling In	formation			
Start Time *	7/9/2011		ō ₩ 3:41 PM	
End Time *	7/9/2011		5 ♥ 4:41 PM	
Duration	1 hour			
All Day Event				
Notes				
Add a new note	hu			
Add a new note	aa			
Add a new note	ia			

FIGURE 19.3 Service activity.

The subject field of the service activity is required. This field can be used as a category to help classify this particular service activity from a list of many other similar service activities.

Perhaps you want to create a service activity for inspecting a corporate office. Your subject could become Inspect the Corporate Headquarters. Your service is the standard service you created, called Inspection. Customer or Customers are the customers who require this service activity. Resources are resources that are not only available but also follow business rules. For instances resources are available within a specific chosen site or sites is selected.

If all the fields are not properly set up, you will receive an error message when trying to save the service. To fix this type of error, you select each of the lookup items and look at the details behind them. In this example, the resource was not associated with the selected site, and the business rule requires that the resource be a resource from the configured and selected site. When it comes to scheduling, the setup can trip up users, so it's important to make sure you review all of your setup. This includes sites (even if you have only one), users, and resources.

When scheduling a service activity, you have a number of choices to consider. During scheduling, you can check whether the selected resources are available and what the available times are. If you enter a specific time, you can select the option Check Available to search and determine whether the resources are available at the time selected. You will be presented with a list of available options that you can then select from for scheduling. Figure 19.4 shows a list of available times.

	Sector, He			all Microsof	Departice CBM			Darley B	
🖬 Snagt 🖬 🖽		Service Admity Cur	towice.					MANUT O	
Favorites 🥼 🖗 I at Busi g User Anne Stanton - Microsof	ness Analy R Dynamic	Mark Save Save X So	ener & Nerver	Schedule or	P 2 State		Process Report	an Microsoft D lage - Safet	yn_ • Toek • Aan
Sentice Calendar	1		Lange and service		CITIL ALLERY	CONTRACT			
	Change	Enformation Enformation	New	9Y ()					
nice Appointment Schedule Solly	+ Cantha	L Details	1			1.1			
New York	Arte	Related	Schedule Service Ac	tvity Webpage Dialo	1				in the
ervice @ 🖳	Search Pa	4 Common	M https://conducty.co	dynamics.com/sm/s	Sutyn hedding's chedding	pilolog.exps?Activity6d+8A	clicityTypeCodex425	4.	-
Cases Accounts Contacts	10	Australity	Select the customers, s available times, and ch	ctivity ervice, and resources for ck Schedule.	this activity. Select the date,	time, and duration, and cit	k Find Acalable Time	. Select the time you want from	the list of
Cantracto		During Sections	Custamers					Form Assistant	
Products			terest in the second second					Form Assistant Help	
Geats			Server -					Form Assistant Help	
Goal Metrics Ballus Cuaries			100					Select a lookup field.	
			Requested Time						
			Start Date	As Sean as Passible					
			Start Time	Range of Times	•	8.00 AM	00 PM		
			Duration*		1	P Use Default Duration			
			Available Times		Fed Available Times				
			Service	Resources	Sta	s Scheduled	Start Schedu	red End	
g Workplace D Sales					The second	s are assilicite in this verse.			
Marketing			0-0 of 0 p selected					16.4	Fage3 >
Service	-		Page					- Interference	Cancel


Notice that in Figure 19.4 you can see three different windows. This occurs during scheduling when you are trying to schedule a service activity that does not exist. The system prompts you for scheduling information, and it prompts you for the information for the service activity that you are scheduling. A more logical approach is to create the service activity and then schedule it.

Viewing and Managing Scheduling Conflicts

After service activities are created and scheduled, you can use the scheduling calendar to check for conflicts:

- 1. From the scheduling calendar, choose the view of data you are interested in.
- Click the Show Conflicts icon at the top of the screen, as shown in Figure 19.5. Conflicts in people's schedules show up in the calendar with a red box around them.



- **3.** Choose View Service Activities from the Type drop-down to view conflicts between specific service activities.
- 4. Confirm that Show Conflicts is turned on (see Figure 19.5).

Setting Up Scheduling

Setup does not have to be done more than once, and for those working with a Microsoft Dynamics CRM partner, part of your project might be finalizing and configuring the scheduling functionality of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. In case it is not,

FIGURE 19.5 Scheduling conflicts. this section goes through each section of Microsoft Dynamics CRM system configuration that needs to be configured for scheduling to work smoothly.

Defining Staff Availability

The first step in setting up scheduling is to double-check and configure staff people's work hours. To do so, follow these steps:

- **1.** Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Administration.
- 3. Choose Users.
- 4. Choose a specific user.
- 5. From the left menu bar, select Work Hours (see Figure 19.6).



FIGURE 19.6 The work hours calendar.

Figure 19.7 shows the work hours calendar as it appears when first accessed. To configure work hours, follow these steps:

- 1. Select Set Up.
- 2. Choose New Weekly Schedule.
- 3. Drill down on the blue words Work Hours.
- 4. Enter the Work Hours for the user's workday.





In Figure 19.8, the work hours are entered as 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., with 1/2 an hour for lunch.



The point of adding in work hours for people you want to schedule is that, once this is configured, scheduling becomes much more intelligent. If you try to schedule someone during her break, the system will notice this and warn you.



Quick Exercise

Spend some time adding some unique work hours to your system for practice. Consider this your warm-up and stretching exercise for the following sections. If you find that the system is being uncooperative, don't forget you can exit the work hours calendar and then return.

Defining Resource Groups, Equipment, and Locations

After the staff is correctly configured for scheduling, the other items referenced from the scheduling functions need to be set up. Let's tackle resource groups. A resource group is made up of any combination of users, equipment, facilities, and teams. To set up a resource group, follow these steps from the main menu:

- 1. Select Settings.
- 2. Select Business Management.
- **3.** Select Resource Groups.
- 4. Click New.

Figure 19.9 shows getting started defining a resource group. When creating a new resource group, you are selecting from users, facilities, equipment, and teams, so if you are going to create groups that include facilities, equipment, and teams, take a minute and set these up as well. Figure 19.10 shows the resource group defined and saved.

	Resource Group: New -	Microsoft Dynamics CRM	Windows Internet Expl	xer	0	• ×
)	https://crmlady.crm.dy	mamics.com/sm/resources	proups/edit.aspx?_Create	FromId=%7b8098FA85-2671-6011	8D6E-1CC1DEE89AA8%7d8c	Cri 🔒 📄
nced	File 🛃 🔂 Save an	d Close 📓				😧 Help •
Resource Groups	Resource Group:	New				
Search for scords	Information	* General				
😼 New 🧃 🍙 Rublish 🛛 🕽	K U	Name*	1	Business Unit	CRMLady	
Name A	Related	Description				
	Common Resources Gonnections					
	During Sensions					
	Status: New					
0.0.000.0.0000				Internet Protected Mode: Off		100% •



```
By the
Way
```



Setting Up Facilities and Equipment

To set up facilities and equipment, follow these steps:

- 1. Select Settings.
- **2.** Select Business Management.
- Select Facilities/Equipment.
- 4. Click New.

Figure 19.11 shows a brand-new facility, and Figure 19.12 shows more details on the facility after it has been configured. Notice that facilities and equipment also have a number of associated items, including available work hours (when the facility or equipment is available for scheduling) and services, which also need to be configured.

The configured facility in Figure 19.12 is a training center associated with the corporate headquarters. Resources associated with this facility can include a specific team of staff members, training materials, equipment (such as a projector), and more.

A resource

and saved.





File	ose 🦙 📑 🐀 Ac	tions +						0 H
Facility/Equipment: Co	orporate Offices							
nformation		-						
General	Monthly View							
Related	Set Up -	K More Acti	ons •					
Common				↓ July, 2011	•			
Work Hours	Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday	2
Connections	26	27	28	29	30	1	2	-
Audit History	All Day	ni Day	🎽 All Day	All Day	nii Day	all Day	all Day	
Service								
Services								
露 Resource Groups	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	- 11
rocesses	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	
G Workflows			_					
📰 Dialog Sessions								
	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	- 11
	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	
			(<u>.</u>		<u>.</u>		(<u>.</u>)	
	17	10	10	20	21	22	22	- 11
	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	
	<u></u> ,,,							
	24	25	26	27	20	20	20	
	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	All Day	
	<u>.</u> ,						ouy	
								-



Set Up Services

To set up services, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Business Management.

- 3. Choose Services.
- 4. Click New.

Figure 19.13 shows access to services, and Figure 19.14 shows the first tab used in creating a new service. When you create a new service, you define associated required resources, default duration, a default status for when the service is applied to a specific schedule activity, and the scheduled activity creation interval.





Required resources Required Resources	have not been selec	ted for one	or more selection rules.	To complete the	rules, click
General					
Name *	Basic Training		Initial Status Reason	Reserved	
Description					
Sebaduline					
Default Duration *	1 hour				
Start Activities Every	15 minutes	~			
Beginning At	8:00 AM	~			
Required Resou	rces				
Common Tasks		🖸 🏠 Ch	oose 1 From The same si	te From < 🔔 Cli	ck to select C
Add a Selection	n Rule es required to schedule	Ĺ <u>^</u>	Click to add Resources,	Resource Group	os or a Select



Figure 19.15 shows the second tab used in creating a new service. This form is more difficult, but you can master it. The system is looking for a few variables to associate with some business rules. When you're adding this service to a schedule, where are resources found? From what site are they drawn? If you click the word *site*, you can choose the total number of sites to look at and how many resources to select from that site. Figure 19.15 shows what the entry looks like.

- New								
Required resources	have not been sele	ected for one	or more selectio	on rules. To complete th	ne rules, click Req	uired Resources.		
General Name * Description	Basic Training			initial Status Reaso	n Reserved		-	-
Scheduling								
Default Duration *	1 hour		M					
Start Activities Every	15 minutes		×					
Beginning At	8:00 AM		~					
Required Resou	rces	TT It's Chi	bose 1 From The	same site From s. 1. C	lick to select Out	antitya	1	
Common Tasks	n Rule es required to schedule		click to add Re	r same site From « 🏝 C sources, Resource Gro dit a Selection Rule '	Click to select Qui ups or a Selection Webpage Dialog	ntity» h Rule		
Common Tasks	n Rule as required to schedule 5 Vequipment, and		Click to add Re	t same sile From < 1, 0 sources, Resource Gro dit a Selection Rule 1 https://crmlady.crm.dy	lick to select Qui ups or a Selection Webpage Dialog mamics.com/SM	antity> a Rule) //ResourceSpecs/Ri	esourc 🔒	1
Common Tasks	rces in Rule as required to schedule s Unpulpment, and in rule. Groups	E 🔅 On	Click to add Re	same site From « A sources, Resource Gro sources, Resource Gro it a Selection Rule t ttps://crmlady.crm.dy t a Selection Rule a Selection Rule.	Click to select Qui ups or a Selection Webpage Dialog mamics.com/SM	antityz a Rule i //ResourceSpecs/R/	esourc 🔒	
Common Tasks	rces in Rule as required to schedule s Urequipment, and on rule. Groups ps to a selection rule.	C O	Click to add Re	e same site From « (1) sources, Resource Gro Jit a Selection Rule ' https://crmlady.crm.dy t a Selection Rule a Selection Rule. http *	Click to select Qui ups or a Selection Webpage Dialog mamics.com/SM	nntity> n Rule) //ResourceSpecs/Ri	esourc	
Required Resour Common Tasks	In Rule as required to schedule subojoment, and note. Groups ps to a selection rule. htem		Click to add Re	e same site From « (Å), e sources, Resource Gro dit a Selection Rule ' ttps://crmlady.crm.dy t a Selection Rule a Selection Rule. stilly *- iption	Click to select Qui ups or a Selection Webpage Dialog mamics.com/SM	nntity» = Rule) //ResourceSpecs/R	esourc	
Common Take Add a Selection Defice the ressore to a solution of the ressore add selection Add selection Add sessure prod Add Resource Add sessure prod Table Selected II	n Rule as required to schedule as unovidences, and on vole. Groups ps to a selection rule. here		Click to add Re Ecities to add	e same site From « (L) sources, Resource Gro it a Selection Rule titps://crmiady.crm.dy a Selection Rule a Selection Rule. Nidy * inption	Click to select Qui ups or a Selection Webpage Dialog mamics.com/SM	antity» Rule) //ResourceSpecs/R	esourc 🔒	
Required Resour Common Yaka Mdd a Selectio Defeo the resource this area. Add Resource Add Resource Add Resource pro- Add Resource pro- Ad	n Rule as required to schedule as unovidence, and Groups go to a schedulo nuie. here		Click to add lie Click	same site From < 1 () sources, Resource Gro Sit a Selection Rule 1 https://cmlady.cml dy a Selection Rule. a Selection Rule. http* top Site	Click to select Qui ups or a Selection Webpage Dialog marnics.com/SM	antity» Rule) //ResourceSpecs/R	esourc A	
Required Resour Common Table M dda 4 Selectio Defension services M dda Resource Add Resource pro- Add	n Ruic as required to schedule as required to schedule as (Footphament, and mole. Groups get to a schedulential team		Click to add lie Click to add lie Edit Edit Cate Quar Desci	source; life From ~ (1), or source; it resource Groo source; it resource Groo ttps://crmlady.crm.dy ttps://crmlady.crm.dy a Selection Rule, a Selection Rule, stay * inption tion Site duling Details	Click to select Qui upp or a Selection Webpage Dialog mamics.com/SM	nntitys ; Rule) //ResourceSpecs/Ri	esourc A	



Choose one resource from the same site. In this example, you can associate this rule with the corporate training center, and there is only one corporate training center, which is not located at multiple sites.

In Figure 19.16, you associate a resource group of trainers and determine that, when scheduling this service, a person must choose three trainers out of a group of five different people (users).

When you select the specific people (users) and try to save, the system asks if these particular people (users) should be saved and associated with a resource group.



Now that you have created one service, you should take some time to set up a few more services. Examples include the following:

- An onsite visit to fix something—What is being fixed? Who and what skills do they need to fix it? What tools are needed? Where are the tools located? If your company has a service truck that includes an inventory of tools, for instance, then scheduling either the truck or an associated tool might be of interest.
- ► A demonstration—This service requires a special demonstration laptop, a projector, a sales engineer, and a salesperson.
- ► A cleaning service—This service requires cleaning supplies, a companyowned vacuum cleaner, and a cleaning person.

Figure 19.17 shows a list of services.

You can deactivate a service, or you can delete services in bulk. Therefore, you have some flexibility in how you initially set up services. Just be careful that you don't use a service that you then delete because the system will prevent you from deleting services that have already been used.

Figure 19.18 shows the specific settings that need to be configured in order for scheduling to function properly.



Services		
earch for records		P View: Active Services
🔓 New 🛛 🎿 🗧 🛛 🍕 Run Workflow 📆 Start Dialog 🗍	More Actions -	
Name A	Duration	
🚰 Repair	1 hour	
Training Services	1 hour	

FIGURE 19.17

A list of services.





Workshop

Carla Brown is the CEO of a large cleaning business with a staff of 200 people. Her company, Corporate Cleaning Inc., specializes in cleaning corporate offices all over the city. Corporate Cleaning Inc. has a fleet of trucks, including one rug-cleaning truck, and various equipment that is used to service customers (for example, vacuum cleaners, bundled cleaning buckets that include various rags, brushes, and small brooms, and cleaning supplies for wood and glass). In addition to the equipment needed to service its clients, Corporate Cleaning has both full-time and temporary staff. In addition, it has students who work hourly, mostly during the summer months. Carla Brown uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM to keep track of all 200 staff members and their associated equipment, assigned vehicles, and when staff are unavailable to work at a client site.

Q&A

- Q. We have a team of five people who often handle work orders in the field. Can we use scheduling to keep track of who they are visiting and when?
- **A.** Yes. Microsoft Dynamics CRM's scheduling functionality allows you to track who is where and when and who needs to be where and when.
- Q. Can resource groups have more than just people associated with them?
- A. Yes. Resource groups can include people, facilities, and equipment.
- Q. We ran into numerous errors when trying to use scheduling. What is happening?
- **A.** You have likely not completed the configuration for scheduling, and all the pieces that you need for your schedules are not available.

Quiz

- **1.** What is unique about a service activity?
- 2. Do you have to set up work hours if you are not using scheduling?
- 3. What items are scheduled on the service calendar?
- 4. Can you delete a service activity that has been scheduled and completed?
- 5. Name three different categories of things that can be scheduled.

Answers

- **1.** The service activity has additional attributes (fields) that are scheduling oriented. One way to think of a service activity is as a supersized and complex appointment.
- 2. No. You do not need to set up work hours if you are not using scheduling.
- **3.** Items that are scheduled on the service calendar include service activities and appointments.
- 4. No. You cannot delete a service activity that has been scheduled and completed.
- 5. People, equipment, and facilities can be scheduled in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Exercise

Set up the equipment and 10 of the staff resources that Carla Brown uses in her business. Create the carpet-cleaning truck and a few staff resources, including at least two students whose schedule are different from 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. Set up a student, Jackie Tee, who works only on Tuesdays and Wednesdays from 5 p.m. to 12 a.m.

Configure the rest of the requirements for scheduling, based on Carla Brown's business model. After scheduling is configured, schedule Jackie Tee to clean a specific office every Tuesday evening from 6 p.m. to 9 p.m. and a different client's office from 9 p.m. to 12 a.m. This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 20

Utilizing the Power of Microsoft Excel with CRM Data

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- ► Key concepts and caveats
- Exporting the right data: Using Advanced Find
- Exporting a static worksheet
- Exporting a dynamic worksheet
- Exporting data for PivotTable analysis
- Adding outside data
- Reusing and sharing your spreadsheets
- Using a dashboard
- Using Excel to edit and clean up records

Now that you understand how to enter data in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, it's time to learn how to get that data out. This hour covers using the power of Microsoft Excel to work with data from Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Key Concepts and Caveats

There are many reasons for analyzing data. Microsoft Dynamics CRM makes it easy to specify criteria for which records to include and then export the list to a Microsoft Excel worksheet or PivotTable. After the data is in Excel, all the power of Excel is there to analyze your data. When you're ready to export a list of data to Excel, Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers some basic choices: static or dynamic and table or PivotTable. A static spreadsheet has no connection to Microsoft Dynamics CRM after it is created. The data is extracted and saved, and a user can't tell that it was created from Microsoft Dynamics CRM. A dynamic spreadsheet, on the other hand, retains its connection to Microsoft Dynamics CRM. It refreshes the included data from Microsoft Dynamics CRM when it is opened, and it maintains the data security that exists in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

An export to a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet can be either static or dynamic:

- Static—A static spreadsheet is a snapshot of the data at the moment you created it, and it does not change when data in Microsoft Dynamics CRM changes. Static spreadsheets are great for one-time tasks and for capturing data at the end of a reporting period. They are also useful when you need to present the data to someone who is not a Microsoft Dynamics CRM user.
- Dynamic—A dynamic spreadsheet is connected directly to Microsoft Dynamics CRM data. When data in Microsoft Dynamics CRM changes, the data in the dynamic spreadsheet also changes. Dynamic spreadsheets are useful when you want to do the work to design the spreadsheet once and then analyze or share the data as the data changes.

Because of the security built into Microsoft Dynamics CRM, the data in an exported spreadsheet includes only records that the person who exports the data has permission to see. This is a key difference between the two types of spreadsheets:

- In a static spreadsheet, anyone who opens the spreadsheet can see the data, whether or not the person has access to Microsoft Dynamics CRM. You therefore need to be careful if you create a static spreadsheet with confidential data: Anyone who can open the file can view the data. A static spreadsheet does not require a connection to the CRM server.
- In a dynamic spreadsheet, only Microsoft Dynamics CRM users with the right security can view the data. When a dynamic spreadsheet is opened, users are prompted to refresh the data. Only data they have permission to see is included. This means that one dynamic spreadsheet can be used by many people, so someone with more Excel experience can design a complex PivotTable or worksheet, and each user can use it to analyze his or her own data. It also means that the data is refreshed whenever the user wants, allowing a user to use the spreadsheet as a report independently of the CRM interface. A dynamic spreadsheet requires a connection to the CRM server to run properly.

Excel has two ways of presenting data: tables and PivotTables. Either can be turned into a chart:

- A table provides a flat view of your data, using rows and columns.
- PivotTables are interactive: They are designed for the viewer to experiment with alternative ways of looking at the data.

Every time you export to Excel, Microsoft Dynamics CRM asks you to make a choice between exporting to a worksheet (table) or a PivotTable. Figure 20.1 shows the difference between these two formats.

This hour doesn't make you an expert on Microsoft Excel, but it does help you figure out how to get information into Microsoft Excel.

File Home Insert Page	Formi Data	Revie View Add	I Powe 🛇 🌘	9 - P	3
A15 • (• f _x	Cardinal Health			
A	В	C	D	E	T
1 Account Name	Address 1	: StateIndustry			
13 Advanced Solutions & C	on: CA	Manufacturin	g		
14 Aeropres Corporation	LA	Manufacturin	g		1
15 Cardinal Health	IL	Public Admir	nistration		
16 J Walter Inc	CT	Retail Trade			٦
17 LP Archery Products LL	C MI 49519-1	1766 Retail Trade			
18 Experiogix, Inc.	CA	Services			
19 Chalk & Vermilion Fine	Art: CT	Services			
20 The Partner Channel	ND	Services			
21 Courthouse Retrieval Sy	ste TN	Services			
A A N Account Advan	and Find Minu	(97) Dia	100		17

10100	A2	- (£	Count of A	COUL	t Namo	-
	AS	• (Jx	Count of A	ccour	it ivame	
4	A			В	C	D	E
Indus	stry		Services	Τ.			
2							-
Cour	nt of Accourt	t Name	Address 1:	State/Prov J			1
			IL		IN	Grand Total	
Tota				4	2	6	
;							

FIGURE 20.1 An Excel worksheet and an Excel PivotTable.

Required Software

If you use Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, to export to dynamic spreadsheets or PivotTables, you must also use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client. This is available as a free download for all Microsoft Dynamics CRM users.



Finding Your Way in Microsoft Dynamics CRM

You need to know where the Advanced Find button is and where the Export to Excel button is. These buttons are in the same spot no matter what entity (record type) you are looking at. Figure 20.2 shows the location of these buttons.

🧲 🖓 👝 wine - mine	ar an Arange and the second second second	allow hand		Q-Adx	*
File Accounts View	All Microsoft Dyne	mics-CRM			
New Edit X Deactivate	Merge Detect Detect Merge Logicates Sene Direct Add to Marketing Conn	tet Assign 🔐 E-mail a Link .	C Start Workflow Dialog	Run Data -	Advan
Records	Collabori	ite	Process	Data	
Workplace 🚮 🤤					
4 My Work	Accounts: Active Accounts -		Searc	th for records	
Dashboards	Account Name -	Main Phone Ad	dress 1: City Prin	nary Contact	E-n2
Activities	A Store (sample)	555-0136 Re	nten 🥑	Adrian Dumitrascu (sam	ex *
Calendar	Advanced Components (sample)	555-0135 Da	llas 🥪	Adrian Dumitrascu (sam	es
1 Imports	Carlo and the second se	555-0162 Sa	nta Cruz 🛛 😑	Cat Francis (sample)	50
Duplicate Detection	Easic Company (sample)	555-0174 Lyr	boown	Cathan Cook (sample)	50
Articles	📰 📄 Best o' Things (sample)	555-0145 Lo	s Angeles 🛛 💮	Darren Parker (sample)	50
Reports	Elue Company (sample)	555-0131 Re	dmond 🛛 😸	Forrest Chand (sample)	50
Announcements	ClickDimensions	Atl	anta 📀	Brad Burks	br.
Workplace	CRM-Resultants	Hil	versum		
	🗌 📄 📔 Designer Goods (sample)	555-0197 Re	dmond 😑	Eva Corets (sample)	50
MI Sales	Elemental Goods (sample)	555-0127 Mi	ssoula 📀	Gabriele Cannata (samp	50
Marketing	Endeavour Solutions	Lo	uisville		
A conside	Cold Coast Advisors				
	•				•
L. Settings	1 - 23 of 23 (0 selected)			H 4 Pag	e1 }
Resource Center	AIL # A B C D E F G H I	JKLMNOI	ORST	UVWXX	7

Exporting the Right Data: Using Advanced Find

If you're not exporting the right data, no fancy Excel trick will get you useful information. To get the right data, you need to learn how to use Microsoft Dynamics CRM Advanced Find to do two things:

- Filter data to exactly the data you want
- Display all the columns you need

Try It Yourself

Limiting the Data Displayed

When exporting to Excel, you can limit the data you export, or you can export all data and filter it in Excel after the data is there. The approach you take will vary, depending on the amount of data you have and the specific analysis task you're working on.

Here's how to limit the data in Microsoft Dynamics CRM before you export.

398

▼

Using Advanced Find

The easiest way to use Advanced Find is to go to a preexisting view that is close to what you want and then click Advanced Find. This defaults to that existing view and offers you the chance to modify it because most of the Advanced Find criteria you need will already be defined.

From anywhere in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you can click the Advanced Find button to open Advanced Find.

To limit the data displayed, you select the primary entity (record type) to search and then specify search criteria. You can have criteria on the entity (record type) you are searching, such as only records with a status of Open, or you can have criteria based on related entities (records), such as entities (records) that have open activities associated.

You can be specific in your search. For example, if you were getting organized for a business trip to businesses with zip codes starting with 980, you could use the query shown in Figure 20.3 to look for active contacts that you own that are in a zip code beginning with 980 that have activities due in the next four weeks.

				×
(dyna 🔎	- 🔒 C 🗙 🗾 Dashboa	rds: 👍 Advance	d× 💼 🕅 ★ 🌣
File Advanced Find	세 Micro	soft Dynamics CRM	1	Parent Huberburg @
Query Saved Results New Show	Save As Edit Columns Save Edit Properties View	Clear (ﷺ Group AND (ﷺ Group OR (ﷺ Details Query	Download Fetch XML Debug	
Look for: Contacts	▼ Use Sa	ved View: [new]		•
Owner Status Created On Address 1: ZIP/Postal Code Select	<u>Equals Current User</u> <u>Equals</u> <u>Last X Months</u> Begins With	<u>Active</u> <u>6</u> 980		
 <u>Activities (Regarding)</u> 				
✓ <u>Due Date</u> <u>Select</u>	<u>Next X Weeks</u>	2		

There are several things to note about specifying criteria. First, each criteria line has three possible parts:

Field to search—For example, in the second line, you're looking for records that have a Status field with Active as the value.





- Operator—In the third line, the operator is Last X Months, and in the Value column, you specify the number of months.
- Value—This is displayed in the third column. If the operator includes the value in it, such as the Equals Current User operator in the first line, no separate value part is displayed.

Second, notice the shaded area labeled Activities (Regarding). This shaded bar indicates that any criteria below it are from different entities (record types). In this case, the criteria are from the Activities entity (record type), and you're looking for activities due within two weeks that are associated with the contacts.

By searching for criteria from multiple entities (record types), you can find exactly the data you need.

You need to know a few details about specifying criteria:

- ▶ You can group criteria.
- Group AND specifies that all the grouped criteria must be true.
- Group OR specifies that only one of the grouped criteria must be true for a record to be included.
- You can add multiple values in one criterion. These are processed as an OR; if a record has any of the multiple values, it will be included in the results.

In Figure 20.4, notice the little arrow next to each criteria row. Select it to see the options.

Advanced Find - Microsoft Dynamics CRM - Windows Internet Explorer Microsoft Dynamics CRM Pierre Huls Advanced Find
 Image: New Save
 Image: Save As
 Image: Save 2 -Saved Results New Save Download Fetch Query Show Debug View Query ▼ Use Saved View: My Active Accounts Look for: Accounts - Owner Equals Current User - Status Equals Active - Created On Last X Months 6 ← Address 1: ZIP/Postal Code Begins With 980 Select Activities (Regarding) - Due Date Next X Weeks 4 Select 100% -



After you select a row, you can group it with other rows. Figure 20.5 shows the two City clauses grouped together.



FIGURE 20.5
Grouped
criteria.

If you are selecting criteria from a list, multiple values can be separated with a semicolon. Figure 20.6 shows grouped criteria.

Advanced Find	- Microsoft Dynamics CRM		_ D X
File Advanc	Microsoft Dynamics CRM ed Find		These Industry 🖉
Query Saved Views	New Save As Save Columns Edit Columns	Clear [E Group AND [E Group OR Details	📑 Download Fetch XML
Show	View	Query	Debug
Look for: Cont	acts Use : Equals Curren	Saved View: My Active Co	ontacts 💽
✓ <u>Status</u> Select	Equals	Active;Inact	tive



Task: Displaying the Exact Columns You Need

How you specify columns depends on which export method you choose:

- ▶ For static worksheets, select columns in Advanced Find before exporting.
- For PivotTables, select columns in Advanced Find first or click Select Columns in the Export dialog box.
- For dynamic worksheets, select columns in Advanced Find or click Add Columns in the Export dialog box.

First, we'll look at how to select columns in Advanced Find.

For example, perhaps you are preparing print mailing labels for a selected set of lead records collected from a trade show. Here's what you do:

- **1.** From the Leads area, open the Open Leads view and click Advanced Find.
- 2. Add your criteria for Lead Source.
- **3.** Click Edit Columns, Add Columns to add the columns necessary for a mailing. Figure 20.7 shows the Add Columns dialog.



- 4. Click OK to select the lead columns.
- 5. Click Add Columns again, but this time, in the Record Type drop-down list, select a type of record. (Notice that you can select from the main record type you already picked or from related record types.) Select the Owner record type, select the First Name column, and click OK.

By the Way

Data from Multiple Record Types

You can select columns from multiple record types to include in the output. For example, if you are exporting leads, you can include the name of the source campaign or the name of the referring account.

The order of the columns in the Advanced Find results is the order in which the data will be displayed in Excel, so you might decide to reorder the columns using the green arrows, shown in Figure 20.8. While you're at it, you should delete any columns you don't need in your spreadsheet. Don't worry about sorting; that's easier to do in Excel after you export your data.

402

FIGURE 20.7

to display.

Selecting addi-

tional columns

ime Company Name	Specific Source	Lead Source City	Topic	Lead F	Common Tasks
					00
					Configure Sorting
	View results are dis	played here.			Add Columns
					Change Properties
					B Remove

FIGURE 20.8 Reorganizing or removing columns.

Exporting a Static Worksheet

Now that you have exactly the data you want to analyze in your Advanced Find results, it's time to export the data to an Excel spreadsheet. You might do this, for example, to organize mailing information for a bulk mailing.

Try It Yourself

Exporting Data for a Bulk Mailing

After you have the columns you need, such as name and address information for mailing labels, follow these steps:

- **1.** Click the Export to Excel button.
- **2.** Examine the choice of options.
- **3.** Select Static Worksheet with Records from This Page or select Static Worksheet with Records from All Pages in the Current View. (The choice here depends on what records you want in the spreadsheet.)

Figure 20.9 shows all the choices possible when you export to Excel.

elect the type of worksheet to export.					
Use this type of worksheet:					
Static worksheet with records from this page	e				
C Static worksheet with records from all pages	s in the current view				
O Dynamic PivotTable	Select Columns				
O Dynamic worksheet	Edit Columns				
Make this data available for re-importing by inc	cluding required column headings				





Don't Panic on Message

When you click Open, don't panic when you get the dialog box shown in Figure 20.10: It will happen every time you open an Excel file you exported from Dynamics CRM. Dynamics CRM actually exports an XML file that Excel knows how to open. Save the file and then open it.

FIGURE 20.10 Warning about file type.

	The file you are trying to open, 'Lead%20Advanced%20Find%20View[1].xls', is in a different format than speci
A	by the file extension. Verify that the file is not corrupted and is from a trusted source before opening the file. Do

You'll see a dialog box prompting you to open or save the file.

When your data is in Excel, the column header will show you when the data is from a related record type. For example, the First Name (Owner) column comes from the Owner record type.

Figure 20.11 shows you the output in Excel.

Home Insert Page Lay	out Formulas Data Review \	/iew Add-Ins Power	ivot 🗠 🍞 🗆 📴	
Paste v v Clipboard ⊊ Anal v 10 B I ∐ v A^A B · Anal v 10 B J ∐ v A^A Font	·	Y A Brainsert + Styles Styles Styles Cells	Sort & Find & G * Select Editing	
A2 • (*	fx Jim Johnson			
A	B	С	D	
1 Name	Company Name	Specific Source	Lead Source Ci	
2 Jim Johnson	Acme. Inc	Web	Fall 2011 Page W	
3 Jane Jones	Contoso	Web	Main Landing Ho	
4 Yvonne McKay	Fabricam Images	Web	Contact Us Page	
5 Willis Johnson	Road Runner Systems	Magazine Ad	Return Card Ci	
6 Navin Jones	Art School	Unknown	Phone Call Le	

FIGURE 20.11 Source of data displayed in column heading

in Excel.

Now that the data is in Excel, you can do a mail merge to Microsoft Office Word to print letters or labels. You can even sign each letter with the lead owner's first name because you included that in the columns you exported.

Watch Out!

Selecting the Right Format

When you save any spreadsheet created by exporting from Microsoft Dynamics CRM, by default, it is saved in XML Spreadsheet 2003 (*.xml) format. When you save it, if you're using Excel 2007, save it in the format Excel Workbook (.xlsx), or if you're using Excel 2003, save it in the format Excel 97-2003 Workbook (.xls). This will prevent you from getting a warning message every time you open the spreadsheet.

Exporting a Dynamic Worksheet

If you want to create a spreadsheet that you can reuse as data changes in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, create a dynamic worksheet. A dynamic worksheet updates the contained data from Microsoft Dynamics CRM each time you open it. This is helpful when you want to put some time into formatting a worksheet and don't want to have to redo this work each time new data is added. It's also an essential feature if you're creating a dashboard that shows current data whenever it is viewed.

Task: Exporting Data to Chart

To export data to a dynamic spreadsheet, follow these steps:

- **1.** Start from an Advanced Find view that includes all the records you want to export. For example, if you want to see a chart showing opportunities grouped by size, you could start by exporting the My Open Opportunities view.
- **2.** Select the Dynamic Worksheet option. Notice that the Edit Columns button becomes available.
- 3. Click Edit Columns.
- 4. Select and order the columns you want in your table.
- 5. Click Export after your columns are set.

Before you see your data, there are three more sequential steps:

- **1.** You'll be prompted to open or save the file. Go ahead and open the file and click OK when you see the message that the file is in a different format than specified by the file extension.
- 2. With some versions of Excel and some operating systems, you might see a message "Security Warning: Data connections have been disabled," and no data will be visible. If you receive this message, click the Options button and select Enable This Content.
- **3.** If you are using Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, the first line of the spreadsheet will say, "To view and refresh dynamic data, Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook Client must be installed." If you have the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client installed, click the Data tab and then click the Refresh from CRM button.

After you have the data exported, you can use Excel to create whatever charts you need. Each time you open your worksheet, the data will refresh from Microsoft

Dynamics CRM, or you can use the Refresh from CRM commands on the data ribbon to refresh the data.

Figure 20.12 shows a dynamic spreadsheet with the Refresh from CRM ribbon.

File Home Insert Pag	e Layout Formulas Data Review	View Add-	Ins Power	rPivot 🗠 🕜 💳	, P
Get External Data * CRM CRM AI*	Connections 2↓ 2 ↓ Properties Edit Links nnections Sort & Filter	K Clear Reapply Advanced	Text to Columns D Da	Remove Duplicates	Dutline
A2 5 -	fx Jim Johnson				
A	В	- V	С	D	_
1 Name	Company Name	Specific	: Source	Lead Source	C
2 Jim Johnson	Acme. Inc	Web		Fall 2011 Page	e W
3 Jane Jones	Contoso	Web		Main Landing	H
4 Yvonne McKay	Fabricam Images	Web		Contact Us Pa	age
5 Willis Johnson	Road Runner Systems	Magazin	e Ad	Return Card	Ci
6 Navin Jones	Art School	Unknow	n	Phone Call	Le
2	las (mail	EL A CALL			

Exporting Data for PivotTable Analysis

Dynamic PivotTables provide a way to slice and dice your data in different ways to quickly discover patterns.

Task: Exporting a Dynamic PivotTable

By default, all the columns in a view will be available to use in a PivotTable. If you want more columns, you can either add them to your view before you export or click the Select Columns button.

When you open the exported file, you'll see your standard blank PivotTable, ready to select the data to pivot. To select the data to pivot, do the following:

- **1.** In the security message, click Options to enable viewing the content.
- 2. On the Data tab, click Refresh from CRM.

You are now ready to explore your data by using the PivotTable.

Two sheets are created for each PivotTable: Sheet1 contains the PivotTable, and the second sheet contains the raw data used by the PivotTable.

In Figure 20.13, by pivoting on the estimated close date and estimated revenue, you can see the projected income.

FIGURE 20.12 Refresh from CRM on the Data ribbon in Excel.

	🛃 🧠 - 🕞 - 📮 Op	en Opportunities (1	Technology)	2011-09-05 21_24_07Z - N	PivotTable Tools
F	ile Home Insert Pa	age La; Formula E	Data Reviev	v View Add-Ins PowerPi	Options Design 🛆 🕜 🗖 🖾
Pa	Arial B Z U ste boord G Font	10	≡ <mark>=</mark> ∄ ≅ ⊒ ∰ ⊈ ≫-• ignment	Accounting ▼ S ▼ % → * % % * % * % % * % Styles Fx Number Fx	Cells Sea Insert * Sea Tosert *
	B28 •	(* <i>f</i> x :	1255577		~
	A	В	C 📮	PivotTable Field List	▼ ×
1	Sum of Est. Revenue				
2	Est. Close Date 💌	Total		Choose fields to add to repo	rt:
3	2/28/2011	\$ 7,500.00		Name (Job Type)	Y Report Filter
4	3/31/2011	\$ 62,500.00		V Est. Close Date	
5	6/1/2011	\$ 100,000.00		Percent to Close	
0	6/30/2011	\$ 100,000.00		Fst Revenue	
1	7/15/2011	\$ 2,500.00		Conortunity Name	
8	7/30/2011 9/1/2011	\$ 25,000.00		Opportunity Contact	
3	0/1/2011	5 47,031.00		Parent Outomer (Opport	tu Davidabala
11	0/15/2011	5 35,000.00		Created On	Kow Labels
12	8/30/2011	\$ 31,600,00		Created on	Est. Close Date
13	8/31/2011	\$ 16,000,00		Owner	
14	9/1/2011	\$ 45,500,00		Currency	
15	9/28/2011	\$ 400 000 00			
16	9/30/2011	\$ 41,000,00			
17	10/1/2011	\$ 49 400 00			Column Labels
18	10/20/2011	\$ 15,000,00			
19	10/24/2011	\$ 25,000,00			
20	10/26/2011	\$ 20,000.00			
21	10/31/2011	\$ 20,000.00			
22	12/1/2011	\$ 50,000.00			
23	12/20/2011				Σ Values
24	12/30/2011	\$ 22,995.00			Sum of Est, Revenue
25	12/31/2011	\$ 103,500.00			
26	7/31/2012	\$ 900.00			
27	(blank)	\$ 39,351.00			
28	Grand Total	\$ 1,255,577.00	_		
29					Defer Lav Undate
14	Sheet2 Op	en Ol 4 III	▶ []		
Rea	ady				H 100% (



Now you're free to use Excel to analyze and format your data, knowing that the work you put into getting it just right will be usable each month as you forecast revenue from your opportunities. Figure 20.14 shows the sample PivotTable turned into a PivotChart.



FIGURE 20.14 PivotChart for opportunities.

Adding Outside Data

When you have a spreadsheet or PivotTable saved, you might want to connect the data in it to data in another spreadsheet or database. You can do so by using the advanced features of Microsoft Excel, which support establishing a data connection to another data source from the new Excel worksheet. This chapter's focus is on Microsoft Dynamics CRM, so the advanced features of Excel are not outlined.

For example, your department might have a budget model in Excel. You could connect it to your opportunities to assess whether you are on track to meet the budget numbers.

Reusing and Sharing Your Spreadsheets

To make your Excel file available to other people, you have several options:

- Add the Excel file to Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a report. This report can be available for you or for other people in your company. (See Hour 21, "Reporting and Query Basics.")
- E-mail a static or dynamic spreadsheet to other people or save it in a shared file system.
- Put the Excel file on an intranet site, such as a SharePoint dashboard.



Accessing Data

Remember, if you e-mail or save a dynamic spreadsheet, only other Microsoft Dynamics CRM users can see the data in it. And they might see different data when they open it, because they will see results based on the records that they have permission to see.

Bv the Nav

Making It Your Own/Customizing

The following tasks typically require system administrator or system customizer security roles:

- The columns that are displayed in Advanced Find by default can be customized. This changes the columns for all users in your organization.
- New system views can be defined and made available to all users.
- A Microsoft Dynamics CRM dashboard can be created using dynamic Excel spreadsheets and added to Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a report or as a web page.

Using a Dashboard

There are many ways to make a dashboard. Which one you choose depends on the needs of your company, such as how frequently you change what information you want to monitor, and whether the dashboard is used by all users or just a few. If you do not have the Excel and other tool knowledge in your company to create a dashboard, ask for help from a Microsoft Certified Dynamics CRM partner.

Using Excel to Edit and Clean Up Records

CRM 2011 adds a new feature when working with Excel. You may export to Excel, modify, and then reimport into CRM. This is commonly referred to as *data enhancement*. By using Excel's native formulas, you can improve or correct CRM data in Excel and then import the corrected data on top of the incorrect data, enhancing the quality of the information displayed in CRM. To access this function, follow these steps:

- **1.** Navigate to the Advance Find or other view of data you would like to enhance.
- 2. Click Export to Excel.
- 3. Choose Static Worksheet.
- **4.** Check the box Make Data Available for Re-importing by Including Required Column Headings.
- **5.** Save the export to a local file.
- 6. Open the file.
- 7. Make modifications to the Excel spreadsheet data.
- **8.** Save the spreadsheet, keeping the .xml 2003 format when you are prompted about whether to maintain the format.

If your export includes option sets (pick lists), you are given drop-down options. If the data is numeric, Excel formats your cells as numbers. Lookups are handled as simple text. As CRM puts data in hidden columns, it is important that you not change the layout or modify the columns in any way. Once you have cleaned up the spreadsheet data, you are ready for importing. Follow these steps to import to update existing records, using Figures 20.15 and 20.16 as a reference:



- **1.** Choose Import Data from the ribbon.
- Browse to the file. CRM will understand that this file is an update to existing records so no mapping will be required.
- **3.** Submit. Within a few minutes, the data is updated.



Template for Import

In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, a new feature has been added that allows you to download an Excel spreadsheet that contains a column for each of the fields associated with each record type. There is a data import template for each record type that can be imported. Excel data types enforce the type of data values you can add. This template also shows what columns are required fields in CRM.

To access this template, navigate to the record type you want. Then click Import and choose Import Template.





Workshop

John Brown, the sales manager from Hour 10, "Entering Data as a Salesperson," is getting ready for his quarterly meeting with the CEO. John wants to analyze patterns in how opportunities are won or lost in his territory so he can clearly communicate to his boss and so he can improve the results of his team. He creates a custom view in Advanced Find and exports it to an Excel PivotTable. After experimenting with various pivots, he finds one that clearly shows the data and turns it into a PivotChart. He fusses with the details to make it look exactly how he wants it for his PowerPoint presentation. The chart shows the three top factors in successfully winning opportunities, with the main factor being a response to the lead within 24 hours.

John saves his dynamic PivotTable in Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a report so that he can use it on a regular basis, and he embeds it in a PowerPoint presentation.

John's boss gives great feedback about his presentation and asks him to make it available to all the sales managers in the company. John shares the spreadsheet with the other managers and the CEO and decides to share it with all the salespeople. Because of the way data security is set up in the company, when each sales manager views the report, he sees just his own territory's data. When the CEO views the report, she sees the data for the entire company. When each sales representative views the data, all he sees is his own data. Because the point of analyzing data is to learn what to do differently to improve results, the sales managers get together to determine best practices based on what they have learned. They decide to implement a new sales process using workflow to make sure the recommended procedures are followed. A simple workflow is implemented that sends an e-mail to the manager if a lead hasn't been followed up within 24 hours.

Q&A

- **Q.** When I share my dynamic spreadsheet with my manager, why does she see different numbers than I do?
- **A.** Each person who opens the spreadsheet sees data that matches records that she has permission to view in CRM. If your manager can see more records than you, more records will be included.
- **Q.** If I'm using Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, why do I need the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client to export dynamic spreadsheets?
- A. Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online doesn't offer you the option of dynamic worksheet or dynamic PivotTable unless the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client is installed.
- Q. How many record types can I export at once?
- **A.** In any Advanced Find view, there is one primary record type. You can include columns from related record types. So, you can have data from many record types displayed, but only if they relate to the primary record.

Quiz

- **1.** What type of spreadsheet should you use for confidential information: static or dynamic?
- **2.** For which types of export do you need to select columns in Advanced Find before clicking the Export to Excel button?
- 3. Why should I save the Advanced Find view I used when exporting the data?

Answers

- **1.** A dynamic spreadsheet contains data that you have permission to view in CRM. After data is in the static spreadsheet, anyone who views it can see the data.
- **2.** This isn't relevant for PivotTables because you have to specify where you want the data when you open the file. If you're exporting a static or dynamic worksheet, organizing your columns in advance is important only if you plan to reuse the Advanced Find search because you can always reorganize the data in Excel.
- **3.** Saving the view lets you know what the criteria were for the records in the spreadsheet. It also makes it easier to do the same or a similar export again.

Exercise

In your Microsoft Dynamics CRM or a demo version, export contact records to Excel to do the following:

- Create an Advanced Find search that includes just the columns you need to create mailing labels.
- Create a PivotTable that you can use to analyze the city and state where your customers come from. Determine whether the percentage for each state is the same in each month.

This page intentionally left blank

HOUR 21

Reporting and Query Basics

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Getting started with reports
- Using reports
- ► Creating your own reports with the Report Wizard
- ▶ Sharing a report with other users
- Adding a file or web page as a report
- Creating report snapshots (On-Premises only)
- Tips for keeping reports organized
- ► Creating custom reports without the Report Wizard

An important part of any deployment of Microsoft Dynamics CRM is working out not only what data needs to be entered into the system but also ensuring that your system captures the right data so that you can create the required reports.

Getting Started with Reports

When we use the word *reports*, we mean formatted representations of data, with information either grouped or charted. A report is typically used for getting a quick overview of patterns in your data so that you can make a business decision or for communicating performance to other people, such as capturing end-of-quarter results.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM comes with 25 predefined reports. Depending on how much Microsoft Dynamics CRM has been customized for your organization, these reports may or may not be useful for you.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM also comes with the Report Wizard, which makes it easy to create your own reports that include charts or tables for presenting your data.



Reporting

Reporting is one area where there are significant differences between Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online and On-Premises. Several features are available only to On-Premises users, such as the following:

- Modifying the default reports
- Scheduling snapshots of reports to run at specific times
- Creating your own reports, using Microsoft SQL Server
- Using reporting services or other ODBC reporting tools and adding the reports directly to Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a report

The default reports are divided into four categories:

- Sixteen sales reports show information about accounts, competitors; quotes, orders, and invoices; neglected accounts and leads; sales history and pipeline; activities and product data by account or by contact.
- Three marketing reports show information about campaigns and lead source effectiveness.
- Four service reports show summaries of cases, information on neglected cases, service activity volume, and top Knowledge Base articles.
- One administrative report shows data on Microsoft Dynamics CRM users, such as names, titles, phone numbers, and Microsoft Dynamics CRM security roles.



Defaults

The default reports use the default names of record types and fields in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Any customizations, such as renaming cases to tickets (or adding, renaming, or removing fields), will not show up in the default reports.

An important task when you're planning to use Microsoft Dynamics CRM is to evaluate the default reports and determine what additional reports are necessary.

By defining what reports you need, you'll also think through what data you need to capture. For example, if you want to track opportunities by sales stage, you have to make sure your sales process tracks sales stage.

Using Reports

To get started with reports, you need to know where to find them, the basic anatomy of a report, and which security roles can do which report-related tasks.

Finding Your Way to Microsoft Dynamics CRM Reports

There are three ways to get to reports:

- ▶ From the Main menu:
 - 1. Select Workplace.
 - 2. Click Reports.
 - **3.** Set your View to All Reports. Most of the default reports are available from this location.
- ► From a view:
 - **1.** Select the Entity View of data you are interested in.
 - **2.** Click the Reports button on the menu bar of the view for reports that are in context of the records being viewed.

Some reports, such as Sales History, make sense only when run on all the records. Others can be run on one or a group of records.

- ► From a form or specific record:
 - **1.** Select the entity of data you are interested in.
 - 2. Specifically select one record and display the form.
 - **3.** Click the Reports button on the menu bar of the record for reports that make sense for the current record.

Figure 21.1 shows the options you get when you click the Reports button in the Active Accounts view. Only reports that make sense for accounts are displayed.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM										CR	M Admi		
File Accourt New Edit	Activate Contractivate Deactivate Delete -	Charts Add (Merge Detect Duplicates -	send Direct Add to Mark List	eting Connect	Assign	🚑 Share 🐚 Copy a Li 🙀 E-mail a L	nk . ink .	Run Workflow	Start Dialog	Run Report	Import Data -	V Ad	A sanced Find
	Records			Collaborate				Proce	55	Run on	Selected	Records	
Sales 🕜 📿 •		Accounts: My	Accounts: My Active Accounts -					Account Overview Account Summary					
Opportunitie Accounts	в	Account N	me A		555	-0136	Ren	ton	Adriar	Run on	All Recor	Account ds	one.
S Contacts			amponents (sample)		555	55-0135 Dallas		Brain	Stain I Sales History		,	one	
Competitors		Affordable	Affordable Equipment (sample)			555-0162 Santa Cruz C		Cat Fr	at Francis (sample)		50	meone_	
Products	Products		Basic Company (sample)			55-0174 Lynnwood C		Catha	athan Cook (sample)		50	meone_	
🕑 Sales Literatu	re	Best o' Thi	tgs (sample)		555	-0145	Los Angeles Da		Darren	arren Parker (sample)		50	meone_e
Quotes		Blue Company (sample)			555	-0131	Red	Redmond Forre		est Chand (sample) so		50	meone_g

FIGURE 21.1

The reports menu, shown from a list of account records, with two accounts selected.

You are offered a choice of how to run the report, as shown in Figure 21.2.

When you select The Selected Records, the report will run on just the two records you highlighted. Click Run Report to see the results.
Figure 21.3 shows the Run Report menu from within a record. When you select a report this way, the report is run just on the open record.

FIGURE 21.2 Choices for	Select Records Webpage Dialog
which records to include in a	Select Records Select which records you want to use in this report.
report.	Report: Account Summary Description: View a chronological summary of an account.
	Use these records: All applicable records Fine selected records All records on all pages in the current view
	Run Report Cancel



The Run Report menu, shown from within a record.

File Account Add Cus	tomize	Ait Microsoft	Dynamics CRM			CRM Administra Conti	ator 050
Save Save & New	Add to Marketing Conn	ect Assign	Run Workflow Dialog	Run Report -			
Save	Col	laborate	Process	Run on Current	Record		_
Information General Details Address Administration	Account Contoso Annual Revens	ie \$2,500,000.00	Street 1 State/Province	Account Ov Account Su Products By SOOP Charlonn WA	Account City Postal Co	Accounts • • Corvallis de 20939	0 3
- Activities & Notes	* General						
A Common	Client Name*	Contoso		Main Phone	555-0999		
More Addresses	Account Number			Other Phone			
Sub-Accounts	E-mail	someone@example.com		Fax			
S Contacts	Parent Account		1	Web Site			
M Relationships	Statur	Active		Owner	S. Terry Ad	lams	

The Anatomy of a Report

Each report has a default filter that contains predefined criteria for which records to include. Typical default filters include limiting the results to records owned by you or to records modified in the past 30 days.

When you run a report, the Report Filtering Criteria screen is displayed before you see any data so that you can modify the filter. This lets you change the filter every time you run a report. The less data that is in a report, the faster it will run, so you should use the filtering criteria to limit the data to just what you need to see.

The report filter uses the same user interface as Advanced Find. For each criteria row, you enter a field name, an operator, and a value. Figure 21.4 shows a typical default filter, specifying records that have been modified in the past 30 days.

oort Filtering Criteria				
ccounts	10			
Clear	Group OR			
 Modified On 	Last X Weeks	30		
Select				

FIGURE 21.4 The Report Filtering Criteria screen.

After you run a report, it's helpful to know the filtering criteria used to generate the report. This is handy before printing the report because it ensures that when you look at the printout later, you can still tell what's included. Figure 21.5 shows the summary for the previous filter.

							Annana Annana
File							😡 H
Edit Filter							
14 4 1 0	1 Þ Þi	Q 100%	•	Find Next 🛛 🔩 🔹			
Lead Sou	rce Effe	ectiveness					
Filter Sur Opportunities: Greated On: La	nmary sst X Years 1						
ead Source	N	% Total Leads	% Qualified Leads	% Became Revenue	Revenue from Won Opportunity	% Overall Revenue	Average Revenue Per Lead
				п			,

FIGURE 21.5 An expanded filter summary.

If the default filter doesn't match how everyone in your organization typically uses a report, your system administrator or system customizer can change the default filter.

Navigating in a Default Report

Most of the navigation to explore a report is at the top of the page, including buttons to page through the report and a search box to search for data in the report.

Many reports have grouping or display options at the top. When you run a report, the default grouping or display option will be used. You can select another option and click View Report to refresh it. Figure 21.6 shows these options for the Account Summary report.





No Save Button

There is no Save button on a report for saving the data in the report. In Figure 21.6, notice the box for selecting a format. You can export a report to other formats, such as PDF and web archive, and save these files. These formats are useful for capturing specific results at a specific time period.

Exporting from a report to Excel exports a formatted report. This is typically not useful for analyzing data with Excel.

Viewing Data in a Default Report

If a default report includes a chart, you can click a section of the chart to see the data behind the chart section. Figure 21.7 shows a chart produced by the Activities report.



FIGURE 21.7 A chart produced by the Activities report.

420

To see all the data used in the chart, you click Show All at the bottom of the chart. There is no easy way to get back to the chart; to do so, you need to rerun the report.

In the table of data, you can click any record to go right to the full record in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Who Can Do What with Reports?

Several permissions control who can do report-related tasks. These are defined in the Microsoft Dynamics CRM security roles:

- All default security roles give all users permission to run reports. When a person views a report, she can see only data on records that she has permission to view.
- ► All default security roles give all users permission to use the Report Wizard to create new reports for their own use.

Report Layout

Report users cannot change the layout of reports. The orientation, page size, font, and contents of reports are predefined.

Organizations that use the On-Premises version of Microsoft Dynamics CRM can have a system customizer modify these aspects of default reports, but the layout cannot be modified for reports created using the Report Wizard.

Most default security roles do not have permission to make reporting changes for all users at a company, such as adding a report for all users, renaming reports, or changing the default filter for default reports.

There are two types of reports:

- Organization-owned reports are visible to all the Microsoft Dynamics CRM users in your organization. All the default reports are, by default, organization owned.
- ► *Individual-owned reports* are visible just to the owners of the reports. As with other records in Microsoft Dynamics CRM, the owner can share individual-owned reports with specific users or teams.

Properties of a Report

Each report is stored as a record in Microsoft Dynamics CRM and has properties that define how it can be used. If you plan to add reports using the Report Wizard, you use these properties to hook up your report to the user interface so that you can run it from where you want.



🥝 http://crm2011/7id=%7b3683EBF2-4473-E011-8720-00155DA5304E%7d - Report: Account Overview - Wi... 👝 💿 💌 Ele 🛃 🛃 Save and Close 🛃 📑 Run Report 🐴 Actions -Help -Working on solution: Default Solution Report: Account Overview General Administration Source Report Type File Location Browse... Details Name* Account Overview View a one-page overview of an account Description Parent Report Parent Report Categorization Categories Marketing Reports: Sales Reports: Service Reports Related Record Types Accounts Display In Forms for related record types; Lists for related record types; Reports area Status: Existing € 100% -

First, let's look at the General tab (see Figure 21.8) for the Account Overview report.

The Source area defines the source for the report. There are three options: Existing File, Link to a Web Page, and Report Wizard Report.

The Details area provides a name and description.

The third area, Parent Report, is used by only some default reports and by report customizers using On-Premises installations of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Some complex reports have subreports, and this field keeps a subreport and parent report connected.

The most interesting area is the Categorization area. This is where you determine where in the user interface a report will be visible:

- You can select which forms and lists should include the new report on the Reports menu. If you put a value in Related Record Types, the report will be available on the Reports menu in that area of Microsoft Dynamics CRM.
- ▶ The Display In selection controls whether the reports are available in forms, records, or the main reports list. In Figure 21.8, the report will show up in the Reports area, on the Report menu in the Accounts area, and in the Report menu on an account form.

The Administration tab defines ownership settings for the report (see Figure 21.9). If you create a great report that everyone might benefit from, you can ask your system administrator or system customizer to make it organization owned.

FIGURE 21.8

The General

tab.

Report: Acc	ount Overview			Working on	solution: Default Solution
General Administ	ration				
Owner*	SYSTEM	Q			
Viewable By*	Organization C	Individual			
Created By	SYSTEM	Q	Created On	4/30/2011	9:15 AM
					0.15 AM (m)



Creating Your Own Reports with the Report Wizard

It's late, and you are just about to head out the office and go home when your manager opens your door and asks you to create a quick report. Thanks to the Report Wizard, you can create a quick report and still make it home in time for dinner.

The Report Wizard lets you create charts and tables that summarize your data. In this example, you'll use the wizard to create a chart of opportunities by state.

To start the wizard:

- **1.** Move to the Reports area.
- 2. Click New.
- 3. Choose to run the Report Wizard.

On the first page of the wizard (see Figure 21.10), select Start a New Report.

You can also use the wizard to modify a report that was created with the Report Wizard.

Default Report Exception

You cannot use the Report Wizard to modify a default report.



FIGURE 21.10 The Get Started page of the Report Wizard.

FIGURE 21.11 Specifying the record types to include in a report generated by the Report Wizard.

Repo	rt Wizard Webpage Dialog	
Get St	tarted	🕜 <u>H</u> elp
Select Select	how to start your report. t the starting point for your report	
e C	Start a new report Start from an existing report	
	Overwrite existing report	
http://cr	m2011/Contoso/Web\ 🗸 Trusted sites	Back Next Cancel

On the next page of the wizard, after specifying a name and description, you select which records to include in the report (see Figure 21.11). For this example, you can use the Opportunities record type.

Enter the name and descriptio	n of the report, and specify which record types the report will	use.
Specify the name and descrip Report name: *	Opportunities By State	
Report description:		
		L
Specify the record types to in Your choice for primary record Primary record type: *	clude in this report d type will determine which related record types can be includ Opportunities	led.

The next page of the wizard (see Figure 21.12) prompts you to define the default filter for the report. In this case, added a filter for opportunities that close in the next six months.

The next page, Layout Fields, is the most important page of the Report Wizard. This is where you select what data to put in your report and how to organize the data. The first step is deciding the big buckets for the report: how to group the information. Figure 21.13 shows grouping the report by state.





Report Wizard Webpage Dialog Lav Out Fields	🕑 <u>H</u> el	p
Select the columns, groupings, and totals to display in the report. State/Province (Potential Click here to add a grouping Click here to add a column.)	Common Tasks Common Tasks Configure Sorting Configure Sorting Add Column or Grouping Change Properties Connove Column or Grouping	•
Back	Next Cancel	
http://crm2011/Contoso/Web\ 🗸 Trusted sites Protected Mode: (Off	



As part of selecting the field to group the records by, you can also select the properties for the grouping. A shown in Figure 21.14, you can specify an ascending sort order and that you want to see a count of records in each group.

Then you need to select the fields to display in the report.

Numeric Field Needed

If you want to create a graph or chart, you need a field that is numeric, and you need to select a summary option for it. Otherwise, the Report Wizard creates only a tabular-format report.



FIGURE 21.14 Defining the group properties.

Descend human *	Detection Contempo (Account)
Record type:	
Column: "	State/Province
lime interval:	Month
Data type:	Single Line of Text
Name:	address1_stateorprovince
Sort order:	Ascending
Column width: *	100 pixels
Summary type:	Count
	None
	PERMIT

As shown in Figure 21.15, you can select the potential customer name and the estimated revenue fields. If you want a chart, you should group the data in the Estimated Revenue column.

You can change the wi	dth of the column and the type of summary information displayed.
Record type: *	Opportunities
Column: *	Est. Revenue
Data type:	Currency
Name:	estimatedvalue
Column width: *	100 pixels
Summary type:	Sum
	None Average Maximum Minimum Percent of Total Sum

Figure 21.16 shows the completed Lay Out Fields page with one level of grouping and two columns in the report.

After you set the grouping and fields for the report, the remaining wizard choices are straightforward: defining whether you want a chart in the report, and if so, defining the text for the axes for the report.

State/Province (Potential Customer) Click here to add a grouping	Common Tasks
Potential Customer Est. Revenue Click here to add a column	Configure Sorting Configure Sorting Configure Sorting Concepting Configure Sorting Concepting Configure Sorting Concepting Co

When you complete the wizard, you can run the report to see the results. If you selected to create a chart, the chart is on the first page, and the table is on the second page.

Figure 21.17 shows the Opportunities by State report just created.





FIGURE 21.16 The completed specification for the report layout. Note that charts created with the Report Wizard do not let you drill down to see the table behind the chart. Instead, you must go to the next page of the report to see the details (see Figure 21.18).





If you don't get a report exactly right on the first try, you can just restart the Report Wizard and go back through it, changing whatever is needed.

When the report is doing what you expect it to do, you can define the properties to make sure the report shows up in the user interface where you need it. If you want, you can share it with other users or convert it to an organization-owned report so that everyone can use it.

Sharing a Report with Other Users

To share with other users a report that you created, you select the Sharing option on the More Actions menu and then specify the teams or users who need to use this report (see Figure 21.19).

When a report is created, it is set up either as an individually owned report or as an organization-owned report. If the report is an individually owned report, it can only be seen and run by that individual or by the people that individual shares it with.

ennissions to give each user				1		1			1.000
Common Tasks		e0	Name	Read	Write	Delete	Append	Assign	Share
Mud User/Team		82	Contoso	V			L		
X Remove Selected Items		8	Chris Ashton						
 Toggle All Permissions of the Selected Items 	Г	8	Jim Hance						
2 Reset	Г	8	Ken Mallit						
🥑 Get Help with Sharing									

FIGURE 21.19 Sharing a report.

Adding a File or Web Page as a Report

You can add any type of file as a report and make it available to users through the Microsoft Dynamics CRM user interface. This helps users stay within the Microsoft Dynamics CRM application.

From the Reports area, you click New. In the Report Type box, you click Existing File (see Figure 21.20).

Attp://crm2011/ -	Report: New - Windows Internet Explorer	
File	ave and Close 🛛 🔓	@ <u>H</u> elp +
Report: N	lew	Working on solution: Default Solution
General Admir	istration	
Source		
Report Type *	Existing File	
	File Location	
		Browse
Status: New		
		a 100% 🗸

FIGURE 21.20 Adding an existing file.

For Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, you can add static files and dynamic Excel files that read data from the Microsoft Dynamics CRM database.

For On-Premises versions, you can add any type of dynamic files that read data directly from the Microsoft Dynamics CRM database, including custom reports.

To add a link to a web page as a report, you click Link to Web page. Notice in Figure 21.21 that the next box changes, giving you a place to specify the URL of the page.

You need to set the rest of the properties to specify where in the user interface this new web page or file should be displayed. For example, suppose you create a dynamic Excel PivotTable to help analyze data related to large accounts. Figure 21.22 shows the Display In options necessary to view this report.

FIGURE 21.21

Linking to a web page.

http://cr	m2011/ - Rep	ort: New - Windows Internet Explorer nd Close 🛛 🔓	
e Rej	port: New		Working on solution: Default Solut
General	Administra	tion	
Source			
Report T	ype*	Link to Web Page Web Page URL	•
atus: New			
			a 100%

FIGURE 21.22 Specifying where the new report will be visible.

Report: All L	arge Account Activity	Working on solution: Default Solu
9.	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
General Administra	tion	
Source		
Report Type	Existing File	
	File Location	
		Browse
Details		
Name *	All Large Account Activity	
Description		
Parent Report		
Parent Report		a
Categorization		
Categories	Sales Reports	
Related Record Types	Accounts;Activities	
Display In	Reports area	

Did you Know?

What Reports Do You See?

Each person who opens a report sees data that matches records that she has permission to view in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. For example, you may be able to see only data for accounts that are owned by you, but your manager may be able to see data for accounts owned by everyone in your group.

After you save the new report, the Actions menu will be available (see Figure 21.23). Depending on your security role, you may see either Sharing or Make Report Available to Organization—or you might see both—and you can make the web page or file you added available to those who need it.

			Delete Report	
General Administra	arge Account Activity	65	Assign Sharing Run Workflow Start Dialog	Working on solution: Default Solu
source	Evicting File		Copy a Link	
Report Type	Costing the		E-mail a Link	
	File Location		Make Report Available to Organization	Denues
Description				
Parent Report				
				a
Parent Report				
Parent Report Categorization Categories	Sales Reports			
Parent Report Categorization Categories Related Record Types	Sales Reports Accounts;Activities			
Parent Report Categorization Categories Related Record Types Display In	Sales Reports Accounts;Activities Reports area			
Parent Report Categorization Categories Related Record Types Display In tus: Existing	Sales Reports Accounts;Activities Reports area			

FIGURE 21.23

The Actions menu for a report.

Creating Report Snapshots (On-Premises Only)

Report snapshots let you save the data in a report at a particular moment in time. This is useful for measuring end-of-time-period results. Snapshots can be run on demand or scheduled to run regularly. Figure 21.24 shows the page for scheduling the frequency for creating a snapshot of the Account Distribution report.

The Report Scheduling Wizard shows up on the ribbon of the Report menu, and you can edit its properties to determine where it is available.

Scheduled Reports

Scheduled reports are individually owned by default. If you need them to be visible to other users, be sure to share them or change them to organization owned.

Scheduled reports can be set up to be e-mailed to other people. You must set this up in Microsoft SQL Server Reporting Services. For more information on reporting, see the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Team Blog, at http://ow.ly/72H9i.



FIGURE 21.24 The Report Scheduling Wizard.

Account Summary Specify the frequency, and then specify the required details for the selected frequency. Times are displayed using th zone of the Reporting Server. Once Hourly Run report every 1 week(s) on: Daily Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Weekby Monthly Friday Friday Saturday Start time: 1200 AM ¥	ne time
Specify the frequency, and then specify the required details for the selected frequency. Times are displayed using the zone of the Reporting Server. Once Weekly Schedule Hourly Run report every 1 Daily Sunday Weekly Thursday With time: 1200 AM Start time: 1200 AM	ne time
C Once C Hourly Run report every 1 week(s) on: Daily Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Weekky Thursday Friday Saturday Start time: 12:00 AM	
Once Flourly Run report every 1 week(s) on: C Daily Sunday Monday Tuesday ♥ Weekby Thursday Friday Saturday Monthly Start time: 1200 AM ▼	
Cally Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday ♥ Weekby Thursday Friday Saturday Monthly Start time: 12:00 AM ▼	
Monthly Friday Start time: 1200 AM	
Start time: 12:00 AM	

Tips for Keeping Reports Organized

If your organization does a lot of custom reporting, whether with the Report Wizard or other tools, the list of records in the Reports area can get large. Default views are set up for four categories of reports: Sales, Marketing, Service, and Administration. You can customize these categories for your organization.

Click Settings and then click System Settings. The Report tab provides a place to define and organize the categories (see Figure 21.25).

	Formats Auditing	L-mail Marketing	Customization	Outlook R	eponing	Goals	
Specify report categor	5						
Sales Reports Service Reports							Move Up
Marketing Reports							Move Down
Automative Report							Add
							Delete
							Sort Ascending
							Sort Descending
						Unassigned Value	

FIGURE 21.25 Defining categories for

gories for organizing reports. After the categories are modified, there are two more steps:

- **1.** For each report, set the values in the Categories field.
- 2. Customize the views for the Report entity to use the new category names.

Creating Custom Reports Without the Report Wizard

You can create custom reports, such as dashboards, reports with other layouts, or reports with more complex drill-downs into the data reports.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM provides filtered views that make it easy for report writers to use the Microsoft Dynamics security roles. Therefore, even custom reports only show data that a user has permission to see. However, creating custom reports requires a more technical skill set than using the Report Wizard. (Many solution providers specialize in creating custom reports.)

Custom Reports in Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises

For Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises, if you need custom reports beyond what the Report Wizard can create, anyone with the System Customizer or System Administrator security role can modify the default reports or create new reports and upload them to Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Because the default reports are written using Microsoft SQL Reporting Services, modifying them requires the following report-development environment:

- Microsoft Visual Studio or any product that uses the Visual Studio .NET integrated development environment, such as Microsoft Visual Basic .NET
- ▶ The Microsoft SQL Reporting Services Report Designer

Modifying default reports is usually done by someone who specializes in report design or a programmer, not by a regular user. This is an area where a solution provider can come in handy.

New reports can also be created in any ODBC-compliant application, including Microsoft Access, Microsoft Excel, Microsoft SQL Server Reporting Services, and a wide range of business intelligence tools. These new reports can be added as new reports.

Custom Reports in Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online

For Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, there are several options for custom reports, each of which requires developer and or report-writing skills:

- If you subscribe to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Online, you can use offline data synchronization to synchronize data locally. Then, you can use any ODBC-compliant tool to write reports against the local data store.
- You can use an integration tool to integrate Microsoft Dynamics CRM data with a local database and write reports based on the local data.
- You can use the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Software Development Kit (SDK) to develop a custom .NET application. This is usually done by experienced developers or solution providers.
- You can use Microsoft Business Intelligence Development Studio (BIDS) and connect to Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Online as it is available to the report-writing tool via the CRM web service. This process is detailed on the Microsoft Developer Network blog at http://ow.ly/72Hhq.

Hours 22, "Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 into Other Applications," and 24, "Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a Development Framework," go into more details about options for extending Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Workshop

Joyous Fitness is a chain of exercise studios that uses Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online to track members and class attendees. It has made some customizations to Microsoft Dynamics CRM, renaming the Accounts entity to Members and editing the values of all the drop-down lists to match its terminology. It uses the Product entity to track memberships and has created a new entity to track class attendance.

The studio uses the Marketing module of Microsoft Dynamics CRM as is to track mailings to customers and radio advertisements.

Q&A

- **Q.** We do not use the Service module in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Can we make it so that those reports are not visible?
- **A.** Yes. Anyone with the System Administrator or System Customizer security role can modify the properties for those reports and change them so that they are not displayed.

Q. Can we rename the default reports and change the default filters?

A. Yes. These changes can be made in both Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online and the On-Premises version.

Q. Will the default reports work for us, or do we have to create our own?

A. Because Joyous Fitness is using the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Marketing module without customization, the marketing default reports will work. The sales reports will also work as is, although renaming the reports to use the word Member versus Account would make it easier for employees to identify the proper report.

There are some custom reports that are needed for class attendance. These can be created using the Report Wizard or by exporting data to Microsoft Excel.

Q. Do we need to hire someone to write these custom reports, or can we do them ourselves?

A. You can use the Report Wizard or Microsoft Excel to generate the reports, so no special knowledge or expertise is required.

Quiz

- **1.** When I share a report with my manager, why does she see different numbers than I do?
- **2.** What's the best way to save a report that captures data for a specific time period?
- 3. Are there any best practices I should follow when I create new reports?
- 4. How many record types can be included in a Report Wizard report?
- 5. Can I change the layout of a report?

Answers

1. Each person who opens a report sees data that matches records that he or she has permission to view in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. For example, you may only be able to see data for accounts that are owned by you, but your manager may be able to see data for accounts owned by everyone in your group.

- 2. Run the report and export it to a format, such as PDF, that can be easily archived. In the On-Premises versions, the report can be scheduled to run at the end of a time period and can be stored as a snapshot in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Because the number of snapshots that can be saved for a report is limited, you'll also want to export the snapshots.
- **3.** Because a report will take longer to run if it includes large numbers of records, default filters are recommended for every report.
- **4.** In an On-Premises version, if you have a report that runs on large data sets, you can use the Report Scheduling Wizard to run it at times when the system is not heavily loaded.
- **5.** When you create a report, you select the two main record types to include in the report. Because data from related record types can be included, you can pull in information from other record types, too.

Regular users cannot change the layout of a report. The layout of reports is fixed. If you are using Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises, a person with a full report development environment and the appropriate security role can change the layout of the default reports.

If you need complete layout flexibility, you can create your report in Excel.

Exercise

To do the basic setup required for Joyous Fitness, complete these steps:

- **1.** Rename all account reports to use the terminology used by the organization.
- **2.** Create a new report using the Report Wizard that shows campaign responses grouped by campaign and sorted by zip code.
- **3.** Modify the properties for the service reports so that they do not show up in the reports list.

HOUR 22

Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 into Other Applications

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Bridge software
- Points of connect
- Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM with external web sources
- ► Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM into accounting applications
- Integration-independent software vendors
- Integration risks
- Data migration

This lesson looks at options and places to integrate Microsoft Dynamics CRM with other applications and how to best work with third-party independent software vendors (ISVs) and their offerings. This lesson also focuses on integrating with some commonly available tools and using these tools to support data migrations.

Bridge Software

In between any two applications, there might be another application or service that translates information from one database to the next, from one application to the next, from one method to the next, from one service to the next, or from one user interface to the next. As we integrate, extend, and expand Microsoft Dynamics CRM into environments where other software applications already reside and where integration is needed, we are faced with differences between designs and database structure.

How should we approach this situation? There is an option to write custom software to tie multiple applications together, but this can be time-consuming and errorprone, and it can require a long-term investment in updates and upgrades. Luckily, we have another option.

This is where bridge, integration, middleware, or enterprise application integration (EAI) software comes into play. A bridge software application offers a framework to support technology and business rules as data is translated between environments. Software and technologies in this space support the creation of accurate, consistent, and transparent information flows between different systems.

Given that Microsoft Dynamics CRM is built to connect, it is a great application to drop into the technology space of integration and bridge software.

Points of Connect

Microsoft Dynamics CRM has many different places where other applications can connect, but a few common points are as follows:

- Importing or synchronizing leads, accounts, or contact details from a web page
- Sharing accounting-oriented information, such as quotes, orders, and products, with a back-office accounting application
- Synchronizing account-specific financial information, such as invoice history, credit holds, and credit limits, with an accounting application.
- Updating internal Microsoft Dynamics CRM data from industry-standard information sources, such as Hoover's, OneSource, Harte Hanks, and others.
- Augmenting contact and account information with social media systems such as Facebook, LinkedIn, and Twitter.

Each of these connection points has a number of different solution, design, and architectural approach options.

The following sections cover a couple of these points as they relate to the ISV offerings. For more detailed information about the ISV offerings, set aside an hour to listen in on one or more of the many vendor webinars available and ask questions; it is worth the time investment if connecting Microsoft Dynamics CRM to other applications is a business requirement.

Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM with External Web Sources

Extra external software is not necessarily needed to integrate Microsoft Dynamics CRM with an externally facing environment. However, the extra software can offer quick configuration for resolving business rules and regulations. It can also offer a quick ramp-up and a space for a layer of validation.

Take, for instance, a need to filter out leads that have a name of Donald Duck or the need to validate and protect against data changes that impact existing information negatively. You might also have an interest in interacting with users who are not authenticated users of your CRM system prior to offering them access to change anything in your Microsoft Dynamics CRM environment.

Data can be cleansed through website application software or through a piece of middleware software that sits between Microsoft Dynamics CRM and the externally facing website. Search and business rules that look for special characters or for commonly used bogus accounts can be added to this middleware layer, and business validation and external interaction can also be a feature.

Now, shift gears and think about the more trusted audience, perhaps with a customer portal: a website that empowers customers to reduce the need to pick up the phone or to send e-mail when they have a problem or question, a customer portal site that offers a subset of information for validation and updating, or a site that offers the ability to submit and review the status of support cases. Also consider software that takes Microsoft Dynamics CRM data and displays it and that captures data and then turns around and updates Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

There are more reasons to share data with an externally facing website or an internal intranet that might be disconnected from the project, but the key point is that in the past, this was always limited to extensive and expensive custom solutions. This is not the case with Microsoft Dynamics CRM and the supported offerings from the vendor community.

Microsoft offers two free options for getting a website integrated with Microsoft Dynamics CRM to bring leads into CRM. First is the Customer Care Accelerato. This is a free application solution available on the Microsoft CodePlex website (http://pinpoint.microsoft.com/en-us/applications/customer-care-accelerator-formicrosoft-dynamics-crm-2011-12884914795). This application is a customer/partner portal starter kit. In addition, with Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online 2011, you will receive a free CRM web landing page to CRM sales leads. There is also a specific application that integrates a website into any object in CRM. It is called Web2CRM from CRM Innovation (see http://crminnovation.com/ web2crm.asp). This application supports Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online and On-Premises. It lets you build a web form based on the objects in your CRM system quickly and easily. It reads the metadata from Microsoft Dynamics CRM and then builds a form. CRM Innovation hosts the code and lets you carry the HTML to your website. From there, a visitor fills out the form on your website, and his or her applications push the data into your CRM system.

Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM into Accounting Applications

Integration of Microsoft Dynamics CRM into accounting applications has technical and business culture contexts.

Business Context

Quite often there is a cultural difference between the needs of the accounting or finance department and the needs of all the other departments in a company. A common request and resistance is to open up access to an accounting application to the entire firm. Opening the accounting data access and the ability to modify this data to the entire firm can seriously compromise auditing and financial controls built into business processes within a company. What is really needed is visibility to a subset of key accounting data for those people who require certain parts of it. This includes the sales team working with prospects and existing clients who need financial history to qualify leads and the service team working with existing customers who can use cutting off service to increase collections for those looking for support.

A salesperson can be empowered to do quotes and take orders, but there are many companies that then cross-reference and check those incoming orders when invoicing occurs.

This is the same for service. Service contracts can be sold, and hours and tickets against those contracts can be used, but generally, the invoicing remains in the finance role.

Technical Context

When setting technical context, it is all about what data needs to be accessed by what department and what people. It is also about what the business processes are around the data and the timing and flow of data between perhaps two or three different applications. It is not uncommon to have numerous salespeople entering orders and even doing invoicing, but the items often show up in a queue or batch for accounting to manage.

There is always choice, allowing for defining a business process that matches the technology functionality that is offered. In this case, we can setup integration to be either a batch or real time process.

Many companies might decide that real-time data from all the teams is not an issue and the ultimate control will be managed through balancing finances.

A middleware application can handle either real time or batch processing and is an application that translates data coming from Microsoft Dynamics CRM into a format that the accounting software is expecting

Now that we have a general idea of where middleware, integration, or bridge software might fit, the following sections looks at specific options and solutions in this space.

Integration-Independent Software Vendors

There are a number of ISVs in the integration, middleware, data tools, and bridge software space, and there are a number of Microsoft Partners specializing in Microsoft Dynamics CRM who have done numerous custom integration projects. I list a few of the ISVs whose names come up more than once in the Microsoft Dynamics CRM community. Please note that while these ISVs are in business at the time of writing, this may change over time.

The first sets of ISVs offer more options when it comes to integrating many different applications. ISVs that cover a wide variety of different database applications include the following:

- Scribe (www.scribesoft.com) offers the Scribe Insight product suite. With more than 12,000 customers, this application has become the most widely supported integration platform for Dynamics CRM. It offers integration templates for CRM to GP, AX, NAV, and SL. (See www.scribesoft.com/ DynamicsIntegration.asp.)
- Pervasive Software (www.pervasivesoftware.com) offers the Pervasive Data integrator (www.pervasiveintegration.com/data_connectors/Pages/ microsoft_dynamics_integration.aspx).

- Microsoft BizTalk (www.microsoft.com/biztalk/en/us/default.aspx) offers the Microsoft BizTalk CRM adapter. This is a highly complex but very robust integration that is very popular in the enterprise space. If considering this solution, one needs to ensure that there is a sufficient plan to manage the ongoing maintenance of the integration as the tool is focused on developers and code-based solutions. (See www.microsoft.com/downloads/ details.aspx?familyid=ABD3BB9E-A59A-4EB6-8DE8-FB25B77926D7 &displaylang=en.)
- Inaplex (www.inaplex.com/Products/Inaport-for-Microsoft-CRM.aspx) is a veteran player in the integration space. It provides connectors for various platforms and allows one to build both migration and integration solutions.
- Keelio Software (www.keelio.com/Home/tabid/36/Default.aspx) offers the Dynamics GP SSIS Toolkit and XML SSIS Toolkit (www.keelio.com/Products/ tabid/87/Default.aspx).

The following ISVs are vendors with a strong focus on Dynamics GP and who generally have a Dynamics GP background. They focus on application integration with Dynamics GP and have Dynamics CRM-to-Dynamics GP offerings:

- eOne (www.eonesolutions.com.au) offers the SmartConnect products (www.eonesolutions.com.au/Content.aspx?page=SmartConnect).
- Nolan (www.nolancomputers.co.uk/dynamics/Home.aspx) offers the integration bridge.

There are so many different ways to provide the functionality that you almost need a specialist in the integration space to help translate. If you choose to work with any of these listed vendors and their partners, you will want to get direct information from the involved parties. Here are a few areas and questions that you might want to focus on and areas for deeper consideration:

- How have the individual ISVs architected their solutions? Are they talking directly to the various databases? Are they using web services? Do they have a database in the middle that needs to be monitored?
- When was the last update released? What did it include? Is the ISV using modern tools or antiquated solutions? Microsoft Dynamics CRM has had numerous releases and design updates over the past six years; has the ISV kept pace?
- How are translations handled, such as when data in one database does not map directly to data in the other database? What about when field lengths are different? Is data truncated?

- What are the performance benchmarks for customers using the solution in an environment similar to your own? Performance is unique to each individual environment and is impacted by numerous variables; however, it is worth asking any references about performance concerns they have had.
- How are errors handled? This includes data errors such as one of the databases dropping offline in the middle of processing and business errors, such as a user conflict or a conflict between data entered in two different systems at the same time and the data integration toolkit needing to know which data source takes priority or is an authoritative source.
- How is the solution supported once it is up and running in your organization? Who do you call when you have a problem? If you are working with a partner, is there a backup in case something happens? Is it a solution that another partner or the vendor can support if needed?

We have talked a little bit about your options around ongoing data integration. Now let's look into the world of data migration. Data migration is generally considered an occasional or one-time event.

Integration Risks

When integrating to other systems there is an area that is easy to forget. What happens when the experts you are depending on forget to tell you about functions, rules, business processes, and data within the system you are integrating to?

This is a clear risk area, particularly if your integration is passing data between two systems. Data updated in one system will update the data in the other system and vice versa. The business rules that apply to the system you are integrating to often have to be honored in the new system being built and yet are not always captured as new requirements.

Another area to consider is the quality of data. A task to do some data scrubbing, such as running addresses through a validation process, can significantly reduce the risks that you can face when integrating to other systems.

Recommendation

When testing integration, start with a small set of data in a fixed time period before you turn on the flood gates.



Data Migration

Data migration is a world of risk, intrigue, housecleaning, and discovery. You really never know all that you will run into.



Being Realistic About Data Migration

Don't underestimate the time needed or cost of data migrations.

There are also a number of assumptions surrounding data migration. So, if you are a technical person reading this, you should ask a ton of questions and have solid deliverables and a change management process in place. If you are a businessperson reading this, you should understand that data migration can be very complex.

When you are starting with Microsoft Dynamics CRM and considering data migration, you should take a good look at the actual data you want to migrate and convert. You also want to weigh whether it is worth it to migrate the data or if there is perhaps a different option.



CRM Adoption Success

A solid and well-done data migration can make a *huge* difference in how an audience of users feels about the Microsoft Dynamics CRM software moving forward and how they react to the challenge of adoption.

Many firms burden their users with data entry and the task of learning new software. Perhaps they think that users need the excuse to practice with the system and clean their contact details or perhaps there is no other way. In any case, it is difficult to learn a new system and have to do excessive data entry at the same time—all, of course, while keeping up with the tasks of the job! The investment in data migration is worthwhile, even if you save dollars in other ways, such as by migrating only account and contact data or only migrating data from the past six months and leaning on the old system for historical reference. If you have no other choice, the investment in some temporary help can also make a significant difference.

There are different tools available for data migrations that offer different functionality that might not be required when importing a list of contacts or leads.

It is also recommended that you consult with a Microsoft partner who is experienced with data migrations before moving forward, particularly if you are trying to convert from an existing line-of-business application with a database on the back end or from an existing customer relationship management software application that might have data organized differently. If you do move forward with your own data migration, Microsoft offers a couple different options. Microsoft offers two tools for data import into Microsoft Dynamics CRM: the Import Wizard and the Data Migration Manager (DMM) (in version 4.0 only). Partners have also been known to build their own tools or to use mastery in third-party tools to handle more complex migrations.

The Import Wizard

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM Import Wizard is designed to import a list of fairly structured, flat data. It can be used with a simple list of contacts or a separate list of accounts. It is recommended that if you are going to do a data import, you should separate data into logical groups, such as contacts, accounts, and so on. It is also a good idea to set up a test file of perhaps 10 records and import that until you are comfortable with the data format and your import design.

Import Wizard

The Import Wizard is not designed to do full data migrations with multiple layers of data from different places. For full data migrations, there are other, better-fitting tools to handle some of the complex business rules that apply when moving data from one CRM system to another.

The DMM

The DMM works on the basis of data maps that define a mapping between the source data schema and the Microsoft Dynamics CRM data schema. This application is now only available in version 4.0, as much of the logic is not incorporated into the Import Wizard function in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. The data map is the core building block of the DMM. In general, a data map is an XML structured file built out of entities used for data mapping during data migration. There are some of the key differences between the DMM and the Import Wizard built into Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

The DMM can do the following:

- ▶ Import multiple files and work with relational data sets
- Maintain the owner of the imported record
- ▶ Maintain the original creation date, supporting historical context
- ▶ Import record status and status reasons, such as active and inactive
- Create custom entities during the import process (not recommended)
- Run a batch deletion to delete records that were imported

Watch Out!

Did you Kriow?

Deleting Imported Records

Import can also delete imported records.

The Microsoft DMM is a powerful tool that is worth examining if you currently do not have a solution for data migrations.

The following are a few practical tips to keep in mind about the DMM:

- ▶ It must be run by someone with the System Administrator security role.
- It must be installed on a separate computer from the CRM Application Server.
- It includes tools for transforming data as part of the process.
- It has a wizard interface to guide you through it, although more complex migrations can be done by directly editing the data map.

Microsoft Connector for Microsoft Dynamics

Connector for Microsoft Dynamics is a free integration solution that is targeted specifically at the Microsoft Dynamics product family. Connector provides an out-of-the-box integration between Dynamics CRM and Dynamics ERP solutions. It is an SDK-based model, which in theory allows for extending the integration to other platforms. It is not available to customers directly and must be sourced from ERP partners. This is a new solution that Microsoft introduced in 2010. It was a complete rewrite of the initial BizTalk. Microsoft has made significant investments in making this a supportable and extensible integration across the ERP platforms it develops (see http://blogs.msdn.com/b/dynamicsconnector/).

Workshop

Silver Lining Steel Manufacturing has been using Microsoft Dynamics CRM for two years. It first rolled out the solution to its sales department, with plans to further expand into the solution as it learned more about the product and after it switched the accounting software application. The company has now moved to Microsoft Dynamics NAV and is looking at integrating its Microsoft Dynamics CRM solution to the new Microsoft Dynamics NAV accounting software. It plans to share the details of the client accounts receivable history with the sales team, and it will be empowering the sales team to convert quotes directly into orders, as appropriate, which will then show up as unprocessed orders in Dynamics NAV.

Q&A

- **Q.** Our small firm is considering doing its own data migration. We hoped to have each salesperson enter his or her own leads, but this lesson indicates that this might not be a good idea. Why is this so?
- **A.** It makes sense to encourage your salespeople to enter 2 to 10 of their own leads to get the hang of the software, but entering 50 to 200 leads is a poor use of valuable sales energy.
- **Q.** We want to migrate all our data from Sage ACT!, including e-mail. Are any of these tools a perfect fit for that task?
- **A.** The best tool for migrating ACT!, including e-mail, is one of the experienced partners with custom solutions for handling ACT! e-mails or an application built for the specific need. ACT! e-mail storage is difficult to migrate.
- **Q.** We are integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM with Microsoft Dynamics GP, and our partner recommends Scribe Software. Is there a similar package we can look at for comparison?
- **A.** You might want to look at eOne Software, http://www.eonesolutions.com/. It specializes in Microsoft Dynamics GP and competes with Scribe.

Quiz

- **1.** What are two common places that people connect Microsoft Dynamics CRM with other applications?
- **2.** Identify two ISVs that offer solutions in the integration and middleware software space.
- **3.** Would using the Data Import Wizard that is built into Microsoft Dynamics CRM be a good choice for a data migration?

Answers

- **1.** Synchronizing leads and sharing accounting information are two common places that people connect Microsoft Dynamics CRM with other applications.
- **2.** Scribe and Microsoft Connection are two ISVs that offer solutions in the integration and middleware software space.
- **3.** No. There are better tools for data migration.

Exercise

- **1.** What are some of the key variables that Silver Lining Steel Manufacturing needs to consider as it looks to integrate its solutions?
- **2.** Given that it is integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM with Microsoft Dynamics NAV, which three vendors should the company talk with about possible solutions?
- 3. Does Silver Lining Steel manufacturing need to consider data migration?

HOUR 23

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Tools and Utilities

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Enhancing contact information
- Business intelligence in Microsoft Dynamics CRM
- ► Enabling Microsoft Dynamics CRM for mobile devices
- Database tools and utilities
- Compliance and auditing tools

In this lesson, we examine specific tools and utilities that increase your productivity with Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Part of the power of Microsoft Dynamics CRM is the number of ways it can be expanded, enhanced, customized, and upgraded. From simple informational tools that retrieve additional contact information online, to tools that help build reports, to database performance enhancements—if there is a tool that you are looking for, chances are it can be found and integrated into your Microsoft Dynamics CRM system.

Enhancing Contact Information

With Microsoft Dynamics CRM's extensible interface, there have been many solutions built to enhance the functionality around accounts, contacts, leads, and opportunities. There are tools such as enhanced e-mail solutions that streamline Microsoft Dynamics CRM processes and bridge the gaps in functionality. In addition, tools can be used to augment the existing information you have in your database, such as connections to online databases of contacts (for example, Hoover's, HarteHanks, InsideView). The current tools are impressive, and the industry is dynamic. A passion for discovering and adopting new trends, new searchable data, new technologies, and changes in traditional business process, such as social marketing and online networks, can extend the business value and adoption rate of your CRM application, and an expansive offering of complementary products can add such value.

Hoovers and LinkedIn Offerings

Take, for instance, Hoover's CRM direct offering, which gives Hoover's customers the ability to instantly update a specific account record with data from more than 65 million companies and 85 million contacts. Another offering for enhancing contact information is the offering from HarteHanks, which offers a data cleansing and address-validation service that cleans data in the Dynamics CRM database.

Online networks extend far and wide, so it is likely that your customers will be registered in one of the many online databases on the market. There are tools out there you can use to connect Microsoft Dynamics CRM to online databases, such as Twitter, Facebook, and LinkedIn, and provide more in-depth knowledge regarding customers that exist in those services. Sales and marketing campaigns can be improved, and targets can be refined when you can add more comprehensive contact information to CRM, including the internal and external connections of your contacts.

Hoover's is a "global database of more than 28 million public and private companies and 36 million executives," according to its website (http://www.hoovers.com/ products/100005053-1.html). Hoover's is expected to release its CRM Direct product for CRM 2011 before the end of 2011. Connecting your Microsoft Dynamics CRM deployment to the Hoover's database through their CRM Direct product offering will expand your ability to communicate with your contacts and can potentially fill in missing data that would be invaluable to your users. After you purchase the product, it is a simple matter of installing and connecting to Hoover's so that your current customer information will become a wealth of knowledge about what each customer does, the company he or she works for, and the connections that person has with others. If you start out with just a name and a phone number, the Hoover's database can completely fill in the rest of the information in Microsoft Dynamics CRM for almost any contact and then follow up by providing information about people linked to your original contact who might be of interest to you. In many cases, as many as 50 data points could be available about your prospect. The information that can be gathered allows for targeted campaigns and better prospect qualification, which can lead to better sales pitches and extended growth opportunities.

Another online service that provides similar capabilities is LinkedIn (www.linkedin. com). This online database provides publicly available information about contacts. Currently, no products connect LinkedIn to CRM, but the steps required to customize Microsoft Dynamics CRM and link it to LinkedIn are relatively straightforward. In fact, the Microsoft Dynamics CRM team has provided steps to connect Microsoft Dynamics CRM to LinkedIn on its blog. You can find this information at http://blogs.msdn.com/crm/archive/2008/07/16/linkedin-to-microsoft-dynamics-crm.aspx. Although this article was written for CRM 4.0, the HTML code provided will work when added as a web resource to your CRM customization solution. The LinkedIn content can then be added to a form through an iFrame. This simple connection can increase your knowledge about a contact and enable you to see current records, as updated by the contacts themselves.

Sending HTML E-mails

Microsoft Dynamics CRM provides built-in capabilities to send e-mails to contacts in a number of different ways (e-mail templates, mail merge templates, and marketing campaigns, for example), but these tools don't always meet the complex needs of tracking complex marketing information and more sophisticated HTML e-mails. Complementary tools can help expand Microsoft Dynamics CRM so that it is even easier to send advanced e-mails in a marketing campaign or for any other reason.

One such e-mail enhancement tool is provided by ExactTarget (www.exacttarget. com). Both Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Online and On-Premises support ExactTarget. After you install the e-mail tool provided by ExactTarget, it is a simple matter of selecting a campaign and clicking the custom Send ExactTarget E-mail button. This will allow you to create and send a sophisticated customized advanced e-mail to all those being targeted in the campaign. Beyond initially sending advanced e-mails, there is also an interface that can be used after the e-mails have been sent. This interface enables you to view detailed statistics that have been collected on what happened when the e-mail was received. The marketing analysis of clicks, opens, reads, and forwards is functionality that advanced marketing tool vendors have perfected. For example, you can see the number of e-mails that were not only sent but also opened, and you can see the number of links followed-and all this information allows you to assess the impact of your campaign. The industry of marketing and analytics is a robust and deep niche that is limited only by the imaginations of the creative souls who make it their art to know who is interested in what. Partnering Microsoft Dynamics CRM with an analytics software offering is a match made in heaven.

Business Intelligence in Microsoft Dynamics CRM

Business intelligence (BI) is becoming increasingly important to well-functioning companies, and depending on whom you are talking with about BI, it can vary in its definition. Wikipedia defines BI as follows: "Business intelligence (BI) refers to skills, technologies, applications and practices used to help a business acquire a better understanding of its commercial context. Business intelligence may also refer to the collected information itself."

BI in the following descriptions involves gathering and presenting relevant data on current processes, structure, and organization, including business analysis and planning.

With the right customizations and additions, Microsoft Dynamics CRM can provide a wealth of BI data. It can provide executives with summary reports, sales managers with sales rep statistics, and sales representatives with reports on locales and key performance indicators (KPIs). Microsoft Dynamics CRM is often considered the right tool for the extraction and the presentation of BI data because of how it is structured and because it is easily extensible and customizable.

If you already have Microsoft Dynamics CRM or are planning on deploying it, any savvy user can capitalize on some immediate benefits. The most immediate benefit is being able to run queries and reports that give the current status of a set of sales and marketing campaigns. When retrieving this information inside CRM, a further drill-down on the results can be done quickly by choosing specific cases of interest. Beyond these initial reports, other benefits include being able to get an accurate picture of the sales pipeline with reports on leads and opportunities, being able to see the current rank of sales representatives against specific criteria, and being able to see the history of all those sales representatives. Reports and queries such as these can either be created internally by customizing Microsoft Dynamics CRM with reports developed with SQL Server Reporting Services (SSRS) or purchased from a number of third-party vendors that offer BI packages for CRM.

Basic BI Internal to Microsoft Dynamics CRM

Some basic BI tools can be used right away with any Microsoft Dynamics CRM deployment, including Advanced Find and Reporting, which provide internal tools that can be used immediately to gather data for BI. Furthermore, dashboards and charts built by either power users or developers can provide a visual depiction of key data. Microsoft's investment in these new visualization tools replaces the analytics accelerator from Microsoft Dynamics CRM 4.0. As you learned in Hour 21,

"Reporting and Query Basics," Advanced Find is a tool any Microsoft Dynamics CRM user can use to quickly and easily produce simple BI. Reports are also a great tool that can be used by any user with the time and technical knowledge to produce meaningful results. Both of these approaches have drawbacks, though, because they do not scale for large amounts of data. Furthermore, the time it takes to customize and build these BI tools yourself can be prohibitive.

Microsoft Products That Help with BI

One of the best parts about working with Microsoft Dynamics CRM is the integration points with other Microsoft products. Several Microsoft applications integrate well with Microsoft Dynamics CRM to provide rich BI on top of what can be customized within CRM. Microsoft Excel and Microsoft Dynamics CRM link together through Microsoft Dynamics CRM Excel Connectivity. SQL Server 2008 R2 has builtin support for BI. Microsoft PerformancePoint can be linked directly to CRM, or indirectly through an OLAP cube, to provide structured KPIs or ad hoc analysis. Having these options allows for Microsoft Dynamics CRM customers to evolve from simple BI tools into more sophisticated tools with software and services that are usually already being used within their current organization.

OLAP Cube

Online analytical processing (OLAP) cubes were developed to provide an efficient analysis and presentation of structured data. OLAP cubes are an alternative to standard relational databases, which have limits for analyzing and displaying large amounts of data quickly.

Excel Connectivity

As you learned in Hour 20, "Utilizing the Power of Microsoft Excel with CRM Data," you can connect Excel to the data in Microsoft Dynamics CRM and download that data, based on user selections or customized SQL queries. After the data is in Excel, it can be manipulated and analyzed using all the built-in capabilities of Excel, such as setting up PivotTables and PivotCharts against the data, which works well for a specific individual user. Furthermore, if the option is selected, the data can be reimported into CRM after modifications have been made. For larger corporate analysis, other options are a better fit.

SQL Server 2008 R2

Among the rich set of functionality and features built into SQL Server 2008, several key aspects can be used for BI. The Microsoft SQL Server 2008 Reporting Services are
a large part of this and are already used within Microsoft Dynamics CRM itself. The Analysis Services in SQL Server 2008 R2 is another powerful tool that can be leveraged to create OLAP cubes for pivoted fast data analysis. The included Report Builder 3.0 provides a wizard to create SQL reports in a user-friendly fashion. Also part of SQL Server 2008 R2, PowerPivot provides extended the PivotTable functionality found in Microsoft Excel. On top of providing the ability to create OLAP cubes, Analysis Services also provides comprehensive data-mining tools for deep analysis of your existing data.

PerformancePoint

Microsoft Office SharePoint Server's PerformancePoint product is a comprehensive organization and analysis system that can attach directly to Microsoft Dynamics CRM or an OLAP cube. It provides a sophisticated feature set that includes structured reports, multiple data visualization options, reports and notifications for KPIs, and even ad hoc reporting, depending on the setup and configuration of the server. An entire business can be managed from a PerformancePoint server when it is fully integrated into products such as Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

BI Software from Vendors and ISVs

ZAP Technology (www.zaptechnology.com)

ZAP Technology (www.zaptechnology.com) offers a product called Business Analytics, which provides a web-based application that contains a set of prepackaged analytics for sales, marketing, and services. The application provides dashboards, scorecards, KPIs, and reports and drill-down capabilities that link back into Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises for the full view of any record in question. Business Analytics is relatively easy to deploy because it recognizes customizations in Microsoft Dynamics CRM and imports them into a structured cube for fast analysis and reporting. Custom reports and summary reports are quickly and easily created and run, allowing for targeted dashboards and KPIs that can be viewed and updated regularly. Further features include the ability to import user security privileges from Microsoft Dynamics CRM so that Business Analytics only allows access to those records that a user is allowed to view. With such a full-featured product, ZAP Technology has provided an excellent BI product for almost any Microsoft Dynamics CRM system.

Target IT (www.targit.com/en/Products/Fast_integration_tool/ For_MSDynamicsCRM)

The Target IT tools are another offering in the arena of expanding the power of BI with the use and creation of cubes of data. The analytical cubes meet the majority of the requirements of a BI solution, and they are formatted in a way to support both first-time and experienced BI users.

Microsoft BI Offerings (www.microsoft.com/BI/en-us/pages/ home.aspx)

Products from Microsoft that provide functionality within the BI arena include Performance Point and for power users Microsoft Office Excel with PowerPivot and the Microsoft SharePoint Suite. You also have the full power of Microsoft SQL Server and SQL Server Reporting (SRSS).

Enabling Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Mobile Devices

It is increasingly familiar to see sales and marketing staff with mobile devices, such as Windows Phone 7 devices, BlackBerry devices, iPhones, Android devices, and iPads. It is possible to tap into existing resources and allow access to your Microsoft Dynamics CRM data through these devices. Providing access to Microsoft Dynamics CRM through mobile devices becomes a logical and natural extension of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM system that will save time and make your organization more effective.

There are several scenarios where enabling Microsoft Dynamics CRM on mobile devices might help. Quickly browsing Microsoft Dynamics CRM data before a faceto-face sales meeting can make the encounter more productive. It can make a conversation at a conference more personal and focused. Having Microsoft Dynamics CRM data available at an opportune time during a lunch meeting can provide a crucial bit of information necessary to turn a lead into an account. Such scenarios would benefit from mobile access.

If enabling mobile Microsoft Dynamics CRM sounds like something your organization might benefit from, there are several options from which to choose. The Microsoft Dynamics CRM team currently provides the Microsoft Mobile Express solution that can be customized on your system. Companies such as CWR Mobility and TenDigits provide integrated solutions for Windows Mobile and BlackBerry devices that are fully functional and customizable. Choosing a mobile Microsoft Dynamics CRM solution requires more than knowing what device your users will have, though. You need to weigh all the following aspects:

- ▶ Feature set provided
- Customizability
- Security
- Cost
- Supported deployments (in Online versus On-Premises)
- Supported devices

Other considerations that might come into play are customer support, documentation, and future development plans. Most solutions provide a website outlining all the information on their products. See Table 23.1 for more information.

Product	Company	Website	Notes
MobileExpress	Microsoft	www.microsoft.com	Supported in CRM Online and On-Premises
CWR Mobile CRM 2011	CWR Mobility	www.cwrmobility.com	Straightforward solution to enable mobile CRM
MobileAccess	TenDigits	http://tendigits.com/ mobileaccess.html	Provides both online and offline access to Microsoft Dynamics CRM data

We will look at two of the solutions in depth here and see what options they provide. It's a good idea to research the benefits of all the solutions before selecting one for your custom deployment.

MobileExpress

MobileExpress is a solution included in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. The product is part of the Microsoft Dynamics CRM server and allows for online-only, web-based interaction with Microsoft Dynamics CRM on any mobile device that has a browser and a network connection. Because it uses the browser on the device, no installation or maintenance is necessary on the device itself, but this also means there is no access to records when there is no network connection. MobileExpress is a costeffective solution that provides administrative configuration on the server, allowing a certain set of entities to be viewed on the device, and it can even be configured down to the field level.

As with the standard Microsoft Dynamics CRM application, in MobileExpress, interface users with different roles can be shown different forms. Any user of the MobileExpress web application will need to have a role that has Go Mobile permission in order to access the application. Then, entities selected for mobile access can be searched, accessed as read-only, and edited, depending on how access was configured on the Microsoft Dynamics CRM server. Additional functionality includes a breadcrumb trail that allows instant access to previously viewed pages and the use of saved queries to filter results retrieved from the server. This solution from Microsoft allows almost any Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises or Online deployment to become mobile quickly and easily, although with limited functionality.

CWR Mobile CRM

CWR Mobile provides both online and offline access to Microsoft Dynamics CRM across a wide range of devices, including the Windows Phone 7 platform from Microsoft. Leveraging background synchronization ensures that users always have access to their data, even when a network connection is not available. By delivering a look and feel very similar to that of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, CWR Mobile enables users to get up and running in no time, no matter which device they prefer.

MobileAccess

MobileAccess is a mobile solution provided by TenDigits that extends Microsoft Dynamics CRM so that it can be accessed on Android, BlackBerry, Apple, and Windows mobile devices. MobileAccess provides standard Microsoft Dynamics CRM functionality, such as searching, creating, editing, deleting, and assigning records from your mobile device. It has been built with automatic synchronization capabilities so that records can be accessed both when connected to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM server and when there is no network connection. Advanced functionality includes notifications and alterations when new records have been created or assigned, integration with mobile capabilities so that initiating a call or e-mail can occur from within CRM, and then tracking of those activities after they have been completed. With all this functionality, MobileAccess is a good choice for mobile integration with Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Database Tools and Utilities

Supporting and maintaining Microsoft Dynamics CRM is important, but it is also important to do the same for the engine that drives CRM: SQL Server. Microsoft SQL Server is at the heart of CRM, and it provides a stable base to build anything from a moderately sized application to a multi-server, large-scale, high-use system. It is important to keep SQL Server well tuned so that you can fully benefit from the infrastructure it provides. There are tools provided with SQL Server to tune and maintain the databases, and other products can be purchased that help support SQL Server with more specialized tools and user-friendly interfaces.

The original platform that Microsoft Dynamics CRM was built to run on was Microsoft SQL Server 2005. Consumers of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 need Microsoft SQL Server 2008 or higher. SQL Server 2008 vastly improves on the functionality in SQL Server 2005, but the tools included with SQL Server 2008 are not very different from the ones included with SQL Server 2005. The interfaces are similar and provide performance analysis, database backup, and maintenance, but only to those with the technical skill to configure and control SQL Server. An obvious drawback to only having SQL Server 2005 or 2008 is that none of the tools provide automation through the user interface, so they all have to be set up and run either manually through the interface provided or through automation scripts.

After weighing the initial options for supporting the database, you may find yourself looking externally for tools that will be able to tune, manage, and maintain SQL Server. Several options on the market support SQL Server, and two of the most comprehensive ones are the solutions provided by Idera and Red Gate. Idera and Red Gate's applications wrap around Microsoft SQL Server to provide user-friendly interfaces that enable database administrators to easily tune for performance and to maintain and back up their databases. Their products are straightforward to set up and provide automation for most tasks, including backup and defragmentation.

In addition to backup and defragmentation support, Idera's and Red Gate's products can set up notifications so that when tasks are completed, the people who need to track a job's success or failure can be informed. The notifications can also be set up on diagnostic triggers so that if something were to go wrong on the server, such as a sudden sustained spike in CPU usage, the support staff can know about it quickly and deal with the problem in a timely manner. Any complex organization or deployment requires tools such as these to properly manage and maintain their system.

So, what does all this actually mean to your instance of Microsoft Dynamics CRM? The most important things to remember about your deployment are that the data has to be backed up, the database has to be regularly defragmented, and you need plenty of resources (such as disk space) for SQL Server to run properly. Because the data and structure of Microsoft Dynamics CRM are completely contained within the database instances underlying the application, Microsoft Dynamics CRM can be restored from any point both at which the organization database and the configuration databases are backed up. So whether you have nightly, weekly, or monthly backups of your database, make sure you capture both the organization database (or databases, if you are using a multitenant deployment) and the configuration database.

After regular backups, the next most pressing concern to keep SQL Server in peak running order is to defragment the database so that the indexes will do their job and speed up queries instead of slow them down. Indexes on highly used tables those with the most insertions, updates, and deletions—can become fragmented across a hard drive and slow down queries on those tables. It is important to regularly check and defragment these indexes, if appropriate. Finally, another thing that can cause trouble for a SQL Server is not having enough resources. Whether it is CPU resources, memory, or disk space available, SQL Server generally requires a good deal of it to run at peak performance. That is why it is important to know when one of these resources is running low and take the appropriate action to fix the situation. If all these things are done correctly, SQL Server will continue to support your instance of Microsoft Dynamics CRM the way it was meant to.

Compliance and Auditing Tools

Microsoft Dynamics CRM is used for many different types of applications. Some of those applications have highly sensitive data that requires tracking and analysis. For example it is common to need to know what fields were changed when and also who changed those fields. The simplest form of auditing is automatically enabled in the entity definitions in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Any entity created as a userowned entity acquires four attributes that track who created a record (CreatedOn and CreatedBy) and who was the last to change the record (ModifiedOn and ModifiedBy). These fields do not keep a full list of who changed the record and at what time, but they do provide the means to see where the most recent changes came from and who is responsible for creating the given record. This simplistic auditing trail often is not enough.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM also provides auditing capabilities for more complex requirements on a per-entity basis. Auditing must first be enabled in the System Settings window. Then once auditing is enabled on a particular entity, fields on that entity can be selected to track changes. These changes are tracked in a special audit activity.

Global Audit Settings

Figure 23.1 shows the global auditing section of the System Settings window. To get there, do the following:

- 1. Choose Settings.
- **2.** Choose Auditing under the System subgroup.
- 3. Chose Global Audit Settings.
- **4.** Click the Start Auditing check box.
- 5. Click OK to save your changes and exit the form.

FIGURE 23.1 Global auditing settings.	System Settings Webpage Dialog System Settings System Settings System Settings St system-level settings for Microsoft Dynamics CRM.					
	Audit Settings Audit Settings Image: Start Auditing in the following areas Common Entities Sale for thirds Customer Service Entities Image: Output of Entities and their Audit states wist Entity and Field Audit Settings.					
	Help OK Cancel					

Enabling Auditing on a Specific Entity

http://localhost:8080/CRM2011Test/tools/systemsettings/dialogs/systemsettings.aspx?selectedTab=8 🙀 Local intranet | Protected Mode: Off

Figure 23.2 shows how to enable auditing on the account entity. To get there, do the following:

- 1. Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Customize the System. This will open the default solution.

- 3. In the left navigation pane, under Components, choose Entities.
- 4. Choose an entity (for example, Account).
- **5.** On the General tab of the entity, find the Data Services heading. Under it, check the Auditing check box.
- 6. Click Save and close the form to enable auditing.



FIGURE 23.2 Entity auditing settings.

Viewing Audit Details for a Specific Record

Figure 23.3 shows audit details on a record in the account entity. To get there, do the following:

- **1.** When auditing is enabled, choose a record to open and update (for example, an account record).
- 2. Make changes to the record and save it.
- 3. In the left navigation pane, under Common, choose Audit History.
- **4.** On the window that appears, you see all the recorded changes to the entity. Double-click one of the changes to see the audit details window.



Workshop

Adventure Works Cycle is a midsized company that makes and distributes bicycles across the United States, in a number of locally owned bike shops. It has a small sales force that is constantly traveling and needs to remain connected at all times. It has a Microsoft Dynamics CRM deployment on which it has installed TenDigits's MobileAccess solution so that all of its sales agents can access records anywhere, whether they can get a network connection or not, and retrieve and enter data. Opportunities and sales orders can be tracked immediately by entering information on a mobile device or by gathering orders and entering them at the end of the day from their laptops. Adventure Works Cycle uses Idera's defragment manager to keep the Microsoft SQL Server databases optimized and indexed properly. Sales managers in the head office keep track of how the different agents are doing, through the use of a Business Analytics dashboard from ZAP Technology. Thanks to this product, quarterly and year-end reports are easily generated and presented to keep executives abreast of the current sales, as well as of the sales pipeline that is being developed.

Q&A

- **Q.** We are considering moving into a mobile solution. What things should we consider?
- **A.** One of the first things to consider is whether you need offline capability. Offline adds a significant layer of complexity to any offering.

- **Q.** For a small company, is it necessary to invest in Microsoft SQL Server management tools?
- **A.** Not necessarily. Microsoft SQL Server is a robust and powerful database that usually does not need extensive care in a small firm.
- Q. Are there other offerings available? You mentioned so many.
- **A.** Yes. There are many other offerings available, and a personal apology to all that are not mentioned in this lesson.

Quiz

- **1.** What are two Microsoft products that can be used for gathering business intelligence? What is a non-Microsoft product that can be used for gathering business intelligence?
- **2.** What are the three things that have to be done to ensure that Microsoft SQL Server supports your Microsoft Dynamics CRM deployment properly?
- 3. What is a useful feature that is new to SQL Server 2008 R2?
- 4. What are the benefits of using MobileExpress? What are the drawbacks?

Answers

- **1.** Advanced Find and Reporting are two Microsoft products that can be used for gathering business intelligence. ZAP Technology's Business Analytics is a non-Microsoft product that can be used for gathering business intelligence.
- **2.** Three things that have to be done to ensure that Microsoft SQL Server supports your Microsoft Dynamics CRM deployment properly are tune, manage, and maintain Microsoft SQL Server by backing up the database, defragmenting, and indexing.
- **3.** A useful feature that is new to SQL Server 2008 R2 is Report Builder Version 3.0, which provides a user-friendly wizard that allows users to create SQL reports easily.
- **4.** MobileExpress allows for online-only, web-based interaction with Microsoft Dynamics CRM on any mobile device that has a browser and a network connection. This is both an advantage and a disadvantage.

Exercise

Using the blog post provided by the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online team, http://blogs.msdn.com/dynamicscrmonline/archive/2009/04/07/adding-linkedincontact-searches.aspx, add a LinkedIn contact search to your Microsoft Dynamics CRM deployment. The post can be followed for both standard and online deployments, so don't worry if you have one or the other. As can be seen from the post, the Name fields can be connected to an action and a button that triggers a search to be performed on all the LinkedIn contacts to see whether a match can be found; if it is, the appropriate information is displayed.

HOUR 24

Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a Development Framework

What You'll Learn in This Hour:

- Options: What can be changed?
- When Microsoft Dynamics CRM is a good fit
- When the core of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 might need additional architecture and design
- Skills required: Who can make the changes

Microsoft Dynamics CRM is a product that is as much *xRM* (where *x* can be any relationship-oriented line-of-business application) as it is CRM (where *C* is focused on customer relationship management). Microsoft Dynamics CRM is fully functional and, yet, the expectation in many situations is that it will be expanded, configured, connected, and enhanced. It is also designed to offer control and best practices around extending the platform so that when a new major upgrade is released from Microsoft, it will not break a partner's or customer's development efforts and customizations. In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, both the On-Premises and Online versions support similar extensive customization options.

Options: What Can Be Changed?

Developers who want to fully exploit Microsoft Dynamics CRM need to learn to "think CRM," and they also need to master a number of significantly different development skill sets. Each skill set discussed in this hour is a benefit to the CRM development platform as standalone expertise, but a deep understanding of all technologies can make a significant difference. Developers should remember that the more they can "think CRM," the easier their application will be to support.

Furthermore, when business stakeholders can also "think CRM," new features can be added quickly and effectively. When business users do not "think CRM," it is easy to end up in a conflict-of-interest situation. Users who make demands without considering what they have are asking for delays, frustrations, and long-term road blocks to get what is new and what is next.

Extending the Core Microsoft Dynamics CRM Code

Microsoft Dynamics CRM is a .NET application that can be extended with more .NET code through plug-ins or enhanced with scripts, workflow, and custom ASP.NET Web pages. In addition, Microsoft Dynamics CRM is architected and designed to include a methodology and development framework that wraps the application and any new customizations in such a way to reduce the need to rewrite code with each major release. Microsoft also provides a complete Software Development Kit (SDK). This SDK has tools, samples, documentation, and a methodology for extending the core Microsoft Dynamics CRM code. The following sections look at each area of extension available in Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

Managing Changes Through Solutions

In Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, extensions to the core Microsoft Dynamics CRM application are contained in solutions. Like a project in Microsoft Visual Studio, a solution contains everything necessary to build and deploy the extended CRM functionality.

Solutions can contain the following:

- Custom entities and forms
- Custom fields
- Relationships between entities
- Plug-in assemblies and steps
- Service endpoints
- Security roles
- Processes
- Application ribbon customizations
- Dashboards and reports

- ► Global option sets (new in 2011!)
- ▶ Field-level security profiles (new in 2011!)
- Web resources

Web resources include any extra files needed for your CRM customization. They many include custom JavaScript you have written for your forms, custom Silverlight controls, images, or .aspx pages. Solutions can be used to package customizations for sale in the CRM Dynamics marketplace or to separate different development efforts in larger projects. More information about the Dynamics Marketplace is provided later in this chapter.

Solutions can either be *managed* or *unmanaged*. Managed solutions specify what changes can be made to components, whereas unmanaged solutions do not have any restrictions. This is useful for independent solution vendors (ISVs) to restrict how their solutions can be changed or for enterprise architects to enforce standards across an enterprise. If you are unsure of which option to use for your development, choose to use an unmanaged solution. Unmanaged solutions will always win over managed solutions as a choice when you're unsure. When importing solutions if you run into a conflict between data or program files unmanaged solutions offer the option of the last solution applied wins.

Plug-ins

Microsoft Dynamics CRM offers synchronous and asynchronous plug-in models that are based on .NET 4.0. Plug-ins are registered for a single organization, and they are stored in the database (preferred) or on disk. Registering a plug-in in a database enables automatic deployment across a cluster of CRM instances. Plug-ins must be digitally signed when they are compiled in Visual Studio; otherwise, they fail to execute. New in CRM 2011, plug-ins can be "sandboxed" so their access to their host system is limited. In this access level, files cannot be written to the host system, and integration to other databases must be done through Windows Azure services. The benefit of sandboxed plug-ins is that they work in both CRM Online and On-Premises installations. Plug-ins not registered in sandbox mode can still be registered in On-Premises installations but not in CRM Online. In either plug-in model, all work performed in a plug-in can be registered as part of a single transaction. This allows all changes to be rolled back if any part of the plug-in fails. More information about plug-ins can be found in the Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 SDK, at www.microsoft.com/download/en/details.aspx?id=24004.

Creating and Adding Workflow Using the Windows Workflow Foundation

Built in to Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises and Online is the Microsoft Windows Workflow Foundation, which is a core component of the development framework. The foundation is also extended with a user-friendly interface to enable end users with limited or no development experience to add workflows. Workflows can create new records, update existing records, send e-mails, reassign records, and change the status of a record. Workflows can be especially helpful for creating tasks for sales personnel base on an opportunity, triggering reminder e-mails to prospects, or seeking manager approval of a new proposal over a certain dollar amount. In CRM 2011, a similar designer is used for both creating new workflows and dialogs. You can access this designer by going to the Settings tab from the CRM homepage and then choosing Processes and clicking the New icon. From the designer, you can create steps for your workflow to perform and conditions to check before performing these actions. For example, you might want to wait seven days after an opportunity is created before sending a reminder e-mail to the customer. Workflows are always related to a specific record type in CRM, such as an account or a contact, and run in the background after an action has been performed. Figure 24.1 shows the workflow designer.



In the designer, the options available to trigger a workflow to run on a record are the following events:

- ► A new record is created.
- Record status changes.

FIGURE 24.1

The workflow

designer.

- A record is assigned to another user.
- Field values in a record are changed.
- A record is deleted.
- A workflow can be run manually by the user.

Dialogs New in CRM 2011

A new feature available in CRM 2011 is the ability to create custom dialogs related to an entity. These custom dialogs can guide users through any defined process so that it is easily repeatable. Dialogs can be helpful for guiding a customer support representative through a support call or enabling a salesperson to complete a sale. Dialogs must be launched manually or from a child dialog and can interact with the end user. Dialogs can be designed to change based on the user's input. In this manner, different actions can be performed, different forms can be displayed, or the dialog may prompt the user to take different actions, based on the initial input.

Extending Forms with Scripts

Forms can be extended by adding code to key areas of the form.

Form OnLoad, OnSave, and Field OnChange

In CRM 2011, entities in Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises and Online can have multiple forms. Each of these forms has an OnLoad event option where JavaScript can be added. JavaScript is client-side code run when the user opens and uses the form. In addition, each field within the form can have an OnChange event where JavaScript can be embedded, offering the ability for events to be performed on specific changes to fields.

Form Behavior

Figure 24.2 shows an example of the form properties OnLoad and OnSave. To get there, do the following:

- 1. Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Customize the System. This will open the default solution.
- 3. In the left navigation pane, under Components, choose Entities.
- 4. Choose an entity (for example, Account).
- 5. In the left navigation pane, select Forms.

6. Choose Form Properties. From here you can attach custom JavaScript files that you have uploaded as Web resources to your form. JavaScript no longer has to be added directly in the form editor.

🖉 Form Properties Webpage Dialog 🔀
Form Properties Modify this form's properties.
Events Display Parameters Non-Event Dependencies
Form Libraries
Manage libraries that will be available in the form.
🖶 Add 🛛 🕃 Remove 🛛 🏠 Up 🛛 🐥 Down 🖉 🔯 Edit
Name Display Name Description
Event Handlers Manage functions that will be called for form or field events. Control Form Event OnLoad Grad Grad Control C

You can also add an OnChange event to a specific field Figure 24.3 shows an example of the area where you would add OnChange event script.

To get to where you would add an OnChange script from the form, complete these steps:

- **1.** Choose a field
- 2. Choose Change Properties.
- 3. Choose Events.
- 4. Choose OnChange.
- 5. Choose Edit. From here you can attach custom JavaScript files that you have uploaded as Web resources to your form. JavaScript no longer has to be added directly in the form editor.

Event List Form Libra Manage librar	ries			
Manage librar				
wanage noran	THE REPORT OF THE PARTY OF THE	le in the form		
🖶 Add 📗	🗴 Remove 🔰 🏦 Up	U Down Bran Ed	it	
Name		Display Name	Description	
Control Event	No. of Employees	•		
🖶 Add 🕴	🕻 Remove 💧 🏠 Up	🛛 🤴 Down 🛛 🌛 Ed	it 🛛 🛅 Edit Library	
Library		Function	Enabled	

FIGURE 24.3 Field properties.

OnChange Events

A key thing about $\ensuremath{\mathsf{OnChange}}$ events is that they fire only when both of the following conditions occur:

- **1.** The value changed.
- 2. The user has moved to another field

Alternatively, the OnChange event can be fired using the FireOnChange method. For an example of FireOnChange, see http://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/cc150865.aspx.

Adding iFrames to Forms

An iFrame option is available for both Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises and Online and is hosted within the form or on the left navigation pane of a form. Within the world of the iFrame, Microsoft Dynamics CRM will optionally pass the object type code and object ID (GUID) to the provided external URL.

iFrame Interaction

iFrames display web pages within a form and generally do not interact with the data within Microsoft Dynamics CRM.





Figure 24.4 shows an example of setting up an iFrame. To get there, do the following:

- 1. Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Customize the System. This will open the default solution.
- 3. In the left navigation pane, under Components, choose Entities.
- 4. Choose an entity (for example, Account).
- 5. In the left navigation pane, select Forms.
- 6. Choose the main form.
- 7. On the ribbon, click the Insert tab.
- 8. Add a new one-column section.
- 9. Add an iFrame to this new section.



Add an IFRAM	E Webpage Dialog	
dd an IFRAM dd a new IFRAM	E IE to the Form.	
General Fo	ormatting Dependencies	
Name		-
Specify a uni	que name.	_
Name *	IFRAME_ new	
URL*	about:blank	
Pass reco	rd object-type code and unique identifier as parameters.	
- Label		
Specify the la	abel for this field in forms.	
Label*	new	
Display la	abel on the Form	
		_
Security Select wheth	as to sastrict cross frame scripting	
Restrict of	ross-frame scripting	
Visibility		_
Specify the d	efault visibility of this control.	
Visible b	/ default	
	OK Canc	el
		_
://localhost:808	🕵 Local intranet Protected Mode: Off	

Changing or Adding to the User Interface Menus and Buttons

The drop-down items on the menus and the buttons within the left navigation pane can be changed in Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises. So, you can add new menu items, replace existing menu items, or add or replace buttons (such as the Sales button or Service button). These changes to the user interface menus are made in the Application Ribbon XML file as follows:

- 1. Select Settings.
- 2. Choose Solutions.
- **3.** Create a new solution named Application Ribbon. The default publisher and any version number will do.
- 4. Click Save.
- 5. Click Add Existing and then choose Application Ribbons.
- 6. Click Export Solution.

The saved zip file can be extracted, and you can then edit the XML file inside it.

Ribbon Editor Toolkit

One trick to diving into editing the Office ribbon is available as a free download from CodePlex. Check out Pragma's Toolkit: http://pragmatoolkit.codeplex.com/.

Ribbon Tips

The ribbon comes from the Microsoft Office team. If you are going to do any type of editing of the ribbon, remember to check for tips by browsing for Office Ribbon Editor.

When your edits are complete, import the modified Application Ribbon file as follows:

- **1.** Choose Settings.
- 2. Choose Solutions.
- 3. Choose Import.
- **4.** Upload the modified file.

Enhancing with Silverlight

Silverlight solutions can be added in the web resources section of solutions in CRM. Custom Silverlight pages can provide graphics, animation, and rich media interfaces. These pages can be driven by CRM data or can provide integration with other systems. These custom pages can be displayed in CRM through an iFrame directly

Did you Know?

Did you

on a CRM form or through a custom ISV page. Silverlight is a browser plug-in and is an interesting complement to Microsoft Dynamics CRM extendibility. Silverlight includes items such as skinning and styling, deep zoom, and shadowing, all of which can be used to explode the Microsoft Dynamics user interface into a rich media experience.

Integrating with SharePoint (WSS/MOSS) for Support of Unstructured Data

Many Microsoft Dynamics CRM projects require unstructured data. Unstructured data includes large blocks of text, Word documents, PowerPoint files, and other undefined data that lends itself to organization and enterprise search. Some of this data can be structured into entities (record types) and fields, but other items are much better suited to organization and collaboration software (such as copies of documents). SharePoint meets this need and naturally connects to Microsoft Dynamics CRM. SharePoint can also be highly integrated to Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a dynamic or static component. CRM 2011 provides built in support for integration with SharePoint.

As a dynamic component, SharePoint can bring up and down pages on demand. It can also be setup as a static component, which gives SharePoint a permanent twoway connection to Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Microsoft SharePoint online can now be integrated with Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online. For On-Premises solutions, CRM 2011 can integrate with SharePoint 2007 or 2010. This integration enables the creation of folders in SharePoint for specific records automatically. For example, if SharePoint integration is enabled on the Account entity, a new folder can be created in SharePoint when a new account is won. Once the folder is created, the documents link on this record will provide a portal to this new folder on SharePoint.

You can enable SharePoint integration for a specific entity by taking the following steps:

- **1.** Click the Settings tab.
- 2. Choose Document Management.
- 3. Choose Document Management Settings.
- **4.** Click the checkbox for the appropriate entity.
- 5. Click Next.
- 6. Choose the folder structure you want and click Next.
- 7. Click Finish.

Integrating with the World of Finance and ERP, Using a Bridge Application

Just as unstructured data is best managed with technology designed for unstructured data such as SharePoint, financial information for accounting departments is best managed with a well-loved and established accounting software or enterprise resource planning application. Accounting software is focused on tight auditing and control within a smaller audience and has well-vetted software offerings focusing on flexible general ledgers, accounts payable, payroll, and other accounting-specific modules. Microsoft Dynamics CRM never had the intention of being an accounting or general ledger package.

Integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM with a robust accounting application, however, can be beneficial and can be accomplished seamlessly. Core company accounting data can be pushed to a wide audience of users (such as everyone in the company), while the interactive and delicate finances in an accounting application are controlled and maintained in a company's financial department and financial information audit processes.

External Access: Web Page Integrations

When managing prospect and client information, there is an interest in allowing specific external contacts the ability to interact directly with their contact information and there is also a need to control and retain data quality around that incoming information. The interaction between an external web interface of prospect and client information is part of many Microsoft Dynamics CRM projects.

Some examples of core areas where this applies including capturing leads from a company's website, interacting with possible attendees at hosted events, and working with contacts and companies on support-related issues. Currently, there are several portal accelerators available to integrate CRM with an external customer portal in this way.

Microsoft Dynamics Marketplace

Microsoft Dynamics CRM is so fun to extend that it lends itself to shared and Microsoft-vetted libraries of source code, configurations, and customizations. The Microsoft Dynamics CRM accelerators offer building blocks of source code, configurations, and customizations that empower a Microsoft partner or customer to quickly add features and functionalities. The library of accelerators continues to grow. Some examples include the sales forecasting accelerator, which offers configurations for tracking sales goals, and the analytics accelerator, which offers a set of custom dashboards and reports. Some accelerators work with Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, and others require that you have full access and security to the programs in the Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises environment.

A broad selection of accelerators can be found at the Dynamics Marketplace, which is located at http://dynamics.pinpoint.microsoft.com. The Dynamics Marketplace offers solutions from many ISVs that can be installed quickly and easily to extend the functionality of Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Many of the solutions found in the Dynamics Marketplace have been certified by Microsoft as compatible and supported by Microsoft Dynamics CRM. The costs of these solutions vary; some are provided free of charge, and for other solutions it is necessary to contact the vendor to obtain pricing details. When planning to extend CRM, it is important to check the Dynamics Marketplace before writing custom code as the functionality may already be available. In some cases, it might be more cost-effective to purchase from the Dynamics Marketplace than building out the functionality on your own.

Dashboards and Reporting

The creation of dashboards is natively supported in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011. Users and developers can create dashboards on the fly, using data in Microsoft Dynamics CRM. Microsoft SQL Server reporting services can also be used with Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises and Online to create more advanced dashboards and various other reports that you can integrate into the reporting menus within Microsoft Dynamics CRM. These reports can be created with the Business Intelligence Development Studio of Visual Studio, using Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 BIDS Fetch Extension. This extension uses the query language fetch xml that is native to Microsoft Dynamics CRM.

In addition, you can create reports via the Microsoft Dynamics CRM report wizards and numerous views. If you want to stretch reporting into other areas of presentation, you can also find ISV solutions.

Microsoft Excel Dynamic Spreadsheets and PivotTables

As you learned in earlier hours, the power of Microsoft Excel dynamic spreadsheets is almost beyond imagination. You can tie an Excel spreadsheet to Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and every time this spreadsheet is opened, it will automatically be updated with new CRM data. In addition, a dynamic Excel spreadsheet retains and serves up the correct security so that each person who opens the spreadsheet gets the data that applies to him or her. You can add your own columns and formulas to these spreadsheets, and one way you can share these spreadsheets is by e-mailing them to other Microsoft Dynamics CRM users. Dynamic PivotTables are now supported in the same way as spreadsheets. New in Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, both dynamic and static Excel spreadsheets include the option to be formatted in such a way that they can be edited in Excel and have the changes reimported into CRM.

Microsoft Excel Static Spreadsheets

Microsoft Excel static spreadsheets do not get updated with any new Microsoft Dynamics CRM data when opened again and again. Data in static spreadsheets is structured and unchanging and, as such, a static spreadsheet offers a saved version of a data report. In addition, static spreadsheets can be shared with other people who are not Microsoft Dynamics CRM users.

Business Intelligence Analysis

You can pull out slices or cubes of data and do financial analysis, intense statistics, analytics, and more. Adding in third-party business intelligence agents, cubes, and tools allows for functionality not traditionally found in relationship management applications. The third-party tools can come from companies specializing in business intelligence, or you can tap into other products and offerings from Microsoft.

Modifying the Outlook Client for Microsoft Dynamics CRM

Just as the Microsoft Dynamics CRM core application can be modified and extended, so can the Microsoft Dynamics CRM Outlook client. Enhancements to Microsoft Outlook can add usability and allow you to take better advantage of the webenabled Microsoft Dynamics CRM. For instance, you can set up special folders to access other areas of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, and you can change some of the default folders to favorites. Another way to customize the Microsoft Dynamics CRM client for Outlook is to extend or fine-tune the synchronization functionality between Microsoft Dynamics CRM and Microsoft Outlook e-mail, contacts, tasks, and the calendar.

Mobility

Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 has additional support for CRM Mobile Express software. Mobile Express is available as a website address, so there is no application to install, and most mobile devices support it. The mobile form editor allows for custom forms to be created for mobile users so they can access CRM data from their mobile device. In addition, Mobile Express allows for mobile salespeople to enter data while on the go. Many third-party ISVs also offer mobility solutions, including the following:

- CWR Mobility, http://online.cwrmobility.com
- softBRIDGE, www.softbridgeinc.com
- Softtrends, www.crmmobileplus.com
- TenDigits, www.tendigits.com

Now that we have covered a number of areas where Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises and Online can be extended and enhanced, let's look at when using Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises as a development platform makes sense.

When Microsoft Dynamics CRM Is a Good Fit

If you are looking at a development project and you are considering Microsoft Dynamics CRM, you might want to consider the following big-picture questions.

Does Your Project Require You to Track Any Type of Relationships?

If yes, the Microsoft Dynamics CRM framework is definitely something to consider. These relationships can include relationships between two people, relationships between companies, relationships between a person and a company, relationships between things, relationships between parts and a final product, and basically the relationships between any two nouns. Using any other noun than *customer* is called using CRM as an *xRM* framework. The key to a successful xRM project is to find the *x* in your xRM. The *x* in your xRM should be the central hub from which all the data in your system builds.

Does Your Project Require You to Automate or Document a Process?

If yes, the Microsoft Dynamics CRM framework is definitely something to consider. Automated processes can include standardizing the steps that need to happen to get a project done. Such automated processes can include scheduling and completing specific activities, historical reference to the completed activities, association of specific activities to specific people, tracking of specific activities with a specific person or the automation of alerts and notices, using custom dialogues to complete a standardized process, and more.

Does Your Project Require Role-Based Feature and Functional Security and User-Specific or Office-Specific Limited Data Access?

Built in to the Microsoft Dynamics CRM framework is a multilayered configurable security system that helps you to control who can do what and who can access what. Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 allows for security on specific custom fields and allows you to display different forms for different users. In addition, the Microsoft Dynamics CRM security is tied to Microsoft Active Directory authentication. (These are features your developers would otherwise have to write and keep updated.)

Does Your Project Require Long-Term Updates, Upgrades, and Support?

The Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 release methodology includes rollups and a major upgrade. These upgrades are built to recognize existing customizations and modifications. In order to support this, you should only make customizations to your CRM installation in a way that is supported by Microsoft. Any of the methods mentioned in this book or the CRM SDK are supported. Also provided is the long-term upgrade and update support, the development control and the CRM SDK, and the added features you might not have time to write, such as duplicate checking, user-friendly reporting, integration with Microsoft Office, and layers of data import options.

Does the Project Lend Itself to a Design of Parallel Asynchronous Processes That Could Otherwise Cause Software Bottlenecks and Performance Issues?

If yes, mastery and access to the Microsoft Workflow Foundation in a user-friendly interface within Microsoft Dynamics CRM might make sense.

When the Core of Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Might Need Additional Architecture and Design

Now that we have looked at a few areas where Microsoft Dynamics CRM as a development platform makes sense, let's look at areas where further architecture needs to be added to enhance the core system. If you are looking at a development project and you think that Microsoft Dynamics CRM is not a good option, you might want to consider the following big-picture questions.

Does Your Project Require a Layered Rollback Option?

Microsoft SQL 2005 offered a much more robust and sophisticated option in the world of the core back-end database and for database maintenance. Microsoft SQL 2005 introduced the ability to take part of a Microsoft SQL Server database offline for maintenance, while the rest of the database was still up and running, with a ton of data pouring in. These sophisticated features were not new to the world of huge databases, but they were new to the world of Microsoft SQL Server. Currently, Dynamics CRM databases must be restored through SQL database restoration, and they must be reimported with the Deployment Manager application.

If your project requires a layered rollback option, Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 will most likely require additional architecture.

Does Your Project Require Extensive Financial Analysis, Balancing, Data-Driven Statistical Analysis, and Accounting Information?

Microsoft Dynamics CRM is not a statistics-oriented programming language set. If your project depends heavily on financial information, various formulas, or data from mathematical equations that creates data for other mathematical equations that all result in telling the system to do something at a certain time, you most likely will need further architectural design to use Microsoft Dynamics CRM as the base application.

It is not that Microsoft Dynamics CRM can't handle this. Instead, you will find that the core features in this area need additional architecture for you to potentially do all that you want to do.

Does Your Project Require Extensive Interaction with Users Who Are Not Licensed Microsoft Dynamics CRM Users (For Instance, Integration with the Internet for Data Collection)?

Numerous accelerators are available to support your efforts to do event management and extensive marketing; however, your project might need enhanced architecture to do what you want it to do.

Skills Required: Who Can Make the Changes

Now that you have an idea of which projects are a good fit and which projects should be assigned a Microsoft Dynamics CRM architect, let's look at what skills are required to make some of the previously mentioned changes.

Microsoft Dynamics CRM can be modified and extended in different ways, all of which require different skill sets. A user without much training can add data to the system and use the application; a user with a little more training can create personal workflows; and a user with configuration training can change the look and feel of the forms, add new entities, and add new fields. However, even with the easiest features, it is wise to understand the training requirements and the experience that can make such a critical difference to the success of a project.

A number of Microsoft Dynamics CRM exams lead to various certifications that encompass four core skill sets: installation, application, customization, and extending. Each skill set maps to people with a background in four core areas: development/programming, network architecture/infrastructure, CRM consulting/training, and application architecture. These are high-level categories, but they are important to keep in mind. Take, for instance, a senior developer/software programmer. Developers can have many specialties, from the development languages that they are proficient in to their chosen focus for continued training and mastery. Two different developers can be so different that they are more like comparing apples and oranges than apples to apples.

To get a better idea of how Microsoft organizes certification, let's look at some requirements. The core Microsoft Dynamics Certified Technology Specialist exams are as follows:

- ▶ Extending Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011
- Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Applications

- Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Installation and Deployment
- Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 Customization and Configuration

Each of the certifications requires you to pass a core exam and certain electives. The list of exams and electives can be found within CustomerSource or PartnerSource. In addition, these sites provide excellent study guides and documentation for the Dynamics CRM exams.

Workshop

Radical Rail and Roofing is a company that installs metal roofs and decorative iron porch rails. It has a team of 10 people who work in a local area, replacing old roofs with new, colored roofs and replacing wooden banisters and small fences with decorative iron rails. It also has a sales team, a marketing group, and a number of subcontractors and internal artists it tracks. Radical Rail and Roofing takes pride in its creative, one-of-a-kind railings and the largest selection of colors in the area of metal standing seam roofs. Radical Rail and Roofing is working with a Microsoft Dynamics CRM partner, who is installing Microsoft Dynamics CRM so that Radical Rail and Roofing can keep track of the team schedules and all the choices that its prospects and clients make (from its wide selection of offerings). Radical Rail and Roofing also subcontracts some of its services to local artists who create some of the unique design offerings for its railings, which internal craftsmen then produce.

Radical Rail and Roofing is also extending Microsoft Dynamics CRM to integrate with its Microsoft Dynamics GP accounting software. It will do quotes, orders, and invoicing through Microsoft Dynamics CRM integrated with Microsoft Outlook, and after an invoice has been generated, it will appear in Microsoft Dynamics GP as an unposted invoice for accounting to review and process. In addition, if accounting places a client on credit hold, the sales team, using Microsoft Dynamics CRM, will be notified and will not be able to create a quote or order until the credit hold is resolved.

Q&A

- **Q.** Are there accounting applications that are a better fit with Microsoft Dynamics CRM, or can we integrate with our existing accounting software?
- **A.** Some applications are more integration friendly. Just as Microsoft Dynamics CRM is built to be extended and integrated, your accounting application needs to have the necessary hooks to allow outside applications to communicate with it.

- **Q.** We have internal resources that are going to focus on gaining additional skills in the Microsoft Dynamics CRM area. Where should we focus their efforts?
- **A.** Depending on their background, you might want to divide and conquer. A developer is a good fit for extending the application using the .NET Framework through plug-ins, customizing form actions through JavaScript, and understanding the Microsoft SQL Server database environment. A network administrator can master all the details of an installation and the long-term maintenance of checking the server logs and dealing with any environment errors. A technical user or manager who understands the business needs can be trained to do many customizations of the user interface, such as revising views, editing drop-down lists, and so on.
- **Q.** Reporting and business intelligence options are important to us. Is Microsoft Dynamics CRM a good platform for capturing all the data that we might need for sophisticated analysis?
- **A.** Yes. Microsoft Dynamics CRM is an excellent repository area for layers of data, including data that might be of interest to a specific report, to a custom dashboard or chart, to a Microsoft Excel CRM user, or to some of the more advanced business intelligence tools. With the ability to create dashboards within the CRM user interface on the fly, the data in CRM can be viewed in many different ways.

Quiz

- **1.** Name four areas where a developer can enhance the Microsoft Dynamics CRM software.
- **2.** If you want to control what can be changed in your solution, what type of solution should you use?
- **3.** Name one reason Microsoft Dynamics CRM is a good choice for a new custom development project.
- **4.** What query language can be used to develop reports against the Microsoft Dynamics CRM database?

Answers

- A developer can enhance the Microsoft Dynamics CRM software with Microsoft Dynamics CRM .NET plug-ins, iFrames, Microsoft Dynamics CRM Workflow, and Form OnSave/OnLoad.
- **2.** If you want to control what can be changed in your solution, you should use a managed solution.
- **3.** The development teams would not have to write code to support security and user authentication. Creation of tables and data entry forms can be done through a simple user interface; the application framework is supported by Microsoft.
- 4. Reports can be created with the Business Intelligence Development Studio of Visual Studio, using Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011 BIDS Fetch extension. This extension uses the query language FetchXML that is native to Dynamics CRM.

Exercise

Think about the people who work in your organization and the resources you have access to through a Microsoft partner. As you consider these individuals, who would be a perfect fit to take on the role for your company of Microsoft Dynamics CRM infrastructure expert, Microsoft Dynamics CRM application expert, and Microsoft Dynamics CRM extending and developing expert? What about some of the other categories where you might want to expand, such as an expert on the available third-party or ISV offerings or an expert on reporting and business analysis? List these people and interview them regarding their interests and backgrounds.

Index

A

access levels, 96-97 accessing reports, 417 Account entity, 30-31 Account form, 143-144 Contacts section, 151 Details section, 149-150 General section, 147-149 left navigation pane, 144-145 main entry screen, 146 Notes & Activities section, 152 Preferences section, 153-154 adding addresses to, 37 converting Lead entity to, 135-139 globally unique identifiers (GUIDs), 156 impact of, 155-156 parent accounts, 155

redefining, 156-157 relationship with Contact entity, 154 renaming, 40 subaccounts, 155 Account form, 143-144 Contacts section, 151 Details section, 149-150 General section, 147-149 left navigation pane, 144-145 main entry screen, 146 Notes & Activities section, 152 Preferences section, 153-154 accounting applications, integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM with, 475, 482 business context, 440 technical context, 440-441 accounts Account form, 143-144 Contacts section, 151 Details section, 149-150

accounts

General section, 147-149 left navigation pane. 144-145 main entry screen, 146 Notes & Activities section, 152 Preferences section, 153-154 adding addresses to, 37 converting leads to, 135-139, 211-216 creating document with merged data from account, 301-303 explained, 30-31 globally unique identifiers (GUIDs), 156 impact of, 155-156 parent accounts, 155 redefining, 156-157 relationship with contacts, 154 subaccounts, 155 actions, 96 activating sales process workflows, 177 activities, 33-34 Appointment, 266-267 campaign activities, 188 creating, 189-190 distributing, 191, 202 Case Resolution, 364 connecting to cases, 358-364 converting to campaign responses, 197-199 custom activities, 267-268 E-mail, 264-265 explained, 33-34

Fax, 262-263, 269 Letter, 266 My Activities view, 260-261 Phone Call. 263-264. 358-360 service activities, creating, 379-382 Task. 261 types of, 260 Activity entity. See activities ad hoc sales method, 163-164 Add Columns dialog, 402 Add Members dialog box, 185 Add to Queue dialog, 369 Address Book, 281-282 address fields (Contacts form), 252 addresses, adding, 37 administration of CRM online users, 94 administrative client access license (CAL), 85 Advanced Find, 398-402 adding list members with, 184-185 evaluating list members with. 186 removing list members with, 186 advantages of CRM (Customer Relationship Management), 478-479 for businesses, 7-9 for individuals, 5-7 alerts. 329-332 Append action, 96 Append To action, 96

Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, 63 Microsoft Dynamics CRM Partner Hosted, 64 Microsoft Windows Azure, 64 **On-Premises Microsoft** Dynamics CRM, 62 application software, 65-66 application technology (CRM), 5 applications. See specific applications Appointment activity, 266-267 appointments recurring appointments, 51 synchronizing with Outlook. 314 architecture entity architecture connections. 47 goals, 48 software development process, 48-49 of Microsoft Dynamics CRM, 62 synchronization architecture, 310 of tenants. 64-65 Assign action, 96 Assign Mail Merge Template dialog, 290 Assistance PSA for Microsoft Dynamics CRM 2011, 357 associating cases with contracts. 345-346 notes with records, 220

application placement

asynchronous services, 70 attachments, 262, 321 Audit History, 461 auditing auditing tools, 459-461 enabling, 460-461 global audit settings, 460 viewing audit details, 461 automating processes, 22-23, 478. See also workflows asynchronous processes, 324 automating processes with, 332-338 benefits of. 325 book chapter process workflow, 332-338 creating, 325-329 definition of, 323-324 examples of, 324 internal alerts, 329-332 limitations of, 325 availability of staff, defining, 383-384

В

behavior of forms, 469-470 benefits of CRM (Customer Relationship Management), 478-479 for businesses, 7-9 for individuals, 5-7 BI (business intelligence) built-in BI, 452-453 Excel connectivity, 453

explained, 452 Microsoft BI offerings, 455 OLAP cubes, 453 PerformancePoint, 454 SQL Server 2008 R2, 453 Target IT, 455 ZAP Technology, 454 big business versus small business, 72 **Billing Information field (Contacts** form), 254 blogs, 23 board of directors (BOD), 13 BOD (board of directors), 13 book chapter process workflow, 332-338 bridge software, 437-438 budgets, creating, 195-196 bulk e-mail, 49, 276-279 business advantages of CRM (Customer Relationship Management), 7-9 business context, 440 business intelligence (BI) built-in BI. 452-453 Excel connectivity, 453 explained, 452 Microsoft BI offerings, 455 OLAP cubes, 453 PerformancePoint, 454 SQL Server 2008 R2, 453 Target IT, 455 ZAP Technology, 454 business intelligence analysis, 477

business processes automating, 22-23 capturing, 22-23 documenting, 11-12 explained, 17-20 Business unit access level, 97 business units explained, 79, 83-84 reorganizing business unit hierarchy, 85 buttons, customizing, 472-473

С

calendars, service calendar, 378-379 CALs (client access licenses). 85-86 Campaign Activities view, 200 Campaign entity, 35 campaigns, 179 activities, 188 creating, 189-190 distributing, 191, 202 creating, 180-181 explained, 35 marketing budgets, creating, 195-196 marketing lists adding members to, 183-185 creating, 182-183, 186 evaluating members in, 186

487 campaigns

How can we make this index more useful? Email us at indexes@samspublishing.com

campaigns

list members, 182 locking, 183 removing members from, 186 static versus dynamic, 181 planning tasks, 187 quick campaigns, 181, 192-195 reports, 200 responses converting activities to. 197-199 creating manually, 197 importing, 199 templates, 192 tracking steps, 199 CAN-SPAM Act. 281 capturing e-mail, 271-272 leads, 206-210 processes, 22-23 responses to e-mail, 283 time, 365, 373 Case entity. See cases Case Resolution activity, 364 cases, 34 associating with specific contracts, 345-346 benefits of, 355-356 closing, 371-373 connecting to activities, 358-364 explained, 34 relationship with contracts and time, 356-358 resolving, 363-364

subject line, 348-349, 352 time, capturing, 365, 373 work distribution, 365-370 CEOs (chief executive officers), 13 certification, 481-482 CFOs (chief financial officers), 14 changing field names, 238 charts, 45 chief executive officers (CEOs), 13 chief financial officers (CFOs), 14 chief information officers (CIOs), 14 chief technology officers (CTOs), 14 choosing mail merge templates, 285-287 Microsoft Dynamics CRM, 478-479 **CIOs** (chief information officers), 14 client access licenses (CALs), 85-86 clients Microsoft Dynamics CRM Mobile Express, 70 Outlook clients, 69, 477 closing cases, 371-373 columns, inserting, 230-231 compliance tools, 459-461 conditional statements in sales process workflows, 172-173 configuring e-mail, 282 conflicts, scheduling conflicts, 382 Connection entity. See connections

connections, 31 between entities, 47 explained, 31, 37 tracking, 259 **Connector for Microsoft** Dynamics, 446 Contact entity. See contacts **Contact Methods field (Contacts** form), 255 contacts, 31. See also activities connection tracking, 259 Contacts form customizing, 253 Details section, 253-256 General section. 249-253, 269 Notes and Activities section. 256-257 converting leads to, 211-216 enhancing contact information, 449-451 explained, 31 relationship tracking, 257-258 relationship with accounts. 154 renaming, 249 synchronizing with Outlook, 316-321 Contacts entity. See contacts Contacts form connection tracking, 259 Details section, 253 **Billing Information** field, 254 Contact Methods field, 255

default reports

489

Department field, 254 Marketing Information field, 255 Originating Lead field, 254 Owner field, 254 Role field, 254 Service Preferences field. 255-256 General section, 249-250 address fields, 252 Currency field, 251-252 customizing, 253 Description field, 253 Job Title field, 251 Parent Account field, 251 phone number fields, 252 Salutation field, 250, 269 Notes and Activities section, 256-257 relationship tracking, 257-258 **Contacts section (Account** form), 151 Contract entity. See contracts Contract form, 342 contracts, 34 associating cases with specific contracts, 345-346 contract lines, 345 creating, 341-344 explained, 34 relationship with cases and time, 356-358 Word contracts, 374 conversion feature, 320 Convert Phone Call to Case dialog, 359-360

Convert to Case option, 359 converting activities to campaign responses, 197-199 leads to accounts, 135-139 to accounts/contacts, 211-216 core entities. See entities corporate selling, 163-164 Create action, 96 Create Quick Campaign Wizard, 193-195, 276-277 **CRM** (Customer Relationship Management) projects, 4-5, 9 people, 10-11 processes, 11-12 technology, 12-13 CRM Innovation Web2CRM, 440 The CRM Lady, 23 CRM on-premises users, 86 adding multiple users, 89-91 adding single user, 87-88 **CRM** online users creating, 91-93 user administration. 94 CRM4Legal, 357 cultures (sales), 161-163 **Currency field** Contacts form, 251-252 Lead entity, 133 custom activities. 267-268 custom buttons, 472-473 custom dialogs, 469 custom menus, 472-473

custom reports, 433 in Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises, 433 in Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, 434 Customer Care Accelerator, 439 customer service managers, 15-16 customer service representatives, 16 customers, creating, 198 Customize Entities page, 236 customizing Contacts form, 253 CWR Mobile, 457

D

dashboards, 45, 409, 476 data enhancement, 409-410 data entry forms. See forms data fields in mail merge, 291-292 Data Fields button, 289 Data Import Wizard, 125-132 data migration, 444-447 Data Migration Manager (DMM), 445-446 databases database tools, 458-459 SQL Server databases, 66 decimal precision, 49 default reports, 416 individual-owned reports, 421 navigating, 419-420

How can we make this index more useful? Email us at indexes@samspublishing.com
default reports

organization-owned reports, 421 properties, 421-422 report filters, 418-419 security, 421 viewing data in, 420-421 Delete action, 96 Delete privileges, 97 deleting entities, 39 **Department field (Contacts** form), 254 department roles board of directors (BOD), 13 chief executive officers (CEOs), 13 chief financial officers (CFOs), 14 chief information officers (CIOs), 14 chief technology officers (CTOs), 14 customer service managers, 15-16 customer service representatives, 16 marketing managers, 16 marketing professionals, 16 sales executives, 15 sales managers, 14-15 salespersons, 15 associating leads with, 140 capturing leads, 206-210 converting leads to accounts/contacts. 211-216 entering leads, 206-210

entering notes, 217-218 final planning, 218-219 needs of, 205-206 **Description field (Contacts** form), 253 Details field (Lead entity), 134 **Details section** Account form, 149-150 Contacts form, 253 Billing Information field. 254 Contact Methods field, 255 Department field, 254 Marketing Information field, 255 Originating Lead field, 254 Owner field, 254 Role field, 254 Service Preferences field, 255-256 Lead entity, 134 development, 71 dialogs, 53-54, 58, 469 displaying. See viewing distributing campaign activities, 191, 202 leads, 132 work, 365-370 DMM (Data Migration Manager), 445-446 documentation of processes, 11-12 documents, creating with merged data from account, 301-303 drop-down list values, 239

dynamic marketing lists, 181 Dynamic PivotTables, exporting to Excel, 406-407 dynamic spreadsheets, 476-477 dynamic worksheets, exporting to Excel, 405-406 Dynamics Marketplace, 475-476

Е

e-mail bulk e-mail. 49 CAN-SPAM Act, 281 capturing, 271-272 configuring, 282 HTML e-mail, sending, 451 mail merge data fields, 291-292 enabling macros for, 294-295 example: creating document with merged data from account, 301-303 example: sending followup letter to lead. 295-300 Reconnect with Contacts -Gift Certificate Template. 304-306 templates, 285-290 Personal Address Book, 281-282

exporting to Excel

sending bulk e-mail, 276-279 multiple messages, 274-280 single messages. 272-273 synchronizing with Outlook, 314.321 templates creating, 280 editing, 371 E-mail activities, 264-265 e-mail router software, 68-69 EAI (enterprise application integration) software, 438 editing e-mail templates, 371 sales process workflows, 175-176 views, 240-242 effectiveness of support, 346-348 employee self-service client access license (CAL), 86 enabling auditing, 460-461 macros, 294-295 enhancing contact information, 449-451 entering leads, 206-210 enterprise application integration (EAI) software, 438 entities Account. See Account entity Activity, 33-34 Campaign, 35 Case. See cases

Connection. See connections Contact. See contacts Contract. See contracts definition of. 38 deleting, 39 goals, 48 ignoring, 39 Lead, 32 associating with salespersons, 140 converting to Account and Contact, 211-216 converting to Account entity, 135-139 creating, 206-210 Details section, 134 distributing, 132 explained, 121-122 General section, 133-134 importing, 122-132, 140 Preferences section. 134-135 Opportunity, 32-33 ownership of, 54 Queue, 35 Service Schedule, 34 software development process, 48-49 User, 36 views, 44 eOne, 442, 447 equipment, defining, 386 evaluating marketing list members, 186

events OnChange, 252, 469-471 OnLoad, 469 OnSave, 469 ExactTarget, 451 Excel connectivity, 453 dynamic spreadsheets, 476-477 exporting to Advanced Find, 398-402 dashboards, 409 data enhancement. 409-410 Dynamic PivotTables, 406-407 dynamic worksheets, 405-406 explained, 395-397 outside data, 408 reusing and sharing spreadsheets, 408 static worksheets. 403-404 importing data from, 122-125, 140, 220 static spreadsheets, 477 exporting to Excel Advanced Find, 398-402 dashboards, 409 data enhancement, 409-410 Dynamic PivotTables, 406-407 dynamic worksheets. 405-406 explained, 395-397 outside data, 408

How can we make this index more useful? Email us at indexes@samspublishing.com

491

exporting to Excel

reusing and sharing spreadsheets, 408 static worksheets, 403-404 extended relationship management (xRM), 12 extending core Microsoft Dynamics CRM code, 466 accounting software, 475, 482 business intelligence analysis, 477 custom dialogs, 469 dashboards and reporting, 476 Excel dynamic spreadsheets, 476-477 Excel static spreadsheets, 477 iFrames, 471-472 Microsoft Dynamics Marketplace, 475-476 mobility, 477-478 Outlook client, 477 plug-ins, 467 scripts, 469-470 SharePoint integration, 474 Silverlight, 473 skills required, 481-482 solutions, 466-467 user interface menus and buttons, 472-473 web page integrations, 475 when to extend, 480-481 workflows, 468-469 external web sources, integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM with, 439-440

F

facilities, defining, 386 Fax activity, 262-263, 269 Federal Trade Commission (FTC) CAN-SPAM Act, 281 field-level security, 54 fields changing names of, 238 drop-down list values, 239 field-level security, 54 inserting, 232-237 moving, 226-228 removing, 224-226 security, 111-114 files, adding as reports, 429-431 filtered views, 66 filters creating, 244 report filters, 418-419 view filters. 50-51 final planning, 218-219 follow-up letters creating, 217 sending to leads, 295-300 forms, 46 Account. 143-144 Contacts section, 151 Details section, 149-150 General section, 147-149 left navigation pane, 144-145 main entry screen, 146

Notes & Activities section, 152 Preferences section, 153-154 behavior, 469-470 columns, inserting, 230-231 Contract, 342 fields changing names of, 238 drop-down list values, 239 inserting, 232-237 moving, 226-228 removing, 224-226 filters, creating, 244 iFrames, 233, 471-472 properties, 234-235 scripts, 469-470 structure of, 223-224 subgrids, inserting, 228-230 views creating, 239-244 editing, 240-242 FTC (Federal Trade Commission) CAN-SPAM Act, 281 full campaigns, 35 full client access license (CAL), 85

G

General section Account form, 147-149 Contacts form, 249-250 address fields, 252 Currency field, 251-252

Lead entity

493

customizing, 253 Description field, 253 Job Title field, 251 Parent Account field, 251 phone number fields, 252 Salutation field, 250, 269 Lead entity, 133-134 global audit settings, 460 globally unique identifiers (GUIDs), 156 goals, 48 groups, resource groups, 385-386 GUIDs (globally unique identifiers), 156

Η

history of CRM (Customer Relationship Management), 3-4 Hoover, 450-451 HTML e-mail, sending, 451

iFrames, 233, 471-472 ignoring entities, 39 Import from Microsoft feature, 122 Import Template, 410 Import Wizard, 445

importing, 56

campaign responses, 199 from Excel Spreadsheets, 220 leads, 122-132, 140 Inaplex, 442 independent software vendors (ISVs), 441-442, 467 individual sales processes, 170 individual-owned reports, 421 infrastructure components, 65 application software, 65-66 e-mail router software, 68-69 Microsoft SQL Reporting Services (SRS), 67 Microsoft Windows Server, 68 Mobile Express, 70 multitenant support, 67 Outlook clients, 69 SQL Server databases, 66 inserting columns, 230-231 drop-down list values, 239 fields, 232-237 subgrids, 228-230

integration

with accounting applications business context, 440 technical context, 440-441 bridge software, 437-438 Connector for Microsoft Dynamics, 446 data migration, 444-447 Data Migration Manager (DMM), 445-446 with external web sources, 439-440 Import Wizard, 445 integration-independent software vendors, 441-442 points of contact, 438 integration options, 72 integration-independent software vendors, 441-442 internal alerts, 329-332 ISVs (independent software vendors), 441-442, 467

J-K

Job Title field (Contacts form), 251

KBAs (Knowledge Base articles), 349-351 Keelio Software, 442 Knowledge Base articles (KBAs), 349-351

L

layout of reports, 421 Lead entity, 32 associating with salespersons, 140 converting to Account and Contact, 211-216 converting to Account entity, 135-139 creating, 206-210

Lead entity

494

Details section, 134 distributing, 132 explained, 121-122 General section, 133-134 importing, 122-132, 140 Preferences section, 134-135 leads associating with salespersons, 140 capturing, 206-210 converting to accounts, 135-139 converting to accounts/ contacts, 211-216 Details section, 134 distributing, 132 entering, 206-210 explained, 32, 121-122 General section, 133-134 importing, 122-132, 140 importing from Excel Spreadsheets, 220 originating lead, 254 Preferences section, 134-135 sending follow-up letters to, 295-300 left navigation pane (Account form), 144-145 Letter activity, 266 letters Letter activity, 266 mail merge follow-up letters, creating, 217 LinkedIn, 450-451

list members, 181-182 adding to marketing lists. 183-185 evaluating, 186 removing from marketing lists, 186 lists, marketing lists, 51-52 adding members to, 183-185 adding to campaigns, 186 creating, 182-183 evaluating members in, 186 list members, 182 locking, 183 removing members from, 186 static versus dynamic, 181 locking marketing lists, 183 Look Up Record dialog, 184, 370 lookups, 251

Μ

Macro Settings dialog, 294 macros, enabling, 294-295 mail merge data fields, 291-292 enabling macros for, 294-295 example: creating document with merged data from account, 301-303 example: sending follow-up letter to lead, 295-300 templates choosing, 285-287 creating, 288-289

managing, 290 Reconnect with Contacts -Gift Certificate Template, 304-306 sharing, 290 mail merge follow-up letters, creating, 217 mail. See e-mail main entry screen (Account form), 146 maintaining security roles, 98-105, 116 Manage Members window, 183 managed solutions, 467 management customer service managers, 15-16 mail merge data fields, 291-292 templates, 290 marketing managers, 16 marketing professionals, 16 sales managers, 14-15 scheduling conflicts, 382 support management, 341 contracts, 341-346 Knowledge Base, 349-351 profitability and effectiveness, 346-348 subjects, 348-352 marketing budgets, creating, 195-196 marketing campaigns, 179 activities, 188 creating, 189-190 distributing, 191, 202

negative pricing

495

creating, 180-181 marketing budgets, creating, 195-196 marketing lists adding. 186 adding members to. 183-185 creating, 182-183 evaluating members in. 186 list members, 182 locking, 183 removing members from, 186 static versus dynamic, 181 planning tasks, 187 quick campaigns, 181, 192-195 reports, 200 responses converting activities to, 197-199 creating manually, 197 importing, 199 templates, 192 tracking steps, 199 Marketing Information field (Contacts form), 255 marketing lists, 51-52 adding members to, 183-185 adding to campaigns, 186 creating, 182-183 evaluating members in, 186 list members, 182 locking, 183

removing members from, 186 static versus dynamic, 181 marketing managers, 16 marketing professionals, 16 maximizing support profitability and effectiveness, 346-348 menus, customizing, 472-473 Microsoft .NET 4.0, 70 Microsoft BI offerings, 455 Microsoft BizTalk CRM adapter, 442 Microsoft CodePlex website, 439 **Microsoft Dynamics Certified Technology Specialist** exams, 481 Microsoft Dynamics CRM Developer Center, 23, 62 Microsoft Dynamics CRM exams, 481-482 Microsoft Dynamics CRM Mobile Express, 70 Microsoft Dynamics CRM **On-Premises**, 433 Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, 63, 434 Microsoft Dynamics CRM Partner Hosted, 64 Microsoft Dynamics CRM **Resource Center, 23** Microsoft Dynamics CRM Team Blog, 23 Microsoft Dynamics CRM Video Gallery, 23 Microsoft Dynamics Marketplace, 357, 475-476 Microsoft Excel. See Excel

Microsoft Outlook, See Outlook integration **Microsoft SQL Reporting Services** (SRS), 67 Microsoft SQL Server, 458 Microsoft Windows Azure, 64 **Microsoft Windows Server, 68 Microsoft Windows Workflow** Foundation (WWF), 70, 468-469 Microsoft Word, See Word migrating data, 444-447 Miller Heiman, 163, 177 Mobile Express, 70 mobile solutions, 455-456 CWR Mobile, 457 MobileAccess, 457 MobileExpress, 456-457 MobileAccess, 457 MobileExpress, 456-457 mobility, 319, 477-478 moving fields, 226, 228 multiple e-mail messages, sending, 274-280 multitenant support, 67 My Active Mail Merge Templates view, 287 My Activities view, 260-261

Ν

NAICS (North American Industry Classification System), 149 names, field names, 238 navigating reports, 419-420 negative pricing, 49

.NET 4.0

496

.NET 4.0, 70

new features bulk e-mail, 49 data import/export, 56 decimal precision, 49 dialogs, 53-54 dynamic marketing lists, 51-52 negative pricing, 49 opportunity enhancements, 50 queue enhancements, 52-53 recurring appointments, 51 SharePoint integration, 57 solutions management, 55-56 UI (user interface), 43-44 charts. 45 dashboards, 45 entity architecture, 47-49 entity views. 44 forms, 46 Office ribbon, 44 view filters, 50-51 workflows, 53-54 Nolan, 442 normalized data, 122 North American Industry **Classification System** (NAICS), 149 notes, associating with records. 220 Notes & Activities section Account form, 152 Contacts form, 256-257

0

Office ribbon, 44 Office Ribbon Editor, 473 OLAP cubes, 453 **On-Premises Microsoft Dynamics** CRM, 62 on-premises users, 86 adding multiple users, 89-91 adding single user, 87-88 OnChange event, 252, 469-471 online analytical processing (OLAP) cubes, 453 online users creating, 91-93 user administration, 94 OnLoad event, 469 OnSave event, 469 opportunities explained, 32-33 new features, 50 tracking, 164-165 **Opportunity entity, 32-33** Organization access level, 97 organization-owned reports, 421 organizing reports, 432-433 **Originating Lead field (Contacts** form), 254 Outlook clients, 69, 477 **Outlook integration** conversion feature, 320 Microsoft Dynamics CRM for Outlook options, 309-310

synchronization appointments, 314 architecture, 310 attachments. 321 contacts, 316-321 e-mail, 314, 321 mobility, 319 Synchronization tab, 311-312 tasks. 312-313 troubleshooting, 319-320 Owner field (Contacts form), 254 ownership explained, 254 of entities, 54 of records, 79-80 team ownership, 254

Ρ

Parent Account field (Contacts form), 251 parent accounts, 155 Parent/child access level, 97 Performance Methods, 163 PerformancePoint, 454 permissions for reports, 421 Personal Address Book, 281-282 Pervasive Data integrator, 441 Phone Call activity, 263-264 Phone Call activity record, creating, 358-364

reports

497

phone number fields (Contacts form), 252 PivotTables, 406-407, 476-477 placement. See application placement planning tasks, 187 plug-ins, 467 points of contact, 438 Preferences section Account form, 153-154 Lead entity, 134-135 prices, negative pricing, 49 privileges, 80, 97-98 proactive time capturing, 365 processes automating, 22-23, 478 automating with workflows, 332-338 capturing, 22-23 documenting, 11-12 explained, 17-20 profitability of support, 346-348 projects (CRM), 9 people, 10-11 processes, 11-12 technology, 12-13 properties form properties, 234-235 report properties, 421-422 prospects, 36-37 publishing sales process workflows, 173-175

Q

Queue entity, 35 queues creating, 366 explained, 35 new features, 52-53 quick campaigns, 35, 181, 192-195

R

Rating field (Lead entity), 134 reactive time capturing, 365 Read action, 96 Read privileges, 97 read-only client access license (CAL), 86 **Reconnect with Contacts - Gift** Certificate Template, 304-306 records ownership, 79-80 sharing, 105-108 viewing audit details for, 461 recurring appointments, 51 redefining Account entity, 156-157 relationship management software (xRM), 71 relationships explained, 37 tracking, 257-258, 478

removing fields, 224-226 members from marketing lists, 186 renaming Account entity, 40 contacts, 249 reports, 435 reorganizing business unit hierarchy, 85 Report Filtering Criteria screen, 418-419 report filters, 418-419 Report Wizard, 423-428 reporting, 476 reports accessing, 417 adding files/web pages as, 429-431 campaign reports, 200 creating, 423-428 custom reports, 433 in Microsoft Dynamics CRM On-Premises, 433 in Microsoft Dynamics CRM Online, 434 default reports, 416 definition of. 415 individual-owned reports, 421 layout, 421 navigating, 419-420 Online versus On-Premises features, 416 organization-owned reports, 421

reports

organizing, 432-433 properties, 421-422 renaming, 435 report filters, 418-419 Report Wizard, 423-428 running, 417-418 security, 421 sharing, 428-429 snapshots, 431 viewing data in, 420-421 Resolve Case dialog, 364 resolving cases, 363-364 resource groups, defining, 385-386 responses (campaign) converting activities to, 197-199 creating manually, 197 importing, 199 responses to e-mail. capturing, 283 reusing spreadsheets, 408 ribbon (Office), 44 ribbon editor toolkit, 473 Richardson, 163 RMAs, 374 Role field (Contacts form), 254 roles board of directors (BOD), 13 chief executive officers (CEOs), 13 chief financial officers (CFOs). 14

chief information officers (CIOs), 14 chief technology officers (CTOs), 14 customer service managers, 15-16 customer service representatives, 16 marketing managers, 16 marketing professionals, 16 sales executives, 15 sales managers, 14-15 salespersons, 15 associating leads with, 140 capturing leads, 206-210 converting leads to accounts/contacts, 211-216 entering leads, 206-210 entering notes, 217-218 final planning, 218-219 needs of, 205-206 security roles access levels, 96-97 actions. 96 explained, 81-83, 95-96 maintaining, 98-105, 116 privileges, 97-98 rollbacks, 480 rollups, 479 routers (e-mail), 68-69 running reports, 417-418

S

sales cultures, 161-163 sales executives, 15 sales managers, 14-15 sales percentages, 165 sales process corporate selling, 163-164 individual sales processes, 170 opportunity tracking, 164-165 sales cultures, 161-163 sales percentages, 165 sales stages adding steps to stages, 170-171 adding to workflows, 169-170 conditional statements in, 172-173 explained, 165-167 sales styles, 161-163 workflows activating, 177 adding sales stages to, 169-170 adding steps to stages, 170-171 conditional statements in, 172-173 creating, 167-168 editing, 175-176 publishing, 173-175 sales stages adding steps to. 170-171 adding to workflows, 169-170

498

Software Development Kit (SDK)

conditional statements in, 172-173 explained, 165-167 sales styles, 161-163 salespersons, 15 associating leads with, 140 capturing leads, 206-210 converting leads to accounts/contacts, 211-216 entering leads, 206-210 entering notes, 217-218 final planning, 218-219 needs of, 205-206 Salutation field (Contacts form), 250.269 Sandler Sales, 163 scheduling conflicts, managing, 382 explained, 377 facilities and equipment, defining, 386 resource groups, defining, 385-386 service calendar, 378-379 services creating, 379-382 setting up, 387-391 staff availability, 383-384 Scribe Insight, 441 scripts, 469-470 SDK (Software Development Kit), 466 search criteria, 399-400

security address book security, 282 business units explained, 79, 83-84 reorganizing business unit hierarchy, 85 field-level security, 54 fields, 111-114 goals, 77 ownership of entities, 54 privileges, 80 record ownership, 79-80 record sharing, 105-108 reports, 421 security roles access levels, 96-97 actions, 96 explained, 81-83, 95-96 maintaining, 98-105, 116 privileges, 97-98 teams, 79, 109-110 users, 79, 85 CALs (client access licenses), 85-86 CRM on-premises users, 86-91 CRM online users, 91-94 sending e-mail bulk e-mail, 276-279 multiple messages, 274-280 single messages. 272-273

follow-up letters to leads, 295-300 HTML e-mail, 451 service activities, creating, 379-382 service calendar, 378-379 service cases. See cases Service Design Network, 348 Service Preferences field (Contacts form), 255-256 Service Schedule entity, 34 service tickets. See cases services asynchronous services, 70 creating, 379-382 scheduling. See scheduling service cases. See cases setting up. 387-391 Share action, 96 SharePoint integration, 57, 474 sharing mail merge templates, 290 records, 105-108 reports, 428-429 spreadsheets, 408 Show Conflicts icon, 382 showing. See viewing SIC (Standard Industry Codes), 149 Silverlight, 473 small business versus big business, 72 SmartConnect, 442 snapshots, report snapshots, 431 Software Development Kit (SDK), 466

software development process

software development process, 48-49 software packages (CRM), 4-5 software. See specific software solutions, 466-467 solutions management, 55-56 Source field (Lead entity), 134 spreadsheets dynamic spreadsheets, 476-477 importing leads from, 122-125.140 reusing, 408 sharing, 408 static spreadsheets, 477 SQL Reporting Services (SRS), 67 SQL Server, 458 SQL Server 2008 R2, 453 SQL Server databases, 66 SRS (SQL Reporting Services), 67 staff availability, defining, 383-384 stages of sales adding steps to, 170-171 adding to workflows, 169-170 conditional statements in. 172-173 explained, 165-167 Standard Industry Codes (SIC), 149 states, wait states, 175 static marketing lists, 181 static spreadsheets, 477 static worksheets, exporting to Excel. 403-404

subaccounts, 155 subgrids, inserting, 228-230 subject line (in cases), 348-349, 352 support management, 341 contracts associating cases with specific contracts, 345-346 contract lines, 345 creating, 341-344 Knowledge Base, 349-351 profitability and effectiveness. 346-348 subjects, 348-349, 352 synchronization with Outlook appointments, 314 attachments, 321 contacts. 316-321 conversion feature, 320 e-mail, 314, 321 mobility, 319 synchronization architecture, 310 Synchronization tab, 311-312 tasks, 312-313 troubleshooting, 319-320 Synchronization tab (Organization Information screen), 311-312 system views adding, 242-244 creating, 239-240 editing, 240-242

T

Target IT, 455 Task activity, 261 tasks planning tasks, 187 synchronizing with Outlook, 312-313 teams, 79 creating, 367-368 distributing work to, 365-366 ownership of entities, 54 security, 109-110 team ownership, 254 technical context, 440-441 technology in CRM (Customer Relationship Management) projects, 12-13 templates campaign templates, 192 e-mail templates creating, 280 editing, 371 Import Template, 410 mail merge templates choosing, 285-287 creating, 288-289 managing, 290 Reconnect with Contacts -Gift Certificate Template, 304-306 sharing, 290 tenants architecture, 64-65 definition of, 64 multitenant support, 67

territories, 150 "think CRM" approach, 465-466 time capturing, 365, 373 relationship with contracts and cases, 356-358 tools. See specific tools Topic field (Lead entity), 133 tracking campaign steps, 199 connections, 259 e-mail, 271-272 opportunities, 164-165 relationships, 257-258, 478 transparency, 13 troubleshooting Outlook, 319-320

U

UI (user interface), 43-44 charts, 45 dashboards, 45 entities connections, 47 goals, 48 software development process, 48-49 views, 44 forms, 46 Office ribbon, 44 unmanaged solutions, 467 updates, 479 upgrades, 479 Use Advanced Find to Add Members option, 184-185 Use Advanced Find to Evaluate Members option, 186 Use Advanced Find to Remove Members option, 186 User access level, 97 User entity, 36 user interface. See UI users, 85 CALs (client access licenses), 85-86 CRM on-premises users, 86 adding multiple users, 89-91 adding single user, 87-88 CRM online users creating, 91-93 user administration. 94 distributing work to. 365-366 explained, 36 security, 79 utilities. See specific utilities

V

view filters, 50-51 viewing audit details, 461 report data, 420-421 scheduling conflicts, 382 views creating, 239-244 editing, 240-242 entity views, 44 filtered views, 66 My Active Mail Merge Templates, 287 My Activities, 260-261

W

wait states, 175 WCF (Windows Communication Foundation), 48 web pages adding as reports, 429-431 web page integrations, 475 Web Resources, 235-236 web sources, integrating Microsoft Dynamics CRM with, 439-440 Web2CRM, 440 when to use Microsoft Dynamics CRM, 478-479 Windows Communication Foundation (WCF), 48 Windows Server, 68 Windows Workflow Foundation (WWF), 70, 468-469 wizards Create Quick Campaign Wizard, 193-195, 276-277 Data Import Wizard, 125-132 Import Wizard, 445 Report Wizard, 423-428 Word contracts. 374 macros, enabling, 294-295

How can we make this index more useful? Email us at indexes@samspublishing.com

501 Word

Word

mail merge data fields, 291-292 templates, 285-290 Word 2007 versus Word 2010.307 work, distributing, 365-370 Workflow Foundation, 468-469 workflows, 53-54, 58, 150 asynchronous processes, 324 automating processes with, 332-338 benefits of, 325 book chapter process workflow, 332-338 for closing cases, 371-373 creating, 325-329, 468-469 definition of, 323-324 examples of, 324 internal alerts, 329-332 limitations of, 325 for sales process activating, 177 adding sales stages to, 169-170 adding steps to stages, 170-171 conditional statements in, 172-173 creating, 167-168 editing, 175-176 publishing, 173-175 worksheets, exporting, 403-404 Write action, 96

Write privileges, 97 WWF (Windows Workflow Foundation), 70, 468-469

X

xRM (extended relationship management), 12, 71 xRMVirtual User group, 48

ZAP Technology, 454

502